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PROFILE

Fleury Michon is an independent, medium-sized family company
with an international outlook. Founded in 1905, we are now one of
France’s leading food brands.
We prepare fresh, ready-to-eat, everyday meals meeting the needs
of consumers looking for healthy and convenient foods that don’t
compromise on taste.
Our corporate project of “Helping people eat better every day”
reflects our vision for the future. It’s the vision of a brand and a
Company that is open to the world and close to its customers,
recognises the value of its people and encourages cooperation with
its stakeholders. It’s the vision of an innovative, responsible brand
that wants to help people eat better in the future.

2018 REGISTRATION DOCUMENT /

3

PRESERVATIVES ARE PAST
THEIR USE-BY DATE.

In 2019, we are removing all
preservatives from our meals.

4

1905

3,740

Creation of the company

Employees
(full-time equivalent)
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Presentation of the Group
KEY FIGURES

1.1 Key figures
The consolidated financial statements and notes were prepared in accordance with IFRS and are presented in Chapter 5
“Consolidated financial statements”.

1.1.1 Selected financial information
KEY CONSOLIDATED FIGURES
In € millions

2016

2017

2018

Revenue

737.8

716.9

725.3

% revenue change

-2.6%

-2.8%

+1.2%

Operating profit

21.6

11.5

18.7

2.9%

1.6%

2.6%

16.8

8.6

14.4

2.3%

1.2%

2.0%

54.2

40.5

93.0

In € millions

2016

2017

2018

Cash flows from operating activities

35.2

32.1

44.8

Cash flows used in investing activities

-23.1

-14.9

-82.0

Cash flows from/(used in) financing activities

-26.9

-18.4

40.8

39.0

-1.2

3.7

133.6

132.4

136.0

Operating margin
Net profit
Net margin
Net debt

CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOWS

Changes in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

1.1.2 Financial information by business segment(1)
BREAKDOWN OF REVENUE BY BUSINESS SEGMENT
In € millions
French Supermarkets
International Operations
Other France
TOTAL

2016

2017

2018

625.2

601.0

615.3

54.7

58.9

52.4

57.9

57.0

57.6

737.8

716.9

725.3

(1) The Group operates in the following business segments:
• French Supermarkets: fresh self-service pre-packaged products sold in the prepared meals and charcuterie sections of supermarkets under the
Fleury Michon brand or private labels; production and distribution governed by regulations applicable in France;
• International Operations (excluding joint ventures accounted for by the equity method): fresh self-service pre-packed products; production and
distribution governed by regulations applicable outside France; business under development and no mature presence in the markets concerned;
• Other: sales and services not presented separately (eat-out and travel catering), and support and assistance operations to subsidiaries (services
including logistics, human resources, IT and finance).

6
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OF REVENUE BY BUSINESS SEGMENT

CHANGE IN REVENUE IN € MILLIONS

7%

737.8 716.9 725.3

International Operations

1

8%
85%

Other France

French
Supermarkets

2016

2017

2018

Operating income (in € millions)

2016

2017

2018

French Supermarkets

22.7

18.7

20.8

International Operations

-2.6

-7.4

-0.1

Other France
TOTAL

1.5

0.2

-2.1

21.6

11.5

18.7

1.1.3 Significant events in 2018
“In 2018, Fleury Michon improved its recurring operating profit and net profit
compared with 2017, a year marked by a slowdown in business activity. In
a tough economic environment for all stakeholders in the food industry, we
began an extensive overhaul of our offering, while also acquiring strategic
businesses. 2019 will be another challenging year for the food industry
during which Fleury Michon will reach a new milestone in “Helping people
eat better every day”. In French Supermarkets, we will go further in the
operational rollout of our corporate project by providing consumers with
new product lines, always geared towards healthier and more sustainable
eating habits (nitrite-free ham, jars). Through our brands Merci Bocaux and
Par Ici Cuisine, it is also our ambition to bring the “Eat Better” concept well
within the reach of consumers, in high-traffic areas, by offering healthy,
ultra-fresh products suited to modern lifestyles. Internationally, after
successfully refocusing our Canadian business on airline catering, we will
continue our efforts in this direction, driven by strong ambitions. Our
objective is to lay down the framework of a profitable, resilient and
sustainable growth model that serves the “Eat Better” cause.”
Régis Lebrun, Chief Executive Officer of Fleury Michon
The Group’s revenue came to €725.3 million in 2018, up 1.2%
versus 2017, despite persistent pressure on prices from
supermarkets. At constant scope, revenue at year-end amounted to
€703.9 million, down 1.7% year on year. The French Supermarkets
business segment generated full-year revenue of €615.3 million in
2018, up 2.4% year on year. Based on a Group structure
comparable with 2017, revenue for French Supermarkets decreased
by 0.6% over the full year and by 2.8% in the fourth quarter. The
International Operations business segment posted revenue of
€52.4 million, down 10.9% at current exchange rates (down 8.2% at
constant exchange rates). The Sales and Services business segment
generated revenue of €57.6 million, up 1.0% compared with 2017.
Excluding Good Morning, which was acquired in January 2018,
revenue from the business segment slipped by 4.7%.

In 2017, Fleury Michon rolled out a competitiveness plan aiming to
reorganise the Group for quicker, more efficient and more costeffective
operations. The plan paid off in 2018, with a 2.8% recurring operating
margin compared with 1.2% in 2017. Moreover, acquisitions made in
2018 (Good Morning in January 2018, Paso in April 2018) contributed
positively to this performance. Operating profit for 2018 came in at
€18.7 million (up €7.2 million year on year), for an operating margin of
2.6%. In line with the option provided by the French government to
boost purchasing power, Fleury Michon decided to pay its employees
in France a one-off €500 bonus, for a total non-recurring gross amount
of €1.6 million, which had a proportional impact on profit.
The share in profits and losses of equity-accounted companies (PFI
and Platos Tradicionales) totalled €0.9 million in 2018, down from
€2.6 million in 2017. In Spain, the work performed on the product
ranges had a very positive impact on business despite the fact that the
production processes have yet to be fully optimised. In Italy, the
repositioning of the line-up, with the discontinuation of lowest-price
products in favour of highly scalable products under the Viva la
Mamma brand, continued apace. Earnings were mainly impacted by
the consequences of a fire at an industrial site in 2017, and the
commissioning of a new site in 2018.
In 2018, consolidated net profit amounted to €14.4 million, up
€5.8 million year on year, for a net margin of 2.0%.
At 31 December 2018, the Group’s equity amounted to
€236.8 million, up 5.0% compared with end-2017 (225.6 million). Net
debt (long and short-term borrowings, less cash and cash
equivalents and investments) increased to €93.0 million at end-2018,
compared with €40.5 million at end-2017. Group gearing (net debt
divided by equity) rose from 18.0% to 39.3%, due mainly to the 2018
acquisitions. These changes do not affect the Group’s financial
position, which continues to be robust.
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1.2 History
From 1885 to the 1950s
PORK PRODUCTS FROM WESTERN FRANCE MAKE THEIR MARK IN PARIS

1885

Pork butcher Félix Fleury opened a shop in La Roche-sur-Yon, in the Vendée region
of France. “Let’s do it right” was his motto.

1905

Félix Fleury joined forces with his brother-in-law, Lucien Michon, and together they
ﬁled the ﬁrst Articles of Association for Établissements Fleury & Michon.

Starting in the 1920

s Pierre Fleury laid the foundation for the Company’s future by
developing an integrated slaughtering, meat cutting and pork salting business.

1934 Establishment in Pouzauges. Fleury Michon products were sold by wholesalers, pork
butchers and supermarket deli counters, which were only just beginning to appear.

1950s Fleury Michon invented a sous-vide slow-cooking process for ham.

1960s and 1970s
MOVING INTO SELF-SERVICE PRODUCTS

1964 Fleury Michon became one of the ﬁrst pork butchers to offer fresh, pre-packaged products.
1974 Combining its expertise in cooking ham with new practices developed by master chefs
such as Jean and Pierre Troisgros, Paul Bocuse and Michel Guérard, Fleury Michon created
fresh prepared meals cooked slowly at low temperatures using the sous-vide method.

1980s and 1990s
BUILDING BRAND AWARENESS AND NEW BUSINESSES

1982

Fleury Michon began sponsoring skipper Philippe Poupon, increasing brand recognition
among consumers.

1987

Fleury Michon crossed paths with a young master chef named Joël Robuchon,
marking the beginning of a close and ambitious partnership that would boost R&D and the
search for excellence.

8
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1

1990 Introduction of surimi, a healthy ﬁsh-based snack from Japanese cuisine.
1992 Fleury Michon became the market leader in superior pork ham with the launch of the
Label Rouge line in the self-service aisle, enhanced production processes and the acquisition
of rival Olida.

1997

Fleury Michon was voted Brand of the Century in the Charcuterie category by a Brulé
Ville et Associé (BVA) survey of 11,500 consumers (the most widely recognised brand,
offering the most consistent quality and inspiring the most conﬁdence in the future).

2000 to 2013
GROWING THE BRAND AND EXPANDING ABROAD

2000

IPO, while remaining a family-controlled business. All products were reformulated to
eliminate additives and reduce salt and fat content.

2002 Fleury Michon teamed up with Beretta to form an Italian subsidiary, Piatti Freschi Italia.
2004 Move into the eat-out market, with catering and Room Saveurs delivered meals. At
the same time, the Group made historic capital outlays in France.

2006 Acquisition of Delta Dailyfood Canada (DDFC).
2008 The Company took a share in Proconi, the Slovenian fresh prepared meals specialist
in the supermarket and eat-out segments.

2010

Signature of the French national health and nutrition programme (PNNS) charter with
three supervising ministries (Health, Food and Economy). That same year, Fleury Michon
formalised its approach to Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR). Fleury Michon’s advertising
moved to the next level, with a new slogan: “Obsessed with Goodness”.

2011 Acquisition of Fres.Co by the PFI joint venture.
2012 First superior ham products produced in November in the new Cambrai facility.
2013 Free shares awarded to Group employees in France, with the aim of making all
employees shareholders within four years.
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2015 to today
2015

The “Helping people eat better every day” corporate project was presented to the
Company’s 300 managers.
Working groups using project management methods were set up in ﬁve areas: Consumers,
Customers and New Markets, Supply Channels, Civil Society and the Fleury Michon
Community. A roadmap was drawn up. The ﬁrst initiatives were launched, including the
strengthening of supply channels with the creation of “J’aime” ham and roasted meats and
the certiﬁcation of the responsible ﬁshing supply channel for Fleury Michon surimi.

2016 The “Coté végétal” range was launched, featuring vegetable-protein-based products
for people seeking to reduce their meat intake. Open days were organised at production
sites, recipe labs and partner supplier facilities. Operational project deployment began
and operations were reorganised into three business segments: French Supermarkets,
International Operations, and Sales and Services.

2017

A major public Eating Better event was held in Chantonnay, France in March, bringing
together all the Eating Better players and stakeholders. The “J’aime” range was extended to
include poultry cuts. Open days continued to be held regularly. The #VenezInnover initiative
was launched to support innovative start-ups promoting better eating.

2018 Passing of Joël Robuchon, a loyal friend and partner of the Group. He made his mark
on Fleury Michon, bringing high standards and constantly striving for culinary excellence for
all throughout his 40-year collaboration with the Group. All of Fleury Michon’s teams came
together to pay their respects.
Acquisition of all outstanding shares in Paso in April and of Good Morning in January. Paso
is specialised in appetizers and nibbles, while Good Morning delivers breakfasts and buffets
to companies in the Greater Paris Region. Delta Dailyfood Canada became Fleury Michon
America and refocused most of its business on airline catering. Nutri-Score was gradually
deployed across Fleury Michon-brand products to provide more nutritional information to
consumers.
Fleury Michon committed to having 65% of its products graded “A” or “B” on the Nutri-Score
scale by 2022, gradually reducing salt content by 25% in all charcuterie ranges. A one-off
purchasing power bonus was awarded to employees in France for a total amount of
€1.6 million. Among prizes won during the year, Fleury Michon received the CSR Challenges
Trophy in the medium-sized family-owned businesses category, which was presented to
Grégoire Gonnord by the French Ministry for the Economy and Finance.

10
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1.3 Business model and prioritising challenges
Eating Better: a crucial challenge for the planet and for each and
every one of us.
In 2015, Fleury Michon set its ten-year strategic roadmap, which
has become the master plan for the whole Company. Every
employee should act as an ambassador for the “Helping people eat
better every day” project. The aim is to involve all stakeholders in
this mission. Success will require the full involvement of
management, employees and stakeholders.
For the Eating Better goal to become a reality, the food of the future
must be better than that of today; better for people, better for the
environment, better for private and public stakeholders and better
for society as a whole. The success of this project requires all
parties to take responsibility and work together. Fruitful discussions
require a suitable framework. Achieving this requires moving from a
“face-to-face” approach to a “side-by-side” mentality, with product
producers (agricultural, livestock, fishing and other supply channels),

8 KEY PARTNERS

6 KEY RELATED
ACTIVITIES

employees, civil society (citizens, associations, NGOs, local
authorities, etc.), customers and consumers. In the short term, the
priority is to reinvent links and interactions with and between these
five strategic stakeholders. And in the medium term, the project and
the attitude it fosters will require Fleury Michon to change its
business model and brand positioning.

The Group’s business model
For the first time, we have included a presentation of Fleury Michon’s
business model in this report. The Group’s business model presents
our activity and, in particular, our value proposition. We have opted
for a succinct format so that the Group’s key data is displayed all at
once. This business model is an open-ended document that
develops with our activity and whose future versions will yield greater
detail. For the sake of clarity, the Fleury Michon business model is
divided into two sections. The overall plan is as follows:

1 VALUE
PROPOSITION

3 CUSTOMER
BASES

2 GROWTH
STRATEGY
9 REVENUE
STRUCTURES

5 CUSTOMER
RELATIONSHIPS

4 DISTRIBUTION
CHANNELS

7 KEY RESOURCES

11 RISKS

1

12 OPPORTUNITIES
10 COST
STRUCTURES
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8 KEY PARTNERS
• employees for their commitment and ability to innovate and grow:
employees heavily involved in decision-making and the Company
(directors representing employees, share grant plans, social dialogue,
etc.);
• upstream agriculture: crop and livestock farmers;
• supermarket and air transport customers;
• joint ventures;
• science and technology worlds.

11 RISKS
In the medium term:
• ongoing price war among French supermarkets, resulting in pressure
on prices;
• increase in raw material costs;
• emergence of local microbrands that emphasize simplicity and short
supply chains;
• protest movements in France, with a negative impact on retail and
production;
• unfavourable exchange rates in the Canadian catering business.
In the long term:
• climate change, which may greatly affect the French agricultural
landscape;
• increase in energy costs;
• sharp rise in environmental taxes.

6 KEY RELATED ACTIVITIES
• crop and livestock farming;
• abattoirs;
• supermarkets;
• company and hospital catering;
• air transport;
• shipping/logistics.

7 KEY RESOURCES
Fleury Michon beneﬁts from cutting-edge expertise in
many areas: supply channels and processes, food,
health, delivered meals
• ﬁnance: businesses, shareholders and credit
providers;
• production facilities;
• people;
• agricultural raw materials;
• water and energy.

9 REVENUE STRUCTURES
2017 net margin: 1.2%, 2018 net margin: 2.0%.
Factors affecting revenue:
• volume of sales;
• agricultural raw material prices;
• ability to pass on costs in tariffs to supermarkets
amid a price war;
• strong innovation capacity within the context of new
consumer expectations (less but better).

12
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1 VALUE PROPOSITION

3 CUSTOMER BASES

5 CUSTOMER RELATIONSHIPS

HELPING PEOPLE EAT BETTER EVERY DAY
› Feeding society: creating, producing
and selling food products (charcuterie,
prepared meals, surimi, salads, desserts,
etc.);
› Providing a majority of consumers with
a healthy, safe, affordable and tasty offer
with the best nutritional proﬁle for all
lifestyles at any time of the day;
› Promoting a sustainable food model:
• ensuring all players are fairly
compensated,
• promoting sustainable production
methods.

• 100% of consumers in France;
• business lunch and company
buffet guests in the Greater Paris
region;
• travellers on north American and
European airlines.

Consumers:
• ensuring consumers are well aware of the
Fleury Michon brand;
• engaging in dialogue with consumers to
build a transparent and honest relationship;
• campaigning for the Eating Better corporate
project by participating in public debates on
food issues to help change practices;
• maintaining a strong relationship with
supermarkets in two areas: product range
and merchandising/presentations;
• taking part in discussions and negotiations
on purchasing conditions.

2 GROWTH STRATEGY

4 DISTRIBUTION CHANNELS

12 OPPORTUNITIES

Identifying promising food markets and
systematically improving the quality of
available product ranges:
• move upmarket (good, fresh and
healthy products);
• services that meet new consumer
expectations (delivered meals);
• diversiﬁed activities that can be carried
out internally or externally through
targeted acquisitions.

› BtoB France:
• self-service products sold in
supermarkets (85% of revenue),
• eat-out and hospital catering;
› BtoB International:
• French Supermarkets (3%),
• airline catering (7%);
› BtoC France:
• delivered meals and events
catering in companies (5%),
• stands in busy urban areas
(Par Ici Cuisine and Merci Bocaux).

In the medium term:
• Fleury Michon completely restructured in
one year to be more ﬂexible, more agile and
more frugal;
• dramatic changes in consumer trends:
consumers now expect healthy and
responsible offering such as organic and
vegetarian ranges;
• lifestyle changes: signiﬁcant opportunities in
snacks and appetizers;
• digital technology offers a new way to
interact with consumers;
• supermarkets are looking for new solutions:
Fleury Michon develops its ideas based on its
ability to anticipate (ﬁrst “Eat Better” brand), its
strong ability to innovate, its nutritional
expertise (ﬁrst brand to apply the Nutri-Score
logo) and its roll-out capacity (leading sales
force recognised by supermarkets).
In the long term:
• thorough work carried out with consumers
to maintain conﬁdence;
• several years of diversiﬁcation;
• positions to be secured on delivered meals.

10 COST STRUCTURES
• supplier purchases: 68%;
• payroll: 23%;
• national and local governments:
2.5%;
• depreciation, amortisation and
reinvestment: 5.3%;
• shareholders: 0.7%.

2018 REGISTRATION DOCUMENT /

1

13

1

Presentation of the Group
BUSINESS MODEL AND PRIORITISING CHALLENGES

Prioritising challenges: materiality matrix
When launching its Eating Better project in 2013, Fleury Michon took
all stakeholders into consideration. One fundamental aspect of the
project was to turn purpose into action through a collaborative

process. Group employees defined the challenges, which were
represented as a map separated into different areas: supply
channels, customers and new markets, consumers, civil society and
Fleury Michon employees.

HYPER
MARKET

TOWN HALL

SCHOOL

take the project a step further, the Group reviewed these issues
from a dual perspective in 2018: its own and that of its stakeholders.
A materiality matrix was drawn up listing the issues perceived as
priorities not only by the Group, but also by different stakeholders. To
do this, a survey was conducted on about 30 people, half of whom
were Group management staff directly involved in Eating Better, with
the other half comprising consumers, customers, suppliers,
shareholders, Group management and personnel not directly
involved in the Eating Better project, investors, journalists, scientists,
farmers, and more. For Fleury Michon, a signatory to the United
Nations Global Compact since 2003, the simplicity, precision and
universality of the Sustainable Development Goals (SDG) made them
the obvious choice for a frame of reference. Out of the 17 SDGs,
each participant then listed what they considered to be the five
priority SDGs for Fleury Michon. We then added up the SDGs listed
by both groups in order to classify each of them with two marks: one
from the Fleury Michon group, the other from the Stakeholder group.
The matrix below provides a visual representation of the result.
Five major issues, or SDGs, emerged from the survey. They are:
●

14

12 - Responsible Consumption and Production: Companies
work with a constant eye on production and consumption
patterns. They therefore play a key role in achieving this goal.
Regardless of the business sector, companies must increasingly
address depleting resources and environmental degradation.
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This exposes producers and users of raw materials to risks of
shortages and fluctuating prices, as well as the costs of
compensation and environmental restoration. Anticipating such
risks and changing the way we produce and consume means
innovating to transform business models into sustainable ones
so as to secure our future. Reducing raw materials and energy
consumption and generating less waste also cuts costs on
procurement and waste processing. Inventing tomorrow’s
methods of consumption provides companies with a head start
on their competitors and future regulations;
●

3 - Good Health and Well-being: Ensuring communities can
access medical care and remain healthy is an opportunity for
companies to grow. Firstly, it means that people worry less
about health issues, including employees and their families, and
secondly, responding to public health issues targeted by the
SDGs involves major innovations in many areas. Furthermore,
healthy employees who are satisfied with their lives are more
likely to engage with their company and its performance.
Reducing psychosocial stress, repetitive strain injuries and other
work-related health risks are also contribute to company
performance. Reducing deaths related to pollutants and
dangerous chemical substances in the air, water and ground
primarily concerns the companies that generate them; they are
encouraged to innovate and offer solutions to avoid and treat
contamination;
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●

●

2 - Zero Hunger: Employment in the farming industry is the
highest in the world, accounting for more than 40% of the
active population, or more than 1 billion people. Developing
sustainable farming practices helps support and expand the
many businesses that depend on this sector. Environmentally
harmful farming is a significant factor in rising poverty levels that
hold back social development. Greater access to healthier food
is beneficial for all companies. Employees on a balanced diet
and in better health are, for example, more efficient, and
satisfying this basic need contributes to a vibrant economy.
Developing responsible eating for everyone while reducing
waste and environmental degradation offers great potential for
new markets, products and services. Each player in the food
production industry has a role to play, from producers to
consumers;
7 - Affordable and Clean Energy: Energy represents a major
challenge for all companies, as it incurs direct costs in
electricity, industrial gas, fuel, etc. This energy is used for
production processes in industrial companies, but also for
offices and transport, for example. Decarbonising the energy
supply and reducing consumption thanks to energy-efficient
solutions helps limit a company’s carbon footprint, cuts costs
and is a proactive measure against possible future crises (as
fossil fuels diminish), which could heavily impact price

fluctuation. At the same time, developing renewable energy
solutions is a great growth opportunity for many sectors in
France and worldwide, from energy producers to materials and
infrastructure suppliers. Rethinking processes, materials and
consumer lifestyles to save energy and preserve the climate is a
huge opening for innovation;
●

13 - Climate Action: All industries are in some way responsible
for their greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions, energy
consumption, transport, industrial processes, deforestation,
changes in the uses of soil, etc. Companies are called on to
innovate and offer solutions to reduce GHG emissions and
ensure that we adjust to climate change. The cost of inaction,
which would give rise to huge economic, social and
environmental upheaval, is far higher than making the necessary
investments for decarbonising the economy and adjusting now.

1

The first three of these SDGs are fully aligned with the Group’s
project of “Helping people eat better every day”. The last two apply to
every food industry company working to protect the environment.
Of course, Fleury Michon’s actions extend beyond these five priority
issues. For more details, see Section 2 of this report. The Group’s
non-financial performance statement and the Global Compact
Sustainable Development Goal cross-reference table referring to
different sections in the report is presented in Section 2.7 of the
non-financial performance statement.

HIGH IMPORTANCE
LOW IMPORTANCE

STAKEHOLDERS’ VISION

PRIORITY OF ISSUES

LOW IMPORTANCE

HIGH IMPORTANCE

FLEURY MICHON’S VISION
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1.3.1 Group organisation chart
ORGANISATION CHART OF MAIN CONSOLIDATED COMPANIES
at 31 December 2018
FLEURY MICHON SA
Holding company providing support to subsidiaries in the areas of ﬁnance,
IT, human resources, communications and international development

France(1)

100%

100%

L'ESPRIT
FRAIS SAS

JARGUS
SAS

MARKET
Self-service prepared
products sold in
supermarkets
Eat-out

Convenience
food concept
Sales and services

Eco-responsible
fast food concept

100%

100%

100%

ROOM SAVEURS
SAS

PASO SAS
MARKET
Appetizers and nibbles
Self-service aisle in
supermarkets
PRODUCTS
Préfou bread and
mini-burgers
Rosca

PRODUCTS
Prepared meals
Ham, surimi

Sale of delivered meals
for receptions and buffets
Roberta
Fauchon
Twist
Boco
100%

100%

CHARCUTERIES
CUISINÉES DE PLELAN SAS

SOCIÉTÉ
D'INNOVATION
CHARCUTERIES
CULINAIRE
SAS SAS
CUISINEES
DE PLELAN

GOOD MORNING
SAS

Production of ready-to-eat
charcuterie, pâtés and
boneless meats

Production of charcuterie
and pork hams

Sale of delivered meals
for breakfasts, receptions
and buffets

100%

100%

51%

100%

CANADA

SLOVENIA

SWITZERLAND
49% Phene Importation

FLEURY MICHON
CANADA INC

PROCONI
DOO

FLEURY MICHON
SUISSE SA

FLEURY MICHON
INC.

MARKET
Self-service prepared
products sold in
supermarkets
Eat-out

MARKET
Self-service prepared
products sold in
supermarkets

MARKET
Not trading in 2018

Holding company

International Operations

50%

FLEURY MICHON
LS SAS

Financing and holdings
management

PRODUCTS
Prepared meals

DELTA DAILYFOOD
CANADA INC
MARKET
Catering
Self-service in
supermarkets
Eat-out
PRODUCTS
Prepared meals

100%

UNITED STATES

NORWAY

FLEURY MICHON
NORGE AS
MARKET
Self-service prepared
products sold in
supermarkets
Sale of Fleury Michon
products in Norway

Sale of Fleury Michon
products in Switzerland

JV Spain - 50%
50% Torrent Fimer

JV Italy – 50%
50% Salumiﬁcio
Fratelli Beretta

PLATOS
TRADICIONALES SA

PIATTI FRESCHI
ITALIA SPA

MARKET
Self-service prepared
products sold in
supermarkets
PRODUCTS
Prepared meals

Legend

100%

MARKET
Self-service prepared
products sold in
supermarkets
PRODUCTS
Prepared meals
Salads, sandwiches

Fully consolidated company
Equity-accounted company
6[OLYJVTWHUPLZ!=HSStNYHPU+t]LSVWWLTLU[:(: :*0.PNHYV :*00TTVIPSPuYLZKLZZH]L\YZ ;VT:(: ;YuZ)PLU4LYJP:(: :VJPt[t0TTVIPSPuYLL[ÄUHUJPuYLKPU]LZ[PZZTLU[:(: 
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1.3.2 Organisation chart by business

1

FLEURY MICHON SA
Holding company providing support to subsidiaries in the areas of ﬁnance,
IT, human resources, communications and international development

MANAGEMENT
Chairman of the Board of Directors: Grégoire Gonnord – Chief Executive Ofﬁcer: Régis Lebrun
Fleury Michon Group consolidated revenue: €725m
Employees: 3,740

FRENCH
SUPERMARKETS(1)

INTERNATIONAL OPERATIONS(2)

FLEURY MICHON
LS
Revenue: €596.8m
Employees: 2,597
MARKET
Charcuterie products
Self-service prepared
products sold in
supermarkets
PRODUCTS
Pork hams and poultry cuts
Prepared meals
Surimi
% interest: 100

FLEURY MICHON
SUISSE

FLEURY MICHON
SA

ROOM SAVEURS

Revenue: €5.6m
Employees: 83

Revenue: €1.7m
Employees: 1

Revenue: €0.3m
Employees: 195

Revenue: €26.9m
Employees: 49

MARKET
Self-service prepared
products sold in
supermarkets
Eat-out

Sale of Fleury Michon
products in Switzerland

Holding company

MARKET
Delivered meals for
Businesses and
events

% interest: 51

% interest:
Parent company

PRODUCTS
Sale of delivered meals
% interest: 100

% interest: 100
FLEURY MICHON
LS
Revenue: €8.0m
Employees: //

EUROPE

Revenue: €0.3m
Employees: 127

PRODUCTS
Pâtés, ham hock,
boneless meats

PROCONI

PRODUCTS
Prepared meals

CHARCUTERIES
CUISINÉES
DE PLELAN

Production of ready-to-eat
charcuterie

SALES AND SERVICES
AND OTHER(3)

% interest: 100

GOOD MORNING

JARGUS

Revenue: €3.2m
Employees: 35

Revenue: €0.1m
Employees: 8

MARKET
Self-service prepared
products sold
in supermarkets
Export

MARKET
Delivered meals for
Businesses and
events

Eco-responsible fast food
concept

PRODUCTS
Prepared meals

PRODUCTS
Sale of delivered meals

% interest: 100

% interest: 100

PRODUCTS
Eat in or take away
% interest: 50

Equity-accounted companies
SOCIÉTÉ
D'INNOVATION
CULINAIRE

PIATTI FRESCHI
ITALIA

PLATOS TRADICION.
SPAIN

Employees: 150

Revenue: €107.2m
Employees: 406

Revenue: €69.7m
Employees: 340

MARKET
Self-service aisle in
supermarkets

MARKET
Self-service aisle in
supermarkets

PRODUCTS
Prepared meals
Salads, sauces and
sandwiches

PRODUCTS
Prepared meals
Roasted meats

Production of charcuterie
PRODUCTS
Pork hams
Ultra-fresh prepared
products
% interest: 100

% interest: 50
FLEURY MICHON
CANADA INC.

Revenue: €18.1m
Employees: 144
MARKET
Appetizers and nibbles
Self-service in supermarkets
PRODUCTS
Préfou bread
mini burgers, rosca
% interest: 100

OUTSIDE EUROPE

SOCIÉTÉ PASO

DELTA DAILYFOOD
CANADA
Revenue: €37.1m
Employees: 336
MARKET
Catering
Self-service aisle in
supermarkets
Eat-out
PRODUCTS
Prepared meals

% interest: 50

L'ESPRIT FRAIS

FLEURY MICHON
LS

Revenue: €0.2m
Employees: 5

Revenue: €26.5m
Employees: //

MARKET
Convenience food concept
Sales and services

MARKET
Airline catering
Eat-out

PRODUCTS
Prepared meals, soups,
beverages

PRODUCTS
Prepared meals
% interest: 100

% interest: 100

SIRI

SCI IMMOBILIERE
DES SAVEURS

Revenue: €0m
Employees: //

Revenue: €0.2m
Employees: //

Fleury Michon real estate
asset
and event management
arm

Manufacturing facility leasing
business

% interest: 100

% interest: 100

% interest: 100
(1) Other companies linked to the Paso business: Tom (11 employees), SCI Gigaro.
(2) Other companies not trading at 31 December 2018: Fleury Michon Norge, Fleury Michon USA.
(3) Other companies: Vallégrain Développement and Très Bien Merci (not trading at 31 December 2018).
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1.3.3 French Supermarkets
French Supermarkets: fresh self-service pre-packaged
products sold in the prepared meals and charcuterie sections
of supermarkets under the Fleury Michon brand or private
labels; production and distribution governed by regulations
applicable in France.
For the year ended 31 December 2018, the French Supermarkets
business segment (85% of consolidated revenue) generated full-year
revenue of €615.3 million, up 2.4% compared to €601.0 million the
previous year. The inclusion of Paso as of April 2018 contributed
positively to these results. Based on a Group structure comparable
with 2017, revenue for French Supermarkets fell by 0.6%.
The Fleury Michon brand followed the same trend, with historic
business revenue down 0.9%.
By market, revenue for Fleury Michon-brand products came in at:
●
●

€435.7 million (down 0.6%) for charcuterie ranges (71% of
segment revenue);
€112.1 million, up 13.5% (down 4.8% based on comparable
group structure) for prepared meals ranges (18% of segment
revenue);

PORK HAMS

●

€67.5 million (up 5.6%) for surimi ranges (11% of segment
revenue).

Fleury Michon is either a leader or co-leader in pork hams, poultry
cuts, ready-to-eat charcuterie, surimi and individual prepared meals.
Its offering comprises different quality labels (e.g., organic, J’aime,
Label Rouge and MSC) with various health benefits (reduced salt,
Bleu-Blanc-Cœur, GMO-free, antibiotic-free, and more).
Its main market segment competitors are (see market share chart):
●

Main private labels and lowest-price products: Auchan,
Carrefour, Cora, E.Leclerc, Casino, Système U, Intermarché,
Lidl, Leader Price;

●

Marie – LDC Group;

●

Herta – Nestlé Group;

●

Isla Délice – Ambre Délice Group;

●

Isla Mondial – Cévital Group;

●

Coraya – Savencia Group.

EATING BETTER CHARCUTERIES*
Market
€1.593m (down 1.9%)

10.4%

Market
€848m (up 16.6%)

Other

4.3%
Lowest price

(-8.8%)

1.9%
Madrange

(-20.5%)

6.0%
Other

(+3.8%)

19.7%
Fleury Michon

(-5.6%)

20.1%
48.0%
Private labels

(-2.4%)

Herta

(+5.7%)

35.7%
30.2%

Fleury Michon

Private labels

(+10.6%)

(+9.2%)

23.7%
Herta

(+35.8%)

* Responsible supply channels (Organic, J’aime, etc.) + Health
(reduced salt, low fat, etc.)

Moving annual total France – Source: IRI Dec. 2018.
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POULTRY CUTS

HALAL CHARCUTERIE
Market
€135m (up 4.0%)

Market
€375m (up 0.2%)

3.4%
17.9%

25.9%

Lowest price

(-13.5%)

Fleury Michon

Other

(+5.8%)

1

10.5%
Other

47.5%
Fleury Michon

(+4.6%)

33.3%

9.2%
RegHalal

(+2.2%)

39.1%

7.9%

Private labels

Isla Délice

(+7.5%)

Isla Mondial

(-4.0%)

(+0.2%)

5.3%
Herta

(+3.2%)

APPETISERS

3.2%

INDIVIDUAL PREPARED MEALS (EXCLUDING MEAL BOXES)
Market
€514m (up 1.7%)

Market
€912m (up 2.8%)

Boursin

(-1.7%)

10.0%
Apéricube

(-0.5%)

3.3%
Paso

(-2.2%)

15.1%
Other

(+3.9%)

3.9%

26.4%

Blini

(+3.6%)

6.1%
Atelier Blini

(+19.5%)

26.2%

Fleury Michon

47.3%
Other

(-9.2%)

27.3%
Private labels

(+4.4%)

21.2%
Marie

Private labels

(+9.4%)

(+4.2%)

10.0%
Weight Watcher

(+8.5%)

Moving annual total France – Source: IRI Dec. 2018.
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SURIMI

4.1%

Market
€258m (down 3.0%)

Other

4.3%
Lowest price

(-13.5%)

28.4%
Fleury Michon

(+1.5%)

41.9%
Private labels

(-4.2%)

21.3%
Coraya

(-3.0%)

1.3.4 International Operations
International Operations: frozen products (airline catering) and fresh self-service pre-packaged products; production and distribution
governed by regulations applicable outside France.
Fleury Michon has the clear aim of growing its international presence
in the fresh self-service market. The strategies implemented to
achieve this objective include:
●

Forming joint ventures;

●

Making acquisitions;

● Extending the international reach of the Fleury Michon brand.
It currently has production sites in four countries and a business
presence in eight.
The International Operations business segment generated revenue of
€52.4 million in full-year 2018 (7% of consolidated revenue)
compared to €58.8 million in 2017, representing a decrease of 10.9%
(8.2% at constant exchange rates).
Internationally, growth faltered in 2018 compared to previous years.
Revenue fell as the Group ceased operations in Norway, as planned,
and export activities (from France) and Fleury Michon Suisse

Moving annual total France – Source: IRI Dec. 2018.
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underperformed. Business in Canada was satisfactory despite a
3.6% (3.6% at constant exchange rates) decrease in revenue owing
to the Group repositioning to airline catering while narrowing its
supermarket offering.
The two joint ventures (equity-accounted businesses in Italy and
Spain) continued to grow against different backdrops. Piatti Freschi
Italia (PFI) enjoyed renewed growth, focusing on its Viva la
Mamma-brand products to compete in private-label markets, having
overcome the repercussions of diminished production capacity
caused by the fire at the Marnate site in 2017. Revenue amounted to
€107.2 million, compared with €103.2 million, up 3.9% compared to
a 4.6% decline. In Spain, Platos Tradicionales continued to expand,
generating growth of 14.6% compared to 7.1%, with revenue
amounting to €69.7 million compared to €60.8 million, thanks to the
successful launch of a new prepared and gratin meals offering that is
preservative and additive free.
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INTERNATIONAL OPERATIONS IN 2018

Business volumes based
on Fleury Michon's interest

Business volumes
of consolidated subsidiaries

€52.4m (down 10.9%)

1

€140.0m (down 0.5%)

7%

18%

4%

Export (1)

Export (1)

Slovenia

27%
11%

Canada

38%

Slovenia

Italy(2)

71%
Canada

24%
Spain(3)

(1) Export + Fleury Michon Switzerland + Fleury Michon Norway.
(2) Piatti Freschi Italia, 50% interest.
(3) Platos Tradicionales, 50% interest.

1.3.5 Sales and Services and other operations (included in “Other”)
Other: sales and services not presented separately (eat-out and
travel catering), and support and assistance operations to
subsidiaries (services including human resources, information
systems, finance and leasing).

BUSINESS VOLUMES FOR SALES AND SERVICES

€47.7m (up 10%)

Sales and Services accounts for 8% of the Group’s overall business.
Fleury Michon is expanding, up 1.0% in 2018, by implementing new
concepts and services, which are today mainly represented by
delivered meals to the workplace, airline catering (travel catering) and
meal solutions for healthcare facilities.
Revenue from other operations amounted to €57.6 million compared
with €57.1 million in 2017. Based on a comparable Group structure,
the segment contracted 4.9%. Within the business segment, revenue
from the delivered meals, receptions and corporate buffets business
rose 10.8%, compared with 5.2% in 2017, including external growth.
Historic business slipped 1% in the face of fierce competition from
food tech and the delayed launch of new product innovations to early
2019.

37%

63%

Catering

Room Saveurs
& Good Morning
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1.3.6 Production facilities and equipment
The Group’s policy is to own its own production sites, financed through
bank loans over seven-year terms, with the exception of the Cambrai
site (opened in November 2012), which is financed through a 12-year
finance lease. With Paso, the Group acquired two new production sites,
including the one that prepares “préfou”.

●

One site in Cambrai, Nord-Pas-de-Calais: charcuterie (pork
hams) and new workshop for ultra-fresh products;

●

One site in Frépillon, in the Paris region: lease.

The Group has a portfolio of 12 solely owned production sites and
eight joint venture sites.

●

One site in Rigaud, Quebec Province, Canada: prepared meals;

●

One site in Murska Sobota, Slovenia: prepared meals;

●

One joint venture site in Buñol, Valencia, Spain: prepared meals
and roasted chicken;

●

Six sites in Italy (prepared meals) including three in the
long-standing Trezzo sull’Adda, Traversetolo and Caresanablot
and three new sites further to the acquisition of Sapore e Gusto
Italiani (SGI) in Albinia, Massa e Cozzile and Leina;

ELEVEN SITES IN FRANCE, INCLUDING EIGHT IN
THE VENDÉE REGION
●

Two sites in Chantonnay: one charcuterie site (poultry cuts) and
one prepared seafood site (surimi);

●

One site in Mouilleron-en-Pareds: prepared meals;

●

Two sites in Pouzauges: one charcuterie site (pork hams) and
one prepared meals site (prepared meals and surimi);

●

One site in La Meilleraie-Tillay (Gare de Pouzauges): one
charcuterie site (cooking aids) along with the supply chain
platform (centralised processing and preparation of orders
for French Supermarkets), the head office and administrative
functions;

●

One site in Chapelle Achard: préfou (bread appetiser)
production site built in 2017;

TEN INTERNATIONAL SITES

● One new “Viva la mamma” site in New Jersey, United States.
Capital expenditure is planned on a multi-year basis to meet the
Group’s growth strategy. In line with this and with future prospects, it
covers the equipment required to:
●

Increase volume;

●

Deliver product innovation;

●

Improve productivity;

●

Improve levels of food safety;
Guarantee quality.

●

One site in Olonne sur Mer: registered offices and historic
production site (leasing agreement);

●

●

One site in Plélan-le-Grand, Brittany: charcuterie (preparation of
meats and charcuterie products);

Capital expenditure in the Group’s companies in France and abroad
in the past three financial years is summarised in the table below in
millions of euros:

Company

Location

2016

2017

2018

France

3.5

3.5

7.4

Fleury Michon Charcuterie

France

9.5

-

-

Charcuteries Cuisinées de Plélan

France

0.8

0.9

0.9

Société d’Innovation Culinaire

France

2.3

0.2

2.2

Fleury Michon Traiteur

France

5.7

16.6

19.5

Fleury Michon Logistique(2)

France

0.4

-

-

Other companies

France

1.6

0.2

1.3

Fleury Michon SA(1)
(2)

23.8

21.4

31.3

Proconi

FRANCE SUB-TOTAL
Slovenia

0.4

0.2

0.1

Fleury Michon America

Canada

0.9

3.3

2.3

1.3

3.5

2.4

25.1

24.9

33.7

INTERNATIONAL SUB-TOTAL
TOTAL

(1) IT and real estate investments of the production subsidiaries located in France are booked by Fleury Michon.
(2) The Fleury Michon Charcuterie and Fleury Michon Logistique sites were taken over by Fleury Michon Traiteur following the merger on
31 December 2017. On this date Fleury Michon Traiteur’s corporate name became Fleury Michon LS.
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1.4 Research and development

1

Multi-disciplinary research fields
Starting in 1999, Fleury Michon actively deployed a nutritional
approach designed to promote sustainable nutrition. This corporate
commitment was aligned with France’s National Health and Nutrition
Programme (PNNS), which was launched to improve the population’s
health by focusing on one of the largest contributors: balanced
nutrition. In 2010, Fleury Michon officially signed a nutritional progress
charter with the French Ministries of Health, Food and the Economy,
containing the following commitments:
●

Fat content in prepared meals: quantitative limits to be
observed and qualitative selection of the types of fat (e.g., no
hydrogenated oils or palm oil);

●

Salt: quantitative limits to be observed for the cooked hams
family and prepared meals;

●

Nutritional information on all packaging and the website with
values per 100g and per portion.

In 2013, the three signatory Ministries confirmed that all
commitments had been met and even exceeded, after verification
and approval by the Agri-Food CRITT (Regional Centre for Innovation
and Technology Transfer), an independent third-party body. Key
achievements include:
●

●

With regard to the salt commitment:
●

average salt content reduction of 15.6% in prepared meals,

●

average salt content decrease of 7.7% in charcuterie;

With regard to the trans fatty acids commitment:
●
●

●

use of trans fatty acids lower than 1g/100g in prepared
meals (0.116g/100g) and in surimi (0.064g/100g),
no hydrogenated oils in any of the prepared meals or surimi;

With regard to the commitment on saturated fatty acids in
prepared meals:
●

reduction in average content of saturated fatty acids,

●

no palm oil in any of the prepared meals;

●

On the nutritional labelling commitment, 100% of products have
a nutritional label with values per 100g and per portion;

●

Regarding the commitment to employees:
●

80% of employees received nutritional monitoring,

●

350 diet consultations financed by the Company’s mutual
health insurance,

●

organisation of balanced eating events and educational
breakfasts,

●

48 Works Council programmes to promote balanced eating
and/or physical activity covered 988 families of employees,

●

15,000 local seasonal fruits distributed to employees,

●

adaptation of products available in vending machines: in
2013, 30% of snacks purchased were fruit- or
cereal-based,

●

six events held in the Group’s various staff restaurants.

Fleury Michon is the only brand that renewed a PNNS pledge with
the French government. For the period 2013-2015, the pledges relate
to:
●

Reduction in salt content;

●

Reduction in fatty acid content in prepared meals;

●

Reduction in sugar content in surimi;

●

Development of fibre-rich recipes;

● Promotion of multifunctional information.
In 2016, the three signatory ministries confirmed that all
commitments had been met after verification and approval by the
Agri-Food CRITT.
Our R&D team of cooks and engineers renews 20% to 30% of our
line-up each year. Research and development teams continued to
work on new processes and products in 2017, with a focus on three
key objectives:
●

Complying with the nutritional charter;

●

Cutting down on the use of food additives;

● Reducing the environmental footprint of product packaging.
No research and development costs were capitalised during the year.
All research and development costs were expensed as incurred.
To meet the challenges of eating better, the Group’s research areas
have expanded over the past three years to cover the various issues
arising in the Company’s five strategic focuses (supply channels,
Fleury Michon community, civil society, consumers and customers
and new markets). As a result, research now extends to human
resources, supply chains, packaging, logistics and finance.
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1.5 Risk factors
The Group has reviewed the risks that could have a significant negative impact on its business, financial position or results (or on its
ability to achieve its objectives) and considers that no other material risks exist except those outlined below.
The most material risks identified are regularly reviewed by Group management, the Audit and Risks Committee and the Quality,
Safety and Environment (QSE) Department.

1.5.1 Food product manufacturing risks
To ensure that its products are safe and of high quality,
Fleury Michon has deployed a total quality management programme
for all of its processes in the different businesses and production
sites. This quality approach focuses on feedback from customers
and end consumers, performance and continuous improvements in
processes and procedures. The report of the Chairman of the Board
of Directors on internal control procedures highlights the importance
given to food safety in the general organisation of internal control
procedures.

allergenic). The measures deployed by management and staff are
designed to manage these risks across the production chain, from
sourcing to final distribution. By maintaining a steady focus on food
safety and certifying its production sites to ISO 9001 standards, the
Group demonstrates its commitment to offering the very best
products. The Fleury Michon nutritional charter is part of this
commitment. The Group also has a crisis management unit that is
responsible for setting up the necessary procedures to guarantee
consumer safety and preserve the brand’s image.

Food safety is an absolute priority at Fleury Michon. Identified product
risks are classified by category (microbiological, chemical, physical or

1.5.2 Strategic and operational risks (including raw materials risk)
The Group is particularly attentive to events across the entire supply
chain (suppliers, customers, employees, environment, etc.) that could
have a major effect on the Fleury Michon brand’s reputation and
image. A crisis management strategy is in place at the Group level to
prevent, manage and limit the consequences of such events.
Nevertheless, events damaging to the Group’s reputation, whether
founded or unfounded, particularly those with widespread media
coverage, could have a very detrimental effect on business, results,
outlook and financial situation.
Fleury Michon is involved in very competitive markets with a large
number of players. The Group primarily sells its products in
supermarkets and hypermarkets, a sector that is highly concentrated
in France. Measures are taken on an ongoing basis to enhance the
Fleury Michon brand’s image in its strategic markets, to increase
product differentiation and thereby to ensure the business’ longterm
future.
To respond effectively to consumer eating habits, Fleury Michon
offers a wide range of prepared meals and charcuterie products
made using a variety of raw materials (pork, poultry, fish and beef)
sourced mainly from French and nearby European markets and to a
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lesser extent from international markets. This diversity reduces
exposure to raw materials risks and allows the Group to benefit from
any shifts in consumption caused by a crisis concerning a particular
ingredient. Nevertheless, a sustained slowdown in consumer
spending, the price war among banners or continued concentration
in the retail sector could have a negative impact on the Group’s
results. Moreover, there is no organised raw materials forward market
allowing the Group to implement a global hedging policy. The Group
is therefore exposed to rising prices in raw materials, particularly
major materials such as pork (benchmark: consensus price for “ham,
flank removed” at Rungis wholesale food market) and the surimi base
(a predominantly Japanese global market whose supply depends on
fishing quotas, particularly for Alaskan pollock).
The Group sources its raw materials from national and international
suppliers based on a stringent selection process (specifications, risk
assessment and audit) and long-term partnerships (supply channel
initiatives). Its supply sources and the number of players in the market
are sufficiently varied to reduce the risk associated with the default of
a supplier, which would have a negative impact on the Group’s
business.
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Fleury Michon has 11 production sites in France, one in Canada and
one in Slovenia. The Group makes substantial, steady investments to
guarantee top performance at these plants. In addition, it has
traditionally taken a prudent approach to protecting these assets and

to covering major risks including property damage, business
interruption, third-party liability, corporate officers’ liability and
potential damage to the brand’s image.

1
1.5.3 Legal, IT and restructuring-related risks
The legal risks pertaining to food production, described in
Section 1.5.1, are wide-ranging and affect all levels of the value
chain. Major regulatory risks (all organisations) can be summed up as
follows:
●

Sourcing: traceability of raw materials, fight against corruption;

●

Production: hygiene and employee safety, quality checks and
product traceability, environmental standards, patents and
brands;

●

Distribution:
counterfeit.

packaging

and

labelling,

competition

and

In conducting its business, the Group ensures that it complies with all
laws and regulations both in France and internationally. Fleury Michon
has developed a comprehensive security policy, which is reviewed on
a regular basis in particular to secure its IT systems, with a continuity
plan and infrastructure security plan. The Group considers that it has
taken sufficient measures to protect its assets and prevent and
manage risk.
The Group has reviewed the main risks in relation to legal,
administrative and transactional proceedings that it faces in the
normal course of business. The probable charges on current or past
events are recognised as provisions, insofar as the amount can be
measured reliably. The main proceedings subject to provisions are
detailed in Section 5.5, Note 3.10.
The following information concerns filed legal proceedings for which
accountancy provisions have not been made:
Fleury Michon, as the parent company, as well as its subsidiaries
Fleury Michon Charcuterie, Charcuterie Cuisinées de Plélan and
Société d’Innovation Culinaire, received a notice of grievance from

the French Competition Authorities on 19 February 2018 with respect
to a horizontal agreement concerning certain practices in the
charcuterie sector (pork hams) from January 2011 to April 2013.
Fleury Michon challenged the notice through the Competition
Authorities; an inquiry is currently under way but no decision had
been reached at the date on which this Registration Document was
prepared. Fleury Michon cannot foresee either the outcome of the
proceedings or its possible ramifications, and has therefore not
recorded any provision for risk at 31 December 2018.
In March 2018, Fleury Michon and its main subsidiaries received a tax
inspection notice for 2015 and 2016, as part of standard practice
under French law. At the completion of the inspection, no provision
for risk was recorded as management and their advisers do not
consider the grounds of the French Tax Office’s arguments to be
valid.
In January 2019, Fleury Michon and its main French subsidiaries
received an inspection notice from the Social Security and Family
Allowance Contribution Collection Offices (URSAFF) for the financial
years 2016, 2017 and 2018. At this stage in the procedure and in the
absence of any notice, the Company had not entered a provision in
the Group’s accounts at 31 December 2018.
At the date on which this Registration Document was prepared, there
are no other legal, administrative or transactional proceedings
(including any proceedings known to the Company, which are
pending or with which it is threatened) which are likely to have or
have had over the last 12 months a material impact on the
Company’s and/or the Group’s financial position or profitability, other
than those described in Section 5.5, Note 3.10.

1.5.4 Financial risks
The Group has a central organisation that manages most market,
liquidity and credit risks related to its operations. The Finance
Department and Corporate Cash Management Department work
closely together in the financial markets to:

●

Obtain financing under the best possible terms and support the
development of the Group’s businesses;

● Identify, evaluate and hedge financial risks.
The Group uses derivative financial instruments to hedge its exposure
to certain risks.
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1.5.4.1

CURRENCY RISK

1.5.4.3

The Group prepares its consolidated financial statements in euros
and generates more than 90% of its revenue in euros. Assets,
liabilities, revenue and profit denominated in currencies other than the
euro are therefore not material in relation to the consolidated totals.
Nevertheless, the Group’s international expansion strategy has
created exposure to other currencies, such as the Canadian dollar
(CAD) and US dollar (USD), principally through its subsidiary
Fleury Michon America (formerly Delta Dailyfood Canada).
The Group uses currency hedges as well as currency futures and
options.
The accounting treatment of these instruments is described in the
notes to the consolidated financial statements. Changes in the fair
value of derivative financial instruments that do not fulfil the hedge
accounting criteria are recognised directly in the income statement
for the period (the “ineffective” portion). The effective portion is
reported directly under equity in order to reduce the volatility of future
cash flows in US dollars. At 31 December 2018, the Group held the
following currency futures and options expiring between January and
October 2019:
Sales/Purchases
of foreign currencies(1)

USD/EUR

USD/CAD

2,000

-

Asymmetric forwards

-

-

Accumulator forwards

-

Futures – sales

-

-

2,000

-

Futures – purchases

TOTAL
(1) Nominal value in thousands of dollars.

1.5.4.2

INTEREST RATE RISK

The Group does not hold significant interest-bearing assets aside
from money-market mutual funds and short-term, highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash,
recognised under “Cash and cash equivalents”. The Group’s
exposure to interest rate risk corresponds to long-term bank loans
net of these interest-bearing assets.
Most of the loans are at floating rates, exposing the Group to
potential cash flow volatility. To reduce its net exposure, the Group
uses instruments negotiated over the counter. At 31 December 2018,
the amount hedged was €44,193 thousand. The total debt (fixed and
floating rate) was hedged at 58.4% at the year-end versus 51% at
end-2017. The accounting treatment of these instruments is
described in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements,
Section 1.2.15.
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EQUITY RISK

Investments in non-consolidated companies and other investment
securities correspond to shares in unlisted companies. If there is no
active market for the shares, fair value is estimated. If the fair value
cannot be estimated reliably, the asset is measured at amortised cost
less any impairment losses.
At 31 December 2018, the Group held 96,840 treasury shares,
directly or through the liquidity contract, for a total value of
€2,780 thousand. As indicated in Note 1, Section 1.2.8, treasury
shares are recorded as a deduction from consolidated equity. Based
on the closing price at 31 December 2018 of €38.60, the market
value of treasury shares held at that date was €3,738 thousand.

1.5.4.4

LIQUIDITY RISK

The Group’s prudent management strategy ensures it has a sufficient
level of cash and marketable securities to cover its commitments.
The trade receivables securitisation programme providing up to
€50 million in financing has been active since 2016 to diversify and
secure short-term financing. At 31 December 2018, net cash
amounted to €136.0 million (€139.2 million in cash and cash
equivalents less a bank overdraft of €3.2 million), compared with
€132.4 million at 31 December 2017. At the end of the 2018 and
2017 reporting periods, €40.6 million and €39.3 million, respectively,
had been obtained under the securitisation programme. Net debt
amounted to €93.0 million at the year-end, compared with
€40.5 million at 31 December 2017. The Group’s bank loans do not
contain clauses requiring compliance with financial ratios, known as
covenants. In 2018, the Fleury Michon America subsidiary (formerly
Delta Dailyfood) reimbursed €291 thousand in outstanding debt to
Farm Credit Canada for which a waiver letter was issued over a
12-month period ending on 31 December 2018.
The Group has reviewed its liquidity risk and considers that it can
meet its future maturities (included in Note 3.11 to the consolidated
financial statements, Section 5.5) over the next 12 months as from
the filing of this Registration Document.
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1.5.4.5

CREDIT RISK AND RISK RELATED
TO RETAIL CONCENTRATION

Although the Group’s end customers are individual consumers, it
sells its products primarily to retail chains. However, the supermarket
sector is becoming increasingly concentrated. Some customers
individually represent more than 20% of consolidated revenue (in
conjunction with retailer market share). The Group reviews its
customers’ creditworthiness and closely tracks its receivables. Given
the high credit ratings of its main customers, the Group considers
that its exposure to customer credit risk is not material.
However, the concentration trend in retail – resulting in fewer
customers – could affect the Group’s operating margin over the
medium term and the Group could become more exposed to
customer payment default risk.

1.5.4.6

RISKS RELATED TO CLIMATE CHANGE

The Group’s business is exposed to environmental risks linked to
climate change through its food product production operations, as is

the rest of the food industry. Increasingly common and unpredictable
climate events influence agricultural yields and the location of
production (both arable and animal), which leads to price volatility. To
minimise the risk, the Group diversifies its sources of raw materials
and ingredients, primarily focusing on French and nearby European
markets and, to a lesser extent, international markets. Nonetheless,
the effects of climate change are likely to have a negative impact on
the Group’s profitability in terms of sharp increases in purchasing
costs owing to a major rise in the cost of raw materials and
ingredients from the farming industry and also, for example, an
increase in energy costs.

1

To help reduce climate change, the Group is undertaking a number
of initiatives in its area of influence, guided by a comprehensive
Environmental Management strategy. Since 2008, Fleury Michon has
been investing in a large-scale plan to reduce its goods and energy
consumption as well as its CO2 emissions to improve its
environmental footprint. A more detailed description of the
management system, initiatives and results obtained are available in
Section 2 along with the measurement of greenhouse gas (GHG)
emissions (Section 2.4).
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1.6 Internal control and risk management procedures
The internal control and risk management procedures are based on
the recommendations set out in the Application Guide for the
Reference Framework issued by the AMF applicable to small caps
and mid caps. The management scope for risks and internal control
described below concerns fully consolidated subsidiaries.

New acquisitions (Paso and Good Morning) and companies outside
France (Fleury Michon America, Proconi, FM Suisse and FM Norge)
have their own internal control system and are gradually adopting the
holding company model.

1.6.1 Internal control participants and objectives
Internal control is a process carried out by the Board of Directors,
Executive Management and staff to provide reasonable assurance
but not an absolute guarantee that the following objectives will be
achieved:
●

Ensure that the Group’s accounting and financial information is
reliable and fairly stated;

●

Establish, enhance and maintain an organisational structure
designed to prevent and manage the exposure of the Company
and its subsidiaries to food, business, financial, legal and other
risks;

●

Ensure compliance with the laws and regulations;

● Protect assets.
The internal audit unit is part of the Finance Department and reports
to the Management Committee and the Audit and Risks Committee.
Drawing on an approach based on risk identification and
assessment, the internal audit unit is responsible for orchestrating the
Group’s internal control procedures and assessing whether they are
effective and appropriate, communicating best practices and

encouraging continuous improvement in this area, and ensuring that
Fleury Michon meets the internal control objectives described above.
The internal audit unit is also responsible for harmonising accounting
procedures and making sure they are applied consistently throughout
the Group so that Fleury Michon’s financial information is completely
accurate.
In 2018, Fleury Michon expanded on its Principles of Ethical Conduct
by adopting the Middlenext Anti-Corruption Code of Conduct.
Together, they set out best practices to adopt and provide guidelines
for Group employees in business relationships. The measures put in
place have been completed by an in-house whistleblowing
mechanism for reporting concerns or possible conduct or situations
that are contrary to the Group’s ethical principles. An online
preventive training programme has also been deployed during the
course of 2018, in order to raise awareness in those managers and
employees who have been identified as more exposed. The
Anti-Corruption Code of Conduct and the Principles are set out in
French on the Fleury Michon website (fleurymichon.fr) under
“Engagement responsable et éthique” in the “Le Groupe” section.

1.6.2 Risk management
The main objectives associated with the risk management processes
are:

the Group’s business, operational and strategic risks. The risk
management stages are as follows:

●

To create and preserve the value, assets and reputation of the
Company;

●

●

To mobilise the Company’s employees around a shared vision
of the main risks and strive to ensure that the actions are
consistent with the Group’s values.

Identification and description of business macro-processes
(supply chain), management macro-processes and support
processes;

●

Identification and assessment of the overall exposure, based on
the risk classification defined by the Group;

●

Identification and evaluation of existing control elements (audit,
KPIs, documentation, etc.);

●

Mapping of residual risks, identification of priority and
non-priority risks;

●

Introduce action plans to address risks;

●

Implementation of an audit and monitoring plan.

In this sense, the security policy put in place is based on four pillars:
protection of the food chain, personal safety, asset protection,
system security and environmental protection.
The main risks facing the Group are described in Chapter 1,
Section 1.5 “Risk factors”, of this Registration Document.
To promote its risk management system, the Group has developed
and finalised a comprehensive bottom-up approach, which analyses
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1.6.3 Internal control organisation and procedures
The Group has designed a decision-making process based on
strategic pillars in three operating segments: French Supermarkets,
International Operations and New Food Services (included in “Other”).
Having rearranged its matrix organisational structure into areas of
expertise for the charcuterie, prepared meals and prepared seafood
businesses, the Group merged these activities in 2017 to form a
single legal entity, bringing it fully in line with the decision-making
process based on three operating segments described above.

●

The Group’s Finance Department plays a major role in risk
management and internal control through the various corporate
functions that report directly to it, including management
control, financing and cash management, audit and risks,
insurance, corporate social responsibility, Group accounting,
tax and payroll;

●

performance is tracked in monthly reporting that allows
management to monitor each business and compare
results to targets;

A quality management system is deployed internally to cover all
key processes, including raw material purchases, investments,
production, quality, marketing, sales and logistics. The system
is assessed on an annual basis in connection with
Fleury Michon’s ISO 9001:2000 and IFS certifications and
internal audits. The system’s procedures and instructions define
methods, responsibilities and mandatory verifications;

●

The principal operating subsidiaries share an information system
that covers accounting and financial management, sales
management, production management and human resources
management. An IT user charter governs the use of the IT
environment, while an IT security manager oversees and
manages the Group’s IT Department security initiative.

The budget control process comprises three stages:
●

an annual budget forecast is established and the estimates
are revised during the year,

●

Internal control procedures are based on the following principles:
●

●

a three-year growth plan is drawn up annually for each
strategic business,

1

1.6.4 Procedures for preparing and processing accounting and financial information
The accounting and finance function is managed by a centralised
team at the Group’s head office that implements the accounting
methods and procedures for all of the Group’s companies. The
finance function encompasses all accounting functions (general,
suppliers, clients), payroll management, tax, management control and
cost price structure, administration of company sales, audits,
consolidation and insurance services. For non-centralised
subsidiaries outside France, the Group relies on the subsidiary’s
finance and administration departments, as well as the in-house audit
function which carries out additional compliance procedures,
particularly for the application of IFRS standards.

No significant changes were made to the organisation of these
functions during the year.
Procedures for preparing and processing accounting and financial
information are based on the following general principles:
●

Segregation of tasks;

●

A centralised management control system that is organised into
three areas: sales/marketing, production/cost and corporate/
reporting;

●

Uniform financial reporting of business and financial results on a
regular basis;

●

A monthly committee analysis of the Group’s performance.
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The Group prepares interim and annual consolidated financial
statements on 30 June and 31 December of each year. Group
companies receive a detailed schedule so that they can provide
quarterly sales figures and interim and annual financial data within a
reasonable timeframe.
Accounting and financial data are consolidated by a dedicated unit in
the Finance Department to ensure that the consolidated figures are
uniform and consistent. The consolidated financial statements are
prepared from data provided in reporting packages and from the
original accounting balances and financial statements. The

consolidation process, which is set out in a specific consolidation
manual, ensures that data are prepared in compliance with applicable
standards, that the accounts are comparable, and that the necessary
information is provided on complex transactions.
Lastly, the Chief Financial Officer or members of his or her team make
trips to the non-centralised subsidiaries to support the process and
the Statutory Auditors verify the Group’s accounting and financial
information when they review the interim and annual financial
statements.

1.6.5 Assessment of internal control procedures
The internal control organisation, based on the centralisation of
controls, on the preparation and processing of accounting and
financial information for all the subsidiaries, and on tight control over
cash flows, provides reasonable assurance that the following
objectives are met:
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●

Completion and optimisation of transactions;

●

Reliability of financial information presented to management and
other interested parties;

●

Compliance with applicable laws and regulations.
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NOTICE TO THE READER

Notice to the reader
Chapter 2 of the Registration Document focuses on Fleury Michon’s non-financial performance statement and corporate social
responsibility (CSR) commitments. It was written to report on the actions implemented by the Group and to provide the most
accurate description of the CSR work accomplished since 2010.
Divided into seven main sections, the first section (2.1) presents Fleury Michon’s vision for sustainable development and the role of
CSR in the Group’s strategy.
Sections 2.2 to 2.6 describe Fleury Michon’s policies and achievements in the face of each challenge, per stakeholder: consumers,
customers, employees, the natural environment, and the Group’s economic ecosystem, which includes its suppliers, its host
regions and its communities.
Finally, Section 2.7 includes the indicator tables and cross-references to significant reference sources so that readers can quickly
find Fleury Michon’s strategic indicators and how they correspond to the various references.
In accordance with regulations, the CSR report for 2018 resembles a non-financial performance statement, including, in particular,
a business model, materiality matrix and risk study. This new information can be found in Chapter 1 of this Registration Document
or in Chapter 1, “Vision, strategy and organisation” of the Group’s non-financial performance statement (separate from this
Registration Document).
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Scope and reporting method
CSR reporting scope and selection of published information and indicators
The 2018 reporting scope for France is identical to that of 2017. The
entities acquired by the Group in early 2018 (Paso and
Good Morning) are not as yet included in the reporting scope.
Wherever possible, the 2018 Group scope includes Fleury Michon’s
international operations.
Fleury Michon’s reporting relies on a quantitative data reporting
protocol that facilitates the standardisation of calculation formulas,
definitions and data gathering and consolidation methodologies.
This protocol also standardises the roles of those who contribute,
approve, consolidate and audit data.
The indicators published by the Fleury Michon Group are the result of
a constant quest for improvement: year after year, new indicators
become available and others become more reliable or cover a larger
scope. Some are developed as the policy becomes more established
so as to report on the achievement of the objectives set for each
component.
The qualitative data published were selected to provide the most
accurate picture of the Group’s performance on key challenges and
to evaluate the CSR progress made. They are verified by an
independent third party (see Section 2.7).
The Corporate Social Responsibility section of this Registration
Document covers the Group’s activities in France (around 94% of its
consolidated revenue and 90% of its employees on permanent and
fixed-term contracts) and the international businesses that have been
fully consolidated.
The published data correspond to the Group’s activities in France
and abroad. This scope includes:
●

●

the Société d’Innovation Culinaire
Tilloy-lez-Cambrai in the north of France;

●

the Charcuteries Cuisinées de Plélan (CCP) located in
Plélan-le-Grand in France’s Ille-et-Vilaine department;

●

the Room Saveurs company in Paris;

●

Fleury Michon America (formerly DDFC) in Quebec, Canada;

●

Proconi in Murska Sobota, Slovenia;

●

Fleury Michon Suisse in Switzerland;

●

Fleury Michon Norge AS in Norway, a trading company with a
single employee, scheduled to be discontinued in
January 2019.

(SIC)

based

in

2

The above companies cover ten fully-owned production sites:
Montifaut Hams, Montifaut Prepared Meals, Chantonnay Charcuterie,
Chantonnay Prepared Seafood, Mouilleron Prepared Meals,
Pouzauges Cooking Aids, Cambrai, Plélan-le-Grand and the two
Paso sites in La Mothe-Achard and Les Sables d’Olonne, as well as
the supply chain platform and head office in Pouzauges Gare and,
outside France, Fleury Michon America and Proconi. Room Saveurs
is a service business without its own industrial plant.
If, for technical or legal reasons, certain social and environmental
indicators have not been measured, this will be indicated in the
appropriate place throughout the document.
Fleury Michon does not include the entities over which it does not
exercise operating control within its reporting scope:
●

Piatti Freschi Italia in Italy;

●

Platos Tradicionales in Spain.

the Vendée Economic and Social Unit (Vendée Unit), which
alone accounted for over 80% of the Group’s revenue in 2018;

Compliance with laws and regulations
Fleury Michon makes every effort to comply with the laws and
regulations in force in all areas, particularly in relation to social,
environmental and health and safety requirements.
The Audit and Risks Committee maps out the risks and examines the
internal audit plan and the Group’s internal control systems, as
explained in Chapter 3 of the Registration Document.

Fleury Michon respects and protects the personal data of its
employees, consumers, customers and all other stakeholders in
accordance with the laws in force in the Group’s host regions.
Information technology procedures protect the basic rights, freedoms
and dignity of those concerned.
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2.1 Vision, strategy and organisation
2.1.1 The strategic challenges for Fleury Michon
“Five years ago, we launched our project to Help people eat better every day. We are certain that the food industry can be compatible with Eating
Better. With this vision, Fleury Michon aims to show that even beyond its brand and products, it is a responsible, proactive company that listens
to consumers, is firmly committed to quality, and willingly shows more transparency. Eating Better is a crucial challenge, for each and every one of
us as well as for the planet. It has an impact on our health and well-being and plays a stabilising role in the community. Our project is a choice for
our children’s future. Whether you are a consumer, customer, supplier or representative of civil society, we invite you all to come join us and take
part in a project that affects us all.”
Régis Lebrun, Chief Executive Officer

2.1.1.1

WHY IS FLEURY MICHON COMMITTED TO
EATING BETTER?

For the diversity of people, products and players
If we are to eat better, the quality of the food we eat tomorrow must
be better than the food we eat today. We must adopt a balanced
lifestyle and think about our long-term health.
Eating better means eating seasonal produce and an end to products
being available throughout the year. We must also be mindful of
production techniques. Different farming methods do not all have the
same impact on the environment. Each individual sees food
differently, based on nutritional value, allergens, taste and even
religious practices.
It is difficult to identify the responsible players and determine the
production techniques that best comply with standards, as well as
the quality and traceability of the product when some companies’
marketing strategies seem to focus more on emotional draws than
the true nature of the product.
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This has consequences for health, lifestyle and social cohesion.
Increased food production has caused higher pollution levels, which
impact vegetable and animal-based foods. With less time at their
disposal, people make different life choices. Urbanisation has
become synonymous with anonymity and a poorer quality of life. With
the use of pesticides, heavy metals and antibiotics for animals, we
are undermining our food. The food industry is under economic and
social pressure and profits are falling.
We need to make the leap from wanting to change to actually doing
it. The concept of Helping people eat better every day is welcomed
by all but the real difficulty is changing the behaviour of all
stakeholders.

The keys to success
The success of our project requires all parties to take responsibility
and work together. It is no longer enough to merely debate the
issues; we must work towards a suitable framework and shift our
focus from a face-to-face to a side-by-side approach.

The issue we are facing is rooted in society

The strategic objectives of the Eating Better initiative

People have always looked to natural resources in order to improve
cohesion within communities. However, times have changed, with
the system shaken up by population growth, faster transport, easier
access to all products, and new technologies and instant information
that have failed to reduce misunderstandings.

In the medium term, the initiative and the attitude it fosters will require
Fleury Michon to change its business model and brand positioning.
However, our immediate focus must be to re-establish the
relationships between our five stakeholders: supply channels,
consumers, customers and new markets, Fleury Michon employees
and civil society.
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HYPER
MARKET

2
TOWN HALL

SCHOOL

2.1.1.2

OUR CONSUMER INITIATIVE

Reinventing our relationship

allergy labelling and voluntary labelling of meat origin. Fleury Michon is
fully engaged in the effort to improve nutritional labelling:
●

In 2014, we were involved in a research programme called
“IncoConso”, which sought to understand consumers’ view of
nutritional tables;

●

In 2016, we took part in the France-wide trial of four simplified
models of nutritional labelling;

●

In 2017, we began to roll out the “Nutri-Score” nutritional
labelling system across all our products. The system has been
approved by the French Ministry of Health.

●

In 2018, we began gradually replacing our charcuterie products
with lower-salt versions.

We need to give consumers an active role to play and empower
them.
We want to engage them by opening up our doors and asking them
to work together with us on an equal footing.

Our aim
●

Be recognised as the most socially responsible company in the
industry, one that understands consumer expectations and
improves food quality;

●

Convince consumers that Eating Better is a matter of civic
responsibility because what they buy has a direct impact on
their health, well-being and society as a whole;

●

Involve consumers in the governance and management of its
initiatives;

●

Convert consumer-driven initiatives into tangible innovations
while implementing novel financing arrangements.

Since 1999, Fleury Michon has considered nutritional labelling to be a
step forward for both manufacturers and consumers. We have
always gone above and beyond regulatory requirements, in particular
with regard to labels displaying nutritional value as of 2002, voluntary

2.1.1.3

OUR SUPPLY CHANNEL INITIATIVE

Reinventing our relationship
We need to rethink our relationships with suppliers, particularly
producers and farmers, to foster solidarity, responsibility and local,
long-term partnerships. We want to bring producers and consumers
closer together by creating channels that:
●

respect the environment and use the best natural practices;

●

use more natural, better-quality animal feed and improve animal
well-being;

●

generate adequate income for producers and farmers.
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Our aim

2.1.1.6

●

Reinventing our relationship

●

Offer consumers healthy, natural Fleury Michon products that
contribute to their well-being, are adapted to their lifestyle and
taste delicious, at a price that is both affordable and sufficient to
allow the industry’s development;
Ensure that, in the long-term, all stakeholders understand and
take responsibility for their actions at each link in the food chain
in terms of health, the environment and the economy.

2.1.1.4

OUR CUSTOMERS AND NEW MARKETS
INITIATIVE

OUR CIVIL SOCIETY INITIATIVE

We want all parties to collectively get fully behind the Fleury Michon
initiative. This means improving food quality in France as a whole, well
beyond Fleury Michon products. We want to share and support
initiatives from other members of civil society to raise awareness and
roll out the Eating Better campaign.

Our aim
We want to encourage each individual, in the near future, to take part
and shape our changing world.

Reinventing our relationship
We want to involve our customers in the “Helping people eat
better every day” initiative by making it a business development
opportunity for their companies if they buy in to the project and
promote it in their retail outlets and companies as well as to
their consumers and stakeholders.

Our aim
In the long term, our aim is to shift the focus of our business
relationships from a face-to-face to a side-by-side approach by
working with our customers to develop new initiatives, sales
methods and products that meet consumer expectations in
terms of health, quality, satisfaction and the environment at a
price that is both affordable and sufficient to allow the industry’s
development.

2.1.1.7

CSR IS A FUNDAMENTAL PART OF THE
CORPORATE INITIATIVE

Fleury Michon’s CSR initiative began in April 2010. Initially, its
structure mirrored that of ISO 26000, i.e., split into seven key topics:
●

corporate governance;

●

human rights;

●

labour relations and working conditions;

●

the environment;

●

fair operating practices;

●

consumer matters;

●

community and local development.

THE FLEURY MICHON CSR POLICY, APRIL 2010 – MAY 2015

2.1.1.5

THE FLEURY MICHON COMMUNITY
INITIATIVE

Dialogue

Reinventing our relationship
We want our employees to become ambassadors for the Eating
Better campaign. We want them to promote the initiative and
contribute their ideas in their job and business line and throughout
their career with Fleury Michon. We also want to rethink job
descriptions, rework our functions and internal organisation and
adapt our management style, giving everyone all the information they
need to make a contribution. This way, everyone will be a
responsible, active player in the project.

Suppliers
Customers
and
consumers

Environment

CSR
GOVERNANCE

Our aim
Human Rights

●

Foster a culture of initiative and innovation by involving everyone
in a collective debate;

●

Create the right conditions for employees to promote Eating
Better in their personal and professional lives.

Sta
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The Fleury Michon project: “Helping people eat better
every day”, June 2015

Dialogue and working together

Supply channels

June 2015 was a turning point for CSR at Fleury Michon. We
launched our “Helping people eat better every day” initiative, built on
dialogue and working together with five stakeholders:
●

consumers;

●

customers and new markets;

●

the employee community;

Consumers

Customers and new markets

Human rights

supply channels;

Environment

●

2

The employee community

● civil society.
The environment and human rights spans all five stakeholder
categories.

Civil society

Stakeholders

2.1.2 Our social responsibility vision
“For Fleury Michon, economic development has always gone hand-in-hand with social development. We are set to embark on a
new and ambitious commitment to corporate social responsibility. The aim of this approach is to expand our policies by further
integrating the social and environmental concerns of the Company and our stakeholders.
CSR is not just window dressing or a slogan, but rather a stimulus to help sustain us in our ongoing efforts as a responsible
corporate citizen. This will be an ongoing commitment: corporate social responsibility never ends since the process of striving to
reach an ideal is aimed not at perfection, but at consistently trying to improve.”
Grégoire Gonnord, Chairman

Fleury Michon’s CSR vision forms the very core of its corporate
project: “Helping people eat better every day, by demonstrating that
an alternative approach to food is possible”.
Fleury Michon formalised its CSR efforts to ensure their effective and
pragmatic oversight and management. In 2014, the Group therefore
defined its Responsible Company Manifesto based on ISO 26000 to
ensure comprehensiveness.

Fleury Michon’s Responsible Company Manifesto revolves around a
single concept – CSR governance, in terms of structure, values and
ethics, and seven main points chosen to reflect the sustainable
development challenges that arise from the Group’s economic
model. The commitments, action principles and strategies set out in
Fleury Michon’s Responsible Company Manifesto are presented in
the following pages.

Signatory of the Global Compact since 2003
Fleury Michon has been a signatory of the United Nations Global Compact since 2003. This commitment shows the
Group’s long-standing willingness to accept its responsibilities regarding the ten principles of the Global Compact:
1. Support and respect the protection of internationally proclaimed human rights;
2. Make sure that the business is not complicit in human rights abuses;
3. Uphold freedom of association and effectively recognise the right to collective bargaining;
4. Eliminate all forms of forced and compulsory labour;
5. Effectively abolish child labour;
6. Eliminate discrimination in respect of employment and occupation;
7. Support a precautionary approach to environmental challenges;
8. Undertake initiatives to promote greater environmental responsibility;
9. Encourage the development and diffusion of environmentally friendly technologies;
10. Work against corruption in all its forms, including extortion and bribery.
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Responsible Company

Manifesto

Our ethics (extract from the principles of ethical conduct)
Being conscientious, looking at the bigger picture,
questioning our own behaviour... these are the guiding
principles of the ethical conduct expected of all Group
employees. These principles, which we share with our
stakeholders, provide us with a frame of reference and
underpin our approach as a responsible company.
In line with the Group’s values, these principles depend on

of each individual
in his or her work and tasks.
These principles help to create a fair and equitable work
environment by fostering good business practices and
mutual respect.
They also allow the Group to operate smoothly, creating
a positive work culture and securing a long-term future.

Our values
MUTUAL RESPECT

OUTSTANDING CUSTOMER SERVICE AND CONSUMER CARE

SUSTAINABLE FOCUS ON THE COLLECTIVE INTEREST

Our
commitment
Our objective
Our
strategy

CONTINUOUS DIALOGUE

For our consumers

For our clients

With our suppliers

Ensure the highest level
of responsibility…

Cultivating long-term
relationships...

...To establish a responsible,
safer and fairer agri-food
model.

...To share our convictions
and our commitment.

…To purchase responsibly
while maintaining
competitiveness.

We innovate and produce
according to uncompromising
specifications to offer
consumers safe, healthy food
at a fair price.

We e st a b l i s h o u r
business relationships with
collaboration in mind.

We select the best supply
channels according to a
stringent and transparent
process.

We encourage dialogue
with consumers and all
our stakeholders so that
together we can improve our
responsible company model.

2018 REGISTRATION DOCUMENT /

MUTUAL TRUST

Earning their trust on a daily
basis...

We work closely with our
supply channels to ensure the
traceability and food safety of
our products.
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CONTINUOUS ADAPTATION TO CHANGE

We provide documents
detailing our CSR policy for
our clients.
We engage in dialogue on
the subject, through our top
management, with Executive
Management and purchasing
centres.
We ensure that these
topics are incorporated in
the presentations and sales
pitches of our sales and
marketing departments.

We ensure the reliability of
our relationships with our
suppliers through long-term
listings.
Our purchasing policy is
geared towards responsible
purchases.
We monitor compliance with
our purchasing best practices
internally and we make the
results known externally.

Non-financial performance statement, Corporate Social Responsibility
VISION, STRATEGY AND ORGANISATION

“ For Fleury Michon,

economic development has always gone hand-in-hand with social
development. We are set to embark on a new and ambitious
commitment to corporate social responsibility. The aim of this approach is to expand our policies by further
integrating the social and environmental concerns of the Company and our stakeholders. CSR is not just window
dressing or a slogan, but rather a stimulus to help sustain us in our ongoing efforts as a responsible corporate
citizen. This will be an ongoing commitment: corporate social responsibility never ends since the process of striving
to reach an ideal is aimed not at perfection, but at consistently trying to improve.
Grégoire Gonnord, Fleury Michon Group Chairman

2

Our CSR organisation

CSR COMMITTEE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

+

GROUP MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

FM SA CROSS-FUNCTIONAL
SERVICES

FM CHARCUTERIE
MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

CSR ACTION PLAN

FM TRAITEUR MANAGEMENT
COMMITTEE

FM TRAITEUR MER

FM LOGISTIQUE
MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

ROOM SAVEURS
A
MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

=

With our employees

For the environment

In our host countries

Developing and imparting
know-how and fostering a good
working environment...

Producing in an ever
more environmentally
friendly manner…

Taking action to boost the
development and appeal of
the regions where we operate…

Respecting and ensuring
the respect of all people...

...Because our success is
based on the motivation and
cohesiveness of our teams.

...To reduce the impact of
our business activities on the
environment.

...So that our economic
activity beneﬁts our
environment.

...To ﬁght against all forms
of discrimination and
infringement of human rights.

We manage skills and train
our employees to help them
develop.

We incorporate the environment in our management style
and decision-making.

We use a hands-on and
empowering management style.

We are implementing
an overall Quality-SafetyEnvironment effort in all our
production facilities.

We structure our local
integration policy around two
main concepts: economic
development and social vision.

We take into consideration
all dimensions of Human
Rights: economic, social,
cultural, civil and political.

We plan our relationships
with our stakeholders in the
form of partnerships.

We raise awareness about
respecting Human Rights
among our employees and
all parties within our sphere
of inﬂuence.

We organise our internal
communication channels based
on interactive support tools.
We foster labour relations
based on listening and dialogue.
We promote diversity and
recognise talent.
We cultivate the appeal of
our corporate brand to attract
the talented employees
of tomorrow.

“

We o p t i m i s e o u r
consumption.
We apply a pollution
prevention policy.

We become involved in local
life by forging relationships
with civil society entities
(local communities, public
authorities, associations,
NGOs, etc.).

For Human Rights

We use a management policy
that focuses on the respect of
privacy.
We promote and respect
the fundamental rights of
the International Labour
Organisation.
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2.1.3 The CSR challenges for Fleury Michon
1 PROCUREMENT

2 PRODUCTION
Consider employees as the Company’s most vital
asset for guaranteeing impeccable product and
service quality.
• 3.2% of the payroll is involved in staff training
• Since 2008, the rate of energy consumption has
fallen by 22.0% and water consumption by 5.7%
• 261 training courses on environmental problems
• More than 100 partnerships and sponsorships
support local and national initiatives
• 1 direct job at Fleury Michon generates 2.9 jobs in the rest of
the French economy(1)

2
3 LOGISTICS
Work with our transport providers to ensure a reliable,
efficient supply chain.
• Supply chain service rate of 99.3%
• Traceability system to establish the provenance of each
ingredient in the ﬁnished product

(1) Economic footprint of Fleury Michon in France, Utopies 2015
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Work closely and permanently with our suppliers for safe
and responsible procurement.
• 68% of the Group’s revenue is spent on supplier purchases
• For France, Fleury Michon works with nearly 3,200 suppliers,
more than 94% of which are based in France(1)
• Fleury Michon French businesses generate more than
10,300 indirect jobs in France(1)
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6 PACKAGING END OF LIFE
Embrace our environmental responsibility and facilitate
packaging recycling.
• 100% of packaging listing recycling advice
• Use of 28% recycled plastic in packaging for ham
• €3.1 million eco-tax contribution in 2016, helping to ﬁnance
access to recycling for 250,000 people
• 6,851 metric tonnes of plastic avoided since 2010 thanks to
reduced packaging

2

5 CONSUMPTION
Offer good quality, safe and affordable products containing
nutritious, natural ingredients.
• 1999 Publication of the ﬁrst 5-point nutrition charter
• 2010-2012 First 5-point PNNS(3) commitment
• 2013-2015 Second 5-point PNNS commitment
• 2016 Commitment to the Nutri-score

4 MARKETING
Be THE partner of choice for our customers.
• No. 1 charcuterie & prepared meals brand (market of more
than €10 billion)(2)
• No. 1 in meals delivered to businesses

(2) IRI 2018 market share value (3) French National Health and Nutrition Programme
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OUR ROLE

OUR RESPONSIBILITYY

1 PROCUREMENT
Buy from suppliers
Raw materials: hams, poultry fillets,
starches, vegetables, spices, etc.
Packaging materials: plastic, cardboard,
stoneware, aluminium, etc.
Services: industrial maintenance, IT
services, logistics services, advisory
agencies, etc.
Electricity, gas and water supplies, etc.

Economic responsibility
Help develop practices which have a lower environmental impact
Choose the most environmentally-friendly supply channels that are respectful of
natural resources

Social responsibility
Encourage long-term partnerships with suppliers
Maintain balanced and fair relationships with suppliers
Ensure business practices are fair and respectful of social and human rights

Societal responsibility
Guarantee the traceability of raw materials
Audit suppliers
Choose the channels with the fewest possible intermediaries
Take an active role in the fight against corruption

2 PRODUCTION
Transform raw materials into
pre-cooked, fresh, packaged, and
ready-to-eat products
Team work (production, packaging,
acceptance, maintenance, support
functions
Consumption of raw materials
Consumption of packaging
Energy consumption
Water consumption
Waste management (waste sorting,
water processing)
Local integration of production units
(rural environment, small market towns
local involvement, etc.)

Environmental responsibility
Comply with the environmental regulations governing installation and
production
Use recipes and processes that require the least possible raw materials,
packaging, water and energy
Design packaging that requires less materials, research environmentallyfriendlier solutions
Reduce waste volumes and greenhouse gas emissions
Increase waste recycling by researching new materials and new recycling
opportunities
Staff training on environmental issues, waste sorting and eco-friendly actions

Social responsibility
Foster good working relations
Develop talent
Maintain employability and train employees throughout their career
Guarantee a safe working environment and safeguard employees’ physical
and psychological health
Fair pay and employee profit sharing
Maintain permanent social dialogue and practice a hands-on management
approach

Societal responsibility
Guarantee the impeccable quality of the end products
Guarantee consumer health and safety
Develop diversity and gender equality
Help boost the development and appeal of the regions in which we operate
Actively support associations, foundations and bureaus at national, regional
and local level

3 LOGISTICS
Hold stocks, prepare orders,
transport Fleury Michon products
from the production sites to
the distribution sites
Buy logistics services
Manage a fleet of vehicles (10 lorries
operating to and from the sites,
150 private cars for the sales force)
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Environmental responsibility
Reduce the environmental impact of our own logistics operations and those of
suppliers

Corporate social responsibility
Guarantee our clients the highest possible level of service
Guarantee the cold chain
Ensure product traceability
Have operating procedures in place at all times to deal with food crises
Provide road safety training for drivers and sales personnel
And, in general, the same responsibilities towards logistics providers as to
other providers
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OUR ROLE

OUR RESPONSIBILITY
T

4 MARKETING
Offer safe, high-quality
products that make for an
attractive, proﬁtable brand
Listen to customers as much as
possible
Marketing and merchandising that
are speciﬁc for each market, client
type and consumer category
Effective logistics

Economic responsibility
Cultivate brand image, appeal and trust: quality products and innovations in line with
customers’ needs
Maintain maximum service levels through reliable, effective logistics
Maximise customer satisfaction

Environmental responsibility
Work with clients to optimise secondary and tertiary packaging and the logistics
chain

2

Prevent food waste by continuing to optimise the use-by dates, packaging, weights
and portions

CONSUMPTION
Become the preferred food
brand in France
Ensure the products put on the
market are increasingly enjoyable,
healthy, convenient and accessible
Invent and reinvent the recipes
Customer dialogue and
collaboration

Environmental responsibility
Reduce the environmental impact of our packaging (reduce the weignt, research,
new materials, improve packaging recyclability, etc.)
Educate customers about packaging recycling
Contribute to research into new packaging solutions (basic research, work groups,
knowledge sharing, etc.)

Societal responsibility
Sell wholesome, tasty products (safe, healthy, with objective benefits for consumers)
Communicate clearly and transparently about procurement practices, production
methods, ingredient lists, commitments, initiatives, etc.
Offer products which meet the specific needs of some consumers (food,
intolerances, allergies, food-related beliefs, etc.)
Continuously improve the recipes to ensure they are part of a daily balanced diet
Inform consumers of the beneﬁts of a healthy diet and lifestyle
Ensure communication is trustworthy and honest
Involve consumers: ideas for new products, new packaging, recommend our
products
Ensure our customer relations department is accessible, responsive, personal and
human

6 PACKAGING END OF LIFE
Research packaging that
requires less materials,
environmentally-friendlier
solutions

Environmental responsibility
Offer packaging that can be re-used at home
Give recycling information on the packaging
Contribute to the EcoEmballages initiative to take responsibility for packaging
recycling
Reduce water and energy consumption, waste and greenhouse gas emissions
during production, packaging and transport
Increase waste recycling by researching new materials and new recycling
opportunities
Finance research into the packaging of tomorrow
Offer consumers different pack sizes to help limit food waste
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2.1.4 Integrating the company’s intangible assets into valuation
Fleury Michon ensures that the quest for
excellence does not cause harm to anyone and
seeks to transform hurdles into opportunities.
Through its CSR work, the Group is also in direct
contact with all its stakeholders: employees,
customers, consumers, suppliers, investors and
communities. Fleury Michon listens to stakeholders
and is committed to an approach focused on
partnership and joint effort to ensure that its
activities generate more than just ﬁnancial value:
improving food for everyone, preserving natural
capital, constantly developing employee expertise,
safeguarding health in the workplace, and ensuring
growth and development for suppliers as well.
The role of the CSR policy is therefore to contribute
to the overall value of the Company by recognising
the value of intangible assets (brand awareness,
consumer conﬁdence, industrial relations climate,
structure for risk prevention, value of patents, etc.)
as well as tangible assets (equity, property and
securities, inventories, etc.). These intangible
assets represent the majority of the Company’s
overall value.

Employees €169.1m

Suppliers

Net salaries
paid

Employer and
social contributions

Profit-sharing
and incentives

€93.4m

€72.7m

€3.0m

Transport

Energy

Raw
materials

Packaging

Services

€491.9m

CONSOLIDATED
revenue

€725.3m

Depreciation
Cost of production tools

€29.1m

State and communities €18.7m
Corporate income tax

Other taxes

€4.0m

€14.7m

Civil society
Donations,
patronage and
sponsoring

€1.6m

Banks
Net borrowing cost

Portion of gifts
in kind to food banks

€0.4m

285 metric tonnes

Equity investors

CONSOLIDATED
net proﬁt

€14.4m

Reinvestment
in the Company
Retained earnings

of which €2.6m from
equity-accounted companies

€9.2m(1)

€5.3m(2)

Shareholders
Dividends

COMPANY VALUE

(1) I.e., 64% of net profit. (2) Dividend estimate based on €1.2 per share recommended to the General Meeting of 28 May 2019.
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TANGIBLE
ASSETS
INTANGIBLE
ASSETS
Brand recognition
Customer loyalty
Consumer confidence
Employee know-how
Industrial relations climate
Employee commitment and loyalty
Risk management model
Long-standing partnerships
Value of its patents
Etc.

Gradually integrate the Company's
intangible assets into its valuation
to reﬂect its true overall value.
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2.1.5 The CSR initiative involves the highest levels of the Company
2.1.5.1

diet, changes in sustainable consumption and commitments to
solidarity.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND THE
STRATEGIC PLANNING COMMITTEE ARE
DIRECTLY INVOLVED IN THE CSR POLICY

The structure entrusted with CSR management within the
Fleury Michon Group relies on strategic decisions approved at the
highest level by the Board of Directors and the Strategic Planning
Committee, and operational implementation that involves the
segments and business lines.
The Group created a CSR Committee in 2013, whose task is to
assist the Board of Directors in selecting strategic directions.
Numerous topics of strategic importance for the Group require an
approach that takes into account the Company’s overall
responsibility to provide an appropriate long-term solution. The
expertise and experience of an external CSR expert were added to
those of the four CSR Committee members (Nadine Deswasière,
Chair; Claire Gonnord, Olivier Fuzeau and Vincent Roquebert). Four
members of Executive Management are also permanent guests on
this Committee, and are consulted depending on the topics
addressed. The main topics addressed were animal well-being and

2.1.5.2

CREATION OF A FORUM TO DISCUSS CSR
WITH LA ROCHELLE BUSINESS SCHOOL

From 2010 to 2016, Fleury Michon jointly oversaw an Engineering
Chair in Societal Responsibility and Innovation with La Rochelle
Business School. A forum for the sharing and discussion of ideas and
insights, this Chair has made it possible to lay the foundations for the
integration of CSR and ISO 26000 at Fleury Michon. In particular, the
collaboration focused on self-evaluation and the appropriation of
topics such as responsible purchasing, fighting corruption,
risk-mapping, valuation of intangible capital and CSR reference
frameworks. In 2017, Fleury Michon and La Rochelle Business
School renewed their commitment for a further three years for a Chair
on Evaluating Companies’ Overall Performance to lay the foundations
for preparing and implementing a new accounting system to include
Fleury Michon’s financial and non-financial performance.

2

Over ten years of CSR commitments
2011
Selfassessment
on the seven
core subjects
of ISO 26000

2012
Creation of a
CSR Manager
position
First action
plan
First CSR
reporting

2013
New CSR
governance
Creation of a
CSR Committee
Second CSR
reporting
QSE policy
Commitment
to IS0 50001
Creation of the
Environmental
Director position
First place
in Gaia Index

2014
Sourcing policy
A policy of
developing deep
regional roots
Ethical Conduct
Code
Calculation of
the economic
and social
footprint
Third CSR
reporting
Second action
plan
First place in
Gaia Index

2015
Roll-out of
Fleury Michon's
corporate
vision “Helping
people eat
better every
day”, which
encapsulates the
CSR approach
Gaïa Index
AGEFI Gold
award
Fourth
CSR report
CSR expanded
to include
international
scope

2016
Extension of the GHG
report to include
scope 3: report
on the impact
on emissions
of Fleury Michon's
operations upstream
and downstream
Alignment of Group
structure with
the Project:
segments created
for self-service
French supermarkets,
International,
Sales and Services
and reinforcement
of corporate
and support services
Interaction with
consumers through
the Path to Eating
Better and two-way
communication using
digital tools

2017

2018

Inclusion of Room
Saveurs environmental
data in the reporting
process
Creation of a Group
Anti-Corruption Code
Launch of new Sales
and Services
businesses:
“Par ici cuisine
d’artisan”
“La Saucisserie”
Interaction with
consumers through the
Path to Eating Better
and open days at
production sites
Chantonnay:
two-day Eating
Better: Everyone
Plays, Everyone
Wins event bringing
together all Eating
Better players and
reviewing the food
industry

Path to Eating Better: 700
visits from the general public
First-time participation in the
Paris Agriculture Show
Salad’Jars launch
Creation of a Group data
protection policy
Work on the materiality of
Group issues by surveying
stakeholders
Payment of a one-off
purchasing power bonus
to employees in France for a
total amount of €1.6m, as
well as the existing
proﬁt-sharing and incentive
schemes
Set-up of a packaging team
to create Eating Better
packaging
Fleury Michon wins the CSR
Challenges Trophy 2018
for medium-sized, family-run
businesses

2018 REGISTRATION DOCUMENT /

47

2

Non-financial performance statement, Corporate Social Responsibility
VISION, STRATEGY AND ORGANISATION

2.1.6 An initiative led as part of the dialogue with the stakeholders
Fleury Michon sees the company as an ecosystem from which each
party must be able to benefit. The Group has always favoured a
partnership approach in its relationships with stakeholders. This
involves knowing their expectations and their potential or real impact
on Fleury Michon, to be able to then put in place the initiatives or
tools needed for dialogue and discussion between the parties.

●

investors, both shareholders and bankers, who provide the
capital required for stability, investments and growth;

●

suppliers, who provide the goods and services needed for the
business, whether as level 1 suppliers with whom Fleury Michon
has direct contact or as level 2 or 3 suppliers or beyond who
supply level 1 suppliers;

Fleury Michon classifies its stakeholders into five broad categories:

●

civil society, through public authorities, local authorities or even
non-profit organisations, universities, research groups, or within
bodies to which Fleury Michon belongs.

●

customers, both distributors and consumers, who support the
Company financially through their purchases;

●

employees and their representatives, who contribute their skills
and know-how;

MAPPING OF THE EXTERNAL STAKEHOLDERS
Importance
p
of the stakeholder:
1 Required for the existence of the Company
2 Signiﬁcant impact on a major project or activity of the Group
3 Limited or temporary impact on a project or activity of the Group

3

COMMERCIAL

SOCIAL

2
Level 3 suppliers

Level 2 suppliers

Customers
Distributors

Competitors
Consumers

Job Centre
and Temporary Agencies

1

Training
Organisations
and Schools

Employees
Employee representatives
and representative bodies

Level 1 Suppliers

Media

Shareholders
Rating
Agencies

Public
Authorities

Investors
Banks and
insurers
Financial Institutions

FINANCIAL
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Non-proﬁt
organisations/
Sponsorship

Certifying
Bodies
Organisations/
NGOs
Professional
and other
Federations
at-risk groups
International
Organisations

Local Communities
and Authorities

PUBLIC AND SOCIAL
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LEVEL OF IMPORTANCE 1

Stakeholders

Expectations

Impact on Fleury Michon

Initiatives implemented by
Fleury Michon

Employees

●

●

●

●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●

Fair compensation and value
sharing
Retention of employment
Health & Safety in the
workplace and working
conditions
Professional training and
employability
Opportunities for growth
Understanding of project
and strategy
Compliance with Company
values
Recognition and pride in
being part of the Company
Accessible information and
clear communication
Social protection

●
●
●
●
●
●

Quality of work and
products
Services to customers
Company reputation
Social climate
Involvement in the
workplace and Company life
Turnover rate
Respect for equipment

●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●

●

Employee representatives and
representative bodies

●
●
●
●
●
●

Customers/Distributors

●
●
●
●
●

Recognition of the employee
representative bodies
Compliance with regulations
and employment laws
Ability to negotiate
Reporting, information,
consultation
Resources for exercising
their allocations
Dialogue

●
●
●
●

Profitable products that
●
attract and retain consumers ●
Range of responsible,
high-quality products to
consumers
Ability to provide information
on the products they sell
Ability to provide information
on the brands/companies
whose products they sell
Reliable and effective
logistics

Social climate
Company reputation
Quality of life at work
Safeguarding employees’
interests

●
●
●
●

Financial impact
Visibility of the products to
consumers

●
●
●
●
●
●

Question and answer
sessions
Individual annual
professional appraisal
Local management
Dynamic internal
communication system
Information meetings (team,
unit, activity, Group)
Profit-sharing and incentive
schemes
Training rate above legal
requirement
Human Resources policy
based on fostering cohesion
Fleury Michon Academy and
strategic employment and
skills management
Free share award scheme
for all employees
Widespread focus on health
& safety in the workplace
through the Zero Accident
Plan
Encouraging employees to
participate in sport through
various sporting initiatives
and equipment

2

Collective agreements
Compliance with legal
provisions for employee
representation
Availability of necessary
resources
Promotion of social
governance

Sales team of 160 people
Including 120 sales
representatives in the field
Feedback encouraged
Quality audits of production
sites
Site visits
Answers to specific
questionnaires

2018 REGISTRATION DOCUMENT /

49

2

Non-financial performance statement, Corporate Social Responsibility
VISION, STRATEGY AND ORGANISATION

Stakeholders

Expectations

Impact on Fleury Michon

Consumers

●
●
●
●
●
●

●
●
●
●
●

●

Food quality and safety
Sensory characteristics
Nutritional quality
Naturalness
Affordability
Clear and honest information
on the products: need for
transparency
Brand commitment: ethical
behaviour, seeking to
establish a relationship of
trust

Financial impact
Company reputation
Brand awareness
Trust
Innovations (expectations of
innovations and
success/failure in product
launches)

Initiatives implemented by
Fleury Michon
●
●
●
●
●
●
●

●
●
●
●

Tier-1 suppliers

●
●
●
●
●

Shareholders

●
●
●
●

Investors

●
●
●

Fair pricing
Compliance with payment
deadlines
Sustaining the business
relationship
Growth outlook
Partnership

●
●

Financial valuation
Growth, profitability and
sustainability of the
Company
Information on governance
and risk management
Information on the
Company’s non-financial
objectives and the methods
used to achieve them

●
●
●

●

Financial impact
Food quality, safety and
security
Innovation, technical and
technological progress

●

Share value
General Meeting decisions
Company reputation

●

●
●
●

●
●

Growth, financial stability,
●
profitability and sustainability ●
of the Group
Financial valuation
Suitability of the strategy

Capital inflows
Support for growth

Growth, financial stability,
●
profitability and sustainability ●
of the Group
●
Risk mitigation
Solvency

Capital inflows
Support for growth
Hedging of risks

●
●
●
●

Banks and insurers

●
●
●
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●
●
●

Website information
Presence and dialogue on
social media
Information on and in
packaging
Communication via
traditional media outlets
Articles in the press
Information in sales outlets
Meeting with consumers to
better understand their
expectations, comments
and ideas, etc.
Quantitative consumer
surveys
Tasting panels
Responsiveness, answers
and actions of Customer
Service Department
Organisation of an open day
at production sites,
presentation of R&D
initiatives and collaboration
with suppliers
Dialogue, consultation
between purchasers and
quality control
Audits and quality control
Visits to sites, farms, etc.
Task force on business
growth projects
General Meeting of
Shareholders at the
registered office
Information and annual
reports sent to registered
shareholders
Financial information
available on the website and
dedicated email address for
inquiries
Meetings and opportunities
to speak to management
Distribution of information
and financial and institutional
documents
Answers to specific
questionnaires
Visits to production sites
Distribution of information
and financial and institutional
documents
Opportunities to speak with
management
Responses to specific
requests and questionnaires
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LEVEL OF IMPORTANCE 2

Stakeholders

Expectations

Impact on Fleury Michon

Tier-2 suppliers

●
●

Fair pricing
Compliance with payment
deadlines
Sustaining the business
relationship
Growth outlook
Partnership

●
●

●
●
●

●

Initiatives implemented by
Fleury Michon

Financial impact
Food quality, safety and
security
Innovation, technical and
technological progress

●
●

Dialogue, consultation between
purchasers and quality control
Audits and quality control

Competitors

●
●
●
●

Differentiation
Increase in market share
Growth
Collectively contribute to
development of the trade

●
●

Financial impact
Competition, marketing,
R&D, etc.

●

Participation in professional or
industry trade unions

Certification
organisations

●
●

Corporate cooperation
Availability (easy access) and
transparency of information,
procedures, processes, etc.

●

Labelling, certification of the
Company, certain sites or
activities
Company reputation and
credibility

●

Quality, environment and food
safety audits, etc.

Training for young people,
adults and employees
Addition of new types of
training, programmes, etc.

●

Participation in job fairs and
exhibitions for training and
educational institutions
Involvement with academic
bodies
Involvement in groups working
on integration or re-integration
into the workforce, training and
qualifications, etc.
Creation of intern and
apprenticeship positions
Funding for academic chairs

Education and training

●
●
●
●

●

Sharing and availability of
●
expertise within the Company
Funding for research work
●
Funding for apprenticeship and
training programmes, etc.
Partnerships and employment
opportunities for students and
apprentices

●
●

●
●

Employment agency
and temporary worker
agencies

●

Job offers

●
●

●

Meetings, encounters, groups
and projects

●

Search for suitable candidates
Strength of offer (profiles,
candidate recruitment
techniques, etc.)
Source of diversity

Participation in public
programmes
Participation in meetings,
conferences, working groups
Responses to project tenders
Responses to specific requests
and questionnaires

Public authorities:
●
● On human resources
● On the environment ●
● On consumer health ●
& safety
● On finance and tax

Economic buoyancy, wealth
and job creation
Tax revenues
Compliance with regulations in
force

●
●
●
●

Legal framework
Tax burden
Allocation of subsidies
Funding for projects

●

Professional federations ●

Participation in collective
actions
Sharing of ideas and practices

●

Collectively representing the
interests of the Company

●
●

Encounters and exchanges
Participation in representative
bodies

●
●

Answers to specific
questionnaires
Encounters and interviews

●

Reputation and business
recognition
Trust
Share value

●
●
●
●
●
●

Company reputation
Brand awareness
Trust
Success/failure of innovations
Financial impact
Share value

●
●
●
●
●

Press releases
Press conferences
Responses to specific requests
Visits to production sites
Responses to interviews

●

Rating agencies

Media

●
●

●
●

Corporate cooperation
●
Availability and transparency of
information
●
Clear, reliable and relevant
information
Availability of contact persons

●
●
●
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Stakeholders

Expectations

Impact on Fleury Michon

NGOs and at-risk
groups

●

●
●
●
●
●
●

●

Continuous improvement of
Company methods for
addressing all environmental,
social and societal challenges
Transparent communication on
issues that are of direct
relevance (different issues
depending on the NGO)

Company reputation
Brand awareness
Trust
Financial impact
Share value
Corporate practices

Initiatives implemented by
Fleury Michon
●
●

●
●
●

Signatory of the Diversity
Charter
Signatory of the French
anti-discrimination authority’s
(HALDE) Orange Paper to
promote equal opportunities
(defender of rights)
Signatory of Passeport Avenir
to support students from
low-income backgrounds
Participation in Disability Days
Sponsor and support for
various non-profit organisation
dealing with humanitarian
issues, illness, disability,
workplace integration, etc.

LEVEL OF IMPORTANCE 3

Stakeholders

Expectations

Impact on Fleury Michon

Tier-3 suppliers

●
●

Fair pricing
Compliance with payment
deadlines
Sustaining the business
relationship
Growth outlook
Partnership

●
●

Funding for partnerships,
sponsorship, patronage
Skills influx

●
●

●
●
●

Non-profit
organisations/sponsorship

●
●

Initiatives implemented by
Fleury Michon

Financial impact
Food quality, safety and
security

●

Company reputation
Brand awareness

●

●

●
●

Local communities and groups

●
●
●
●
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Contribution to local issues ●
Protection of the
●
environment
●
Job creation
Support for local
development (economic,
infrastructure, educational,
community-based, etc.)

Allocation of subsidies
Funding for projects
Regional strengths

●
●
●

Dialogue, consultation
between purchasers and
quality control
Audits and quality control

Funding of multiple
non-profit organisations
through corporate
sponsorship, patronage or
donations
Member of the Board of
Directors of non-profit
organisations
Food donations
Distribution of institutional
documents
Participation in local events
and local non-profit
organisations
Meetings with local elected
officials
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2.1.7 Responsible governance and compliance with ethics
2.1.7.1

THE RULES OF GOVERNANCE IN THE FLEURY MICHON MODEL

The table below summarises the MiddleNext corporate governance
recommendations and presents Fleury Michon’s structure in relation
to these recommendations.

Additional information on the Board of Directors and its specialised
committees, as well as the Management Committee, is presented in
Chapter 3 of the Registration Document.

2

Fleury Michon governance rules
The Board of Directors Separation of the functions of Chairman
and Chief Executive Officer

Yes

Number of independent directors (who
have no relationship with the Group or its
management that could compromise their
freedom of judgement)(1)

3 out 11

Number of directors present on the
Group Management Committee
(separation of powers)

0 out of 11

Number of representatives of employee
shareholders

2 out of 11
For a legal requirement of 1

Number of women on the Board of
Directors

4 out of 11

Number of Board of Directors’ meetings
during the financial year(1)

4

Average attendance rate

97.7%

Payment of directors’ fees according to
attendance rate

Yes

Duration of director terms
(1)

Concurrent positions

3 years, renewable
All directors are in compliance with the rule of non-concurrent
positions

Compensation of directors
Specialised
committees

Existence of specialised committees

Section 3.2 in Chapter 3 of the Registration Document
Audit and Risks
Committee

Compensation and
Appointments
Committee

CSR Committee

5

3

3

93.3%

100%

100%

Number of meetings during the financial
year
Average attendance rate
Shareholders

Quorum during General Meetings

General Meeting of 28 June 2018: 86.25% of shares and 91.58%
of voting rights were represented

(1) MiddleNext corporate governance code.

2.1.7.2

AN ANTI-CORRUPTION CODE
OF CONDUCT AND PRINCIPLES
OF ETHICAL CONDUCT TO GOVERN
BUSINESS PRACTICES GROUP-WIDE

In 2017, as part of measures to ensure compliance with the French
“Sapin II” law, we established an Anti-Corruption Code of Conduct to
complement the Fleury Michon Group’s Principles of Ethical Conduct
for employees, which have since been formalised. This Code of
Conduct, which was drawn up jointly with MiddleNext, lays out best
practices to adopt in business relationships. It refers to the United
Nations Conventions against Corruption and aims to fight corruption
in all its forms.
The Anti-Corruption Code of Conduct and the Principles may be
consulted (in French) on the Fleury Michon website under

“Engagement responsable” in the “Le Groupe” section. They show
the Group’s desire to provide everyone with the means to act in the
best interests of the Group and its reputation, and to perform their
duties in accordance with the law.
In addition to regulatory requirements, the Principles cover three
areas:
●

compliance and promotion of a loyal approach to business with
customers, suppliers, competitors, service providers and
shareholders, strengthened by the code of conduct and the
whistleblowing mechanism;

●

protection and promotion of the Company through its tangible
and intangible assets, image and reputation;

●

respect for the integrity of consumers, employees, and civil
society in general.
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2017

Principles of ethical conduct

“To act fairly, consider one’s actions, question one’s behaviour – these are the goals of our principles
of ethical conduct aimed at all of the Group’s employees. They have been distributed in-house and provide
a reference framework, reinforcing our programme of corporate responsibility. By choosing to formalise these
principles, we are officially and publically demonstrating the Group’s commitment and that of its employees.
It is up to each and every one of us to embody these principles of ethical conduct to ensure the long-term
success of Fleury Michon and its ecosystem.”
Régis Lebrun
Chief Executive Officer

Our goal is to reinforce Fleury Michon’s trustworthiness and reputation in order to act in the Group’s best interest and
to lawfully conduct business. We respect, and expect our employees to respect, the applicable laws, regulations,
agreements and treaties in dealings with stakeholders. In addition to the law, our principles of ethical conduct focus on
three major themes: Business, the Company and People.
RESPECT AND ENCOURAGE LOYALTY IN BUSINESS
with regard to customers, suppliers, competitors and shareholders
We are convinced that the right model emphasises business relations based on trust
and respect to further shared interests. It is by promoting such a frame of

employees’ or stakeholders’ judgement and independence:
-

Do not derive any personal benefits from one’s professional function

-

Avoid conflicts of interests. If they do arise, the employee must notify

reference, one that is fair and equitable, that we seek to create loyal business
relations.
•

HONOUR existing contracts: prices, payment terms, clauses, etc.

•

SUPPORT fair competition: our activities respect regulations so as

or position.
his or her immediate superior, who will take a decision and manage
business relations.

not to engage in or encourage anti-competitive practices.

-

Do not be placed in a position of being accountable to other parties.

•

PROVIDE shareholders with true and accurate information.

-

Refuse gifts and invitations offered for personal gain. If any such

•

RESPECT ownership rights:

-

Intellectual: patents, illustrations, models, copyrights, trademarks.

-

Property: real estate (undeveloped land, residential and commercial buildings).

-

-

Personal: personal property and belongings.

•

AVOID all forms of influence peddling and active or passive corruption

Do not engage in insider trading.
Fleury Michon’s full Anti-Corruption Code of Conduct is available on the website.
A whistleblowing system for reporting concerns is available at:
codeconduite@fleurymichon.fr.

which, by mixing personal and professional interests, may compromise

situations arise, the employee must notify his or her superior, who will
take a decision.
Do not engage in money laundering.

PROTECT AND PROMOTE THE COMPANY
through its tangible and intangible assets, image and reputation
We commit to ensuring that our employees work in a safe environment and that
they are equipped with the relevant resources and tools to accomplish their tasks.
We expect them to respect these conditions and materials. Furthermore,
we also emphasise the fact that the Company’s reputation is everyone’s business.
•
RESPECT and promote the Company’s image and reputation, acting
•

•
•

RESPECT Fleury Michon’s assets:
Safeguard work tools and business resources in general.
Use resources provided for work in a responsible manner.
RESPECT people’s right to privacy and to their image by restricting the use
of their personal data to the minimum necessary and ensuring that this data
is gained legally and with their consent.

as its ambassador, in word, behaviour and attitude.
GUARANTEE the confidentiality of information accessed through work.

RESPECT PEOPLE
through our consumers, partners, employees and civil society in general
We are convinced that respecting the rights of women and men is a mutual right
and obligation that helps to maintain a stable society and facilitates the smooth
course of business.
•
RESPECT and enforce respect of human rights: economic, social,
cultural, civil and political.
•
PROMOTE, respect and enforce respect of the International Labour
Organisation’s fundamental conventions and rights:
Workers’ freedom of association.

•

Unions’ freedom of negotiation.
Elimination of discrimination in hiring with respect to: age, sex, race,
gender, politics, nationality, ethnic or social origins, religion, etc.
Abolition of forced and compulsory labour.
Effective eradication of child labour and respect for the minimum legal
age of minors in their countries.
PROHIBIT any type of harassment.

HOW TO APPLY THESE PRINCIPLES OF ETHICAL CONDUCT
These principles of ethical conduct are intended to define the ethical framework in
which we wish to work and take decisions, by reinforcing our programme of corporate
responsibility. In addition to the Group’s values, which are service excellence,
reciprocal trust, mutual respect, continuous adaptation, permanent dialogue and
sustainable common interest, these principles are based on each individual’s honesty,
loyalty and accountability while executing their work and professional duties.

and/or HR manager so that an informed and joint decision can be reached.

These principles help to create a fair and equitable working environment, by
promoting good business practices and respect for all. They also contribute to the
Group’s proper functioning, to its long-term success and to harmonious relations.

By signing this document, the Group’s Management Committee agrees to apply these
principles, promote them among their teams and monitor their application. The
principles have been sent and explained to managers, who have in turn informed their
teams during routine department meetings, team talks, discussions and even annual
employee performance reviews. This document is available on the intranet or from the
HR Department, on request.

This document is not designed to replace laws or regulations, and any infringements
thereof should be immediately reported to the employee’s superior and/or HR
manager. It is a common reference framework applicable to most situations, but is by
no means exhaustive.

These principles are applicable throughout companies owned by Fleury Michon.
Regarding its joint ventures, Fleury Michon commits to encouraging its local partners
to adopt these principles. They have also been distributed to stakeholders and are
accessible to the public on the Group’s website.

The Group’s Management Committee will revise this document as often as necessary
and will annually review dissemination, awareness and application.

Any questions, doubts or problems should be addressed to the employee’s superior

Finance and CSR Department – October 2017
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2.1.7.3

economic environment, with quality public services (including health,
education, safety and transport) that are available to all, including the
Group itself.

THE SELECTION OF RESPONSIBLE TAX
MANAGEMENT IS A SOUND FINANCIAL
STRATEGY

The Fleury Michon Group is transparent in terms of tax matters and
strives to fully align its tax policy with its corporate responsibility
strategy. The Group therefore acts as a responsible corporate citizen,
not only by complying with the law, but also and above all by
providing a fair contribution to the countries in which it operates.
Accordingly, Fleury Michon pays taxes in its host countries, thereby
contributing to their development and the maintenance of a stable

ILLEGAL

TAX FRAUD
“Illegal” diversion of funds
from a tax system in order
to not contribute to public budgets.

2.1.7.4

In the same spirit, Fleury Michon upholds a sound financial strategy
based on conservative and responsible management principles.
Financing set up to cover Group investments is arranged with
banking partners with whom Fleury Michon maintains regular,
bilateral and long-term relationships. Finally, the Group maintains a
significant level of cash and cash equivalents to ensure safety and
flexibility.

LEGAL

OPTIMISATION

RESPONSIBLE

TAX AVOIDANCE
The use of loopholes in the tax
system, through technically
legal means, to reduce the
amount of taxes owed that the
authorities have generally
intended to be paid by all (most
commonly through the transfer
of all or a portion of assets or
business activity to another
country with a more favourable
tax system).

TAX OPTIMISATION
Legal means used by
companies to reduce their tax
burdens, without the intent to
avoid taxation.

2

RESPONSIBLE
TAX MANAGEMENT
The Company makes a positive
contribution, through its duly
paid taxes, to the growth of the
country where it operates and
to supporting a stable
economic environment offering
quality public services (health,
education, safety, transport,
etc.) for the beneﬁt of all its
citizens, as well as the
Company.

SHOWING VIGILANCE AGAINST CORRUPTION

According to Transparency International’s Corruption Perceptions
Index, Fleury Michon’s business activities mainly take place in
countries with medium or low level of risk of corruption.
Although corruption risk is not material for Fleury Michon in its host
regions, the Group remains vigilant nevertheless. The Principles of

Ethical Conduct, which have long provided a framework for
employees and were formalised in 2014, are part of this vigilance
effort. To strengthen its vigilance, the Group created a whistleblowing
procedure in 2018 that was shared with all employees, as well as an
Ethics Committee responsible for addressing any alerts raised.
Slovenia (60/100)
France (72/100)
Canada (81/100)

Directly owned companies

Very high risk
of corruption

Very low risk
of corruption
0-9

10-19

20-29

Joint ventures

30-39

40-49

50-59

60-69

70-79

80-89

Spain (58/100)

90-100
Switzerland (85/100)

Italy (52/100)
Corruption Perception Index 2018 – Transparency International France.
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2.2 Offering our consumers the best
2.2.1 Extending our CSR policy to suppliers
Through its project of “Helping people eat better every day”,
Fleury Michon continues and expands on its mission by offering the
best, safest products to consumers at a fair price. To this end, the
Group has for many years adopted a strategy that seeks to create
supply channels. Fleury Michon is progressively strengthening its
relationships and creating close ties with suppliers at each link of the
supply chain so as to promote a dynamic centred on quality, hygiene,
safety and responsibility that reflects its own commitment. This is
evidenced by quality audits, improvement plans, actions to support
suppliers, and long-term partnerships. The supply channel strategy is
the cornerstone of a value chain capable of meeting the multiple
expectations of consumers. With this in mind, Fleury Michon foregoes
“spot” (one-off purchases made on international commodities
markets at spot prices).

2.2.1.1

●

SUPPLY QUALITY: FLEURY MICHON’S
TOP PRIORITY

Fleury Michon’s Purchasing Charter is based on a corporate value
system that places high-quality customer and consumer service at
the very core of the Group’s concerns. Purchasing practices and the
quality of supplies are inextricably linked, as demonstrated by the four
Purchasing Charter commitments.

The four commitments of the Purchasing Charter
The four commitments are directly correlated to the Group’s strategy.
The fourth commitment embodies the Group’s dedication to
responsibility:
●

Guarantee supplies by carefully controlling food safety in
supply channels:
●

●

56

select the best supply channels through a listing process
that makes it possible to assess the risks associated with
each product;
develop appropriate methods and action plans to manage
risks at all levels of the supply channel, based on a risk
assessment;
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●

●

establish an audit programme to monitor suppliers and all
parties involved in the supply channel, taking into account
the risk assessment;

●

whenever necessary, expand the supply base in order to
minimise the risk of interruption to supplies;

●

understand the process model of supply channels (origin of
raw materials, food processing plants, intermediary service
providers) in order to guard against the risk of fraud and
dishonesty;

●

take an active role within the raw materials production
channels that are of the greatest importance to the Group’s
activities and implement an active monitoring system
attuned to strong and weak signals.

Ensure the level of quality by establishing Fleury Michon
standards:
●

introduce specifications and/or specification sheets in
collaboration with suppliers;

●

assess compliance with specifications through inspection
upon receipt or dispatch, and monitoring procedures based
on the risk assessment;

●

assess supplier performance and, if necessary, initiate an
ongoing dialogue to bring about improvements.

Ensure competitiveness and value creation by promoting
win-win relationships with suppliers:
●

obtain the optimum purchasing price in relation to the
expected quality of the product and/or service and the
overall performance of the product and/or service
throughout its use;

●

give priority to the supply channels with the fewest
intermediaries, where each party truly adds value;

●

re-assess the origin of supplies and/or products whenever
necessary: calls for tender, diversification, value analysis;

●

encourage collaborative innovation efforts with suppliers to
develop new solutions that enhance competitive advantage
and added value. For example, new generation packaging
composed of more recyclable materials, or raw materials
without preservatives or additives.

Non-financial performance statement, Corporate Social Responsibility
OFFERING OUR CONSUMERS THE BEST

●

Promote sustainable, responsible purchasing practices by
sharing Fleury Michon best business practices:
●

act as ambassadors for the Company and its values;

●

Promote long-term partnerships with suppliers;

●

establish and maintain balanced business relations based
on interaction and dialogue to find mutual best interests;

●

remain vigilant as to the mutual economic dependence
between Fleury Michon and its suppliers;

●

where applicable, plan for a progressive withdrawal of
business to end the contract;

●

take an active role in the fight against corruption;

●

use Fleury Michon’s influence to promote practices that are
fair and respectful of social, human and environmental
rights.

The Purchasing Charter must be flexible to better integrate social and
environmental criteria over time, in addition to the criteria currently
focused on quality, traceability and the technical aspects of the raw
materials and services purchased.

The organisation devoted to implementing the
Purchasing Charter

2.2.1.2

REQUIREMENTS AND CLOSE
COLLABORATION WITH ALL PARTIES IN
THE SUPPLY CHAIN: FLEURY MICHON’S
SUPPLY CHANNEL STRATEGY

Fleury Michon has established supply channels for its raw materials,
which notably include pork, poultry, beef, salmon, surimi and
vegetables. For Fleury Michon, a “supply channel” refers to a
restricted number of suppliers from whom the Group obtains supplies
that conform to very precise specifications in terms of hygiene,
technical quality, traceability and production methods.
The specification requirements established by Fleury Michon are
applicable at each stage: design, production, manufacturing and
processing. The success in achieving the high standards set by the Group
within these supply channels is only possible thanks to the close
relationship the Group maintains with its suppliers over the long term.
The quality supply channel strategy forces Fleury Michon to forgo
opportunistic “spot” purchases that would put at risk its strict
approach to quality and traceability.
The Group’s recent history is punctuated by a number of key events
in this respect:
●

Fleury Michon’s Purchasing Charter has been approved by the
Strategic Planning Committee.

since 1973, the Label Rouge supply channel for hams and then
roasted meats;

●

The General Managers for each business segment approve the
purchasing policy as well as the action plans and resources to be put
in place. The implementation of the Purchasing Charter and the
operational control of the Company’s purchases are the responsibility
of the Purchasing and Supply Channel Manager.

since 2002, the Bleu-Blanc-Cœur supply channel for hams and
roasted meats;

●

since 2004, the Bio supply channel for organic hams and then
prepared meals and poultry;

●

since 2011, the MSC supply channel for surimi;

●

since 2013, the responsible fishing supply channel for surimi;

The Purchasing Manager, QSE Manager, and those in charge of
purchasing quality implement all measures necessary to ensure the
safety and quality of the raw materials, ingredients and packaging in
accordance with the requirements dictated by regulations, customers
and the production and finished product quality units.

●

since 2015, the J’aime supply channel for hams and roasted
meats;

●

in 2016, investment in the Vallégrain pork supply channel;

●

also in 2016, the creation of SAS Les Champs du Possible,
working with organic vegetable farmers in the France’s Vendée
region;

●

since 2017, the extension of the J’aime range to include poultry
cuts and the signature of a framework agreement for a
partnership with the Terrena cooperative;

●

in 2017, the extension of our supply channels to include organic
vegetables.

Industrial services are subcontracted relatively rarely, and primarily
used for activities that are not at the core of Fleury Michon’s
business. This is the case for plant security, cleaning and the
maintenance of equipment and production lines. In total, this
accounts for less than 10% of the overall amount of service
purchases.
The employees of external companies who perform work in the
Group’s production sites enjoy the same access as Fleury Michon
employees to changing rooms, break rooms, cafeterias, and other
amenities. They are also subject to the same requirements as
Fleury Michon
personnel
under
the
terms
of
the
Quality-Safety-Environment policy.

2

Fleury Michon also has a partnership indicator for its packaging
suppliers. Fully 80% of packaging suppliers and 68% of ingredient
suppliers have been working with Fleury Michon for more than five years.
For several years, Fleury Michon has sourced a large proportion of its
ham from France in order to support the struggling French pork
industry.
To calculate its economic and social footprint, Fleury Michon used
the local Footprint® algorithm (www.utopies.com, “economic and
social footprint” tab). The Company focused specifically on the pork
industry in 2015.
Fleury Michon jobs related directly to the pork industry numbered
1,760 (permanent contracts + fixed-term contracts + temporary staff).
Fleury Michon generated nearly 3,200 jobs in the pork industry, 40%
of these through its suppliers. Of these jobs, 45% were based in the
Grand Ouest region of France (formerly Brittany and the Pays de la
Loire). A total of almost 5,000 jobs were created or maintained in
France by the Fleury Michon pork channel.
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2.2.1.3

PUSHING OUR QUALITY REQUIREMENTS EVER FURTHER: THE GROWTH OF RESPONSIBLE
SUPPLY CHANNELS

Fleury Michon is progressively expanding its requirements and
developing responsible supply channels, which combine product
quality requirements, respect for workplace conditions in production
operations, and respect for the environment.

●

health: the livestock are raised without antibiotics, after the end
of the first stage of life (42nd day) for pigs and from birth for
poultry. To fight against antibiotic resistance, we have reduced
the use of antibiotics also prescribed to people;

Accordingly, Fleury Michon is committed in different supply channels
to working to protect biodiversity. French Bio, Label Rouge and
Bleu-Blanc-Cœur certification channels are based on an integrated
approach combining food safety (traceability), nutritional quality and a
response to consumer expectations by offering superior-level
products compared with conventional products.

●

sustainable development: an annual environmental audit is
carried out systematically.

The Bio supply channel
The Bio supply sourcing channel focuses on animal well-being and
the environment.

A five-year improvement plan has been put in place to help us
continue to improve animal well-being and reduce the environmental
impact of livestock farming. The improvement plan implemented
throughout the J’aime supply channel is made up of measures for
farms that were optional in 2015 and 2016. Measures include the
installation of solar panels or an energy performance system, water
recycling and creep boxes for piglets.

2

The Label Rouge supply channel
The Label Rouge supply channel relies on specific expertise to ensure
superior-quality products.

The Bleu-Blanc-Cœur supply channel
The Bleu-Blanc-Cœur supply channel recognises vegetables and
grains of high nutritional and environmental quality. See boxed text in
Section 2.4.5.
Each of these three quality sourcing channels incorporates
husbandry criteria (including choice of breed, housing conditions,
care and feeding of animals and slaughter age) by offering products
that are better for the environment and animal well-being.

The J’aime supply channel
Consumers are adopting more responsible buying behaviours. Their
priorities are changing and they are asking more questions, such as:
●

Where did the food come from?

●

How and where was it made?

●

Is my meat healthy?

● How were the animals raised and fed?
We have launched a new range called J’aime, sourced exclusively
from the French pork industry. In 2017, we took our approach one
step further by extending the J’aime range to include poultry cuts
thanks to a partnership with the Terrena cooperative. This means we
are now able to offer consumers more J’aime products, in keeping
with our Eating Better goals.
J’aime pigs are raised on GMO-free (<0.9%) feed and without
antibiotics (after the 42nd day, the end of the first stage of life). J’aime
poultry are also raised on GMO-free feed and without antibiotics from
birth.
Our J’aime supply channel stands for:
●

high-quality animal feed: the animals are fed French grain free
from GMOs. The origin and composition of all foods are traced;

●

animal well-being: strict compliance with the European Directive
throughout the animal’s life to avoid unnecessary suffering;

Les Champs du Possible
Fleury Michon created Les Champs du Possible in 2016 to
strengthen its supply channels. The aim of this joint venture between
Fleury Michon and five farming groups, each within 50 kilometres of
one of our plants, is to develop our sourcing of local organic
vegetables. In 2018, Les Champs du Possible produced 20 metric
tonnes of leeks. Its goal for 2019 is to maintain this volume and
develop production of other vegetables. In total, the five farming
groups produce some 400 metric tonnes of fresh vegetables (leeks
and potatoes) for Les Champs du Possible. It’s a small proportion of
the 6,000 metric tonnes of vegetables that we purchase every year,
but the idea is to set up a local sourcing channel, experiment with
this type of short circuit and gain expertise in how organic networks
operate.
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2.2.2 Maintaining an active nutritional approach
In 1999, Fleury Michon actively adopted a nutritional approach
designed to promote a balanced diet and sustainable consumption.

November 2018. In June, Fleury Michon took part in the
discussion by taking part in talks to present our approach
on consumer information and related measures from
partnerships with stakeholders from civil society focusing on
education. Similarly, in September, Fleury Michon took part
alongside a regional representative from the FFD in an event
organised by Pôle Valorial (Valorisation Recherche
Innovation Alimentaire) on the topic of “Diabetes:
personalised eating regimes and prevention”;

Fleury Michon’s health and nutrition policy aims to:
●

help people follow a safe, healthy, well-balanced and
sustainable diet that contains great-tasting, enjoyable foods;

●

help promote good eating habits through involvement in
research and initiatives in the field;

●

educate current and future generations about eating better and
the benefits of a varied, balanced diet, while adapting to new
consumption methods;

●

●

anticipate food-related issues that will affect our consumers and
the sustainability of our Company.

The strengthening of our commitment on food allergies and
intolerances:
●

in December 2018, the French Gluten Intolerance
Association (AFDIAG) gave a talk to raise awareness among
our teams at the Mouilleron-en-Pareds site. The event was
an opportunity to remind participants of the difficulties of a
gluten-free diet and the importance of displaying the logo
on packaging for those suffering from gluten intolerance. At
end-2018, 23 products were marked with the wheat-free
logo,

●

the company sought the expertise of the French Allergy
Prevention Association (AFPRAL) to work on emerging
allergens with a view to taking this risk into account in the
development of new products,

●

the company saw excellent progress in results from
AllergoBox (the web resource and smartphone application
for people with allergies and intolerances. Fleury Michon
became its first partner in 2015): 101% increase in views of
Fleury Michon product information, 223% increase in views
of Fleury Michon recipes, and 130% increase in scans of
Fleury Michon products compared to 2017;

2018 highlights include:
●

The commitment to reduce salt content: Fleury Michon is
lowering salt by 25% in its Charcuterie products on a large
scale. More than 30% of Charcuterie had 25% less salt at
end-2018, with the rest of the range set to gradually follow suit
by 2020 (excluding products without nitrite salt and products
with specific bacteriological requirements);

●

Continued work on eliminating additives. A quarter of
Fleury Michon products are now completely additive free, and
all new innovative concepts are free from labelled additives;

●

Ongoing research on nitrites, focused on several key areas:
●

1: reducing nitrite salt: Fleury Michon applies the strictest
organic standards, representing half as much nitrite salt as
the limit set by European regulations,

●

2: replacing nitrite salt with vegetable broth and lactic
ferments, while still guaranteeing the strictest food safety
standards for consumers,

●

3: completely eliminating nitrites;

●

Consumer information: rolling out the Nutri-Score to our
packaging. At end-2018, 68% of our products already had the
official label displayed;

●

Continued commitment to fighting diabetes:
●

●
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in 2007, we began sponsoring the therapeutic Childhood
and Adolescent Diabetes programme developed by the
Paediatric Diabetes team at the Toulouse University
Hospital, which provides support for young diabetic people
and their families in learning to accept and live with their
condition. In 2018, 370 children 419 helpers were trained
on diabetes during education days. The association also
gave 124 talks in schools, ran 24 education days for
children and organised eight trips for teenagers,
in October 2016, we embarked on a long-term process of
joint development with the French Federation of Diabetics
(FFD). In late 2017, the FFD launched a series of
conferences on diabetes and diabetes, which ran until
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●

Our aim to help consumers adopt new dietary habits, including
reduced meat consumption. In 2017, we set up a partnership
with the French Vegetarian Association (AVF) to label our
meat-free range. At end-2018, 17 products were marked with
the vegetarian logo;

●

Trials of healthy snacks with top athletes, carrying out research
and development for the Direct Énergie cycling team on the
best refreshments to eat during exercise and snacks for
afterwards, without compromising on taste. The goal was to
gain in-depth, specialist knowledge from professional athletes
so the wider public can benefit from our future developments in
healthy snacks;

●

The development of our educational initiatives to raise
awareness about a balanced diet and exercise among the
sports associations sponsored by Fleury Michon, by developing
a Sport and Diet toolkit for children aged 6 to 12 and one for
young people aged 12 to 18. A total of 4,637 children were
involved in the project in 2018.
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2.2.2.1

A 19-YEAR COMMITMENT WITH FLEURY MICHON’S NUTRITIONAL CHARTER

Fleury Michon’s products are at the heart of people’s regular diet in France. That is why we have been working for the last 18 years to develop
products that are both balanced and delicious.

2

2018 REGISTRATION DOCUMENT /

61

2

Non-financial performance statement, Corporate Social Responsibility
OFFERING OUR CONSUMERS THE BEST

The Fleury Michon nutritional charter is built on five key commitments
that are incorporated in the creation of all recipes:
●

Commitment no. 1 – remove additives;

●

Commitment no. 2 – optimise fat content;

●

Commitment no. 3 – reduce salt content;

●

Commitment no. 4 – improve nutrient density;

● Commitment no. 5 – inform the consumer
To support the development of new products in our four strategic
areas, i.e., organic products, vegetarian food, appetisers and snacks,
tailored nutritional specifications have been drawn up to steer the
projects and round off our nutritional charter.
We have also included a section in the nutritional charter on the
amount of sugar in products to help meet French public health
targets on reducing sugar intake. An action plan is in progress to
reduce sugar content and eliminate added sugars from our products.

2.2.2.2

FLEURY MICHON’S COMMITMENT
TO THE NUTRI-SCORE

Fleury Michon, a brand committed to informing
consumers and improving transparency
Making Eating Better attainable for everyone also means keeping
consumers informed, meeting their expectations in terms of

and providing them with clear, easily accessible
information to help them make the right choices for their health.

The Nutri-Score, a system endorsed by public
authorities and consumer organisations
Fleury Michon took part in a trial carried out in real-life conditions in
some 60 stores in France in late 2016. The trial showed that, of the
four simplified models of nutritional labelling that were tested, the
Nutri-Score most effectively met consumer expectations, was the
easiest to understand and had the greatest impact on public health.
The Nutri-Score logo, which was designed by the French public
health authorities and may be displayed on the front of product
packaging at companies’ discretion, makes it quick and easy for
consumers to see a product’s nutritional information, presented on a
scale of five colours from dark green (A), the most nutritious, to dark
orange (E), the least nutritious.
The Nutri-Score is an extra nutritional marker in addition to the
current mandatory nutritional labelling requirements. It specifically
aims to help consumers:
●

choose between different products in the same product family;

●

compare the nutritional quality of different brands or formulations of
the same product.

Why do we need a nutritional logo on food products?
Nutritional labelling on all food products has been mandatory since the end of 2016 (EU Regulation No. 1169/2011) but is still
considered complex and difficult to understand by many consumers: just under 45% of consumers say they understand the tables
of nutritional information on packaging and only 27% say they thoroughly understand.
Consumers and consumer organisations, with the support of public authorities, have been advocating for a more accessible
simplified model of nutritional labelling for several years, to allow consumers to be better informed in their food choices and to
promote healthier dietary habits.

Helping people eat better every day with Nutri-Score
Fleury Michon has supported better nutritional information for
consumers for many years. For example, we voluntarily offered to
display labelling on allergens and nutritional values on all our products
back in 2005, before it became mandatory.
In a natural extension of this, we have been promoting simplified
models of nutritional labelling since 2015, regardless of the final logo
that would eventually be chosen by the French public authorities.
Following the French Ministry of Health’s approval of the Nutri-Score
system in March 2017, we announced our commitment to applying
the Nutri-Score logo on all our products, including an investment of
€1 million to update our packaging.
We cemented this commitment by signing the Nutri-Score Charter in
May 2017 with the French Ministry of Health and then by applying the
Nutri-Score model in October 2017 alongside five other signatories in
food production and retail.
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For your information:
The Nutri-Score
September 2017.

logo

first

appeared

on

our

products

in

Since then, it has become Fleury Michon’s primary CSR indicator.
More than two-thirds of our products (68%) were labelled with the
Nutri-Score logo at end-2018 and we have pledged to display it on all
our packaging by the end of 2019.
At the same time, we are developing a plan to optimise our recipes as
part of the commitments undertaken in our nutritional charter since
1999. Our goal is for 65% of our products to be graded “A” or “B” on
the Nutri-Score scale by 2022. In 2018, 46% of our range was
already graded “A” or “B”, thanks to our work on new products to
take the standards into account and the 40 or so recipes that were
optimised in 2018 without compromising on taste.
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We also undertook several projects in 2018 to help consumers better
understand the Nutri-Score. As part of our overhaul of the graphic
charter for packaging, each product now features an educational box
to make the Nutri-Score more accessible, with a recommended
portion size and consumption frequency rate and a suggestion of
what to eat alongside the product for a balanced meal. In spring
2018, explanatory stickers about the Nutri-Score were applied to
more than 3.5 million products, and information booklets on the logo
were distributed to consumers in stores as part of two sales events.

Once it had put together its commitments charter on balanced
nutrition, consumer health and the environment, Room Saveurs
distributed it to its partners.
In April 2015, a paper copy of the charter was distributed to all
purchasing, quality and sales managers at its suppliers.
A copy of the document was also sent to some key accounts to get
them on board the corporate project of “Helping people eat better
every day”.
In 2015, Room Saveurs’ Head Chef and Head of Products/Marketing
attended a training course to help them incorporate certain nutritional
requirements into their recipe development and thereby comply with
the nutritional charter commitments.
The Group’s nutrition experts and Quality Department worked
together to produce a “Best Practices” manual, which the
Room Saveurs teams will use when developing new recipes to ensure
the commitments are met.

Going one step further

A table of indicators was introduced and will be used to monitor how
the charter commitments are implemented.

Having a simplified model of nutritional labelling is a fundamental part
of making Eating Better attainable for everyone, but it has its limits:
healthy eating is made up of many different criteria that cannot be
reduced to just the nutritional composition of food products. This is
why we are advocates for a comprehensive system that also covers
portion sizes, frequency of consumption, the presence of additives or
artificial flavouring, production methods (use of antibiotics, feed
containing GMOs and animal well-being) and other factors.
Fleury Michon chose very early on to voluntarily and systematically
indicate where the meat used in its products comes from.

In mid-2017, Room Saveurs decided to take a more strategic
approach to its commitments to differentiate itself within the market,
while remaining aligned with the corporate project of “Helping people
eat better every day”.

We also highlight the importance of implementing a common system
for consumers so as to prevent the rise of multiple different systems
developed by various players in the industry, as this would run
counter to the goal of simplification, which is something that
consumers want and that we want for them.
Our five good reasons for adopting the Nutri-Score:

● animal well-being: increase the use of free-range eggs.
Using these broad topics as a base, medium- and long-term
objectives were then presented to all Room Saveurs’ partners in the
food industry so that they could factor them into future developments.
The strategy was also included in an appendix to the specifications
provided to suppliers in December 2017.

1) Make life easier for people who want to Eat Better

Progress in implementing the charter:

2) Give consumers answers to the legitimate questions they
have on the nutritional quality of the products they buy

Back to basics

3) Provide clear, easy-to-read nutritional information
4) Make our products’ nutritional quality accessible, with
no grey areas
5) Ensure transparency and inform consumers about our
best practices

2.2.2.3

THE ROOM SAVEURS NUTRITIONAL
CHARTER

In 2014, Fleury Michon’s delivered meals business established its
commitments charter. Out of six commitments made by
Room Saveurs, five involve nutrition. The fifth is covered in the
environment section.

2

It focused on three main topics in 2018:
●

back to basics: work on short ingredient lists, reduce the
number of additives and extend the list of prohibited additives;

●

practices and farming: remove palm oil from recipes, prioritise
fish from sustainable fishing, optimise the proportion of organic
ingredients, etc.;

Eliminating additives from food products is a major priority for today’s
consumers. Room Saveurs is committed to working with its suppliers
as part of its continual improvement process to reduce the number of
additives and to exclude those identified as controversial in light of
current scientific knowledge. Work has been carried out on shortlists
for several years now.
In 2017, Room Saveurs made significant efforts to remove titanium
dioxide, also known as E171, from its list of ingredients. For delivered
meals, E171 was still used in Fauchon desserts for a time but was
removed completely in October. Good progress has also been made
in the reception food range, where the ingredient is gradually being
removed with the resolute aim of eliminating it altogether.
Considerable work has been carried out with the quality and products
teams to ensure that all parties involved in the process follow this
approach, while also keeping the economic aspect in check.
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In 2018, all additives permitted in Europe were assessed in a joint
project between the Group’s nutrition and health department and
Room Saveurs’ quality department. Four risk levels were defined to
help the subsidiaries prioritise the order in which they eliminate certain
additives and, in particular, to identify a universal list of those deemed
controversial.
To limit the additives in our food, we set the rule in 2018 of having no
more than five additives in the components of our delivered meals.
We worked with our suppliers on mayonnaise, mustard and other
processed products in order to achieve this.

Practices and farming
Room Saveurs is committed to not adding palm oil or hydrogenated
fats during the creation of its recipes. Salads prepared by partners in
the food industry are systematically made using a mix of olive oil and
rapeseed oil.
As of winter 2018, palm oil was still used in a tart topping and in
products from the kosher menu where no alternative could be found
with the supplier. However, thorough work has been done on the
shared and cocktail buffet platters, making it possible to eliminate
palm oil from two products.

Since 1 June 2016, the bread served with delivered meals has been
made from flour from the Greater Paris region and flax seed from
France. This bread is certified with the Bleu-Blanc-Cœur label as a
natural source of omega 3 for a varied and balanced diet.
Room Saveurs had set itself the target of extending this approach to
all bread provided in its buffet ranges. This has now been achieved
since September 2018.

Animal well-being
Animal well-being is addressed at the specifications level, with our
suppliers using eggs from free-range hens.

2.2.2.4

INTERNATIONAL INITIATIVES

Fleury Michon continued to apply its health and nutrition policy
throughout its subsidiaries outside France. Each subsidiary has now
developed its own nutritional charter and sets its own targets to
improve the nutritional quality of its recipes. In particular, the
nutritional quality of products from PFI, an Italian joint venture outside
the scope of fully consolidated businesses, was analysed in depth in
2018. This identified areas for optimisation to continue rolling out the
Eating Better initiative in all the countries where Fleury Michon
operates.

2.2.3 Never compromise on product quality and safety
A DEMANDING QUALITY POLICY TO MEET
THE BASIC NEEDS OF CONSUMERS

The QSE Manager is tasked with implementing, managing and
coordinating the quality and safety management systems at the sites.

Through its Group policy, Fleury Michon consistently seeks to deliver
customer satisfaction and meet all regulatory requirements, ensuring:

The Quality Management System is assessed during management
reviews and its objectives are also regularly updated. These reviews
are performed twice a year on each site.

2.2.3.1

●

●

sensory quality: control and consistency of finished products;

●

service quality: “product” service focused on practicality and
ease of use and “customer” service focused on maintaining an
optimum rate at all times;

●

nutritional quality: incorporation of consumer health concerns
and display of the Nutri-Score on products sold in the
self-service section of supermarkets;

2.2.3.2

CONSUMER HEALTH AND SAFETY

At Fleury Michon, we are wholly committed to providing customer
satisfaction by offering products that contribute to safe and balanced
daily eating habits. The Group sees this as a primary responsibility
and must provide consumers with responsiveness, service, reactivity
and the anticipation of their needs. The Group provides innovative,
convenient products, backed by irreproachable standards of quality
and safety.
Through its commitment to food safety, Fleury Michon strives daily to
foster the conditions that protect its food chain through:

sustainability: incorporation of the challenges of sustainable
development.

●

raising employee awareness;

●

respecting hygiene and inspection requirements;

Fleury Michon’s Group policy is rooted in the implementation of the
Quality and Food Safety Management Systems, certified IFS,
FSSC22000 or ISO 22000.

●

ensuring the security of sites, buildings, transport, products,
processes and procedures;

●

ensuring data security.

●
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food safety: control of bacteriological, physical, chemical and
allergenic risks, implementing the Hazard Analysis Critical
Control Point (HACCP) methodology and best hygiene
practices, and ensuring traceability at every stage of the
process;
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2.2.3.3

REGULAR MONITORING OF PRODUCT
TRACEABILITY

As a part of its purchasing quality policy, Fleury Michon employs
significant resources on supplier inspections and ensuring
compliance with specifications:
●

six people dedicated to purchasing quality;

●

94 days of audits by our quality engineers at supplier sites in
2018;

●

a food analysis laboratory with seven people;

●

systematic visual inspections upon reception;

●

daily sensory evaluations;

●

more than 24,000 chemical analyses;

●

more than 150,000 bacteriological analyses;

●

a traceability system that covers the entire product life cycle
from upstream to downstream.

For further information on the purchasing quality policy, see
Section 2.2.1.1.
Audits performed at supplier sites are essential to ensure the quality
of raw materials, their traceability and compliance with the
specifications established by Fleury Michon.

2.2.3.4

ORGANISATION OF CRISIS PREVENTION
AND MANAGEMENT

There is no such thing as zero risk; therefore, every responsible
company must do whatever is necessary to manage the risks
inherent to its business. We are committed to providing the resources
required to predict, respond to and minimise the impacts of a crisis
on the Company and its environment (consumers, customers,
employees and communities). Fleury Michon has identified five major
risk categories:
●

●

Training and awareness: crisis management training, media
training and crisis simulation exercises;

●

Procedures to follow in the event of an alert or crisis;

●

Verification exercises: simulated product recalls and call
management;

●

Corrective actions to ensure the crisis does not recur for the
same causes.

This entire process is monitored by the three members of the crisis
unit: the Unit Chair, who is the Chief Executive Officer, as well as the
Coordinator and Assistant Coordinator.
The role of this unit during a crisis is to:
●

make decisions and oversee their implementation;

●

prepare and coordinate communication efforts;

●

maintain the health and safety of consumers as well as the
sustainability of the Company.

The crisis unit may call upon external entities (crisis management
agencies, legal experts, trade federations and public authorities).
Fleury Michon has established several measures to ensure the
success of this unit:
●

food safety policy;

●

HACCP and procedures;

●

Quality and Food Safety certifications;

●

risk identification;

●

prevention files;

●

monitoring of health alerts;

● monitoring of the media and science industries.
In addition to these resources, training and information plans have
been put in place:
●

food risks: microbiological, chemical, foreign bodies, allergens,
supply channels, related to the food industry environment;

●

industrial risks: fire, pollution, natural disasters, etc.;

●

personnel risks: strikes, accidents, rumours, etc.;

●

organisational risks: IT, loss of an executive, regulatory
risks, etc.;

● reputational/media risks.
The Group has put in place a risk map. Identified material risks are
regularly reviewed by Group Management, the Audit and Risks
Committee and the QSE Department.

●

●

Training sessions:
●

media training;

●

management of risk-related calls;

●

crisis management training.

Information and raising awareness among employees:
●

food safety;

●

crisis manual.

Verification exercises:
●

simulation of product recalls;

●

simulation of call management;

●

emergency numbers;

Section 1.5 of the Registration Document is dedicated to this topic.

●

crisis prevention and management review;

Prevention and management are structured around six core areas:

●

sites and organisation audits.

●

●

Analysis of the potential risks inherent to the Group’s business,
including food, industrial, personnel, organisational, and
reputational/media risks;
Management and control systems: prevention files, health
monitoring, media and scientific monitoring and the HACCP
methodology;

2

In 2018, we rose awareness among more than 126 employees on
preventing and managing crises, with crisis simulation exercises and
training in crisis management tools, media and managing risk-related
calls for our consumer service department, as well as on food safety.
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2.2.4 The future of relationships with consumers
Consumers are also citizens, whose understanding of social issues
has deepened greatly. They can read between the lines, and are
well-informed and well-connected. For all these reasons, it is no
longer acceptable to address consumers with the tired tricks and
gimmicks that have been used in communications for decades.
At Fleury Michon,
relationships.

2.2.4.1

we

are

replacing

communications

with

#VENEZVERIFIER: A COMPANY
DEDICATED TO CONSUMERS

Since 2014, Fleury Michon has invited consumers, bloggers and
journalists to come and take a first-hand look at the commitments
undertaken by the company and brand. Through the events, known
as #VenezVérifier (come and see), Fleury Michon welcomes these
discerning visitors and allows them to look round production sites, as
well as taking them to visit farms or fishing sites.

2.2.4.2

THE RISE OF DIGITAL TECHNOLOGY AND
SOCIAL MEDIA

In 2014, Fleury Michon redefined its communications strategy. To
step up its project of “Helping people eat better every day” in an
effective way, the Group created a digital unit. It was a turning point
for the Company. TV still has a vital role to play, but Fleury Michon is
also significantly developing its digital ecosystem so that it can reach
all consumers at different times.
Since the brand strives to engage in personalised dialogue with all its
consumers, it uses social media and the internet to explain in depth
its actions, convictions and spirit of transparency. With this in mind, it
has:
●

repositioned its website: responses to consumer questions,
advice, tips, explanations on Fleury Michon manufacturing
processes and information on supply channels now take pride
of place;

Since 2016, Fleury Michon and its supply channels have also opened
their doors to journalists reporting on important issues in food and
related topics, such as health, the environment, product composition
and origins of raw materials. Fleury Michon believes that the food
industry has worked behind closed doors for too long and that this
has contributed to consumer fears and misconceptions rather than
reducing them.

●

merged its four Facebook accounts to create the “Eating Better
Generation”;

●

created a Twitter account that posts about the Eating Better
project, with frequent exchanges with food influencers,
journalists and bloggers that help enhance our actions;

●

set up a YouTube channel with a number of videos showing
“behind-the-scenes” footage of the brand.

In 2016, the Company also began opening its production sites up to
the general public. For the four summer months, making the most of
the tourist season, Fleury Michon welcomes groups of ten to
12 visitors who are very curious and interested to see how the food
they eat every day is produced. In 2016, two production sites hosted
visitors and had to turn many away as there were not enough time
slots to receive everybody. Five production sites were open to visitors
in 2017 for the event, which was then named #VenezVisiter. In 2017,
the Group also welcomed children between the ages of 9 and 11 and
their teachers, who were looking for an educational demonstration on
the theme of food. Using this as a base, they were then able to
extend it to work on geography, economics, business studies, and
more. This successful trial led to an internal working group being
created to foster closer collaboration with primary schools near
production sites and possibly even offer an educational course for
teachers.

In 2017, Fleury Michon’s Instagram account was launched as part of
the Group’s focus on humanising the brand and spicing up our
communications.

In 2018, the Group stepped up its site visit initiative in line with its
transparency and dialogue policy, welcoming 700 visitors to
Fleury Michon production sites. The satisfaction rate was 8/10.

2.2.4.3

THE CONSUMER HUB

The Consumer Hub at the core of Fleury Michon’s
activities
Consumer Hub is built on the foundations of the Group’s
Consumer Service Department, but with the clear aim of being
consumer-centric. It handles contact with consumers referred by the
Consumer Service Department, posts on social media, monitors
online discussions about food and provides informed responses to
questions asked by internet users, organisations and activist groups.
Set up in October 2017, this new service aims to put consumers
back at the very core of the business, by:
●

establishing personalised contact with consumers;

●

innovating through the creation of a central space to collect and
share information;

●

improving our products, processes and communications;

● creating the Eating Better Generation together.
This consumer relationship should contribute to fuelling the business
and helping it grow and evolve.
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Our commitment: 100% of consumers satisfied.
We have already put five actions in place:
1. Reply when the request is received;
2. Make consumer contact more personal;
3. Be reachable 24/7;
4. Touch base with our consumers regularly;
5. Get all our departments involved: inform, discuss, raise
awareness!
Response time and consumer satisfaction will be the two indicators
driving our Consumer Hub’s actions.

2.2.4.4

A REVOLUTION IN HOW PRODUCT
INFORMATION IS SHARED

help all customers make informed choices about their health. The
way product information is communicated is undergoing profound
changes, drawing on new mobile tools positioned as “digital
assistants” that are revolutionising consumer habits. With around a
third of the urban population using mobile apps to help make
purchasing decisions, these resources (such as OpenFoodFacts,
Yuka and Scan Up) are becoming the go-to for consumers to analyse
their diet and understand the food products they buy. With
consumers’ best interests at heart, Fleury Michon has chosen to
cooperate effectively with nutritional choices apps to guarantee the
reliability and traceability of the data they communicate. In 2018, we
set up a system with voluntary apps Yuka and OpenFoodFacts to
automatically share our product data on a daily basis, providing
comprehensive and up-to-date information that benefits both
consumers and our brand.

2

Transparency and consumer information have been core
commitments of Fleury Michon for many years, with the aim being to
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2.3 Being a top business partner for our customers
Fleury Michon and its customers, whether they are involved in retail
(French supermarkets represents 85% of the Group’s revenue), airline
catering, healthcare or delivered meals, all share a common
objective: always satisfy consumers to continuously increase loyalty
and trust. In keeping with this rationale, the Group maintains a

collaborative relationship with its clients over all stages in the value
chain (product design, information to consumers, marketing and
merchandising, logistics, etc.) to achieve the overarching goal of
ever-greater customer satisfaction.

2.3.1 Continuous monitoring and dedicated sales teams to foster relationships
For supermarkets, the Fleury Michon sales force is made up of
160 individuals fully committed to our customers, divided into:
●

specialised teams for each retailer for better responsiveness;

●

in-the-field marketing action teams to promote sales outlets
close to consumers;

●

category management teams to provide support and analysis;

●

merchandising teams to optimise product presentation in aisles
and give expert advice to purchasing agencies and sales
outlets;

●

regional sales teams for increased effectiveness, with 120 sales
representatives to implement the strategy in the field in close
relation with the customer and to pass information back to head
office. The central and in-the-field marketing and sales teams
are advocates for the “Helping people eat better every day”
project in dealings with our customers. They give advice on how
to adapt the product range, how to set out aisles, and how to
showcase certain products. They are an essential go-between,
helping to ensure that Eating Better products are available for
consumers in store and to improve consumers’ diets.

2.3.1.1

PROMOTING SALES OUTLETS

Every year, Fleury Michon develops dozens of new products that it
invites hypermarkets, supermarkets and convenience stores to
display and sell. Sales teams are closely involved in helping
consumers discover these products, organising in-store
demonstrations and point-of-sale (POS) displays and showcasing
products directly at sales outlets. As well as introducing new
products, these events act as a service provided by Fleury Michon
that helps to maintain a close relationship with consumers. This is a
major asset for promoting the Eating Better campaign and
encouraging good dietary habits.
At Fleury Michon, the in-the-field marketing action team has
operational responsibility over these demonstrations, showcases and
POS displays. This team has been in place at Fleury Michon for some
time. Since 2016, it has comprised eight people, who bridge the gap
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between the sales team, the Marketing Department and sales outlets.
The members of the team have very different backgrounds – some
are more creative, while others are specialised in project
management – and this is reflected in the wide variety of services
they provide. Customer service quality is particularly important to the
team, which works alongside sales outlets throughout the process
leading up to an activity taking place in store. In addition, the
department’s flexibility means it is able to adapt and meet certain
specific requests, such as taking individual outlets’ requirements into
account when staging bigger displays.
The team has also had best practices in place for several years now,
in line with the Group’s CSR commitment.
These include a 10% reduction in brochure printing for customers
thanks to the standardisation of tools and the development of digital
resources.
Furthermore, CSR commitment is a key factor for the in-the-field
marketing action team in choosing its partners. The working
relationship it has built up with these partners prioritises continuous
improvement in performance and the optimisation of tools.
For campaigns that generate high sales volumes (around 5,000 store
campaigns per year), for example, the refrigeration unit provider has
put in place an ethical charter for sustainable development, in which it
makes several commitments to reduce its environmental impact,
namely:
●

a logistics commitment, by setting up ten branches to ensure a
distance of less than 200 kilometres between the units’ storage
location and their usage location;

●

a recycling commitment, by repairing refrigeration units and
sorting used POS displays;

●

an energy-saving commitment,
energy-efficient refrigeration units;

●

a resource-efficiency commitment, by optimising management
of energy, water and consumables at all sites;

●

an emissions-reducing commitment, by developing units that
use less refrigerant.

by

investing

in

more
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For projects already underway, the in-the-field marketing action team
is working to come up with new activities that could be put in place in
stores to meet consumer expectations even more effectively in terms
of transparency about food products, nutritional information and help
with choosing particular products.

2.3.1.2

PROMOTING CERTAIN PRODUCT
CATEGORIES

The marketing and sales teams also play key roles in our customers’
regional and national purchasing agencies to share their knowledge
about consumers.
For sales, dedicated category managers develop close partnerships
with each retailer. They look at panel data to analyse how well
different categories sell in each retailer, identify drivers for
improvement, and make recommendations to the stores on how to
increase sales in particular categories, with the overriding objective of
achieving lasting growth in line with the corporate project of “Helping
people eat better every day”. Importance is placed on this cycle of
discussions throughout the year, which are structured around:
●

a category review;

●

a retailer review;

●

an innovation review;

●

an action plan for the coming year, including specially tailored
recommendations for each retailer on product range,
advertising and merchandising.

Our marketing teams monitor progress, carry out studies on food,
food trends and changing habits (qualitative, quantitative,
ethnographic and usage & attitude studies). The main conclusions
drawn from these studies are then presented to the retailers to give
them food for thought and foster discussion, with the shared goal of
making sure that the range of products available in stores is always in
keeping with consumer needs and expectations.

2.3.1.3

SALES OUTLET MERCHANDISING ADVICE

2

In sales outlets, our sales teams take a proactive approach with
customers in recommending how to continually improve
merchandising in aisles. Geomerchandising data give our teams
precise information on the reach stores have with particular markets.
They use the Planorama image recognition tool, working alongside
the customer to quickly take a photograph of the aisle. They then
apply their own expertise to make recommendations on how to
optimise merchandising in the aisle.

2.3.2 Strong brands, with guaranteed quality and innovation
2.3.2.1

STRONG BRANDS FOR COMMERCIAL
SUCCESS WITH OUR PARTNERS

In the French Supermarkets business segment, our products are
mainly sold under the Fleury Michon brand, which represents more
than 90% of the segment’s revenue. The Group has also marketed
appetisers and nibbles under the Paso brand via this distribution
channel since April 2018. A proportion of sales volume is also
generated by private-label products.
The brand is a major competitive asset. It is one of the best known
throughout France, with nearly 100% awareness, and has among the
highest sales, with 78.4% of households in France buying
Fleury Michon-brand products(1).
Commercial success and consumer preferences depend on its brand
awareness and image. In the Supermarkets France sector, thanks to
the Fleury Michon brand, the Group is(2):
●

No. 1 in self-service charcuterie, with 12.9% of the market
share;

●

No. 1 in surimi, with 28.4% of the market share;

●

No. 1 in individual prepared meals, with 26.4% of the market
share.

Fleury Michon also provides delivered meals to businesses through
its subsidiary, Room Saveurs, which also uses a brand strategy to
better segment its products, including Fauchon, Flo Prestige,
Roberta, Liza and Boco. In 2018, subsidiary L’Esprit Frais began
marketing two new ultra-fresh convenience food brands, Par Ici
Cuisine and Merci Bocaux.
Fleury Michon has numerous strengths that make it a leader within its
markets. Among its customers, the Group is recognised as a
preferred supplier and leader in Eating Better, with an ability to
innovate, provide good service and meet the latest consumer
expectations.

2.3.2.2

MAINTAINING OUR POSITION AS LEADER
THROUGH INNOVATION

Quality and innovation have always been a driving force for the
Fleury Michon Group, with the key goal of satisfying our customers
and consumers.
The Group therefore strives to provide quality, innovative and
profitable products.

(1) Kantar Worldpanel 2018.
(2) IRI market share in value December 2018, France total.
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The environment is changing, consumption habits are changing, and
consumers are changing – and rapidly. To keep up with these
changes, the Group is adapting the way it is structured.
The French Supermarkets Marketing Department was reorganised in
2017 and is now even more determined to make decisions that
revolve around consumers and to innovate more quickly and daringly.
The new marketing team comprises 40 people and is structured
around innovation, with:
●

a LAB team dedicated to listening out for small signals that help
predict future needs (outlook of 3-5 years);

●

an INNOVATIONS team dedicated to developing new product
ranges in keeping with new consumption trends and occasions
(outlook of 12-24 months);

●

a Core Business team dedicated to managing and adapting
existing ranges to make sure that they are always relevant to
consumer expectations and tastes (outlook of 6-12 months).

Thanks to this structure, which is entirely focused on consumers and
their usage and attitudes, Fleury Michon made some big changes to
its product range in 2018 to cement its project of “Helping people eat
better every day”:
●

Continually adapting the core business range to make it more
natural and nutritionally balanced, with the roll-out of the
Nutri-Score on packaging and the expansion of the
reduced-salt charcuterie range;

●

Launching Salad’Jars in April 2018, an original product range in
the healthy snacks segment, and extending the snacks line in
2019;

●

Broadening our vegetarian range with the launch of
vegetable-based side dishes in October 2018 (e.g., vegetable
tagliatelle, vegetable fritters, etc.);

●

Adding to the organic range, which originally focused on
charcuterie products, with the launch of prepared meals for the
fresh section in stores.

2.3.2.3

RESEARCH & DEVELOPMENT TO TAKE
EATING BETTER A STEP FURTHER

As part of our dealings with customers in travel catering and
healthcare meal solutions, we respond to calls for tender that, for

obvious food
precise and
demonstrated
and succeed
facilities.

safety and nutritional profile reasons, are extremely
demanding in all aspects. Fleury Michon has
its ability to ensure customer loyalty in airline catering
in the new market of meal solutions for healthcare

For these segments, and indeed all the markets and distribution
channels in which Fleury Michon operates, the Group’s Research &
Development Department works on new recipes and ingredients, as
well as new processes, technologies and food science. By predicting,
studying and preparing for future food habits, it has an important role
to play in creating new product ranges.
Comprising chefs as well as engineers specialised in food, the
Research & Development Department has a test kitchen/laboratory
with all the resources needed to prepare our recipes. The department
is also a central part of our production sites, with specialised
equipment on hand to deal directly with any issues. As a link between
the inner workings of the Group and the outside world, the R&D
Department also maintains an extensive external network to keep
abreast of new information and knowledge.
In keeping with the corporate project of “Helping people eat better
every day”, the department is tasked with finding ways to develop
products that are more natural (i.e., containing less salt and fewer or
no additives) and meet the highest sensory and microbiological
requirements. To achieve this and overcome certain technological
challenges, R&D enters into collaborative research projects, either
with other companies directly, through inter-professional associations
with France’s main national research institutes, or with private
partners such as private research providers or suppliers.
For their work on reducing salt content, the R&D Department
launched a three-year industrial convention of training through
research thesis in January 2017 with the Micalis microbiology institute
at INRA, the French national institute of agricultural research. The
thesis will study the impact of external processes on spoilage flora in
reduced-salt ham, using highly advanced metagenomics and
transcriptomics techniques to identify and quantify microbes.
Fleury Michon has also worked on reducing the use of nitrites in
charcuterie products, playing an active role through inter-professional
associations in studying the correlation between nitrite reduction and
food safety in charcuterie.

2.3.3 An efficient and responsible supply chain
2.3.3.1

THE SUPERMARKET SUPPLY CHAIN

For companies like Fleury Michon, which mostly manufacture fresh
products, the two major supply chain indicators are service rate(1) and
unsold inventory rate(2). We are responsible for continually optimising
the performance measured by these two indicators and strive to

achieve a balance, rather than improving one at the cost of the other.
Customer satisfaction is Fleury Michon’s top priority, but we have a
secondary responsibility to avoid significant excess inventory, which
generates food waste (see Section 4 “Optimising the consumption of
raw materials and combating food waste”).

(1) Service rate = number of on-time items/number of items ordered.
(2) Unsold inventory rate = number of finished items that were not sold within the time limits (according to dates from customer contracts)/number of items ordered.
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In 2018, our service rate was 99.3% and our unsold inventory rate
was 0.40%, making us a benchmark in the food industry. These
results, recognised by our customers, were not achieved by accident.

2.3.3.1.1 Forecasting
To ensure we are able to deliver quality products on time to our
customers, Fleury Michon has created a Forecasting Department to
anticipate orders and put in place the necessary resources for
producing and transporting the items.
How exactly is all this coordinated?
Since there is a very quick turnaround (a matter of hours) between
receiving orders and shipping them out, it is impossible to
manufacture products to order. Therefore, our entire process is
based on forecast data. This encompasses all the key steps in the
supply chain: purchasing and sourcing raw materials, scaling and
structuring the workforce, reserving means of transport and, of
course, planning and scheduling production. The flow between these
different functions therefore needs to be very finely tuned, and the
forecast needs to be as accurate as possible and evolve to take
forecast differences into account. This allows us to organise our
production and shipments in the most stable, sustainable way
possible, which has significant benefits for our customers, suppliers,
transporters and of course Fleury Michon employees working in
production. It is also a major responsibility for the Forecasting team,
with regard to these stakeholders.
A dedicated team of eight people continually provide the most
precise forecasts possible to all the parties involved in the process,
looking ahead over a rolling period of 12 weeks. To develop these
forecasts, the team uses specialised statistical modelling software
that takes past sales into account. First, the team identifies events it
deems to be one-offs (e.g., previous promotional offers,
non-standard weather conditions, and other incidents) and puts them
to one side. It then selects a suitable statistical model to obtain the
most relevant overall and seasonal trends. But that is only part of
what the team does. It is also constantly on the look-out for
information that may have a one-off impact on sales. This could
mean special offers, marketing strategies, POS marketing events,
unusual weather forecasts compared with seasonal norms, changes
in customers’ logistics systems, increases in volumes to allow for
bank holidays, increased sales of one product leading to reduced
sales of a different product, etc. The team therefore needs to gather
and quantify all this information as accurately as possible, ask the
parties involved pertinent questions and develop correlation matrices.
The forecasters also have to make estimates on how reliable the data
they provide is. If there is substantial uncertainty involved, they alert
the other parties in the supply chain and work with them to find
suitable, effective solutions to avoid excess inventory or shortages.
In addition, long-term forecasts (looking ahead for more than
three months) are revised every quarter with input from the sales,
marketing and management control teams. These forecasts are the
basis for new or updated sales and operation plans for the months
ahead.

Forecasts play a key role in the supply chain, so it is very important
that they are accurate. As part of our project of “Helping people eat
better every day”, the forecasting team works to strengthen
relationships between the different players in the chain, from
producers to processors and retailers. This helps ensure effective
management and better organisation, avoid food waste, improve
cost management and make Eating Better more accessible for
everybody. We know our efforts have proven successful when we
see people Eating Better, and this is a great source of satisfaction.

2.3.3.1.2 Transporting products: the final link
in the supply chain
makes daily deliveries to its retail customers’ supply
chain platforms, which sometimes requires careful management of
complex time constraints. Transporting products is a key part of
providing outstanding customer service, which is one of the Group’s
fundamental values. Fleury Michon has a fully developed internal
transport team that provides excellent service and effective cost
management. As well as customer service, Fleury Michon strives to
ensure that its supply chain operations are:
●

safe for people, with increased vigilance in logistics activities
thanks to its Zero Accident Plan (see Section 4);

●

environmentally responsible: when selecting its transporters,
Fleury Michon prioritises providers that are committed to
reducing their greenhouse gas emissions.

2.3.3.2

2

ROOM SAVEURS DELIVERED MEALS

At Room Saveurs, the Operations Department handles logistics. The
team is made up of four multi-skilled people who can be contacted at
any time, and whose sole aim is to provide excellent customer
service. Efficient delivery is the first step to Eating Better at work.
Delivery is the final link in the supply chain, and it involves direct
interaction with our customers. With this in mind, we take great care
to select the best logistics partner, just as we do with our producers
and packaging suppliers.
To achieve on-time delivery every day, sometimes in conditions that
are challenging or out of the ordinary, we have been working with
Toutadom, part of the Star Service Group, for many years now.
Toutadom is the leading provider of “last mile” logistics in France. Its
fleet can be adjusted to meet our needs, with the capacity to add
many more vehicles in a matter of hours.
Toutadom is responsible for preparing and delivering orders to
customers. Our drivers deliver every day of the week, including bank
holidays, between 6 a.m. and 10 p.m. within an hour of receiving the
order (except for special conditions).
To provide the best customer service, we have two supply chain
platforms:
●

One in Gennevilliers, north of Paris;

● One in Orly, south of Paris.
These facilities mean that we are able to deliver meals all over the
Greater Paris region every day.
When necessary, we are also able to make occasional deliveries
outside this area.
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To make sure that the products we deliver are always of high quality,
we choose to use a logistics system with a controlled temperature
between 0 and 3°C. All the vehicles we use are refrigerated and in
line with HACCP and cold chain standards. There are refrigerated
preparation areas at each platform.
Room Saveurs’ and Toutadom’s Quality Departments worked
together to develop rigorous procedures ensuring that temperatures
can be traced along every step in the supply chain. Certain vehicles
have tracers that continually record the container’s temperature. In
the summer, we systematically step up our checks.
In the event of a defect, emergency procedures are immediately set
into action.
Similarly, specific software monitors the preparation of every order.
This warehouse management system (WMS) software checks that
the products ordered are put into the correct boxes so as to optimise
preparation.
We are now able to trace orders up to delivery to the customer.

A few months ago, we and our logistics partner put a geolocation
system in place for the vehicles that deliver our orders.
Thanks to this system, customers can now access clear, precise
information on the whereabouts of their orders.
This has allowed us to improve the quality and reliability of the
information available to customers and our Logistics Department.
But that is not the end of it. We must remember that our customers
are always expecting more.
We therefore have some challenges to meet over the coming months
and years:
●

provide better, faster, greener and cheaper delivery;

●

invent the services of tomorrow, particularly in terms of recycling
the waste we generate.

Since Eating Better also means taking care of our planet, in 2018 we
added a vehicle powered by natural gas for vehicles (NGV) to our
Room Saveurs fleet.

2.3.4 Certifications that guarantee quality and high standards
Production sites in France:

CAMBRAI
Superior hams
PLÉLAN-LE-GRAND
Superior hams
Ready-to-eat charcuterie
POUZAUGES
Superior hams
Cooking aids
Prepared meals
Supply chain platform
Head ofﬁce
MOUILLERON-EN-PAREDS
Prepared
ed meals
CHAN
NTONNAY
Poultry cuts
Surimi

●

Cooking aids: FSSC22000 + ISO 50001;

●

Montifaut (ham): FSSC22000 + ISO 50001;

●

Chantonnay (charcuterie): FSSC22000;

●

Cambrai: FSSC22000;

●

Plélan-le-Grand: ISO 22000;

●

Mouilleron-en-Pareds: ISO 50001 + IFS;

●

Montifaut (prepared meals): ISO 50001 + IFS;

● Prepared seafood (Chantonnay): ISO 50001 + IFS.
Supply chain:
● Supply chain platform: FSSC22000 + ISO 50001.
Head office:
● Fleury Michon SA: ISO 50001.
Production sites outside France:
●
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2.4 Controlling the environmental impacts
of our operations
Fleury Michon’s environmental impacts are the same as those of any
food industry company: consumption of raw materials, particularly
agricultural, but also packaging materials, water and energy; the
production of waste and emission of effluents. In addition to complying
with the particularly strict environmental standards and regulations that
apply to the food industry, the Group must, in order to ensure its
long-term operations, optimise its use of raw materials in its
manufacturing processes starting right from the design stage of its
recipes or packaging. Fleury Michon also endeavours to reduce the

quantity of waste, effluents and greenhouse gases generated by its
industrial activities, particularly its supply chain and storage activities. It
also strives to train its employees on environmental issues.
The majority of the environmental indicators refer to the French,
Canadian and Slovenian operations. Where this is not the case, the
reason will be given in a note attached to the indicator in question. If
the data for Slovenia and Canada is not available, this will be
indicated by NA in the table.

2

2.4.1 Our environmental management work
2.4.1.1

ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT GUIDED
BY THE GROUP’S GENERAL POLICY

Fleury Michon is committed to growing its business while controlling
its impacts on the environment. Its CSR strategy is based on the
Group’s general policy, signed by the Chief Executive Officer in 2018.
Fleury Michon has defined the following priority environmental issues:
●

prevention of pollution;

●

sustainable use of resources (energy, raw materials and
packaging);

●

protection of the environment, particularly the fight against
climate change.

The Group intends to use an increasingly integrated approach in the
methods it uses to manage and make decisions on environmental
issues, particularly in terms of energy consumption and packaging.
Quantitative objectives for the reduction of environmental impacts by
2020 have been set for France. They cover three key areas:
●

energy efficiency;

●

reduction of greenhouse gas emissions;

● recycling of industrial waste.
Given the wide variety of factors affecting these objectives, we believe
that a holistic view over a given period is more appropriate than
measuring them on a yearly basis. At the same time, each production
site sets its annual energy efficiency and industrial waste recycling
targets in line with the Group’s overall objectives for 2020, and its
own development and operating prospects.

Energy consumption
Expressed in kWh/kg of product, the energy consumption (gas
+ electricity) target is 2.0 kWh/kg in 2020 versus the 2008 figure of
2.73 kWh/kg. This is the equivalent of a 27% improvement in energy
performance in France.
These energy use ratios cover a fixed proportion corresponding to
the energy consumption necessary to keep the plants in working
order, regardless of the volumes produced (i.e., maintaining
temperature and network pressure, etc.), as well as a variable
proportion that is directly linked to the volumes produced. The more
produced, the smaller the fixed proportion.
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The 2.0 kWh/kg objective for 2020 was set for an estimated target
volume of 100,000 metric tonnes.

2.4.1.2

In kWh/kg

2.73

2.15

2.00

RESPONSIBILITIES AND RESOURCES
DEPLOYED FOR THE MANAGEMENT OF
QUALITY, SAFETY AND THE
ENVIRONMENT

Responsibilities and resources used
The Group’s general policy is approved by the Strategic Planning
Committee and is applicable to operations in France.
Executive Management and the management of each business
segment approve the action plans and the methods to be
implemented. The implementation and the operational oversight of
these action plans are assigned to the individual site managers, who
are in charge of the appropriate process or function.

2008

2018

2020
Target

Greenhouse gas emissions (Scopes 1 and 2)
as metric tonnes of CO² equivalent per metric tonne
produced, greenhouse gas emissions in France should fall from 0.33
to 0.23 between 2008 and 2020, a reduction of 30%.
In tepCoo2/t

0.33

0.24

0.23

Consistency with the overall approach is ensured by the QSE
Department.
Accordingly, the QSE Department provides support for the business
to implement measures to protect the environment, monitor
improvement plans, promote the sharing of best practices and track
environmental indicators.
There are also local QSE representatives on each production site.
This Group’s general policy is reiterated annually for each of the
entities. The management system is assessed and the goals are
modified on a regular basis during the review period or by the
Management Committee.
France has very strict environmental laws, particularly for the
agri-food industry. Before a production site in France can be
commissioned, it must file a classified environmental facility
application and receive special administrative approval from a
government environmental protection agency (Direction régionale de
l’environnement, de l’aménagement et du logement – DREAL).
For facilities outside France, Fleury Michon applies the regulations in
force in each country.

Management systems
2008

2018

2020
Target

Proportion of waste processed by recovery channels
The 2020 waste recovery target for France is 85% compared with the
2008 figure of 70%.

70%

79%

85%

The implementation of the Group’s general policy is ensured by
management systems that continually seek to introduce
improvements and consists of:
●

defining goals incorporating regulatory requirements and
changes;

●

allocating appropriate resources to achieve these goals;

●

implementing the action plans;

●

putting in place the necessary corrective actions;

●

measuring the effectiveness
improvement process.

and

sustainability

of

the

Fleury Michon thus complies with ISO 9001, FSSC 22000 and IFS for
the implementation of management systems in its production units
and emphasises the guidelines that directly relate to its core business
of product hygiene and food safety.
The Group is also guided by ISO 50001 for energy management, an
issue with a strong environmental and economic impact.

2008
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2.4.1.3

TRAINING AND AWARENESS-RAISING ON
ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

Fleury Michon regularly conducts awareness campaigns on reducing
all waste and on environmental best practices, with a focus on issues

such as reducing water and energy consumption, waste sorting and
recycling.
In 2018, we gave 261 training sessions on environment-related
topics. These training programmes addressed fire risks and the
operation of refrigeration units, among other subjects, waste sorting,
the recycling of plastics, ISO 50001, etc.

2

2.4.2 Preventing pollution
2.4.2.1

units. It is processed through specialised channels for the
production of animal feed and methanation. In 2018,
Fleury Michon partnered with a provider that had started
operating a biomethane production facility in Chantonnay,
significantly reducing the transport of organic waste by setting
up a processing centre around 30 kilometres closer than the
one used previously.

WASTE MANAGEMENT INTEGRATED
WITHIN OUR PRODUCTION SITES

Fleury Michon’s activities generate two types of waste:
●

non-hazardous industrial waste (NHIW): raw material
packaging, plastic packaging borders, cardboard, paper, wood
and scrap metal. For example, our pallets in Europe are
sourced through a recovery channel from which a portion of the
profit is donated to an organisation that provides people living
with a disability with access to employment. This waste is
recovered either for recycling, re-use or as solid recovered fuel
(SRF, a clean fuel produced from waste that could not be
sorted or recycled). Organic waste is the result of preparation
and manufacturing within the various Fleury Michon production

●

hazardous industrial waste (HIW) is only found in small
quantities in Fleury Michon’s processes. It is the result of
maintenance work: used oils, solvents, waste electrical and
electronic equipment (WEEE) including lighting consumables.
This waste is sorted at the source and recycled by specialised
service providers.

BREAKDOWN OF WASTE BY TYPE IN 2018 (% OF VOLUME) IN FRANCE (BASED ON 11,571 METRIC TONNES) AND FRANCE + INTERNATIONAL (BASED
ON 12,749 METRIC TONNES)
GROUP

FRANCE

3%
HIW

21%

25%

Unrecovered NHIW

Unrecovered NHIW

72%
3%

Recovered NHIW

76%

HIW

Recovered NHIW

All production sites are tasked with reducing the quantity of waste
produced by optimising the use of materials and packaging. Waste
processing is handled within each production unit by sorting at the
source for recycling and recovery in specific processing channels for
cardboard, paper, plastic, organic materials and scrap metal.

Our reduced recovery rate is due to difficulties we encountered with
recycling plastics, as recyclers have tightened their requirements on
plastic quality.
* In 2018, we reclassified all hazardous and non-hazardous industrial
waste according to standardised nomenclature. This explains why
our HIW figure came to 3% rather than the insignificant figure
reported in 2017. However, there was no actual change in the
amounts generated.
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WASTE PROCESSING
2017

2018

Change

11,921

11,571

-2.9%

140

139

-0.71%

9,212

9,192

-0.22%

77%

79%

+2 points

FRANCE
Total quantity of waste generated(1) (in metric tonnes)
Ratio of total waste generated per kg of product(1) (in g/kg)
Total waste disposed of through recovery(1) (in metric tonnes)
(1)

Proportion of waste processed by recovery channels
CANADA + SLOVENIA
Total quantity of waste generated(2) (in metric tonnes)

1,415

1,177

-16.82%

Ratio of total waste generated per kg of product(2) (in g/kg)

179

158

-11.73%

Total waste disposed of through recovery(2) (in metric tonnes)

453

393

-13.16%

32%

33%

+1 point

13,335

12,748.8

-4.40%

(2)

Proportion of waste processed by recovery channels
CONSOLIDATED(1)(2)
Total waste generated (in metric tonnes)

Ratio of total waste generated per kg of product (in g/kg)
Total waste recovered (in metric tonnes)
Proportion of waste processed by recovery channel

144

140

-2.78%

9,665

9,585

-0.83%

72%

72%

0%

(1) Including treatment plant sludge in 2018.
(2) Excluding paper waste in Canada.

PROPORTION OF WASTE PROCESSED BY RECOVERY CHANNEL

77%

79%

72%

2018

France

CONTROLLING DISCHARGES INTO
WATER, A CRUCIAL CONCERN FOR THE
GROUP

Given its business, Fleury Michon is particularly concerned by waste
discharged into water. The Company is extremely attentive in
managing and treating wastewater to improve treatment efficiency.

+2 PTS

2017

2.4.2.2

2018

France
and International

Fleury Michon has established a system that enables the production
sites to directly connect to their own wastewater treatment plants.
These plants are equipped to reduce organic, nitrogen and
phosphorous pollution to concentrations that comply with the
applicable environmental regulations. Effluent is treated at three
plants in Mouilleron, Chantonnay and Pouzauges Gare. From June to
November, when water levels are low, treated water from the
Mouilleron and Pouzauges Gare plants is used to irrigate farmland.
The plants are managed either internally by Fleury Michon technicians
with the assistance of companies specialising in wastewater
treatment, or directly by these same companies. They are all
equipped with measurement and automatic monitoring systems.
The Cambrai and Plélan-le-Grand production units, as well as our site
in Slovenia, pre-treat their effluents, which are then treated in local
plants.
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CHEMICAL OXYGEN DEMAND (COD)*

Final COD discharge in rivers (in metric tonnes)
Net COD ratio in rivers (in mg/kg of product)
Final COD discharge in irrigation (in metric tonnes) (Mouilleron and Pouzauges
Gare)
Net COD ratio in irrigation (in mg/kg of product) (Mouilleron and Pouzauges Gare)
Total COD discharge in the natural environment (in metric tonnes)
Total COD ratio in the natural environment (in mg/kg of product)
*

2017

2018

Change

20.31

16.80

-17.28%

235.00

194.85

-17.09%

9.02

6.20

-31.26%

104.40

71.85

-31.18%

29.30

22.98

-21.57%

339.10

266.70

-21.35%

This is the total of the COD recorded in the treatment plants directly managed by Fleury Michon and the effluents treated by the local plants (Cambrai,
Plélan and Proconi). The total COD therefore does not include operations in Canada.

2.4.2.3

MANAGING NOISE POLLUTION

Preventing noise pollution is one of the responsibilities of a production
company like Fleury Michon. Noise pollution limits are stated in each

2

site’s operating permit and are regularly monitored. The reduction of
noise pollution is also taken into account when purchasing new
equipment. Furthermore, employees working at production sites are
required to wear ear protection equipment.

2.4.3 Sustainable use of resources
2.4.3.1

EFFICIENT WATER CONSUMPTION TO MINIMISE THE IMPACT OF OUR USE
2017

2018

Change

848,983

835,602

-1.6%

9.98

10.03

+0.5%

1,025,324

1,001,349

-2.3%

11.03

11.03

-

France
Water consumption (in m3)
Water consumption intensity (in litres per kg of product)
Consolidated
Water consumption (in m3)
Water consumption intensity (in litres per kg of product)
Our production sites get their water supply from the public drinking
water distribution network. For the most part, the water is used for
production, cleaning the production lines and refrigeration of the sites
and products.

Each production site monitors water consumption and each year
determines its objectives and associated action plans in order to
optimise the use of resources.
Consolidated water consumption decreased by 23,975 m3 between
2017 and 2018. The consumption ratio in litres per kg remained
stable.
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CHANGE IN WATER CONSUMPTION SINCE 2010 IN FRANCE (I.E., 83%
OF THE CONSOLIDATED SCOPE)
In litres/kg

10.6 11.0 10.8 10.8 10.3 9.7 10.1 9.98 10.03
12.5

10.0

2.4.3.2

OPTIMISING THE CONSUMPTION OF RAW
MATERIALS, A CLEAR ECONOMIC AND
ENVIRONMENTAL NECESSITY

Given its activities, Fleury Michon deals with two significant types of
consumables: packaging and raw materials used in recipes. Since
operations directly depend on the availability and renewal of these
resources, the Group is eager to optimise their use.

Optimising yields from food raw materials
The main steps involve finding the proper balance between the
quality of raw materials and the production processes (cooking and
slicing for example) to optimise the use of resources while maintaining
the desired level of quality as defined in the specifications. The
concepts of traceability and quality in our raw materials are described
in Sections 2.2.3.1 and 2.2.3.2.

7.5

5.0

2.5

0.0

2010

2011

2012

2013

2014

2015

2016

2017

2018

-5.7%
BREAKDOWN OF PURCHASING IN 2018 – ALL SOURCES (FRANCE + ABROAD)
2017

2018

Change

Pork

41,614

33,756

-18.9%

Poultry

22,841

26,505

+16%

Fish and seafood

8,784

8,269

-5.9%

Vegetables, carbohydrates, spices and other ingredients

23,388

22,201

-5.1%

TOTAL

96,628

90,731

-6.1%

The change in purchase volumes is related to the change in volumes produced in 2018 versus 2017. The change in pork volumes is related to a
change in calculation method. In 2018, the volume of waste related to meat preparation was not taken into account.

BREAKDOWN OF PURCHASES IN 2018 (% OF VOLUMES)

foodstuffs. The Group is therefore heavily involved in combating food
waste.

25%

The measures put in place include:

Vegetables, carbohydrates,
spices and other ingredients

●

upstream: the decision to purchase ready-to-use raw materials,
as our suppliers are better placed than we are to re-use any
waste products, such as bones, fat and vegetable peelings,
produced as a result of preparing raw materials, for example for
use in animal feed;

●

product design: the amount of product per packet is adapted to
each use. Some products are available in various sizes so
consumers can buy an appropriate amount depending on their
needs. Others are available in perforated multiple-portion
packaging trays that allow the product to stay fresh and the
consumer to use the product as required. Information on
recommended quantities per meal is included on each packet.
We indicate the latest possible sell-by dates depending on the
type of product and shelf life. For products that are not

9%
Fish and seafood

37%
Pork

29%
Poultry

Combating food waste and more
Fleury Michon produces and sells 380 million freshly prepared meal
solutions every year, which requires a total of 83,338 metric tonnes of
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necessarily consumed all in one sitting, we also display a use-by
date after opening on the packet;
●

●

production: Fleury Michon uses a highly effective system to
predict sales in order to produce the right amount of each
product and limit any surplus;
downstream: Fleury Michon’s supply chain is able to deliver to
our customers’ supply chain platforms several times a week.
Our sales teams are also in contact every day with customers to
evaluate stock delivered and adjust quantities to meet the
needs of consumers so as to reduce unsold units in stores as
much as possible.

In addition, we run the “Fleury Shop”, a clearance store with its own
website, where employees and retired people in France can buy
unsold units (e.g., with an approaching used-by date, damaged outer
packaging, or that weigh more or less than the stated weight) that are
still safe to eat, at low prices.
To take this even further, we have partnered with not-for-profit
organisations that give food aid to disadvantaged people, such as
Banque Alimentaire, Secours Populaire, Restos du Cœur and Halte
du Cœur. In 2018, we provided these organisations with 285 metric
tonnes of products.

Reducing the impact of packaging
PACKAGING: A KEY ROLE IN THE FOOD INDUSTRY

For Fleury Michon, packaging has three main purposes:
●

protecting and preserving the product to safeguard the health
and safety of consumers;

●

ensuring optimal conditions for the transport and storage of
products in order to guarantee that consumers will receive a
quality product;

●

informing consumers and providing essential information (such
as mandatory legal notices, nutritional information, recycling of
packaging and recipe ideas).

Plastic and cardboard are the main packaging categories used by
Fleury Michon. The volumes of the other categories consumed by
Fleury Michon are not significant.

2

Fleury Michon reporting is based on the Citeo eco-packaging
declaration in France. It also includes volumes used outside France
by the entities in Canada and Slovenia.

PACKAGING USED IN 2018
In metric tonnes

2017

2018

Plastics

8,426

8,322

-1.2%

Cardboard

1,349

1,043

-22.7%

Aluminium

32

56

+75.0%
-4.3%

Other materials
Packaging use ratio per kg of product (in g/kg)
Consolidated total packaging

BREAKDOWN OF PACKAGING MATERIALS USED BY FLEURY MICHON

1%
Aluminium

10%
Cardboard

6%
Other materials

83%
Plastics

Change

676

647

112.8

110.9

-1.7%

10,483

10,067

-4.0%

The change in packaging consumption comes as a result of changes
in volumes and the product mix.
Optimising the weight of packaging, seeking new recycling channels
and using recyclable materials are challenges for which the search for
solutions and implementation are long-term issues. Fleury Michon
participates in the development of solutions incorporating biobased
materials, mono-material packaging or including a percentage of
recycled materials in partnership with research laboratories,
universities and the suppliers’ research centres.
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PACKAGING NOT USED FROM 2010 TO 2018 (CUMULATIVE VOLUMES)

1,653 3,875 4,565 5,475 5,904 6,073 6,584 6,693 6,851
8,000

To sum up, thanks to its actions to reduce, optimise and streamline,
Fleury Michon has decreased its packaging by the equivalent of
6,851 metric tonnes since 2010 (plastics, cardboard and other
materials).

7,000

FLEURY MICHON IS COMMITTED TO RECYCLING MORE
PLASTIC PACKAGING

6,000

Actively contributing to a circular economy

5,000

Every year, Fleury Michon contributes more than €3 million to finance
the processing and recycling of packaging from its products
distributed in France.

4,000
3,000

This sum is collected by Citeo, which oversees the French national
programme for sorting and recycling packaging and paper. Thanks to
Fleury Michon’s financial contribution, more than 200,000 people
living in France have access to a more modern waste sorting system
every year – the equivalent of the population of Rennes.

2,000
1,000
0

The Group’s commitment to a circular economy does not stop there.
2010

2011

2012

2013

2014

2015

2016

The recycling circle for plastic packaging
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To reduce the use of natural resources, Fleury Michon uses recycled
materials to produce its packaging. For example, the material used
for ham packets is 28% recycled plastic. It is not yet technically
possible to use recycled materials for all our products.
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Objective: sort 100% of packaging

Raising consumer awareness about sorting packaging

Around 80% of the packaging generated by Fleury Michon every year
is made of plastic.

Since ultimately it all comes down to how consumers deal with their
household waste, Fleury Michon encourages them to sort recyclable
packaging by displaying guidelines on how to dispose of each
component on all its products, representing 380 million units
marketed in France every year

We use plastic because of its capacity to protect and conserve our
products, and because it is very lightweight.
However, in France, only 24% of used plastic packaging for
household products is recycled. One of the reasons for this low rate
is the fact that national plastic recycling facilities are limited to bottles,
with other forms of plastic packaging being thrown away with other
household waste for incineration or landfill.
Thanks to Citeo’s programme to broaden recycling facilities, which
was launched in 2011 and which Fleury Michon supports financially,
more plastic packaging will be recycled. Today, 15 million people in
France are already able to sort all packaging for recycling and one of
the objectives of the French Energy Transition for Green Growth Act
is to roll out these expanded facilities throughout France by 2022.

2.4.3.3

REDUCING ENERGY CONSUMPTION

Natural gas is used to generate steam used in the cooking process.
Electricity is used for refrigeration at our production sites and supply
chain platform and operating equipment. Fuel is used for transport.

2

ENERGY CONSUMPTION BY TYPE (IN % OF MW/H) FRANCE
+ INTERNATIONAL
FRANCE

What will change with the broadened recycling facilities

55%
Electricity

Packaging thrown
away with household waste

Packaging sorted
into recycling bins

TODAY

TOMORROW

45%
Gas

Expansion of waste sorting facilities

FRANCE + CANADA + SLOVENIA

Recycling more plastic packaging

53%

Fleury Michon is pressing ahead with its efforts to increase the
proportion of packaging that can be recycled or recovered.

Electricity

A packaging team was set up in late 2018 to work specifically on this
topic.
The company continues to participate in various R&D projects and is
taking part in a new call for projects launched by Citeo to improve
plastic recovery in partnership with ADEPALE and other producers.

47%
Gas

In addition, we are moving forward with changing the complex
packaging used for charcuterie products, replacing PVC bases with
APET solutions.
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DIRECT ENERGY CONSUMPTION

DIESEL CONSUMPTION IN FRANCE (IN LITRES)
2017

2018

Change

82,633

80,839

-2.2%

0.97

0.97

0.0%

101,154

97,506

-3.6%

1.09

1.07

-1.8%

France
Natural gas (in MW/h)
Ratio (in kW/h per kg of product)
Consolidated
Natural gas (in MW/h)
Ratio (in kW/h per kg of product)

Diesel consumption for 2018 did not include consumption from the
fleet of vehicles for sales representatives (2017: 393,906 litres), due
to a new expense claim system that was adopted during the year.
Consumption by other vehicles (inter-facility logistics shuttles and
other owned vehicles) is taken into account in the figures below. The
scope for the prior year has been adjusted to exclude the vehicles of
sales representatives for comparison purposes.

DIESEL CONSUMPTION (IN LITRES) IN FRANCE

The decrease in gas consumption in France is mainly due to heat
recovery efforts in several sites.

2017

2018

Change

109,975

117,337

6.7%

1.29

1.41

8.9%

2017

2018

Change

100,594

97,643

-3%

1.18

1.17

-0.7%

113,821

110,960

-2.5%

1.22

1.22

0.0%

France
CHANGE IN DIRECT ENERGY CONSUMPTION EXCLUDING FUEL OIL
SINCE 2010 FOR FRANCE (82% OF THE CONSOLIDATED SCOPE)

Diesel consumption (in litres)
Ratio (in kW/h per kg of product)

In KWh/kg

1.25 1.22 1.23 1.23 1.08 1.07 1.02 0.97 0.97

INDIRECT ENERGY CONSUMPTION

1.3

France
Electricity (in MWh)

1.2

Ratio (in kW/h per kg of product)
Consolidated
Electricity (in MWh)

1.1

Ratio (in kW/h per kg of product)

0.9

CHANGE IN INDIRECT ENERGY CONSUMPTION SINCE 2010 IN FRANCE
(I.E., 88% OF THE CONSOLIDATED SCOPE)
2010

2011

2012

2013

2014

2015

2016

2017

2018
In kWh/kg

-22%
Energy consumption was reduced by 22% over the 2010-2018
period in France.

FUEL OIL CONSUMPTION (IN LITRES)

1.13 1.19 1.21 1.26 1.23

1.16 1.20 1.18 1.17

2010

2015

1.3

1.2

2017

2018

Change

32,838

28,343

-13.7%

0.39

0.34

-12.8%

32,838

28,343

-13.7%

0.35

0.31

-11.4%

France
Fuel oil consumption (in litres)
Fuel oil ratio
(in litres per kg of product)
Consolidated
Fuel oil consumption (in litres)
Fuel oil ratio
(in litres per kg of product)

1.1

1.0

2011

2012

2013

2014

2016

2017

2018

+3.4%
Electricity consumption increased by 3.4% over the 2010-2018
period in France.
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2.4.4 Reducing greenhouse gas emissions (GHG)
The summary presented below is split into two sections:
●

the first indicates the greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions
generated by the businesses directly owned by the Company.
The scope includes points 1 and 2 of the regulatory review
conducted the previous year.
Emissions were measured according to the “contained” option
The scope covers:
●

●

the Company’s operations in France, i.e., the sites
belonging to the Vendée Unit, the Charcuteries Cuisinées
de Plélan in the Ille-et-Vilaine department of France and the
Société d’Innovation Culinaire in the Nord department of
France. Room Saveurs is not included in these figures, as
the data relating to the Company in the chosen scope are
immaterial,

2.4.4.1

SCOPES 1 AND 2 GHG AUDIT
2017

2018

Change

Total in metric tonnes of CO2
equivalent

21,639

20,127

-7%

Total in metric tonnes of CO2
equivalent per metric tonne
of product

0.26

0.24

-8%

Total in metric tonnes of CO2
equivalent

28,645

26,171

-9%

Total in metric tonnes of CO2
equivalent per metric tonne
of product

0.31

0.29

-9%

France

Consolidated

Canadian and Slovenian operations.

The reference year for operations in France and abroad is 2017.
Emissions for 2018 were measured at constant scope and
according to the same rules. However, it should be noted that
due to a change in software, we were unable to recover the
data for fuel consumption by the fleet of vehicles for sales
representatives this year. Therefore, the 2018 and 2017 figures
in this summary do not include these data. The impact on the
total figure is limited;
●

2

0.26

0.24

0.31

0.29
-9%

-8%

the second section covers the extension of the GHG audit to
the most material scope 3 sources, in accordance with the
provisions of Decree 2017-1138 of 19 August 2016.
We identified these sources by analysing the various audits
conducted by the Group over recent years.

2017

In the scope 3 “product purchasing” category, the 2018 audit
includes:
●

the meat raw materials used most in Fleury Michon’s
operations (pork and poultry),

●

packaging.

2018

France

2017

2018

France
and International

The 2017 audit showed a slight deterioration due to refrigerant leaks
caused by two technical incidents in our plants.

The scope has therefore been extended to include the Company’s
operations in France, i.e., the sites belonging to the Vendée Unit, the
Charcuteries Cuisinées de Plélan in the Ille-et-Vilaine department of
France and the Société d’Innovation Culinaire in the Nord department
of France. Room Saveurs is not included in the audit.

The summary improved greatly in 2018, in terms of both gross
figures and ratios. This was mainly due to two factors:

For each element, the final result is expressed in metric tonnes of CO2
equivalent.

2.4.4.2

The emission factors used to convert these data into metric tonnes of
CO2 equivalent come from the base carbone, a public database
developed in collaboration with the French National Environment and
Energy Management Agency (ADEME). These emission factors were
updated to take into account the most recent versions published on
the website www.bilans-ges.ademe.fr.

●

better management of refrigerant leaks;

●

more efficient energy consumption.

SCOPE 3 GHG AUDIT (INDIRECT
EMISSIONS) – SIGNIFICANT SOURCES

Fleury Michon has identified purchases of the following as material
sources of GHG emissions:
●

pork;

●

chicken;

●

turkey;

●

plastics;

● cardboard.
Of all raw material categories, meat products account for the highest
levels of GHG emissions.
We have chosen the emission factors that best represent our
operations among those available in the base carbone database.
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Scope 3 extension
Total in metric tonnes of CO2
equivalent
Total in metric tonnes of CO2
equivalent per metric tonne of
product

2017

2018

Change

380,008

354,850

-9.3%

4.5

4.2

-6.9%

Meat products accounted for the vast majority of Fleury Michon’s
indirect emissions (93%) in 2018, as in 2017.
The change in purchase volumes is related to the change in volumes
produced in 2018 versus 2017. The change in pork volumes is also
related to a change in calculation method. In 2018, the volume of
waste related to meat preparation was not taken into account.

2.4.5 Promoting biodiversity
None of the production sites are on protected biodiversity areas.
Fleury Michon’s business activities impact biodiversity through its
supply chain. As part of its corporate social responsibility strategy,
Fleury Michon develops responsible supply channels and principles
for taking biodiversity into account in its purchasing guidelines.

Bleu-Blanc-Cœur working for better health for the land,
animals and people

Fleury Michon has become involved in the Bleu-Blanc-Cœur
organisation, which promotes the protection of biodiversity and the
reduction of greenhouse gas emissions.

Thanks to production methods, the products sourced through
the Bleu-Blanc-Coeur channel offer an improved fat content
(less saturated fats, more omega 3, etc.) and contribute in
creating a better nutritional balance.

Bleu-Blanc-Cœur promotes responsible agriculture that
protects health and takes into account environmental and
nutritional objectives. Bleu-Blanc-Cœur’s guiding principle is
simple: it is vital to respect the food chain, because in order to
provide good food for people, proper care must be taken of
crops and animal health.

In 2018, the Bleu-Blanc-Cœur Fleury Michon recipes have
made it possible to(1):
●

This approach prioritises crops that are more favourable to
biodiversity: more flax, more protein crops and less corn,
which consumes particularly high amounts of water, and less
soybean, which is often cultivated to the detriment of the
Amazon rainforest.

fight against global warming by avoiding planting
2,361 hectares of corn and using GMOs and therefore
alleviate Amazon deforestation and the cultivation of
2,828 hectares of GMO soybean;

●

improve biodiversity by planting 4,362 hectares of pea
seeds, faba beans, oilseed rape and lupins, as well as
2,045 hectares of flax.

2.4.6 Room Saveurs environment policy
In 2004, Fleury Michon acquired a prepared meals delivery service to
businesses in the Paris region, Room Saveurs. Since then,
Room Saveurs’ business has become more diverse, now including
buffet ranges for corporate events, as well as workshops,
demonstrations and after-work events for companies.
Our aim is for Room Saveurs to become the new generation caterer
by exploring different tastes, sourcing quality ingredients and
detecting secret talents. For nearly 15 years now, we have been
modernising and adapting to offer our customers a tasty range of
meals for the office that are in line with their lifestyles. Our service and
delicious products are designed to help people eat better and work
better.

(1) Source Bleu-Blanc-Cœur 2018.
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Room Saveurs offers a wide variety of products to help people Eat
Better at every office meal occasion. Whatever you fancy eating, we
can provide it: a midday treat, breakfast with clients or colleagues, or
catering for events large and small.
It is a service-only business. Room Saveurs creates, develops,
markets and promotes its range of delivered meals. The cooking,
preparation and delivery of meals are performed by external service
providers. Aware of its potential impact on the environment,
Room Saveurs has developed a comprehensive environmental
approach that involves all employees.
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PROTECTING OUR PLANET
Room Saveurs strives to take environmentally responsible measures
along its value chain regarding its choice of supplies and packaging
and its management of consumables, logistics management and
expired products.

Choice of supplies
Whenever possible, Room Saveurs prioritises local and/or organic
products in its delivered meals.
Our latest supply channel is focused on supplies from organic
farming. Our target for March 2019 is for 100% of our apples,
potatoes and strawberries from our partners to be grown using
organic farming.
We monitor the proportion of products from organic farming used in
our ranges. In winter 2018, this came to 5.3%, which we aim to
develop further. To do so, we have launched a project working
alongside our providers to have recipes certified if they meet the
criteria for containing organic ingredients. This is planned for
September 2019.
In 2017, we decided to offer 100% French poultry cuts, which we
achieved in March 2018 for prepared meals, followed by shared
lunches. We are working on reaching the same result in our ranges
for small and large events.
We have also applied the same approach to other protein sources:
the beef in our historical markets of prepared meals and shared
lunches is 100% sourced from France.
Meat from other countries in Europe are used for certain Italian
charcuterie products in the Roberta range.
Since 2016, Room Saveurs’ R&D teams have endeavoured to
prioritise ingredients sourced through direct channels, such as
mustard from Vexin or Meaux and cheeses from the Greater Paris
region or Rambouillet.

launched the first plastic packaging 100% made in France for
Room Saveurs. It is the fulfilment of 12 months’ work on behalf of the
purchasing quality teams, and Room Saveurs fully intends to
continue along this path. We strive to find suppliers in France or
Europe for all our markets.
In 2016, two new delivered meal ranges were developed with boxes
made in France. Furthermore, Room Saveurs chose to use
decorations made in France or Europe as part of its strategic
development policy for the shared platters range.
In first-quarter 2019, we expect to launch a new range, for which the
boxes will also be made in France – and with a zero plastic target.

Management of consumables
We have been monitoring our electricity consumption since 2014 and
regularly raise awareness among staff on the importance of limiting
non-essential consumption. We recorded our first decrease in
electricity consumption in 2018, down 2.6% from 2017.
Since July 2017, we have opted for green energy in our premises: for
each kWh consumed in our offices, our energy supplier undertakes to
produce the same amount of energy from non-fossil and sustainable
sources.
Our paper consumption increased from 2017 to 975 kg of paper
purchased in 2018. However, this figure is still lower than those
recorded from 2014 to 2016. This slight increase in consumption is
related to the increasing number of other Fleury Michon Group
employees working in Room Saveurs’ Paris offices.
Furthermore, in July 2017 we set up a paper collection scheme in
partnership with La Poste to recycle more paper. In 2017, 357 kg of
paper was collected, increasing to 893 kg in 2018. We raise
awareness among our teams of the importance of using the correct
recycling bins.
In collaboration with La Poste, Room Saveurs set up a service with
Nespresso in 2016 to recycle coffee capsules used by the company.

“Made in France” packaging

Select an environmentally friendly supply chain partner

Whenever possible, Room Saveurs also gives priority to packaging
products manufactured in Europe or France. For example,
Pause Déjeuner boxes are manufactured in the Greater Paris region
and Ville de Paris boxes are manufactured in France. In 2016, the
production of Roberta boxes was moved back to France after two
years of development in collaboration with packaging industry
professionals to develop a fully recyclable cardboard box with the
plastic coating removed.

Room Saveurs’ supply chain partner is also endeavouring to
implement more environmentally friendly practices. Adherence to the
CO2 charter, followed by the CO2 label in 2016, has led to an 11%
reduction in its CO2 per km emissions between 2009 and 2012. The
goal set by the charter for the 2013-2015 period of a 5% reduction
was far surpassed, reaching a 15% reduction in total. This was
achieved by using vehicles that meet the latest emissions standards
(Euro 6), training and raising awareness-raising among delivery
drivers about the benefits of eco-driving.

A total of 45% of meal boxes produced in 2016 and 2017 were made
in France.
In 2015, 85% of our glasses were manufactured in the
Nord-Pas-de-Calais region of France. We continued these efforts
throughout 2016 to reach 100% in September of that year. We also

2

In order to achieve these results, the vehicle fleet renewal has been
accelerated, drivers have undergone training in eco-friendly driving
practices, and awareness and training sessions on driving best
practices have been conducted.
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A second life for our products
In 2012, we were the first company to launch a non-food waste
recovery service (glasses, cutlery and thermos flasks). We are
currently the only company in the market to offer this service free of
charge to our customers.
In 2014, thanks to its clients, Room Saveurs provided glasses, cutlery
and thermos flasks to all housing centres for the emergency medical
service in Paris as well as its night patrols.
Since September 2016, the glass bowls from the BOCO range have
also been included in the recycling service.
Also in September 2016, a new recycling kit was made available to
consumers, with the aim of encouraging recycling by tackling the
obstacles identified by users (such as the amount of glasses and
cutlery not always appropriate to the kind of meeting and assembly
difficulties).
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In 2018, we collected 615 kits, or an estimated 4,305 glasses and
12,915 cutlery items. We also donated 1,702 thermos flasks to
charity.

Customer evaluation
In response to customer demand, Room Saveurs has entered into a
sustainable development commitment with EcoVadis. EcoVadis is an
SME that develops responsible purchasing and evaluation solutions.
An evaluation is performed on 21 CSR indicators, divided into four
categories: Environment, Social, Ethics and Supply Chain. Already
classed as gold, Room Saveurs continued to improve in 2016,
gaining 2 points on the prior year to reach a grade of 70%.
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2.5 A responsible employer
Finding the right balance between business growth and a compassionate approach
“We reaffirm our vocation as a company built by people who care about their responsibilities and the long-term general interest.
Because at Fleury Michon, we believe that the mission of a corporate community is not just to sell profitable products or services. It
is also to improve working conditions and be attentive to the interests of its partners and environment.”
Grégoire Gonnord, Chairman

Key events in the social domain in 2018
The main highlights of 2018 were:
●

roll-out of the Renaissance Employment Plan in the Vendée
Unit;

●

adaptation of the Unit workforce to meet changes in volumes at
each facility;

●

the merger of the production, logistics and sales companies
(Fleury Michon Traiteur absorbed Fleury Michon Charcuterie
and Fleury Michon Logistique and changed names to
Fleury Michon LS) on 1 January 2018;

●

reorganisation of the supermarkets Sales Force teams: all
segment heads now manage the entire supermarkets product
portfolio;

●

the acquisition of Paso (a breadmaking company specialised in
appetisers such as préfou bread and mini-burgers) and Good
Morning (prepared meals in Paris);

●

placement of employees in new company L’Esprit Frais
(specialised in marketing ultra-fresh products by setting up
kiosks, stores-within-stores and aisles in Paris convenience
stores);

●

company elections in SIC and Paso leading to the founding of a
committee representing employees;

●

negotiation of the Group/Companies profit-linked incentive
agreement for 2019, 2020 and 2021;

●

negotiation of a Quality of Life at Work agreement for the
Vendée Unit providing a framework for the right to disconnect,
work-related travel and remote working, in particular;

●

measures to ensure compliance with the General Data
Protection Regulation (GDPR): designating a data protection
representative, implementing a consumer charter and employee
charter on the Fleury Michon website, defining an action plan for
each process and ensuring that work contracts and human
resources documents and processes (e.g., recruitment and job
interviews) are compliant;

●

implementation of a Human Resources Information System,
with new tools for administrative and payroll management
(2018), talent management (training, recruitment and strategic
workforce planning (2018 and 2019)) and time management
(2019), as well as web resources for employees and digitised
payslips in a secure platform.

2

2.5.1 Human resources policy: finding the right balance between business growth
and a compassionate approach
Fleury Michon’s human resources policy aims to achieve social
cohesion and a pleasant working environment by putting emphasis
on proximity, ongoing dialogue and skills development.

The human resources policy seeks to:
●

support the transformation of the Company driven by the
“Helping people eat better every day” initiative;

Fleury Michon has for many years focused on achieving the right
balance between business growth and a compassionate approach.
Maintaining the employability of each Fleury Michon team member is
very important, both now and in the future. Fleury Michon firmly
believes that its employees are an asset to the Company and that
their skills, commitment, motivation and teamwork are part and
parcel of its success.

●

anticipate the skills required in the future and maintaining the
employability of teams via effective HR management;

●

develop a specific Fleury Michon management approach based
on individual responsibility, performance, proximity and
teamwork, in line with the Group’s values;

●

drive a dynamic and interactive internal communication system
that promotes motivation;
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●

manage labour relations through continuous
openness and harmonious relationships;

dialogue,

interactive communication and team training. These values are
defined and shared with employees.

● manage diversity, talent and individual and collective motivation.
The implementation of these management priorities, both in France
and abroad, is taking place in accordance with the Group’s values.
They are fostered by a decentralised managerial policy, a cornerstone
of the Group’s culture. Learning, proximity and agility are key
components of management principles.

In its quest to provide outstanding customer service, the Group has
adopted five fundamental values:
Finally, because the Group could not be the success it is without its
employees, teamwork and motivation are key factors in the
implementation of the corporate project.
The human resources policy takes this factor into sufficient
consideration. It motivates employees through:

Fleury Michon strives to increase employability and provides
professional training for its employees and for those within the
companies it owns. The joint ventures, co-owned with Italian and
Spanish partners, share the same outlook as Fleury Michon.
The Human Resources team consists of around 50 employees
tasked with implementing the Group’s human resources policy. This
policy guides the career paths of Group employees, their skills
development and the quality of the work environment.
The human resources policy is centred around listening to
customers, adapting to the environment, supporting change,

●

hands-on management;

●

team accountability;

●

dialogue;

●

team ownership of projects;

●

joint management of career development with the employee;

●

training;

●

internal communications;

●

individual recognition.

CONTINUOUS
ADAPTABILITY
TO CHANGE
Embrace change to
guarantee a sustainable
future for yourself
and the Group

SUSTAINABLE
FOCUS ON THE
COLLECTIVE
INTEREST

MUTUAL
RESPECT
Respect people,
rules and
the common
good

E T
R e
EXCELLENCE
NC IEN UIN
LE CL TE alism
L
E CE MAAND
n nts
CUSTOMER
o
C
i
I
ss lie es
EX RV OM SERVICE
fe c rn
CONSUMER
SE NS pro des inte
t
n of
Make
ce your
DUthe
CO most
so rvi s e
e serve
professional
se rnto
ET treskills
et

u

Be a team player
to support the Group
and its long-term
future

e

a xt customers
internal andMexternal
e

MUTUAL
TRUST
Have conﬁdence
in your co-workers
and trust them
to help build
our future

These values have been defined in collaboration with representatives
of all employees and all Group operations. Working groups were set
up to identify values that reflect an operating system shared by most
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CONTINUOUS
DIALOGUE
Exchange and share
information
on a daily basis

employees. These values are in some way part and parcel of the daily
life of each and every person in their working relations, exchanges
and collaboration with peers and managers.
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2.5.2 Social reporting scope
By default, the scope for social reporting is the same as the scope of
consolidation, excluding Paso and Good Morning. However, some
social indicators are not monitored in Canadian and/or Slovenian
operations. In these cases, the relevant information is given for each

indicator. When the scope covers only operations in France, this
represents 88% of the consolidated workforce (excluding Paso and
Good Morning). If the data for Slovenia, Canada and Switzerland are
not available, this will be indicated by NA in the tables.

2

2.5.3 Group employee profile
2.5.3.1

the Group has adopted a cautious employment management
approach. Based on retirement forecasts for the next few years and
market changes, it can control and anticipate the manpower
requirements of the business.

A GROUP PRESENT MAINLY IN FRANCE

WORKFORCE BY GEOGRAPHICAL ZONE AS AT 31 DECEMBER
(PERMANENT AND FIXED-TERM CONTRACTS)
2018

2018

2017

88%

3,189

3,241

Europe excluding France
(Slovenia and Switzerland)

3%

85

98

Outside Europe (Canada)

9%

336

367

100%

3,610

3,706

France

TOTAL

For Fleury Michon, sustainability enables the Group to provide
long-term employment. In a challenging, unstable economic climate,

2.5.3.2

Fleury Michon’s sustainable employment policy:
●

protects the employment of all employees on permanent
contracts to maintain a job for each person;

●

focuses on internal mobility and draws on human resources to
further its corporate project of “Helping people eat better every
day” and its development strategy to meet consumer
expectations;

●

continues to support career development and maintain
employability.

PROFILE OF A MANUFACTURER

WORKFORCE(1)(2) AT 31 DECEMBER 2018

Permanent contract
Fixed-term contracts

Supervisors

Men

211

155

343

17

1,024

1,750

Women

148

58

191

39

754

1,190

Men

0

1

6

27

77

111

Women

1

2

18

34

83

138

211

156

349

44

1,101

1,861

149

60

209

73

837

1,328

360

216

558

117

1,938

3,189

Total contracts permanent + fixed-term Men
Women
TOTAL FRANCE

Technicians Office staff

Manual
workers

Management

Temporary staff France
Permanent contract
Fixed-term contracts

178
Men

0

2

5

6

24

37

Women

2

4

1

4

23

34

Men

0

0

0

1

6

7

Women

0

0

1

0

6

7

0

2

5

7

30

44

1

4

2

4

29

40

2

6

7

11

59

85

Total contracts permanent + fixed-term Men
Women
TOTAL SLOVENIA + SWITZERLAND

Total
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Workforce
Permanent contract
Fixed-term contracts
Total contracts permanent + fixed-term

Men

1,946

Women

1,397

Men

118

Women

149

Men

2,064

Women

1,546

GROUP TOTAL

3,610

(1) Number of employees on the payroll at 31 December. Employees with a permanent or fixed-term contract.
(2) Employees in Canada are not included in the table as the various categories (management, supervisors and technicians) do not apply. In 2018,
23 temporary employees were included in the headcount of Fleury Michon America (FMA).

BREAKDOWN BY EMPLOYEE CATEGORY IN 2018 (% OF PERMANENT
EMPLOYEES) – GROUP IN FRANCE

12%
Management

7%

BREAKDOWN OF WORKFORCE BETWEEN EMPLOYEES ON PERMANENT
AND FIXED-TERM CONTRACTS AT 31 DECEMBER 2018 FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED GROUP

7%
Part-time

93%

Supervisors

Full-time

61%
Workers

18%
Technicians

2%
Ofﬁce staff

8%
Workforce numbers (permanent contract and fixed-term contracts)
decreased by 1.6% in France between 2017 and 2018, of which
41 fewer people on permanent contracts. Outside France, the
number of employees on permanent contracts increased by 4%
in Slovenia and decreased by 5% in Canada between
31 December 2017 and 31 December 2018, in line with operational
needs. This reflects an employment policy which combines caution
with adaptation to the business environment and to the Group’s
needs.
The breakdown between the different employee categories was
stable on the whole compared with 2017, with a slight increase of
1% in managers and supervisors.
The Group aims to ensure its long-term economic viability and
maintain its current employment levels. Fleury Michon has had a
strategic workforce plan in place since 2007 as a result of an
agreement with the employee representatives. This three-year plan is
monitored in order to ensure its employment and skills management
is in line with skills requirements and future business needs.

Part-time

92%
Full-time

In line with its people development policy, the Company closely
monitors its employment insecurity rate (1). The Vendée Unit
Company agreement on working hours defines a projected
“insecurity rate”, which helps the Group manage its permanent and
fixed-term staffing requirements precisely. The insecurity rate is in line
with the 15% target set by the Company agreement, and is still below
the average rate for manufacturing companies.
The quality of the workforce planning is assessed annually. This
ensures that progress is made and facilitates optimum accuracy in
the forecasting of staffing requirements.
This management methodology, using the employment insecurity
rate and hour indicators, gives an overall view and visibility on
changes in business volumes, without generating employment
difficulties. Employees may be moved between production sites in
the Vendée Unit (distance of approximately 20 km to 25 km for the
Vendée sites), as was the case in 2018, which allows the Group to
manage cyclical fluctuations (seasonality of certain lines, line
discontinuation and launches, etc.).
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2.5.3.3

MANAGING TALENT

In 2018, Fleury Michon worked on improving its career and talent
management programme.
Key changes included:
●

roll-out of a dedicated tool for managing training, recruitment
and strategic workforce planning (interviews, talent reviews,
succession plans, etc.);

●

recruitment of a Talent Manager reporting to Executive
Management, responsible for implementing a Group-wide talent
management system and for internal communication;

●

quarterly strategic workforce planning reviews to discuss what
is needed and what members of staff can do to help achieve
their full potential;

●

individual meetings with human resources representatives for
management staff to actively involve them in their career
development and give them an opportunity to reflect on their
potential;

●

monthly “succession plan” reviews to encourage and plan for
career mobility.

This qualitative approach, combined with analyses of the age
pyramid, means that we are better equipped to anticipate recruitment
cycles and identify major staff trends in a saturated employment
base. It is analysed every year in the SWP Committee with the
signatory trade unions. This pyramid is one of the tools used by the
Human Resources Department to manage skills, develop them in line
with needs and, in doing so, manage employment for the years to

come. The objective is to maintain an employment policy that closely
mirrors the trends evidenced, both internally and externally.
These trends, which are identified through skills mapping and
analysis of the age pyramid, also help the Group develop training
programmes to strengthen certain skill sets. With this in mind, training
was given in leadership, management and mentoring in 2018 (two
leadership programmes, two management programmes and one
mentoring programme).
With the increase in the legal retirement age, and the resulting overall
ageing of the workforce, Fleury Michon continues to strive to maintain
the employability of its staff, particularly those in the “seniors”
category.
It seems important that the employment of seniors is handled
together with workplace stress. Lengthy service with the Company
could have exposed employees to specific stress factors (relating to
the changes in French legislation introduced by the Act of
20 January 2014) during their career. However, any measures to
support senior employees should not cause any form of limitation to
the other employee populations or be to the detriment of their
working conditions; intergenerational cohesion must remain intact.

2

In response to these fundamental challenges, Fleury Michon therefore
developed a proactive health and stress prevention policy several
years ago for the Vendée Unit. The measures put in place are aimed
at helping to improve the working conditions of employees
throughout their career to enable them to remain in employment and
continue doing their job.

BREAKDOWN OF MEN AND WOMEN WITHIN THE AGE PYRAMID IN 2018 FOR EMPLOYEES ON PERMANENT CONTRACTS
FRANCE

FRANCE + INTERNATIONAL

1,397
60 years
and over
55 to 59

1,190

1,946

55

60 years
and over

61

235

50 to 54 260
45 to 49
40 to 44
35 to 39

307

237
223

362
165

226
104

25 to 29

94

Under
20 years

50 to 54

390

30 to 34

20 to 24

55 to 59

301

153
102
23
1

40
4

202

213

40 to 44

203

30 to 34
25 to 29
20 to 24
Under
20 years

279

228

45 to 49

35 to 39

1,750
42

30

290
361
335
204

137
86

130

77

81
14

28
0

0
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2.5.3.4

NEW HIRES AND DEPARTURES

BREAKDOWN OF NEW HIRES IN 2018 AND 2017 ON PERMANENT CONTRACTS FOR THE CONSOLIDATED GROUP
New hires
Permanent contract

2018
Men
Women

TOTAL FRANCE
Permanent contract

Men
Women

32

68

31

177

63

46

82

39

59

85

141

Men

155

114

Women

107

90

262

204

2018

2017

TOTAL CANADA + SLOVENIA
Permanent contract

2017

109

GROUP TOTAL

BREAKDOWN OF DEPARTURES IN 2018 AND 2017 ON PERMANENT CONTRACTS FOR THE CONSOLIDATED GROUP

Voluntary departures

145

128

Resignations

76

44

Retirements

64

84

Unit departures to other Fleury Michon companies

5

0

Involuntary departures

40

18

Lay-offs (economic, misconduct, unsuitability, etc.)

25

9

End of probationary period

8

3

Deaths

7

6

Mutually agreed contract termination

33

31

218

177

Voluntary departures

87

112

Resignations

81

106

Retirements

5

6

Departures to other Fleury Michon companies

1

TOTAL FRANCE

Involuntary departures

22

19

Lay-offs (economic, misconduct, unsuitability, etc.)

20

10

End of probationary period

2

8

Deaths

0

1

Mutually agreed contract termination

0

1

TOTAL CANADA + SLOVENIA

109

132

Voluntary departures

232

240

Resignations

157

150

Retirements

69

90

6

0

Involuntary departures

62

37

Lay-offs (economic, misconduct, unsuitability, etc.)

45

19

End of probationary period

10

11

Departures to other Fleury Michon companies

Deaths
Mutually agreed contract termination
GROUP TOTAL
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BREAKDOWN OF DEPARTURES BY REASON IN 2018 FOR THE CONSOLIDATED GROUP
FRANCE

FRANCE + INTERNATIONAL

10%

15%

Mutually-agreed
contract termination

71%

Mutually-agreed
contract termination

Voluntary departures

19%

18%

Involuntary departures

67%

Involuntary departures

Voluntary departures

2

2018 saw an increase in the number of resignations for Fleury Michon in France. This is a result of the saturated employment base around our
plants, owing to a tighter labour market than in previous years.

PERCENTAGE OF VOLUNTARY DEPARTURES FOR THE GROUP
2018

2017

67%

72%

80%

85%

71%

78%

FRANCE
Percentage of voluntary departures

In 2018, turnover for France was 6.54%, compared with 3.88% in
2017. This change was due to increased pressure in our employment
bases, as the overall amount of voluntary departures increased from
177 to 218. However, turnover is still low compared with other
companies in the industry.

CANADA + SLOVENIA
Percentage of voluntary departures
CONSOLIDATED
Percentage of voluntary departures

2.5.4 Safeguarding health and safety and fostering good working relations
People are what matter most to Fleury Michon. We work every day to
provide the conditions to protect the health and safety of our
employees and all others present on our sites. The Group constantly
strives to improve working conditions to safeguard both the physical
and psychological health of our employees.

2.5.4.1

HEALTH AND SAFETY AT WORK,
THE NUMBER ONE PRIORITY

A dedicated organisation for health and safety in the
workplace at Fleury Michon

and the spirit of its Company agreements. Initiatives intended to
guarantee employee health and safety are not add-ons, but are
tightly integrated into working activities.
In 2016, a project manager was chosen to steer the project “Working
Together for Zero Accidents” and joined the Group’s Safety Unit. The
Group has also created a QSE Department for France, which
includes the Safety Unit.
Health and safety, driven by management, is ensured by various
contacts within the occupational health services, and the
CHSCT, etc. Arrangements relating to health and safety and good
working relations are shown in the diagram below.

At Fleury Michon, we prioritise the safety of people and property. We
do this on a daily basis and it is very much part of the Group’s culture
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ORGANISATION OF HEALTH AND SAFETY IN THE WORKPLACE AT FLEURY MICHON

HEALTH
• 1 doctor
• 7 nurses
• 1 administrative assistant

ASSISTANCE
• 1 team of HR executives
• 1 three-person Social Committee
• 1 external body providing
managerial assistance
(psychological counselling,
psycho-social risks, an internal
coaching unit, well-being
in the workplace)

SAFETY
• 1 safety coordinator
on each site
• 1 ergonomist
• 1 “Working Together
for Zero Accidents”
project manager

HEALTH, SAFETY AND WORKING
CONDITIONS COMMITTEE
• 1 cross-cutting Health, Safety
and Working Conditions Committee
• 1 Health, Safety and Working Conditions
Committee on each site
• 72 meetings held in 2018 (excluding visits) including
1 cross-cutting meeting (Fleury Michon France)
• €4.9 million in safety and working conditions
investments in 2018 for the Vendée Unit
• Health, Safety and Working Conditions Committee
set up specially for Administration and Sales

In 2018, we continued with the “Working Together for Zero
Accidents” project that we undertook in 2016. Through this project,
we are seeking to reach a new level of excellence, both in terms of
safety-related results and employee behaviour. Based on 2016 data,
we aim to halve the number of occupational accidents resulting in lost
time by 2019.
More than just a project, “Working Together for Zero Accidents”
should help us lay a solid foundation to build a corporate mindset
focused on safety.

The Company has conducted health and safety preservation efforts
for many years. Prevention and safety budgets are established:
●

in the investment budgets, because all projects need to take
account of working conditions and include an allocation for
safety in their budget;

● in the CHSCT budgets.
In 2018, the French sites received €4.9 million in investments related
to workplace safety. This sum includes €2.8 million purely for safety
initiatives, and almost €2.1 million dedicated to improving working
conditions.
The 2018 risk prevention programme focused on the following areas:
●
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Working Together for Zero Accidents: improving our safety
culture by empowering all players to build sustainable working
conditions that will help us reach our zero accidents target.
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●

This focused on five key areas:

–

commitment from management (project launch meeting,
safety visit, monthly safety review, etc.),

–

involvement from all staff (project launch meeting, golden
rules put in place, etc.),

–

management (project
procedure, etc.),

–

safety processes (Unit Managers audit, etc.),

–

communications (procedure, universal displays, etc.),

●

Measures to reduce repetitive strain injury (RSI) by
prevention included:

–

finalisation of the work-related RSI programme,

launch

–

meeting,

training,

a process to prevent occupational illnesses based on the
Group’s new resource for ergonomics: ergonomics
studies with recommendations and guidance for making
the workplace more ergonomically friendly.

Occupational accidents, a key indicator
Occupational accidents (most frequently lifting, slips, trips and falls,
and accidents involving handling equipment) and occupational
illnesses are analysed in the CHSCT and monitored by the Works
Council on a quarterly basis. In Canada, analysis and monitoring
takes place during the ten meetings of the Workplace Health and
Safety Commission.

2

FREQUENCY RATES OF OCCUPATIONAL ACCIDENTS 2018 AND 2017 FOR THE CONSOLIDATED GROUP (%)
2018

2017

34.99

33.51

50.07

38.75

37.23

34.29

FRANCE
Frequency of occupational accidents
= no. OA with lost time x 1,000,000/hours worked(1)
CANADA + SLOVENIA
Frequency of occupational accidents
= no. OA with lost time x 1,000,000/hours worked(1)
CONSOLIDATED
Frequency of occupational accidents
= no. OA with lost time x 1,000,000/hours worked(1)

(1) Hours worked are calculated as follows: for employees who clock in, hours worked are calculated based on the hours clocked (and recorded by the
ChronoGestor time management software in France, Time Keeper in Canada and Jantar in Slovenia).
For employees who do not clock in, hours worked are calculated by the number of days actually worked: based on a seven-hour day in France,
152.66 hours per month in Canada and 8 hours per day over a 40 hour week in Slovenia.

SEVERITY OF OCCUPATIONAL ACCIDENTS 2018 AND 2017 FOR THE CONSOLIDATED GROUP (%)
2018

2017

1.65

2.09

4.66

4.33

2.10

2.42

FRANCE
Severity of occupational accidents
No. of days lost time following OA x 1,000/hours worked(1)
CANADA + SLOVENIA
Severity of occupational accidents
No. of days lost time following OA x 1,000/hours worked(1)
CONSOLIDATED
Severity of occupational accidents
No. of days lost time following OA x 1,000/hours worked(1)

(1) Hours worked are calculated as follows:
• For employees who clock in, office staff, manual workers, technicians and the majority of supervisors, hours worked are calculated based
on the hours recorded by the ChronoGestor time management software;
• For employees who do not clock in, management and some supervisors, hours worked are calculated based on a seven-hour day in proportion
to the number of days actually worked.
* Fleury Michon America data prorated into calendar days.
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OCCUPATIONAL ILLNESSES FOR EMPLOYEES ON PERMANENT AND FIXED-TERM CONTRACTS IN 2018 AND 2017 FOR THE CONSOLIDATED GROUP
2018

2017

Declared

79

70

Recognised(2)

66

59

Declared

1

0

Recognised(2)

0

0

80

70

FRANCE
Number of occupational illnesses(1)
CANADA + SLOVENIA
Number of occupational illnesses(1)
CONSOLIDATED
Number of occupational illnesses(1)

Declared
Recognised

(2)

(1) Illnesses declared between 1 January and 31 December.
(2) Occupational illnesses are considered to be “recognised” when the state health insurance office (Caisse
(
Primaire d’Assurance Maladie - CPAM),
officially recognises previously “declared” occupational illnesses between 1 January and 31 December of the calendar year.

2018 ABSENTEEISM RATE (%)
= hours absence
hours worked + hours absence

At Fleury Michon, the absenteeism rate includes absence due to
illness, occupational illness, occupational accidents, commuting
accidents and maternity leave.

7.43%

The 2018 absenteeism figures show an overall deterioration in the
rate, which went from 7.12% in 2017 to 7.55% in 2018 for the Group
and from 6.99% to 7.43% for Fleury Michon in France.

7
7.55%

Despite a decrease in absences due to occupational accidents,
absenteeism as a whole was on the rise. This was partly due to a
decrease in hours worked (following a decrease in volumes in 2018)
and partly to an increase in absences for illness and occupational
illness.

2018

2018

France

Group
(excl. Canada)

A more detailed analysis is being conducted at individual site level to
determine possible improvements to the Company’s health and
prevention policy. Nonetheless, it remains difficult to implement
measures aimed at the causes of domestic accidents and serious
illness. Prevention is a key focus throughout the Group. Alongside the
“Working Together for Zero Accidents” plan, we have continued the
quarterly analysis carried out by the CHSCT and the management
teams on each site that work in proximity with the teams and
workshops.
To help people with long-term illnesses or disabilities classified as
“category 1” in France come back to work or stay in work, support
and follow-up is provided by management, the Occupational Health
Department and Human Resources. For example, workstations or
working hours may be adapted to accommodate the medical needs
of these employees.

BREAKDOWN OF ABSENCES BY REASON IN 2018

6%
Maternity leave

10%
Occupational accident

96

13%

71%

Occupational illness

Illness
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As a result of the survey conducted on good working relations (which
included topics such as nutrition, sport and availability of relaxation
areas), the Company is also working on improving the quality of the
work environment.
The Occupational Health Department continues to implement its
broad health and prevention policy. The department’s educational
mission is to ensure that everyone is empowered to react
appropriately to routine life events. This can take the form of teaching
food safety, encouraging exercise, or even screening for high
cholesterol or diabetes.
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2.5.4.2

PROMOTING WELL-BEING AT WORK

The Fleury Michon Group aims for the highest level of satisfaction for
customers and consumers. The organisation of the overall Company
is centred on the needs of customers in order to meet consumer
expectations. This is all carried out in compliance with
Fleury Michon’s organisational methods:
●

organising ways of working through company agreements;

●

meeting customer needs while ensuring employees’ work-life
balance;

●

continually adapting to needs;

●

implementing social innovation by respecting the rights and
responsibilities of all.

10%
Part-time

2
90%

Working time: choosing working hours to achieve the
best possible work-life balance

Full-time

The fixed working week now stands at 35 hours per week for
companies subject to the FICT collective bargaining agreement for
the charcuterie and prepared meals industries (Vendée Unit, CCP
and SIC), 39 hours per week for Room Saveurs, which is subject to
the collective bargaining agreement for hotels, cafés and restaurants,
and 40 hours for Fleury Michon America and Proconi.
The Fleury Michon Group’s policy is focused on achieving the right
balance between economic growth and people development. With
this in mind, the Company works on the basis of daily interaction with
its employees and attempts to provide a suitable work-life balance,
within the limits of its obligations. This takes the form of a policy
accepting part-time work when the workload allows (parental leave,
arrangements for older workers, personal arrangements, etc.).

BREAKDOWN OF FULL AND PART TIME WORKFORCE IN 2018 FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED GROUP

9%
Part-time

In 2018 in France, we retained the same breakdown of full-time and
part-time employees as in previous years.

Fostering good working relations through
self-development and team spirit
A number of different people are constantly seeking to improve the
working environment for employees. The three members of the Social
Counselling team are, for example, available to everyone – manual
workers, office staff, and management – when they are on duty at
head office or the Company’s sites. They may also be contacted by
telephone. Their role is to assist employees in contacting the most
appropriate organisations or professionals to deal with their particular
issues. For the sake of privacy, services are provided under
conditions of professional secrecy. Employees may also make calls
anonymously. The Social Counselling team advises, guides and
supports employees in various areas: supplementary health
insurance, insurance coverage, invalidity and housing (access to
home ownership, home improvements, guarantee deposits, etc.).
The Social Counselling team also provides advice to employees
experiencing personal difficulties.
●

The health preservation policy goes beyond statutory
obligations. A large number of reports and scientific studies
from the World Health Organization (WHO) underline the
importance of physical activity for health. Fleury Michon has put
in place initiatives that reflect these reports and studies, and has
added provisions to the Company agreements along these
lines;

●

Fleury Michon continues to provide healthy “Equilibro” products
in vending machines such as 100% pure fruit juice, dried fruit,
sachets of fruit compote and whole-grain bread rolls, which are
partially subsidised by the company. In 2018, Equilibro products
accounted for 34% of vending machine sales. At the same time,
a communication campaign on the importance of hydration was
led during the summer, with a focus on sugary drinks;

91%
Full-time
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●

The Créativ’Salad concept, run by Elior and the Health and
Sustainable Nutrition Department, was tested at all the Vendée
plants from 18 June to 21 September 2018. Employees were
invited to use the salad bar to create their own salad for lunch
from a choice of ingredients. In late 2018, Elior set up a counter
to roll out the concept at all plants over the long term (one day a
week, alternating between the salad bar and a yoghurt bar);

●

●

98

Activities were run by the Sporting Commission (at least one
contact person per Fleury Michon site) on the subject of
exercise to encourage people to take part in regular physical
activity:
●

30 June 2018: 61 employees took part in the Vendée
Ekiden relay race,

●

22 June 2018: 73 employees divided into 14 mixed teams
played in a handball tournament for Fleury Michon
employees.
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Physical activity was promoted by making facilities and
instructors available to employees, such as:
●

Athletics – classes every Monday, Wednesday and
Thursday evening given by an instructor from a local sports
organisation that is a partner of Fleury Michon,

●

Tennis – facilities available to employees at lunch time from
Monday to Friday and during the rest of the day and
evening for external classes;

●

Employees were encouraged to take part in local sporting
events by giving a T-shirt made from technical fabric with a
Fleury Michon Eating Better design to employees if they take
part in their first event representing the Company. Since 2017,
460 employees have participated in at least one event,
representing 15% of the workforce;

●

Employees were invited to take part in the “Du sport pour moi”
(Sports for me) programme, part of a research study led by
Nantes University Hospital, which aims to assess qualitative and
quantitative progress when support is provided by instructors
specialised in personalised physical activity. In all, 73 employees
were involved in the programme between November 2017 and
November 2018. They were coached by the instructor for
six months in activities such as muscle strengthening, step,
vince pong and Nordic walking, then exercised independently
for another six months. They received one-on-one interviews
with the instructor. Similarly, the Health and Sustainable
Nutrition Department organised events on understanding dietary
basics and interpreting labelling, and the instructor led one on
the importance and benefits of physical activity. Nantes
University Hospital will inform Fleury Michon of the study’s initial
results by summer 2019. It plans to have compiled the final
results by October 2019;

Non-financial performance statement, Corporate Social Responsibility
A RESPONSIBLE EMPLOYER

●

The seasonal flu vaccine was offered through the Occupational
Health Department.

As part of this initiative, an innovative agreement on dependence was
implemented. As of 2013, via the Board of Directors of the employee
mutual insurance company, Fleury Michon has implemented a basic
dependence scheme when there was no legal obligation to do so.
In 2014, as a result of yearly negotiations, the Group’s management
and social partners broadened the coverage of this basic scheme to
cover partial dependence, to provide financial support for difficult life
events.
Beneficiaries include the employees of the Vendée Unit and,
optionally, employee spouses, retired and former employees.
The employer covers the employee contribution.

2

On a wider scale, at Fleury Michon, the topic of the quality of life at
work has become a key issue through the corporate project “Helping
people eat better every day”. To promote the issue within the
Company, Fleury Michon decided to make it a standalone project
and accompany it with an annual communication plan.
An employee consultation was set up to raise individual awareness of
the topic and to help people understand that they are responsible for
their own quality of life at work.
The topic of work/life balance is regularly brought up, particularly at
professional appraisals, and was also discussed during an initial
reflection on the right to disconnect.
●

●

Following on from “Du sport pour moi”, the “Fiitli” programme,
run by a start-up from the Nantes region, was set up in late
2018 in preparation for its launch at Fleury Michon in
second-quarter 2019. Employees will be able to access the Fiitli
online platform to sign up for exercise classes given by
professional coaches at different times during the week near to
a number of Fleury Michon sites;
Campaigns were run to raise awareness among employees on
diabetes and the importance of screening on World Diabetes
Day, with permanent screening facilities available at infirmaries
on various Vendée Unit sites;

These factors are important and must be taken into account if a
person is to work more efficiently for the benefit of the Company’s
overall performance.
This is a joint issue and every employee must share responsibility for
the quality of life at work.
This reflection is included more generally in the “Fleury Michon
Community” through the “Helping men and women work better”
project group, which is closely interlinked with the corporate project
of “Helping people eat better every day”.
Lastly, an internal coaching unit continues to support all employees’
personal development in a professional context by providing
individual and/or team coaching.

2.5.5 Supporting employability Group-wide
Training and talent management plan
An annual framework SWP plan is drawn up to put in place the
training required to support employees through change.

The prime objective of this plan is to ensure the Company remains
competitive while developing employees’ professional skills and
maintaining their employability.
The framework plan for 2017-2018-2019 aims to adapt the Group’s
talent pool and skill sets in a forward-looking way to further the
corporate project of “Helping people eat better every day”.
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It focuses on six key areas:
●

promoting the corporate project: empower every employee to
be an ambassador for the initiative;

●

boosting career mobility: broaden skill sets and talent pools
through collective or individual training, and support employees
changing roles;

●

developing vocational training programmes to achieve a
professional qualification, certification or diploma: promote
employability;

●

introducing the manager/coach approach and collaborative
initiatives: extend the collective and individual coaching
sessions and new test training programmes to include
management;

●

supporting responsible behaviour: press ahead with
measures to encourage safety at work, good working
relationships and individual actions to protect the environment;

●

promoting digital literacy: develop the skills needed to use
collaborative digital tools effectively.

One of the key focuses of the SWP is to analyse the needs of the
production sites and employment trends (taking account of
anticipated retirements and market developments). The Group also
analyses employment structure to get a clearer picture of staff
numbers and qualifications to anticipate future requirements.
An ambitious training programme is put in place each year to
maintain and develop employability. Since 2015, Fleury Michon has
been developing and building on areas such as the training
programmes that are open to all categories of employee.
Key roles at Fleury Michon are also considered (management,
maintenance, digital, IT, etc.), to anticipate future needs by creating
pools of expertise, for example by working more closely with higher
education institutions.

promoting geographic and professional mobility within the
Group;

●

encouraging the development of skills through various training
and guidance programmes.

In accordance with legal requirements, all employees have an annual
performance review to discuss the projects they have worked on and
their achievements during the past year, and set objectives and areas
for progression for the coming year. Every two years, employees
have a professional appraisal with their manager. These interviews
focus on employees’ prospects for career development, particularly
in terms of qualifications and employment. Each employee’s efforts
and achievements are then assessed every six years.

2.5.5.2

The plan provides for:
●

strategic training to further Fleury Michon’s corporate
project;

●

management training;

●

statutory and legal training:

●

●

2.5.5.1

●

MANAGING CAREER DEVELOPMENT AND
TALENT

●

supporting all employees in their professional endeavours, at
every stage or change in their career;
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TRAINING POLICIES ADAPTED TO EACH
EMPLOYEE CATEGORY

Training is planned on a multiannual basis. For many years now, the
Group-level plan has covered basic skills, qualifications, seniors, skills
development, management and teamwork.

Likewise, the Company supports mobility between the Vendée
production sites by encouraging employees to voluntarily put
themselves forward by offering financial incentive (a mobility
allowance is paid according to a set of criteria) and display details of
vacancies at the production sites on a weekly basis.

Fleury Michon’s SWP, a key part of its human resources
management policy, aims to optimise the way internal resources are
managed and anticipate employment trends, with a view to:
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●

●

insurance: media training, crisis management,

●

legal: delegation of authority, employer liability,

●

mandatory training: certification,
equipment, hygiene, environment;

safety,

handling

SWP training and career development:
●

supporting job mobility: skills bases for manual workers and
office staff, management training, etc.,

●

development of training
professional qualifications;

programmes

that

lead

to

developing trade-specific skills:
●

training in new technologies (maintenance, finance, IT, etc.),

●

training in the use of new tools;

mandatory initiatives for certain categories of employee:
●

meeting the commitments relating to seniors, working
conditions and quality of the work environment, etc.

Mentoring is a key aspect of the SWP to improve the professional
skills of internal trainers and enhance the integration process for new
hires. Mentoring provides support for skills development within the
Company. One mentor training session took place in 2018, qualifying
seven new mentors. At the end of 2018, Fleury Michon had
169 active mentors within the Group in France.
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Furthermore, under the terms of the strategic workforce plan
regarding the hiring of young people and working with higher
education institutions, Fleury Michon is committed to taking on
interns, apprentices and those on professional development
contracts each year.

TOTAL NUMBER OF TRAINING HOURS DELIVERED

62,573

77,716

80,563

The Group welcomed 87 interns, 49 apprentices and 22 people on
professional development contracts in France during 2018.
Similarly, as part of its project to support young people and engage
with the local community, Fleury Michon’s talent team is working with
a group of sixth-form students over two years to help them learn
more about the careers available to them and answer their questions
about their options after completing their sixth-form studies.
Lastly, we regularly take part in events with educational institutions to
give students the opportunity to learn about the world of work and
embark on the path that will make their career of choice possible.

2
2017

2018

2018

France

2.5.5.3

France
and International

TRAINING RESOURCES

Group companies in France invested 3.2% of the total payroll in
training initiatives, with the dual purpose of fostering employability
and enabling employees to adapt to technological and social
challenges.
In 2018, 77,716 hours of training were provided, representing a total
of €3.2 million for Group companies in France (compared with
62,753 hours for €3.7 million in 2017). In total, over 80,000 training
hours were delivered to Group employees.

PROPORTION OF PAYROLL INVESTED IN TRAINING

3.4%

3.2%

2017

2018

The three major training categories were:
●

suitability of work stations and skills development;

●

decentralised management;

●

safety.

France

2.5.6 An appropriate compensation policy
For many years now, the Company has implemented a
compensation policy made up of several components (basic pay,
yearly bonus, constraint bonuses, supplementary health
insurance, etc.) for all categories (manual workers, office staff,
technicians, supervisors and management). This negotiated policy
maintains a balance between economic development and social
progress.

In order to involve all employees in the Group’s development and to
strengthen team spirit and loyalty, the family shareholders and
Executive Management implemented measures in 2013 for the
allocation of 30 bonus shares to all employees on permanent or
fixed-term contracts (subject to seniority and the employee being in
the Company’s employment on the date of allocation). This operation
has been renewed every year for new employees who met the
conditions.
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Although employee shareholding has been in place through FCPE, a
Fleury Michon shareholder representing 3.45% of the capital at
31 December 2018, since Fleury Michon’s initial public offering, the
allocation of shares has given all employees who were present in the
Group’s French subsidiaries in 2013 (and subject to seniority criteria)
a direct link to its capital. In recognition of this operation,
Fleury Michon received the “coup de cœur” award from the French
Federation of Associations of Employee and Former Employee

Shareholders (FAS) at their annual employee shareholding awards
(Grand Prix de l’Actionnariat Salariés). The 30 shares were effectively
awarded in 2017, totalling 91,650 shares or 2.01% of the share
capital.
Since the initial operation, the Board of Directors has renewed the
allocation every year of 30 bonus shares to all new employees, under
the same conditions. In 2018, 192 employees were each awarded
30 Fleury Michon shares, representing 5,760 additional shares.

2.5.7 Promoting diversity
At Fleury Michon, we believe that diversity is an invaluable resource
for driving growth. For more than 20 years, we have positioned
ourselves as a major promoter of diversity through numerous actions.

Furthermore, Fleury Michon signed France’s Diversity Charter in
2005. The Group firmly believes that gender diversity is important for
innovation and strives to achieve a good balance.

2.5.7.1

Women represented 42% of the Group’s total headcount and 41% of
managers in France.

ANTI-DISCRIMINATION POLICY

Fleury Michon signed the French Diversity Charter in 2005. The
charter is a written commitment that can be signed by any company
that wishes to condemn discrimination in the workplace and work to
promote diversity.
Fleury Michon signed the French anti-discrimination authority’s
(HALDE) Orange Paper in 2007 to promote equal opportunities.
In 2011, Fleury Michon signed a Company agreement on health,
workplace stress and jobs for senior workers, which was renewed in
2017 for a further three years.

Based on 2018 data, our gender equality index in the Vendée Unit is
measured at 89/100, which is well above the 75/100 in three years
requirement. This result confirms that the long-term measures we put
in place are working successfully.

BREAKDOWN OF WORKFORCE BETWEEN MEN AND WOMEN
AT 31 DECEMBER 2018 FOR THE CONSOLIDATED GROUP
FRANCE + INTERNATIONAL

43%
Women

57%
Men

Furthermore, concerning recruitment, Fleury Michon has been using
the simulation-based recruitment method (MRS) for several years
now, suggested by Pôle Emploi. This method helps select candidates
by identifying the abilities necessary for the role in question.

2.5.7.2

GENDER EQUALITY AT WORK

Fleury Michon promotes equal work opportunities for women and
men.
Additional initiatives in place for many years as part of its equal
opportunities agreement include:
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●

a detailed comparative analysis of the position of men and
women in the Company, undertaken every year with employee
representatives;

●

a similar salaries table for men and women: a coefficient
corresponds to a specific position or starting salary.
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FRANCE

42%
Women

Men
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BETWEEN MEN AND WOMEN BY CATEGORY IN FRANCE
AT 31 DECEMBER 2018

Vendée Unit

Men
Permanent
Contract

Women
Permanent
Contract

41%

28%

59%

2018

2017

9

9

235

244

244

253

Fixed-term contracts

37%

62%

43%

Permanent contract
Number of registered
Total
disabled workers

42%

100

80

CHANGES IN THE NUMBERS OF DISABLED WORKERS EMPLOYED
AT THE VENDÉE UNIT

72%

63%

38%

57%

Number of DW units*
(incl. temporary workers
and sheltered workshops) Total

58%

Employment rate (%)

316.0

322.9

11.9%

12.3%

2018

2017

60

France
40

Fixed-term contracts

10

9

Permanent contract

248

256

258

265

330.2

338.1

11.1%

11.6%

20

Number of registered
Total
disabled workers

0

Number of DW units*
(incl. temporary workers
and sheltered workshops) Total
MANAG

SUP

TECH

OFF

WORK

Employment rate (%)
%

TOTAL

*

2

A DW unit = 1 excluding those aged under 26 and over 50 (1.5 units).

Proportion of women on a permanent or fixed-term contract
In 2018, the employment rate of workers with disabilities within the
Vendée Unit came to 1.98 times the statutory employment rate of
6%. In France, the rate was 11.1% in 2018.

2018

2017

Proportion of women on fixed-term contracts

55

52

Proportion of women on permanent
contracts

40

40

Proportion of women on fixed-term contracts

61

47

Proportion of women on permanent contracts

51

52

In addition to this policy to help disabled workers remain in
employment, Fleury Michon entrusts subcontracted assignments,
such as the upkeep of green areas, to sheltered workshops that
employ disabled people. Since 2014, Fleury Michon has been
working in collaboration with the SAMETH, an association that helps
to keep disabled workers in employment, to acquire specific
equipment and adapt workstations.

Proportion of women on fixed-term contracts

56

51

Recent years have seen the Group create a number of programmes
to promote opportunities for disabled people, including:

Proportion of women on permanent
contracts

42

42

FRANCE

SLOVENIA AND CANADA

CONSOLIDATED

2.5.7.3

●

participation in Disability Days;

●

suitable equipment
disabilities;

●

subsidies or aid paid to specialist organisations to promote
actions in favour of disabled workers, participation in
fund-raising by non-profit organisations (Cap Emploi) and
response to individual requests;

●

involvement in the Grand Angle group. Created in 2009, the
group is made up of companies, public bodies and non-profit
organisations, etc. It advocates an alternative view of
disabilities, raises awareness, provides information and drives
positive momentum in the region;

●

touring photo exhibition on all sites during weeks 40-46;

●

four awareness-raising workshops for managers on 13 and
14 November 2018;

●

organisation of eight visits from our partners (Sameth, Carsat,
MDPH) to advise employees on all our sites;

●

production of a video on an adaptive working space for an
employee in our internal newsletter;

●

display of practical information for employees on-site.

PROMOTING ACCESS TO EMPLOYMENT
FOR THE DISABLED

Disabled people are twice as likely to be unemployed. Promoting
access to employment is therefore both a social and economic
challenge. In a quest to offer all employees the opportunity to develop
professionally, Fleury Michon has undertaken initiatives to enable all
employees registered as disabled to remain in employment.
The initiatives were formalised in a Company agreement signed for
the periods 2015-2016 and 2017, then renewed at the end of 2017
for a further three years. The areas covered are:
●

recruitment into an ordinary working environment;

●

integration and training;

●

adaptation to technological changes.

made available

to

employees
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2.5.7.4

ADAPTING WORKING SYSTEMS FOR OUR
OLDER EMPLOYEES

In 2018, 36.4% of Group employees in France were aged 50 or over
(36.5% at Group level) and 18.8% were aged 55 or over (19.5% at
Group level). Fleury Michon would like to maintain this
inter-generational mix so is adapting its working methods and
conditions accordingly.
After running an initiative over the 2010-2012 period in favour of
employing seniors, a three-year Company agreement was signed at
the end of 2011 for the Vendée Unit and renewed at the end of 2014
and then 2017 for a further three years.
The objectives cover a number of areas:
●

keeping older workers in employment;

●

monitoring their career paths;

●

ensuring access to training;

●

making end-of-career
transition to retirement;

●

adjusting working hours;

arrangements

At the end of 2017, seniors aged 55 or more on permanent contracts
represented 19.7% of the permanent workforce at the Vendée Unit
compared with 18.6% at the end of 2016.
At the end of 2018, this proportion reached 20.3% of the permanent
workforce, exceeding the 20% target set for 2020.
In 2018, 646 seniors on permanent contracts went on at least one
training course, representing 33% of the training budget (the target
was 30% for employees on permanent contracts).
For employees in their last three years of work, the agreement
enables them to adapt their working time by:
●

encouraging flexible full-time work (mostly over four days);

●

facilitating part-time working (80%) subject to certain conditions,
making up the resulting loss of pay by partially undertaking
employee contributions, etc.

The target is to accept 100% of all requests.
and

facilitating

the

● offering access to information about initiatives aimed at seniors.
The key achievements of the Vendée Unit’s agreement for seniors on
permanent contracts are as follows:

Other measures in the seniors agreement include:
●

mentoring: have seniors (45 years and over) represent 50% of
mentors over the next three years;

●

communication: for employees in the last three years of work,
organise a general information meeting with the French pension
and occupational health insurance fund (Carsat) each year
along with individual meetings.

2.5.8 Maintaining a working environment that fosters personal development
2.5.8.1

RESPONDING TO CHANGES IN SOCIETY

SOCIAL DIALOGUE

Society is changing, and the food industry – like all industries – is
having to adapt to keep up, overhauling methods that we had
previously thought were set in stone.

Fleury Michon is supported by its employee representative bodies,
such as the CHSCT, and by trade unions in its quest to create an
environment that fosters social dialogue.

The way we eat is a reflection of our personalities and cultures.
Today, Fleury Michon teams must adapt to rapidly changing food
habits, from social brunches to drinks and nibbles, city picnics, a
rising concern for animal well-being, special diets for religious or
health reasons, booming demand for organic food and interest in
short food supply chains.

Our vision and strategy look to the long term with innovative,
responsible agreements at their core. This translates into a proactive
social policy, which extends beyond the statutory minimum.

It is therefore vital to be receptive to these new trends so that we can
respond to them effectively. This is why, in 2015, Fleury Michon
began organising events for guest speakers to come and talk, entirely
openly, to the 350 members of management about what Eating
Better means for them.
These different opinions help teams learn more about changes in
food habits and understand what this means for the industry, so that
they are better equipped to understand and support the Group’s
commitments in this regard, which will have an impact on its 20-year
strategy.
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To foster this social dialogue, Fleury Michon has set up a wide variety
of arenas for discussion and communication, primarily through the
different committees (such as committees connected to the Works
Council, the social coordination committee and the committee for
disabled workers).
In 2018-2019, changes in legislation introducing committees
representing employees proved an opportunity for management to
overhaul its social dialogue, particularly in the Vendée Unit, with a
renegotiation of its structure for social representation beginning in
2019.
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2.5.8.3

QUESTION AND ANSWER SESSIONS,
AN ASSET OF THE FLEURY MICHON
SOCIAL MODEL

Vendée Unit
●

Amendment no. 11 to the agreement on reduced and flexible
working hours dated 20 November 1997;

As part of its ongoing efforts to improve the Company’s decentralised
approach to communication, the management teams hold question
and answer sessions throughout the year in which everyone is free to
ask questions. In 2018, around 140 people took part in these
sessions. Other contact meetings (weekly or fortnightly meetings and
sessions to get to know the Company) have been added to
complement these actions.

●

Quality of life at work agreement;

●

Group and Companies incentive agreement.

They deal with a wide range of topics, including employment, working
organisation and conditions, the Group’s financial situation, the
competitive environment, projects and innovations. The discussions
are an opportunity to educate employees and give them a better
visibility of the future. They also help the Company tailor its
communications to employee needs (additional information on certain
topics, for example) or to highlight areas where there is room for
improvement.

2.5.8.4

COLLECTIVE AGREEMENTS SUMMARY

During 2018, Fleury Michon engaged in various discussions with
employees and trade unions in each of its companies according to
the structure of social representation: monthly Works Council
meetings and CHSCT meetings, annual obligatory negotiations and
themed negotiations as well as their monitoring committees (inclusion
of disabled employees, classification, GPEC, monitoring of
agreements, training and equality in the workplace).
To create the optimum working environment that is essential to the
Group’s performance and employee well-being, Fleury Michon has
signed various agreements. The main agreements signed by Group
companies in 2018 include:

Charcuterie Cuisinées de Plélan (CCP)
●

Agreement following the annual obligatory negotiations;

●

Amendment no. 3 to the agreement on flexible working hours;

●

Forward-looking management of jobs and skills agreement;

●

Gender equality at work agreement;

●

Group and Companies incentive agreement.

2

Société d’Innovation Culinaire (SIC)
●

Agreement following the annual obligatory negotiations;

●

Three-year renewal of the incentive agreement;

●

Three-year renewal of the time savings plan agreement;

●

Group and Companies incentive agreement.

Room Saveurs
●

Extension of the time savings plan agreement;

●

Time savings plan agreement;

●

Group and Companies incentive agreement.

Fleury Michon America
●

No agreements in 2018.

Proconi
●

No specific agreements.

2.5.9 Room Saveurs: promoting decent employment
Room Saveurs’ human resources policy reflects that of the Group as
a whole. Deeply committed to the Group’s project of “Helping people
eat better every day” and its CSR approach, Room Saveurs has also
chosen to formalise its priorities in human resources.

2.5.9.1

HELPING EMPLOYEES DEVELOP

At Room Saveurs, decent employment means giving employees the
tools they need to enhance their skills, particularly through training.

We offer regular training sessions, often focusing on the technical
aspects of employees’ work spaces, as well as longer-term courses
such as our leadership programme within the Group.
In 2018, 76% of employees took part in at least one training session.
To supplement our preventative measures, we monitor the rate of
occupational accidents and illnesses. In 2018, we recorded one
commuting accident, which did not give rise to lost time. Our
occupational accident frequency rate, severity rate and occupational
illness rate were therefore 0.
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Lastly, we are committed to combating discrimination throughout our
recruitment process. When we call on external firms, we make sure
that they apply a concrete anti-discrimination policy for recruitment,
i.e., anonymised CVs with no photos, addresses or surnames. We
also have a variety of measures in place to facilitate the employment
of people with disabilities. In 2018, two people with disabilities were
members of our teams. In addition, we regularly work with sheltered
workshops, mainly as packaging providers.

2.5.9.2

OUR PROVIDERS’ AND TRANSPORTERS’
EMPLOYEES

Room Saveurs is aware that the highly competitive environment of
delivered meals is pushing certain players to provide sub-par working
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conditions for their employees. Mindful of its moral responsibility in
this area, Room Saveurs demonstrates heightened vigilance and
ensures that its main food suppliers are made aware of the issue of
illegal labour and that their employees are declared to the French
social security body, URSSAF. Room Saveurs has been
systematically requesting statements of vigilance for more than a year
and plans to roll out this approach to all its suppliers.
In addition, it is currently considering implementing a vigilance review
during follow-up audits, including questions on the use of temporary
employment contracts and self-employed workers and measures to
guarantee decent employment.
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2.6 A responsible economic player and a committed
partner in the local community
Fleury Michon is well-established in the local community. It takes
account of local social, environmental and economic considerations
and works with its stakeholders to contribute to the vitality and
development of the region and, beyond that, to the responsible

development of society as a whole. The Group’s involvement with
civil society, its economic partners, non-profits and other
organisations is a reflection of its commitment to continuous
development.

2

2.6.1 Supplier loyalty
For its operations in France, Fleury Michon works directly and
indirectly with some 3,200 suppliers, over 90% of which are based in
France (source: Local Footprint 2015).
The Fleury Michon purchasing charter champions mutual respect,
reciprocal trust, permanent dialogue, sustainable mutual interest and
continuous adaptation as a framework for its relations with its
suppliers.
For many years, the Group has been developing its business through
a series of different supply channels to ensure product quality right
from the purchasing phase. This strategy can only succeed if its
relations with suppliers are constructive and cooperative.
Fleury Michon has a reputation for maintaining excellent relations with
its suppliers over the long term.
Beyond fair pricing and timely payments, Fleury Michon invests in
sustainable business relations with its suppliers and, where possible,
offers them opportunities for development. To this end, our buyers
are in constant dialogue with the suppliers and involve them in the
Group’s development projects. They apply the purchasing charter
along with a fourth pillar, focused on quality relations, particularly by
favouring long-term partnerships with suppliers, remaining vigilant to
mutual economic dependence between Fleury Michon and its

suppliers and, where applicable, implementing a plan to gradually
reduce business and end the contract.
Through quality audits conducted in a spirit of improvement and
progress and not of penalties, development plans are put in place
with suppliers and technical support is provided to help them to meet
the Group’s increasingly high quality standards. In France, a team of
six people are dedicated to purchasing quality. In 2018, a total of
94 days of quality audits were conducted at supplier sites for
operations in France.
More and more partnerships have been set up since 2015,
demonstrating Fleury Michon’s commitment to developing durable
and economically sustainable production systems:
●

2015 – partnership with the Group to develop the “J’aime –
Engagé dans l’élevage” range;

●

2016 – partnership with local farmers and creation of a joint
venture to help develop organic vegetable farming in the area;

●

2017 – partnership with the Terrena cooperative to produce a
range of “J’aime – La Nouvelle Agriculture©” poultry cuts;

●

2018 – partnership with farmers to develop an organic pork
sourcing channel in France.
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2.6.2 Using economic momentum to support the Fleury Michon ecosystem
Fleury Michon’s economic momentum produces positive impacts for
an entire ecosystem. The revenue generated by the Group serves to
drive operations for stakeholders and contributes to financing the
local and national economy.

In 2018, the Group generated consolidated revenue totalling
€725.3 million and consolidated net profit of €14.4 million. Payments
to suppliers represented the largest cost, accounting for 68% of
revenue.

The allocation of net profit enables the Group to reward shareholders
through dividend payments, as well as reinvest in the Company’s
development to ensure its longevity.

2.6.3 Impact on employment and added value
To fully understand how its activities interact with the local
environment, in 2015 Fleury Michon calculated the impact of its
French activity on employment and value added. The calculations
were based on a methodology developed by the consulting firm
Utopies under the brand name Local Footprint©. The Local Footprint©
algorithm assesses the extent to which the expenses (investments,
purchases, salaries, taxes, contributions, etc.) incurred by an
organisation generate a ripple effect throughout a given region
(country, region, department, labour pool, etc.). Details about the
methodology can be found on www.utopies.com, under the “local
economic footprint” section on the homepage.

2.6.3.1

IN TERMS OF EMPLOYMENT

Within France, Fleury Michon’s 2015 economic activities generated
almost 13,800 direct and indirect jobs. Direct jobs, i.e., at
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Fleury Michon, numbered around 3,600 and indirect jobs within
France amounted to almost 10,200. In other words, the
Fleury Michon multiplier effect is almost 3.9: for every job at
Fleury Michon in France, 2.9 are created or maintained in France.
Of these 10,200 indirect jobs, 4,500 are created through the
operations of Fleury Michon’s suppliers, i.e., close to 45%.
Of the almost 13,800 direct and indirect jobs, 50% are in the Grand
Ouest region (formerly Brittany and Pays de la Loire).
The pork supply channel alone accounts for 35% of the total job
count and 42% in the Grand Ouest region.
The study also highlighted another important finding, with regard to
the quality of jobs: 80% are permanent contracts and 82% are
full-time positions (35 hours or more per week).
Of the 3,200 suppliers required by
operations, 94% are based in France.

Fleury Michon’s

French
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2.6.3.2

IN TERMS OF ADDED VALUE

Within France, Fleury Michon’s operations and those of its whole
ecosystem generated €890 million in 2015.
Of this amount, €250 million correspond to the value added at
Fleury Michon and €640 million in the rest of the French economy.
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In other words, the Fleury Michon multiplier effect is almost 3.6: for
every euro created at Fleury Michon, €2.6 are generated in the rest of
the economy.
In all, 51% of this value creation is concentrated in the Grand Ouest
region alone.
In addition, 21% of added value is created within the pork supply
channel, mostly in the Grand Ouest region.
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2.6.4 Involvement in the local community
2.6.4.1

ECONOMIC IMPACT ON THE
NEIGHBOURING AND LOCAL
POPULATIONS

societal progress to:
●

promote local
stakeholders;

●

develop initiatives to raise awareness of the benefits of a
varied, balanced diet and encourage healthy eating and
exercise;

●

support community initiatives that encourage social
integration of people experiencing problems;

●

respond to humanitarian needs.

life

and

the

relationship

between

Fleury Michon’s France-based production sites are located in areas
with a mix of farmland and small towns. Fleury Michon has always
aimed to grow its business to create sustainable employment. Its
production sites and nerve centres for decision-making are located in
the heart of local life, where the Group creates direct and indirect
employment. We are one of the top private employers in Vendée and
Pays de la Loire, and as such are keenly aware of our social and
economic responsibilities.

Fleury Michon’s local integration charter covers areas from the host
site to economic regions.

In growing the business, it has always been our goal to create
sustainable local jobs and local partnerships. This goal is
systematically included in all organisation strategies and management
decisions.

The stakeholders in these regions are agents of civil society such as
local communities, regional authorities, public authorities, training and
employment bodies and non-profit organisations as well as scientific
and economic bodies.

2.6.4.2

To develop and harmonise our local relations, we have put in place
Group experts to:

LOCAL INTEGRATION CHARTER
AND SUPPORT FOR NON-PROFIT
ORGANISATIONS

Fleury Michon applies a local integration charter and has drawn up
specific rules for supporting local non-profit organisations.

Local integration charter
Because Fleury Michon is a family company with a 100-year history,
culturally rooted in the region in which it has developed, we are
convinced that we have a responsibility to:
●

actively participate in local communities;

●

play a role in professional, local, educational and academic
networks.

We are also convinced that such a commitment:
●

is a hallmark of trust for our stakeholders;

●

helps prove that a different corporate model is possible, one of
a responsible company with an awareness of our local impact.

Such convictions are a wider part of the Fleury Michon project of:
“Helping people eat better every day”.
In the locations in which it operates, Fleury Michon works to balance
its growth and longevity with the collective interest of its stakeholders.
Our objectives focus on two areas:
●

112

●

economic growth to:
●

secure the longevity of the Company and maintain its
independence;

●

protect jobs;

●

develop skills and employability in its labour markets;

●

boost the appeal of the host regions.
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●

coordinate and lead each major stakeholder category;

● identify operational officers in the teams.
Reviews of local networks take place:
●

whenever necessary between the Group experts and the
operational officers;

●

once a year between the Group experts and the Group’s civil
society partner;

●

once a year at the Management Committee meeting with the
partner from society.

We take action to boost the development and appeal of our host
regions in order to further improve our economic activity and
longevity, which is in turn beneficial for our host regions.

Support for local non-profit organisations
Because Fleury Michon is a family company with a 100-year history,
culturally rooted in the region in which it has developed, we are
convinced that we have a responsibility to:
●

support local non-profit organisations in line with our local
integration charter;

●

ensure a good fit between the aim of the local non-profit
organisations we support and our project of “Helping people eat
better every day”.

The Donations and Sponsorship Committee, which meets monthly, is
made up of eight employees. It receives requests, analyses them and
responds to them according to specific rules. We firmly believe that
our commitment to local non-profits is best achieved by promoting
three main issues: a balanced diet, exercise and social investment.
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In the areas where it operates, Fleury Michon encourages and
supports local initiatives. Our objectives focus on three areas:
●

prioritising and encouraging initiatives in line with our corporate
project;

●

distributing subsidies and donating products within our host
regions by theme;

● encouraging mutually beneficial partnerships.
This policy covers sites and economic regions, depending on the
scope of the actions.
To harmonise our support and ensure that it is fair, the Donations and
Sponsorship Committee uses certain criteria. These include:
●

community projects should be championed by a Fleury Michon
sponsor;

●

projects should promote a balanced diet, exercise or social
investment;

●

Fleury Michon must not be the only finance provider to improve
the longevity of non-profit organisations;

●

Fleury Michon prioritises funding to launch initiatives rather than
offer permanent financial support;

●

Fleury Michon strives for equity when distributing funding and
support, both in terms of number and value;

● the organisation must report back on its work to Fleury Michon.
Fleury Michon contributes to local initiatives as an economic player in
its host regions.
In an effort to reconcile its approach to sustainable development with
that of its stakeholders in its host regions, Fleury Michon has made
two commitments:
●

●

economic development, in order to:
●

ensure the Company’s longevity,

●

create and maintain jobs,

●

develop skills and employability in its labour markets,

●

help enhance the attractiveness of its host regions,

●

contribute to high-tech, innovative projects;

societal progress, in order to:
●

foster community development and social cohesion;

●

develop initiatives to raise awareness of the benefits of a
varied, balanced diet and encourage healthy eating and
exercise;

●

support community initiatives that encourage the social
integration of people experiencing problems;

●

respond to food and humanitarian emergencies.

2.6.4.3

Education and eating habits
An adequate diet, which includes the daily recommended allowances
and is complemented with regular exercise, helps to protect people’s
health. Fleury Michon’s products have an important place in the diets
of people in France and we are aware of our responsibility to
contribute to achieving public health nutrition objectives. Nutritional
education has a vital role to play in ensuring people adopt the right
attitude and behaviour towards food. The learning process has to
start in childhood. This is why Fleury Michon developed a toolkit in
2016 designed to raise awareness about a balanced diet and
hydration through sport.
It gives sports clubs that are partnered with Fleury Michon and those
that have signed up to our vision the tools they need to spread
knowledge and information about diet, sport and a healthy lifestyle.
The toolkit is designed in a fun and imaginative way that appeals to
children, bringing together exercise and basic information about
nutrition. The learning objectives are specific and targeted based on
the age groups 6-8 and 9-12. The toolkit was developed in
collaboration with a French non-profit organisation for childhood and
adolescent diabetes with the aim of improving the quality of life of
diabetic children and teenagers, as well as that of their families,
through a programme of support and education.
In 2018, a total of 2,799 participants were involved in the programme
designed for children aged 6-12. The assessments after each
workshop show the improvement in results achieved by the children
in the quizzes: in 2017, the success rate was 83%, rising to 93% at
the end of the programme for 2018.
To go one step further, the Group decided to design a tool for
teenagers in early 2018. This second learning kit, now used by our
16 partners from the overarching scheme, has risen awareness
among 1,838 young sportspeople.
In all, 4,637 children and young people aged 6-18 learnt about Eating
Better in 2018 through a total of 101 workshops. Training for new
instructors and training in using the new tool represented 12 working
hours, provided by Fleury Michon.
These tools boost the Group’s legitimacy in terms of preventative
health measures and have already opened up possibilities for
collaborating with wider programmes. For example, for the start of
the Tour de France* 2018 (*: Tour de France is a trademark of ASO),
Fleury Michon and Harmonie Mutuelle teamed up for a joint
programme:
●

teaching school pupils about what racing cyclists eat: the
expertise we have gained from partnering with the Direct
Énergie cycling team over 14 years, as well as the teaching
methods used in our toolkits, contributed to raising the
awareness of 1,000 children from 26-30 March 2018 as part of
an event organised by the Vendée region;

●

organising and running an “Eating Better, Moving Better” village
on Saturday 7 and Sunday 8 July in Mouilleron-Saint-Germain
to coincide with the start of the second stage of the Tour de
France*. The event included a smoothie cycling workshop to
learn how to make a smoothie and exercise at the same time,
tasting sessions with a focus on Eating Better, virtual visits of
Fleury Michon’s production units, adaptive sports and group
exercise classes. The village was visited by 5,401 people over
two days.

SPONSORSHIP AND PARTNERSHIPS

To support its local outreach initiatives, Fleury Michon’s sponsorship
activities reflect the Group’s identity and values. Our employees and
management staff are involved in 100 or so sporting, charitable and
cultural organisations, which the Company supports. The most
important investments are detailed below.

2
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●

Diet and social integration
In 2012, the Group signed a membership charter of the regional food
aid consortium, the Groupement régional de l’aide alimentaire, in
Pays de la Loire. This consortium sets out to determine and inventory
all actions undertaken by the partners and optimise collection and
distribution. The charter seeks to increase the volume and diversify
the type of food products redistributed through charities.
Room Saveurs, the delivered meal service operating in Paris, finances
the recycling service for glassware and stainless steel cutlery, in
partnership with charitable organisations (Samu Social de Paris,
Salvation Army, etc.). This equipment is then distributed to partner
charitable organisations.

meetings with training organisations to drive operations,
Representation
from
training
organisations
on
Fleury Michon’s Board of Directors and support for food
training establishments such as LIGERIAA and IFRIA Pays
de Loire,

●

discussions on bridges to employment between social
insertion organisations and companies.

Information for health professionals

In 2018, Fleury Michon provided donations in kind, redistributing over
285 metric tonnes in food products to local food banks and
charitable organisations.

Collaborative research efforts
Nova Child is an initiative of the Choletais Chamber of Commerce
and Industry to create a child-focused excellence innovation hub as a
regional growth driver (agri-foods, clothing, games, furniture,
childcare, health, services, etc.). Fleury Michon has been a member
of the Nova Child project since it was launched in November 2004.
Another example is the Group’s long-standing engagement – since
2004 – with LIGERIAA, the Pays de la Loire regional food industry
association. The work has resulted in joint initiatives to increase the
appeal of a career in the agri-foods industry, as well as employment
and training in regional agri-food industries.

Contributions to local communities
Fleury Michon is committed to making a contribution to local
communities. To do this, a variety of commitments have been made
over many years:
●

●
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employee ambassadors of the Company involved in employer
clubs (in Pays de Pouzauges and Chantonnay), the young
managers’ centre (CJD), corporate management training and
discussion groups (Germe, a training organisation specialised in
supporting managers and directors), the French human
resources directors’ association (ANDRH), schools such as the
Maison Familiale et Rurale in Pouzauges, the vocational training
centre at Saint-Laurent-sur-Sèvre, the Roche-sur-Yon business
and management school and the supply chain and transport
higher education institution in Montaigu;
a variety of projects to develop the local employment base with
local partners including a second chance programme, projects
in conjunction with the French National Employment Agency
(Pôle Emploi) focusing on practical preparation for employment,
simulation-based recruitment methods, and initiatives in
secondary schools and sixth-form colleges, most notably
working with a group of sixth-form students in 2017, 2018 and
2019 to help with career orientation and understanding of
different professions;

●

contribution to local initiatives such as raising awareness about
disabilities and participating in human resources workshops;

●

brainstorming seminars organised in the local area to focus on
employment and training challenges:
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For many years, Fleury Michon has been promoting its approach to
health among professionals working in the area (e.g., dieticians and
nutritionists):
●

The 2018 edition of the Nutritional Value Guide, which sets out
Fleury Michon’s commitments to nutrition and comprehensive
nutritional information on all its products, was distributed to
8,600 health professionals;

●

Three letters to health professionals were drawn up in 2018: the
first on charcuterie and health, the second on the Nutri-Score
(distributed to 6,300 health professionals) and the third on salt
(distributed to 8,900 health professionals);

●

Also on the topic of salt, a multimedia campaign in the
most-visited medical waiting rooms in France was launched in
late 2018 for display throughout first-quarter 2019 (representing
a potential audience of 10 million consultations). Letters will be
sent to 2,340 general practitioners and 58,500 brochures made
available to patients.
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2.6.4.4

FOSTERING DISCUSSION, CONTRIBUTING
TO JOINT DEVELOPMENT AND
PROMOTING ACTIVE INVOLVEMENT

Reinventing food so that we can eat better tomorrow is an important
issue for society.
At Fleury Michon, we have made it our mission to tackle this, but we
know now more than ever that we cannot do it all on our own (and
we do not intend to).

In total, the event welcomed:
●

20 exhibitors who gave talks and demonstrated their best
practices, commitments and innovations;

●

50 students on farming or food courses and 150 primary school
children, who had the opportunity to learn more about Eating
Better;

●

500 people who took part in the debate;

●

2,400 people in total over two days.

We recognise that confrontational strategies are often fruitless, that
almost all progress is achieved thanks to a combination of different
contributions, and that actions speak louder than words. And,
through our corporate project, we are developing an ecosystem of
stakeholders who feel the same way.

2

The Eating Better organisation

With this in mind, Fleury Michon has created the Eating Better
non-profit organisation under the French law of 1901, with the
purpose of:
●

promoting responsible eating that respects people and the
environment;

●

raising awareness about the importance of eating well and
highlighting the links between diet, well-being, health and the
environment;

●

implementing and supporting measures and events that help
spread, promote and share initiatives about eating better.

The organisation aims to run and sponsor events, publish written
materials and make financial contributions to projects that are in line
with its purpose.

Eating Better: Everyone Plays, Everyone Wins
To put its principles into practice, the organisation set up its first
event in March 2017, on the topic of “Eating Better: Everyone Plays,
Everyone Wins”. Traditional and organic farmers, producers, retailers,
caterers, a health insurer and humanitarian, sports and consumer
organisations all spent two days under the same roof to create the
Eating Better Village.
These two days of talks, demonstrations and exchanges included
round table discussions, a debate, cooking workshops, tasting
sessions and virtual visits.

Venez innover (come and innovate) crowdfunding:
Fleury Michon commits to working with Ulule
to support Eating Better initiatives
Fleury Michon’s corporate project is “Helping people eat better every
day”. Mindful that we cannot achieve this on our own, we decided to
partner with Ulule, Europe’s leading crowdfunding platform, to give a
helping hand to innovative initiatives that further the Eating Better
cause. Every day, we discover new projects led by new
entrepreneurs who share our conviction. However, these
entrepreneurs don’t always have the resources to fulfil their ambitions
and make their projects a reality. We wanted to change that by
directly helping these small Ulule projects to grow.
In 2017, Fleury Michon financially supported 16 projects for a budget
outlay of €150,000. A jury comprising employees from a variety of
departments selected three. The 16 projects in total were specially
supported by the Company through sponsorships. The three winners
were each awarded a communications kit worth €50,000 to help
them raise their profiles.
In 2018, a working group focusing on start-ups was created with aim
of identifying, contacting and supporting the initiatives of the most
innovative and socially engaged start-ups in the food industry to help
foster the Eating Better campaign.
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Paris International Agricultural Show

Pop-up store

To strengthen its ties with both the agricultural world and the general
public, Fleury Michon took part for the first time in the Paris
International Agricultural Show in 2018.

Fleury Michon set up a pop-up store for two weeks to demonstrate
its commitment to reduce salt by 25% compared to the market
average in all its charcuterie recipes.

The nine-day event, known as “the biggest farm in France”, draws
more than 650,000 visitors each year, bringing together members of
the public, farmers, breeders, cooperatives, processors, retailers,
trade unions, federations, officials, non-profit organisations and more.

The store in central Paris opened its doors to consumers, journalists,
consumer associations, bloggers and more, who were invited to take
part in educational food workshops on reducing salt when cooking at
home. They also took part in taste tests comparing recipes with
different amounts of salt, as well as conferences on Fleury Michon’s
nutritional approach and the measures it takes to meet its public
commitments.

Having been involved in quality sourcing channels since 1973 with
Label Rouge (ham), followed by Bleu-Blanc-Cœur in 2002, organic
products in 2004, J’aime (pork) in 2015, J’aime (poultry) in 2017 and
Ferme France in 2018, Fleury Michon decided to further develop its
presence alongside farmers. It is rare for consumer goods companies
to attend the event, since it takes time for them to build up a
legitimate reputation at the event.
During its first foray into the show, Fleury Michon was able to forge
closer ties with a number of players from the world of agriculture,
start up new relationships, engage in conversation and connect with
other participants that it might not have had the opportunity to meet
outside of the event. Thanks to direct discussions with these players
at formal and informal meetings, Fleury Michon was able to explain
more about its Eating Better approach.
At the same time, a great many people from the general public came
to visit the Fleury Michon stand, which was a chance for them to
learn more about the little-known business behind the well-known
brand. Visitors were able to chat with the 30 or so Fleury Michon
employees from various roles who were in attendance for all nine
days of the show, creating a personal bond and helping them put a
face to the name of the brand found in 80% of French homes. The
experience was enhanced by new products to taste and virtual reality
visits to a production site and J’aime pig farm.
Following on from this success, Fleury Michon also plans to
participate in the 2019 show.
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The pop-up store was run by Fleury Michon employees to best
represent the company and reach out to consumers.

Eating Better village for the Tour de France
At the beginning of July 2018, the Tour de France passed through
the
Vendée
region,
with
one
stage
starting
at
Mouilleron-Saint-Germain, which also happens to be home to
Fleury Michon’s prepared meals production unit.
Ever enthusiastic to meet with its consumers, Fleury Michon set up
an Eating Better village for three days alongside its partner Harmonie
Mutuelle. Fleury Michon invited the public to take part in tasting
workshops and sports events, and visit its facility.
All these initiatives were organised to bridge the gap between
consumers who are increasingly curious about the food they eat and
Fleury Michon, a company committed to acting responsibly and
transparently. By opening doors and broadening minds,
Fleury Michon is forging direct relationships between employees and
the public, which is key to building trust between a brand and its
consumers.
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2.7 Independent third party report
and cross-reference tables
2.7.1 Independent third party report
This is a free translation into English of the Statutory Auditors’ report issued in French and is provided solely for the convenience of English
speaking readers. This report should be read in conjunction with, and construed in accordance with, French law and professional auditing
standards in France.
For the year ended 31 December 2018

However, it is not our responsibility to comment on:

To the shareholders,

●

the entity’s compliance with other applicable legal and regulatory
provisions, in particular the French duty of care law and
anti-corruption and tax evasion legislation;

●

the consistency of products and services with the applicable
regulations.

Following the request made to us by Fleury Michon (hereinafter the
“entity”) and in our capacity as an independent third party accredited
by France’s accreditation body, COFRAC, under no. 3-1081 (see
www.cofrac.fr for the scope of accreditation), we hereby report to
you on the consolidated non-financial information statement for the
year ended 31 December 2018 (hereinafter the “Statement”),
included in the Group’s management report pursuant to the legal and
regulatory provisions of Articles L. 225-102-1, R. 225-105 and
R. 225-105-1 of the French Commercial Code (Code de commerce).
The entity’s responsibility
Pursuant to legal and regulatory requirements, the Board of Directors
is responsible for preparing the Statement, which must include a
presentation of the business model, a description of the principal
non-financial risks, a presentation of the policies implemented in light
of those risks and the outcome of said policies, including key
performance indicators.
The Statement has been prepared in accordance with the guidelines
used by the entity (hereinafter the “Guidelines”), the main elements of
which are presented in the Statement.

NATURE AND SCOPE OF OUR WORK
We performed our work in accordance with the professional
standards applicable in France determining the conditions in which
the independent third party performs its engagement, as well as with
ISAE 3000.
Our work was carried out between 3 December 2018 and
18 April 2019 and involved around 15 days of work per person.
We conducted 15 interviews with the persons responsible for the
Statement.
Our procedures allowed us to assess the consistency of the
Statement with regulatory provisions and the fairness of the
Information:
●

we obtained an understanding of all the consolidated entities’
activities, the description of the labour and environmental risks
associated with their activities and the impact of those risks on
compliance with human rights and anti-corruption and tax
evasion legislation, as well as the resulting policies and their
outcomes;

●

we assessed the appropriateness of the Guidelines with respect
to their relevance, completeness, reliability, objectivity and
understandability, with due consideration of industry best
practices, where appropriate;

●

we verified that the Statement includes each category of labour
and environmental information set out in Article L. 225-102-1 III,
as well as information regarding compliance with human rights
and anti-corruption and tax evasion legislation;

●

we verified that the Statement presents the business model and
the principal risks associated with all the consolidated entities’
activities, including, where relevant and proportionate, the risks
associated by their business relationships and products or
services, as well as their policies, measures and the outcomes
thereof, including key performance indicators;

Independence and quality control
Our independence is defined by the provisions of Article L. 822-11-3
of the French Commercial Code and the French Code of Ethics
(Code de déontologie) of our profession. In addition, we have
implemented a system of quality control including documented
policies and procedures regarding compliance with the ethical
requirements, French professional standards and applicable legal and
regulatory requirements.

RESPONSIBILITY OF THE INDEPENDENT
THIRD PARTY
On the basis of our work, our responsibility is to provide a reasoned
opinion expressing a limited assurance conclusion on:
●

the consistency of the Statement with the provisions of
Article R. 225-105 of the French Commercial Code;

●

the fairness of the information provided in accordance with
Article R. 225-105 I, 3 and II of the French Commercial Code,
i.e., the outcome of the policies, including key performance
indicators, and the measures implemented in light of the principal
risks (hereinafter the “Information”).

2
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●

we verified, where relevant with respect to the principal risks or
the policies presented, that the Statement provides the
information required under Article R. 225-105 II;

●

we assessed the process used to identify and confirm the
principal risks;

●

we enquired into internal control and risk management
procedures implemented by the entity;

●

we assessed the consistency of the outcomes and the key
performance indicators used with respect to the principal risks
and the policies presented;

●

we verified that the Statement covers the scope of consolidation,
i.e., all the companies included in the scope of consolidation, in
accordance with Article L. 233-16;

●

we assessed the data collection process implemented by the
entity to ensure the completeness and fairness of the Information;

●

for the key performance indicators and other quantitative results
that we considered to be the most important, we implemented:

●

analytical procedures to verify the proper consolidation of the
data collected and the consistency of any changes in those data;

●

tests of details, using sampling techniques, in order to verify the
proper application of the definitions and procedures and
reconcile the data with the supporting documents. This work was
carried out on a selection of contributing entities and covers

between 13% and 100% of the consolidated data relating to the
key performance indicators and outcomes selected for these
tests;
●

we referred to documentary sources and conducted interviews to
corroborate the qualitative information (measures and outcomes)
that we considered to be the most important;

●

we assessed the overall consistency of the Statement based on
our knowledge of all the consolidated entities.

We believe that the work carried out, based on our professional
judgment, is sufficient to provide a basis for our limited assurance
conclusion; a higher level of assurance would have required us to
carry out more extensive procedures.
Due to the use of sampling techniques and to the other limitations
inherent in the operation of any information and internal control
system, the risk of the non-detection of a material misstatement in
the Information cannot be completely eliminated.

Conclusion
Based on our work, nothing has come to our attention that causes us
to believe that the non-financial information statement is not in
accordance with the applicable regulatory provisions and that the
Information, taken as a whole, is not presented fairly and in
accordance with the Guidelines.

Lyon, 25 April 2019
FINEXFI
Isabelle Lhoste
Partner
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2.7.2 Cross-reference table
This section establishes the correspondences between the indicators in Article 225 of the French Grenelle II law and the topics covered by the
GRI 4 guidelines, ISO 26000 and the Global Compact Sustainable Development Goals and the various sub-sections of this Registration
Document.
The Grenelle II indicators as a whole form the foundation of the Fleury Michon Group’s strategic CSR indicators, as well as the framework for the
yearly audit.

2
Grenelle II – Article 225

Global
Compact

GRI 4

ISO 26000

Registration Document

-

6.4.4

2.5.4.2

LA 6

6.4.4

2.5.4.1

LA 4

6.4.3, 6.4.5

1&3

2.5.8

-

6.4.3, 6.4.5

1&3

2.5.8.4

Health and safety in the workplace

LA 5

6.4.6

3

2.5.4.1, 2.5.4.2

Agreements signed with trade unions on health
& safety in the workplace

LA 8

6.4.6

3

2.5.8.4

Working hours
Organisation of working hours
Absenteeism
Labour relations
Social dialogue
Collective bargaining agreements
Health and safety

Occupational accidents, in particular in terms
of frequency and severity

LA 6, LA 7

6.4.6, 6.8.8

3

2.5.4.1

Occupational illnesses

LA 6, LA 7

6.4.6, 6.8.8

3

2.5.4.1

Training policies implemented

LA 10, LA 11

6.4.7, 6.8.5

4

2.5.5

Total number of training hours

LA 9, HR 2

6.3.5, 6.4.7

4

2.5.4.3

LA 3, LA 12, 6.3.7, 6.3.10,
LA 13
6.4.3, 6.4.4

5

2.5.7.2

LA 12

6.3.7, 6.3.10,
6.4.3

10

2.5.7.3

LA 12, HR 3

6.3.6, 6.3.7,
6.3.10, 6.4.3

10

2.5.7.1

Respect for the freedom of association
and the right to collective bargaining

6.3.3, 6.3.4,
6.3.10, 6.4.5,
HR 4
6.6.6

8 & 10 & 16

Elimination of discrimination in employment
and occupation

HR 3

6.3.6, 6.3.7,
6.3.10, 6.4.3

1 & 10

Abolition of forced and compulsory labour

6.3.3, 6.3.4,
6.3.5, 6.3.10,
HR 6
6.6.6

1 & 10

Signatory of the Global Compact
since 2003
Fleury Michon commits to strict
compliance with the international
conventions in force on these
fundamental issues
Discrimination: 2.5.7

Effective abolition of child labour

6.3.3, 6.3.4,
6.3.5, 6.3.7,
6.3.10, 6.6.6,
HR 5
6.8.4

1 & 10 & 16

Training

Equal opportunity
Measures to promote gender equality
Measures to promote the employment
and integration of disabled people
Anti-discrimination policy
Promotion of and compliance with the ILO’s
core conventions
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GRI 4

ISO 26000

Global
Compact

Registration Document

G4-1

6.2, 6.5

13 & 6 & 7 &
14 & 15

2.4.1

G4-43

6.6.7, 6.5

13 & 4 & 11

2.4.1.3

EN 30, EN 31

6.5

13 & 6 & 7 &
14 & 1

2.4.1.2, 2.4.2

EC 2

6.5.5, 6.8.7

Fleury Michon does not recognise
7 & 8 & 9 any provisions for environmental risks

Measures to prevent, reduce and rectify
emissions into the air, water and soil that have
a significant environmental impact

EN 10, EN 20,
EN 21, EN 22,
EN 24, EN 26,
EN 31

6.5.3, 6.5.4,
6.5.5

6 & 14 & 15

Water 2.4.2.2
Based on its activity, Fleury Michon
does not consider that its emissions
into the air and soil are likely to
impact on the air and soil

Measures to prevent, recycle, recover and
eliminate waste

EN 23, EN 24,
EN 25, EN 27,
EN 28

6.5.3, 6.5.4,
6.5.5

12

2.4.2.1, 2.4.3.2

EN 24

6.5.3

14 & 15

2.4.2.3

Grenelle II – Article 225
Environmental information
General environmental policy
Organisation of the Company to address
environmental issues and, where applicable,
environmental assessment and certification
procedures
Environmental training and awareness
programmes for employees
Resources assigned to the prevention
of environmental risks and pollution
Amount of provisions set aside for
environmental risks (except for risk of harm)
Pollution and waste management

Measures to reduce noise pollution and all other
forms of pollution specific to a business activity
Measures to combat food waste

2.4.3.2

Sustainable use of resources
Water consumption

EN 8, EN 9

6.5.4

13

2.4.3.1

Water supply in accordance with local
regulations

EN 8, EN 9

6.5.4

13

2.4.3.1

Consumption of raw materials

EN 1, EN 2

6.5.4

13

2.4.3.2

Measures to improve the efficient use of raw
materials

EN 1, EN 2

6.5.4

13

2.4.3.2

Energy consumption

EN 3, EN 4,
EN 6, EN 7

6.5.4, 6.5.5

7

2.4.3.3

Measures to improve energy efficiency and use
of renewable energies

EN 3, EN 4,
EN 6, EN 7

6.5.4, 6.5.5

7

2.4.3.3

Land use

EN 11

6.5.4, 6.5.6

EN 15, EN 16,
EN 17, EN 18,
EN 19

6.5.5

Fleury Michon is not directly involved in
land use. The Company works in
partnership with local farmers to promote
sustainable agriculture, for example by
advising them on fertilisation
15
programmes and sludge spreading

Climate change
Major sources of GHG emissions generated
as a result of the Company’s operations,
in particular the use of goods and services
the Company produces and provides
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Grenelle II – Article 225

Adaptation to the consequences
of climate change

GRI 4

ISO 26000

Global
Compact

Registration Document

Its geographical locations mean that
Fleury Michon is not directly impacted by
climate change in the medium term. The
Group is however aware that climate
change could impact its supply chain. As
the issue is complex and does not
present a major risk in the short term, the
impact and necessary adaptations have
13
not yet been identified or quantified

EC 2

6.5.5

EN 11, EN 12,
EN 13, EN 14,
EN 26

6.5.6

14 & 15

2.4.5, 2.2.1.3

6.8

12 & 9

2.1.1, 2.1.3
2.2, 2.6

EC 6, EN 7,
EC 8, EC 9,
SO 1

6.4.3, 6.6.6,
6.7.8, 6.8.5,
6.8.7, 6.8.9

1

2.2.1.2, 2.6.3

EC 6, EC 7,
EC 8, EC 9,
HR 8, SO 1 &
SO 2

6.4.3, 6.5.3,
6.6.6, 6.7.8,
6.8.3, 6.8.5,
6.8.7, 6.8.9

2

Protecting biodiversity

Measures to protect and develop biodiversity
Information on societal commitments
promoting sustainable development
Local, economic and social impact
of the Company’s business on

Employment and regional development

Neighbouring or local populations
Relations with individuals or organisations
that benefit from the Company’s operations,
in particular social insertion organisations,
educational institutions, environmental
protection agencies, consumer
organisations and neighbouring populations
(NB: stakeholders)
Conditions for dialogue with these individuals
and organisations
Partnerships and sponsorships

5

2.6.4

17

2.1.6

G4-26, G4-37
EC 7

2.1.6
6.3.9, 6.8.7,
6.8.9

2.6.4.3

Subcontractors and suppliers

Integration of social and environmental issues
in the purchasing policy

Scale of subcontracting and the incorporation
of CSR in relations with suppliers and
subcontractors

6.3.3, 6.3.4,
LA 14, LA 15, 6.3.5, 6.3.7,
EN 33, HR 5, 6.3.10, 6.4.3,
HR 9, HR 11
6.6.6, 6.8.4
LA 14, LA 15,
G4-12, EN 32,
EN 33, HR 5,
HR 9, HR 11,
SO 9, SO 10

Fair operating practices

Measures to prevent all forms of corruption

Measures adopted to promote
consumer health and safety

Other measures to promote
human rights

6.3.3, 6.3.4,
6.3.5, 6.3.7,
6.3.10, 6.4.3
6.6.6, 6.8.4

1 & 2 & 13

2.2.1, 2.6.1

1 & 2 & 13

2.2.1, 2.6.1

16

2.1.7.2, 2.1.7.3

6.6
G4-56, G4-58,
SO 3, SO 4,
SO 5

6.6.3, 6.6.6

EN 27, PR 1,
PR 2, PR 3,
PR 4, PR 6,
PR 7, PR 8,
PR9

6.5.3, 6.5.4,
6.5.5, 6.7.3,
6.7.4, 6.7.5,
6.7.6, 6.7.7,
6.7.9, 6.8.8

HR 1, HR 2,
HR 7 to HR 12

6.3.3, 6.3.4,
6.3.5, 6.3.6,
6.3.7, 6.3.8,
6.6.6, 6.6.7,
6.8.3

2.2.2.2, 2.2.3 & 2.2.4

17

Signatory of the Global Compact
since 2003
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Corporate governance
ORGANISATION AND PRINCIPLES OF GOVERNANCE

This corporate governance report has been prepared in accordance with the final paragraph of Article L. 225-37 of the French Commercial Code
(Code de commerce), as amended by ruling no. 2017-1162 of 12 July 2017.
The Board of Directors, led by its Chairman, prepared this report after having consulted with the Chief Executive Officer, Administration & Finance
and the Internal Audit and Risks Department, as well as Fleury Michon’s operational departments with information relevant to the preparation of
this report.
It was submitted to the Board of Directors for its approval on 2 April 2019.
Fleury Michon Group confirms that it refers to the September 2016 version of the MiddleNext corporate governance code for small and midcap
listed companies. The code is available on the website www.middlenext.com.
Using the “comply or explain” approach, this report specifies the recommendations of the MiddleNext Code that have been applied within the
Group and provides detailed explanations with respect to the application of these recommendations. We also inform shareholders that the Board
of Directors has carefully considered the points to be watched set out in this code.
It will be presented to shareholders at the next Annual General Meeting on 28 May 2019.

3.1 Organisation and principles of governance
3.1.1 The Board of Directors
The Fleury Michon Group is administered by a Board of Directors.
To balance the demands of good management, safety and the
long-term future of the Company, the Board includes three types of
director:
●

Representatives of the core family shareholders;

●

Independent directors;

●

A director representing employee shareholders and a director
representing employees.

This report on corporate governance provides information on
directors’ professional experience and expertise.
There are two directors representing employee shareholders and
employees. The director representing employee shareholders is
appointed to the Board of Directors by the Supervisory Board of the
Fleury Michon corporate mutual fund, “Fleury Michon Actionnariat”.
The director representing employees is appointed to the Board of
Directors by the Works Council.

The Board of Directors currently has 11 members, including the
Chairman, Grégoire Gonnord, and three independent directors.
These are members who have no relationship of any kind with the
Company, its Group or management such as to influence their
freedom of judgement. The directors are independent within the
meaning of the recommendation of the MiddleNext Code, given that
the following criteria are all met:

The term of office proposed on electing or re-electing members is
three years. This allows directors to invest in their role on the Board
and the various committees. Each year, the Board re-elects one-third
of members in office.

●

Grégoire Gonnord, Chairman;

●

No close family ties with a director or core shareholder;

●

Geneviève Gonnord;

●

Not to have been a corporate officer or employee of the
Company or a Group company for at least five years;

●

Hervé Gonnord;

●

Claire Gonnord;

●

No contractual financial relationship with customers, suppliers,
banks or parties that represent a significant share of the
Company’s business at the time of their appointment or during
the two years preceding it;

●

Philippe Magdelénat;

●

Nicolas Le Chatelier;

●

Pierre Jourdain, independent member;

●

Nadine Deswasière, independent member;

●

No equity-based relationship (neither a core shareholder of the
Company nor holding a significant percentage of voting rights);

●

Not to have been a Company auditor in the last six years.

As of the date of this document, the members of the Board of
Directors are as follows:

● Christine Mondollot, independent member.
Honorary Chairman: Yves Gonnord (guest – not entitled to vote).
Vincent Roquebert, employee shareholder representative.
Olivier Fuzeau, employee representative.
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Balanced representation of women and men
on the Board of Directors
Listed companies in France are required to comply with the French
Commercial Code and Act no. 2011-103 of 27 January 2011
concerning gender equality and the balanced representation of
women and men on Boards of Directors and Supervisory Boards.
The Fleury Michon Group’s Board of Directors now counts four
female members, or 40%. This percentage does not include the
director representing employees.

Roles and responsibilities of the Board of Directors
The Board of Directors’ roles and responsibilities are defined in
accordance with Article 225-35 of the French Commercial Code.
The Board of Directors:
●

Appoints and dismisses the Chairman, Chief Executive Officer.
Determines the amount of compensation and the scope and
duration of the authorisations granted to corporate officers;

●

Appoints members to its specialised committees;

●

Examines and approves the direction of the Company’s
activities and oversees the application thereof. Deals with all
matters relating to the efficient running of the Company, and
debates and decides on issues affecting it. Carries out the
checks and audits that it deems appropriate;

●

●

More specifically, examines and approves the plans
implemented in relation to the Company’s main risks, and the
internal control plans. Regularly monitors the activity and
performance of the Company and ensures transparency in
reporting;
Sets and controls the limits to corporate officers’ powers.

Operation of the Board of Directors
Board meetings are called by the Chairman, who directs the
proceedings. Board members may be notified of the meeting by any

means, including verbally. The decisions of the Board shall only be
valid if half of the members are present; decisions are taken by a
majority of directors present or represented, including via
videoconference or teleconference with the Chairman having a
casting vote in the case of a tie. The meeting agendas are set by the
Chairman on his own initiative or on the recommendation of the Chief
Executive Officer. All items on the agenda are documented in writing.
Documents are sent to Board members by post or email several days
prior to the date of the meeting. This gives them the opportunity to
prepare for the meeting and to request additional information or
explanations. The Board votes to approve its operating budget on an
annual basis. This budget is separate from the attendance fees paid
to directors.
The Board of Directors is also governed by a set of Rules of
Procedure, in accordance with the recommendation of the
MiddleNext Code. The Rules of Procedure were updated at the
Board meeting on 15 May 2018. They:
●

specify the operating procedures of the Board, management,
shareholder relations and the fundamental values applicable to
all Group subsidiaries;

●

describe the general role and responsibilities of the Board and
specialised committees;

●

define the duties of Board members and the qualities expected
of them;

●

describe the general role and responsibilities of members of
management;

3

● define shareholder relations.
The essential extracts from the rules are included in this report, which
is made public every year and made available on the Company’s
website.
In accordance with the MiddleNext Code, members are regularly
invited to speak and express their views at Board meetings on the
functioning of the Board, the agenda and the preparation of the
Board’s work.

3.1.2 The Board’s committees
The Board of Directors has also set up specialised committees with a
view to enhancing its operating methods and assisting with its
decision-making processes:

succession plans are in place for the main senior positions. Its
members are: Nicolas Le Chatelier (Chairman) and Christine
Mondollot.

The Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) Committee helps
define the CSR policy, determine its objectives and oversee its
implementation. Its members are: Nadine Deswasière (Chair), Claire
Gonnord, Vincent Roquebert (employee member) and Olivier Fuzeau
(employee member).

The Audit and Risks Committee ensures the reliability of financial
information, oversees compliance with standards, reviews the
Group’s internal audit plan and internal control systems, as well as
maps and manages risks. Its members are: Pierre Jourdain
(Chairman), Philippe Magdelénat and Hervé Gonnord.

The Compensation and Appointments Committee reviews and
proposes compensation packages for the Company’s corporate
officers. It makes sure that compensation is appropriate and that

There is also a Strategy Committee, which is part of the lead holding
company SHCP.
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Compensation and Appointments Committee
The roles and responsibilities of the two-member Compensation and
Appointments Committee are to:
●

●

provide the Board with comments and/or recommendations
regarding the principles and terms and conditions of
compensation paid to the Group’s corporate officers and senior
managers; and ensure that compensation packages reflect the
performance of the Group;
request any information on the level and structure of
compensation of the Group’s senior managers from the Chief
Executive Officer and Human Resources Director; the
committee ensures that the compensation is justified,
consistent and competitive. Ensure that the Chief Executive
Officer attracts, manages and retains the Company’s best talent
appropriately;

●

examine and put forward profiles of new directors and members
of management; and ensure that high-potential individuals are
identified by management;

●

commission specific studies or call on the assistance of outside
consultants, as deemed necessary.

principles of the code, the method for determining compensation is
exhaustive, balanced, benchmarked, consistent, clear, measured and
transparent. The amounts are detailed in the Registration Document.
Severance pay: No compensation is paid to corporate officers on
termination or change in their position. Régis Lebrun is the beneficiary
of a 12-month non-compete clause included in his initial employment
contract.
Supplementary pension plan: The Group has a defined contribution
supplementary pension plan (Article 83) for its managers and senior
managers. It complies with the MiddleNext Code’s recommendation.
Stock options and free share awards: As part of its policy aimed at
motivating and rewarding employees and senior managers, the
Company has set up plans for share awards and redeemable
subscription and/or purchase warrants (BSAARs):
●

to award free shares (30 shares per beneficiary, subject to
length of service criteria), with the goal of sharing the Group’s
success with employees and thus encouraging a long-term
outlook. The free share programme began in February 2013
and each year the Board of Directors renews the free share
award programme for new employees (30 shares per person)
subject to seniority conditions of Group companies whose
registered offices are located in France;

●

to offer members of the Group Management Committee, as it
was formed in 2013, the option of BSAARs. The Executive
Management team, having noted the subscription choices
received by members of the Group Management Committee
and acting as the sub-delegate of the Board of Directors’
meeting of 25 February 2013, issued 61,211 BSAARs;

●

to award free shares to the Chief Executive Officer as
compensation for past service and to members of the Strategic
Planning Committee, subject to performance conditions, in
accordance with the authorisation granted to the Board of
Directors by the Annual General Meeting of 26 June 2018.

The permanent members are:
●

Nicolas Le Chatelier, Chairman;

● Christine Mondollot, member.
The Committee meets on a regular basis and at least twice a year. In
2018, the Committee met three times with an attendance rate of
100%.
The Committee applies the recommendations of the MiddleNext
Code concerning the compensation of corporate officers of listed
companies, and considers that its compensation packages are
aligned with the Company’s corporate governance approach. The
mandatory information on compensation and benefits is disclosed in
the “Compensation” section of this report and presented in
accordance with AMF guidelines.
Concurrent employment contracts: The employment contract of
the Chief Executive Officer pre-dates his appointment as corporate
officer and covers a separate position. This contract has been
maintained on account of the corporate officer’s experience and
length of service within the Group.
Definition and transparency of corporate officers’ compensation:
The Company complies with the recommendations of the MiddleNext
Code on corporate officer compensation. In accordance with the
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Detailed information on award programmes is provided in
Section 3.3.4.

Audit and Risks Committee
The Audit and Risks Committee assists the Board of Directors in its
review of the financial statements and audit of accounting and
financial information, as well as with internal control and risk
management matters. The committee implemented an audit charter
defining its organisation, procedures and responsibilities.
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Committee organisation and procedures: The committee has three
members, of which at least one independent member knowledgeable
in finance, accounting or audit matters. The committee’s Chairman is
selected from among the independent directors. As a matter of good
practice, at least two meetings per year are timed to coincide with
the financial reporting dates for the annual and interim consolidated
financial statements. The committee may decide to organise
additional meetings or meet without Executive Management in
attendance if it deems this to be necessary, in particular, to meet with
internal or external auditors. The committee is authorised to carry out
or have investigations carried out regarding the scope of its
responsibilities and to request and obtain advice or opinions from the
Company’s independent experts. The committee reports to the
Board of Directors on its assignments and work carried out in
connection with the approval of interim and annual financial
statements and at least once per year on other projects.

During the year, the committee:
●

conducted a detailed review of the 2017 annual financial
statements, the 2018 interim financial statements, the analysis
of the IFRSs applicable in 2017 or 2018 or applied early, the
scope of the work of the auditors on the consolidated financial
statements and the separate financial statements, and the
conclusions and recommendations concerning internal control;

●

reviewed the acquisition of Paso and its integration into the
consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRSs;

●

reviewed the Group’s security policy, insurance programmes,
financial commitments and risks, risk of fraud and monitoring of
the various risks and uncertainties;

●

verified that the rollout of anti-corruption and General Data
Protection Regulation (GDPR) provisions was in compliance
with applicable laws and regulations, the independence of the
Statutory Auditors and their fees for 2018.

The committee’s role and responsibilities are as follows:
●

monitor the preparation of financial information;

●

monitor the effectiveness
management procedures;

●

of

internal

control

Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) Committee
and

risk

monitor audits carried out by the Statutory Auditors, ensure
their independence, issue a recommendation on the Statutory
Auditors to be proposed to the Annual General Meeting and
approve non-audit services.

●

help define the corporate social responsibility policy and
determine the CSR focus areas and objectives in conjunction
with management;

The members of the Audit Committee are:

●

monitor the implementation and achievement of objectives;

●

Pierre Jourdain, Chairman;

●

●

Philippe Magdelénat, member;

work with management to define the communication strategies
aimed at promoting the CSR programme;

●

commission specific studies or call on the assistance of outside
consultants, as deemed necessary.

● Hervé Gonnord, member.
These three members were chosen for their knowledge of the
agri-foods sector and their additional experience and skills. Pierre
Jourdain was appointed Chairman, owing to his specific expertise in
finance.
The Audit and Risks Committee met five times during the year with
an attendance rate of 93.3%. During these meetings, the members
interviewed the Group’s Chief Financial Officer, Audit and Risks
Director and Consolidation Director. In addition, the Statutory
Auditors reported to the committee during the meetings devoted to
examining the financial statements.

3

The roles and responsibilities of the four-member CSR Committee
are to:

The CSR Committee met three times during the year with an
attendance rate of 100%. During these meetings, the committee
gained insight from Executive Management, the Strategic Marketing
Department and external CSR experts on initiatives in the main areas
of the “Eating Better” movement including:
●

packaging;

●

changes in sustainable consumption;

●

status of the entreprise à mission, a French company with a
social or environmental purpose;

● integrated report reform.
The permanent members are:
●

Nadine Deswasière, Chair;

●

Claire Gonnord, member;

●

Vincent
Roquebert,
shareholders;

member

representing

employee

● Olivier Fuzeau, member representing employees.
Information regarding environmental and social challenges and the
Group’s commitment to these issues is presented in Chapter 2,
“Corporate Social Responsibility” of the Registration Document.
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3.1.3 Group Executive Management
Executive Management assists the Board of Directors in preparing
and monitoring the implementation of strategic policies approved by
the Board. It does everything possible to ensure that the Company is
managed with due diligence and to achieve financial targets
approved by the Board.

Limits on Executive Management’s powers
In accordance with MiddleNext Code recommendations,
Fleury Michon is run by a Chief Executive Officer and a non-executive
Chairman, who carry out complementary roles (Article 16 of the
Articles of Association):
●

●

●

Under the leadership of the Chief Executive Officer, the Strategic
Planning Committee implements the Group’s overall strategy. It is
responsible for ensuring and supporting the roll out of strategic
projects, coordinating the Group’s management across all areas,
including customer service, sales and marketing, finance, production,
human resources and IT, and improving operating performance.
This committee holds meetings as often as deemed necessary and at
least twice a month. The committee may refer to internal and/or
external experts depending on the items on the agenda.
At 31 December 2018, the committee comprised:

the non-executive Chairman presides over and coordinates the
Board of Directors, which is in turn responsible for approving
the strategy recommended by the Chief Executive Officer and
overseeing its execution;

●

a Chief Executive Officer;

●

a Senior Vice President, Administration and Finance;

●

a Director of Communication and Strategic Marketing;

the Chief Executive Officer serves as the Group’s
spokesperson. He leads the Group and is responsible for
managing the Company effectively; he is given the broadest
possible powers to act in all circumstances on behalf of the
Company. His role also involves drawing up strategic proposals
and implementing them;

●

a Senior Vice President, Operations;

●

a Senior Vice President, Business Development.

the Chief Executive Officer must request authorisation from the
Board of Directors before selling property that belongs to the
Company, selling all or part of the shareholdings that belong to
the Company or granting security interests on the obligations
undertaken by the Company. The Rules of Procedure also
specify that approval is required for any investment or
unbudgeted material financing, as well as any change to the
Group’s scope or major change to its organisation.

SHCP, the lead holding company that represents the core family
shareholders, advises the Chief Executive Officer and adopts, based
on his proposals, the overarching strategic direction, which is
submitted to the Board of Directors for final approval. The Board then
selects the projects and/or operations necessary for its
implementation.
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3.1.4 Group application of the MiddleNext Code’s provisions on corporate governance
Fleury Michon’s Board of Directors adopted the December 2009
MiddleNext corporate governance code and now, the
September 2016 version of the code to encourage and promote a
system of governance suited to the Group’s size and shareholding
structure.

Over the previous years, the Board of Directors gradually changed its
governance structure to bring it in line with the code’s provisions and
recommendations. The table below provides a summary of these
provisions and associated comments:

FLEURY MICHON
MIDDLENEXT CODE RECOMMENDATIONS – September 2016
MiddleNext Code
Recommendations

Fleury Michon’s practical application

I. OVERSIGHT RESPONSIBILITY: DIRECTORS
R1 Director ethics
R1 1/4

Directors are expected to be exemplary, exhibiting consistency between their words and actions. On
accepting an appointment, each member must be aware of the accompanying obligations, in particular the
rule regarding holding multiple positions. Specific training is given to directors representing core family
shareholders or employees.

R1 2/4

Directors sign the Rules of Procedure (RP).
Directors verify compliance with ethical rules and independence criteria (RP page 8).
Directors are required to hold a minimum number of shares in the Company worth one quarter of the
amount of the attendance fees paid to them over the course of their three-year term (RP page 9).

R1 3/4

Independence criteria must be reviewed each year after directors take office (RP page 8).
Directors must abstain from voting in the event of a conflict of interest. A conflict of interest should also be
reported without delay to the Chairman of the Board (RP pages 5 and 8).
Directors must regularly attend Board meetings and meetings of Committees on which they serve (RP
page 8).
Each director is responsible for ensuring that they receive enough information to prepare for meetings
within the legally-prescribed timeframe. Documents are sent to Board members at least seven days prior
to the date of the meeting (RP pages 5 and 8).

R1 4/4

The substance of debates and the contents of documents presented to directors during Board meetings is
confidential (RP page 8).
Directors are required to attend the Annual General Meeting (RP page 8).
Executive directors may not hold more than two other directorships in listed companies.
There are currently no executive directors with directorships in a listed company.

R2 Conflicts of interest

The Board has procedures for managing and disclosing conflicts of interest (RP page 5).
At least once a year, the Board reviews known conflicts of interest, updating their status if required (RP
page 5).
The Board may call on an independent expert to review related-party agreements (RP page 4).
The Board must proceed with all reasonable investigations to evaluate measures to be put in place should
the need arise (RP page 5).

3

R3 Board membership – independent directors
R3 1/3

The Board includes at least three independent directors, or one-third of the Board, excluding directors
representing employee shareholders, who control the company (RP page 8).

R3 3/3

More generally, directors should have the freedom and power to oppose or withdraw from the Board, if
necessary (RP page 8).
This requirement is evaluated every year including the year they are elected when the Chairman writes his
report (now the corporate governance report) (RP page 8).

R4 Information
Information must be provided to directors within the legally-prescribed timeframe. (RP page 5).
provided to the members The RP specifies how such information is communicated to directors (RP page 5).
of the Board
The functioning of the Board is evaluated on a regular basis via a self-evaluation by its members (RP
pages 5, 8 and 9).
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MiddleNext Code
Recommendations

Fleury Michon’s practical application

R5 Organisation of Board Directors should be able to exchange outside Board meetings and independent directors should have the
and Committee meetings opportunity to exchange among themselves without directors present.
The Board of Directors should meet at least four times a year.
The number of meetings per year is provided in the corporate governance report.
Audit Committee: at least twice a year (RP page 6).
Compensation Committee: at least twice a year (PR page 7).
CSR Committee: at least three times a year.
Physical presence is preferred and videoconference should only be used exceptionally.
R6 Committees

The Board to Directors’ Rules of Procedure set the number of committees, their roles and how they
function (RP pages 6–7).
The Board established an Audit Committee (RP page 5).
The Audit and CSR Committees are chaired by independent directors.

R7 Implementation of the Rules of Procedure have been implemented.
Rules of Procedure
The Rules of Procedure contain the eight recommended sections, except the one regarding systems to
protect corporate officers.
The Group’s insurance programme includes a specific corporate officers’ liability policy covering senior
managers and directors. Directors and, in particular new members, were made aware of this policy.
The essential extracts of the Rules of Procedure are included in the Registration Document, available at the
Company’s website: fleurymichon.fr.
R8 Choice of directors

A list of the directors’ terms, their professional experience and expertise are available at the Company’s
website before the Annual General Meeting is held (RP page 12).

R9 Duration of directors’
terms

Directors serve for three years (RP page 5). This duration is specific to the Company and stated in the
corporate governance report.
Each year, the Board re-elects one-third of its members (RP page 5).

R10 Directors’
compensation

Independent directors’ compensation is higher than that of directors representing core family shareholders
or employees.
Attendance fees take into account directors’ attendance rate, their professional experience and active
involvement, as well as the performance of their responsibilities between meetings (RP page 8).

R11 Evaluating the Board Once a year, directors are asked to report on the functioning of the Board, its Committees and the
of Directors’ work
organisation of the Board’s work.
The Board’s compliance with procedures when approving the annual financial statements is reflected in
the corporate governance report.
R12 Shareholder relations The Board ensures that all the conditions are met for senior managers, directors and shareholders to
discuss Company matters and that the Annual General Meeting is organised in such a way that it is
accessible to all (RP page 12).
In addition, in reality, directors meet with significant shareholders on a regular basis.
II. EXECUTIVE RESPONSIBILITY: SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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R13

The Board of Directors asks the Annual General Meeting to set compensation and validate the
performance conditions for variable compensation of the Chief Executive Officer in accordance with the
recommendation of the Compensation Committee (RP page 7).
As regards the transparency of corporate officers’ compensation, the Rules of Procedure follow the
seven criteria set out in the MiddleNext Code to the letter (RP pages 10–11).

R14

The Rules of Procedure state that potential vacancies and a succession plan to fill the role of Chief
Executive Officer must be discussed at least once a year by the Compensation and Appointments
Committee (RP page 11).

R15

The Rules of Procedure state that the Chief Executive Office, depending on the size of the Company, may
also have an employment contract with the Company (RP page 11).

R16

The Chief Executive Officer does not receive severance pay.

R17

Directors do not benefit from an executive pension plan but the collective supplementary pension plan.

R18

The free share awards authorised for some executives and senior managers are subject to performance
conditions associated with the long-term interests of the Company over two to six years.

R19

The Board cites the MiddleNext Code, including the points to be watched, and each director has a copy of
said code.
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3.2 Corporate officers
3.2.1 List of directorships and similar positions in the past five years
BOARD OF DIRECTORS

■

GRÉGOIRE GONNORD

Representative of the core family shareholders
Directorships held at 31 December 2018 and during the past five years

Company

CEO
Director
Member of the Executive Committee
Director

■

SHCP (SAS)
L’ÉCOLE DE DESIGN NANTES
FONDATION THIERRY LATRAN

3

FONDATION THÉRAPIE GÉNIQUE PAYS DE LOIRE

GENEVIÈVE GONNORD

Representative of the core family shareholders
Directorships held at 31 December 2018 and during the past five years
Chair

■

Company
FONDATION BERTRAND GONNORD under the
auspices of the Apprentis d’Auteuil Foundation

HERVÉ GONNORD

Representative of the core family shareholders
Directorships held at 31 December 2018 and during the past five years
Chairman
Deputy Chairman
Chairman

■

Company
GONNORD FINANCES & PARTICIPATIONS SAS
FONDATION BERTRAND GONNORD under the
auspices of the Apprentis d’Auteuil Foundation
FONDS SOLIDAIRE BERTRAND GONNORD
endowment fund

CLAIRE GONNORD

Representative of the core family shareholders
Directorships held at 31 December 2018 and during the past five years
No other directorships or positions in other companies
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■

PIERRE JOURDAIN

Independent director
Directorships held at 31 December 2018

Company

Chairman of the Supervisory Board

ALVINVEST (SAS)

Chairman of the Supervisory Board

MOULINOISE DE PARTICIPATIONS (SAS)

Chairman of the Management Board

AZULIS CAPITAL (SA)

Other directorships held during the past five years
2014 to 2018

Member of the Supervisory Board
Chairman of the Supervisory Board

2014 to 2016
2014

■

HOLDING EUROPÉENNE DES DESSERTS (SAS)
BAG INVEST (SAS)

Board member

HG WEBER (Inc.)

Board member

DCM GROUP NORTH AMERICA (Inc.)

Member of the Supervisory Board

FINANCIÈRE DE L’AVENIR (SAS)

Member of the Supervisory Board

FINANCIÈRE CA (SAS)

Member of the Strategy Committee

MERINVEST (SAS)

NICOLAS LE CHATELIER

Director
Directorships held at 31 December 2018 and during the past five years
No other directorships or positions in other companies

■

PHILIPPE MAGDELÉNAT

Director
Directorships held at 31 December 2018 and during the past five years
No other directorships or positions in other companies

■

NADINE DESWASIÈRE

Independent director
Directorships held at 31 December 2018
Legal Manager

Company
ETHICONSEIL (SARL)

Chair of the Strategy Committee
Director

PROSPÉRITÉ FERMIÈRE – INGREDIA (SA)
MLLE DESSERT

Other directorships held during the past five years
2014 to 2015
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■

CHRISTINE MONDOLLOT

Independent director
Directorships held at 31 December 2018

Company
MARIE BRIZARD WINE AND SPIRITS (SA)(1)

Director
Director

SOLENDRO (SAS)

Director representing BPI France
Director

VIVESCIA INDUSTRIES (SCA)
ANTALIS France (SAS)

Other directorships held during the past five years
2015 to 2017

Director

VIVARTE (SAS)

2014 to 2015

Director

FISKARS Corporation

3

(1) Formerly known as BELVÉDÈRE (SA).

■

VINCENT ROQUEBERT

Director representing employee shareholders

■

OLIVIER FUZEAU

Director representing employees

EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT

■

RÉGIS LEBRUN

Directorships held at 31 December 2018
Chairman

Company
ROOM SAVEURS (SAS)

Director

PIATTI FRESCHI ITALIA (SPA)

Fleury Michon’s permanent representative on the Board of Directors

PLATOS TRADICIONALES (SA)

Chairman

FLEURY MICHON AMERICA (Inc.)(1)

Chairman

FLEURY MICHON CANADA (Inc.)

Chairman of the Board of Directors
Chairman

PROCONI (DOO)
FLEURY MICHON TRAITEUR DE LA MER (SAS)

Board member

FLEURY MICHON NORGE (AS)

Chairman

TRÈS BIEN MERCI (SAS)

Sole director

FLEURY MICHON (Inc.)

Chairman

FLEURY MICHON LS (SAS)

Chairman

CHARCUTERIES CUISINÉES DE PLÉLAN (SAS)

Chairman

SOCIÉTÉ D’INNOVATION CULINAIRE (SAS)

Chairman

L’ESPRIT FRAIS (SAS)

Chairman

JARGUS (SAS)

Other directorships held during the past five years
2016 to 2017

Chairman

FLEURY MICHON CHARCUTERIE (SAS)

(1) Formerly known as DELTA DAILYFOOD (Inc.).
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3.2.2 Length of directorships and information on the members of the Board
To the best of the Company’s knowledge, in the last five years none
of its corporate officers has:
●

been convicted of any fraudulent offence;

●

been associated with a company that has been declared
bankrupt, or placed in liquidation or receivership;

●

been the subject of any official public incrimination and/or
sanctions by statutory or regulatory authorities;

●

been disqualified by a court from acting as a member of the
administrative or management bodies of an issuer or from
acting in the management or conduct of the affairs of any
issuer.

■

CLAIRE GONNORD

Representative of the core family shareholders
Member of the CSR Committee
Daughter of Yves Gonnord and Geneviève Gonnord
Business address:
Fleury Michon SA, BP 1, 85707 Pouzauges, France
Start of first term: 26 May 2016
Current term expires
p
on: date of the OGM called in 2019 to approve
the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018

■

PIERRE JOURDAIN

Chairman

Independent director

■

Chairman of the Audit and Risks Committee

GRÉGOIRE GONNORD

Representative of the core family shareholders
Son of Yves Gonnord and Geneviève Gonnord
Business address:
Fleury Michon SA, BP 1, 85707 Pouzauges, France
Start of first term: 25 June 2009
Current term expires
p
on: date of the OGM to be called in 2021 to
approve the financial statements for the year ending 31 December
2020

Business address:
AZULIS
24, rue Royale, 75008 Paris, France
Professional expertise:
Agri-foods sector
Corporate strategy and finance
Private equity and finance
Experience:
Food and Wines From France (SOPEXA) New York

Members of the Board of Directors

French Agriculture Ministry – Food Directorate General

■

Banexi then Azulis Capital since 2000 (formerly Banexi Capital
Partenaire) – Associate Director, Private Equity

GENEVIÈVE GONNORD

Representative of the core family shareholders

Start of first term: 25 June 2009

Wife of Yves Gonnord

Current term expires
p
on: date of the OGM to be called in 2021 to
approve the financial statements for the year ending 31 December 2020

Business address:
Fleury Michon SA, BP 1, 85707 Pouzauges, France
Start of first term: 25 June 2009

■

NICOLAS LE CHATELIER

Director

Current term expires
p
on: date of the OGM to be called in 2020 to
approve the financial statements for the year ending 31 December
2019

Chairman of the Compensation and Appointments Committee

■

Fleury Michon SA, BP 1, 85707 Pouzauges, France

HERVÉ GONNORD

Representative of the core family shareholders
Member of the Audit and Risks Committee
Son of Yves Gonnord and Geneviève Gonnord
Business address:
Fleury Michon SA, BP 1, 85707 Pouzauges, France
Start of first term: 31 May 2012
Current term expires
p
on: date of the OGM to be called in 2021 to
approve the financial statements for the year ending 31 December
2020

Business address:
Professional expertise:
Mergers and acquisitions
International sales and marketing
Strategy, restructuring and human resources management
Experience:
Procter & Gamble – Brand Manager
Yoplait France – Chief Executive Officer
Chairman of the French fresh dairy products trade federation
(Syndicat professionnel des produits laitiers frais)
Sodiaal – Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Entremont Group – Chairman of the Executive Board
Chairman of the French cheese trade federation (Syndicat
professionnel des fromages)
Start of first term: 25 June 2009
Current term expires
p
on: date of the OGM called in 2019 to approve
the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018.
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■

PHILIPPE MAGDELÉNAT

■

CHRISTINE MONDOLLOT

Director

Independent director

Member of the Audit and Risks Committee

Member of the Compensation and Appointments Committee

Business address:

Business address:

Fleury Michon SA, BP 1, 85707 Pouzauges, France

40, avenue Bosquet, 75007 Paris, France

Professional expertise:

Professional expertise:

Strategy and marketing

Supermarket sector

Company assessment, turnaround and restructuring

Corporate strategy and marketing

Experience:

International (emerging countries: China, Indonesia, Middle East, etc.)

Rosières SA – Chief Executive Officer, Plants

Experience:

Tiffon – Chief Executive Officer

Virgin Group – Chair of the Management Board

Sarl Cohergence – Manager (strategy and development management
consultant)

Galeries Lafayette Group – International director

Fleury Michon Traiteur – Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Kodak France – CEO of Kodak Laboratories and Executive Director
of the Consumer Products division

SV&GM (Consultancy arm of Salustro-Reydel) – Director, Analysis
and Restructuring

BHV – General Manager

Saresco Groupe Hachette – Deputy Executive Director

Avenir Conseil Entreprises (mergers and acquisitions consulting) –
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Groupe Pernod Ricard – Marketing Vice-President, Sales Director
and member of the Management Committee

Professional Air Service – Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Procter & Gamble France – marketing

Start of first term: 25 June 2009

Start of first term: 28 May 2014

Current term expires
p
on: date of the OGM to be called in 2020 to
approve the financial statements for the year ending 31 December
2019

Current term expires
p
on: date of the OGM to be called in 2020 to approve

■

NADINE DESWASIÈRE

Independent director
Chair of the CSR Committee
Business address:
Ethiconseil, 20, rue Cail, 75010 Paris, France
Professional expertise:
Marketing and innovation
Corporate social responsibility

the financial statements for the year ending 31 December 2019

■

VINCENT ROQUEBERT

Director representing employee shareholders
Member of the CSR Committee
Business address:
Fleury Michon, BP 1, 85707 Pouzauges, France
Start of first term: 28 May 2015
Current term expires
p
on: date of the OGM to be called in 2021 to
approve the financial statements for the year ending 31 December 2020

Management and international development

■

Experience:

Director representing employee shareholders

Nestlé France – Chief Executive Officer

Member of the CSR Committee

Ethiconseil – Manager

Business address:

Be-linked – Co-founder

Fleury Michon, BP 1, 85707 Pouzauges, France

Speaker at ENA, HEC Executive, Institut Catholique de Paris and
Institut Français des Administrateurs

Start of first term: 28 May 2015

Start of first term: 25 June 2009
Current term expires
p
on: date of the OGM to be called in 2020 to
approve the financial statements for the year ending 31 December
2019.

3

OLIVIER FUZEAU

Current term expires
p
on: date of the OGM to be called in 2021 to
approve the financial statements for the year ending 31 December 2020

CHANGE TO THE COMPOSITION OF THE BOARD
PUT FORWARD TO THE ANNUAL GENERAL
MEETING OF 28 MAY 2019
The terms of office of the following directors expire on the date of the
Annual General Meeting called to approve the financial statements for
the year ended 31 December 2018:
●

Claire Gonnord;

● Nicolas Le Chatelier.
The Board of Directors recommends re-appointing the
abovementioned directors for a three-year period expiring at the
Annual General Meeting to be called in 2022 to approve the financial
statements for the year ending 31 December 2021.
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3.3 Compensation
3.3.1 Compensation and benefits
Compensation to corporate officers is recommended by the
Compensation and Appointments Committee and approved by the
Board of Directors. The variable elements of the compensation
package are based on the performance of the Group and its
subsidiaries in terms of operating income, the Group’s net profit,
business development criteria and corporate social responsibility.

Moreover, in an effort to boost employee shareholding, based on
authorisation by:
●

the Annual General Meeting of 11 February 2013, the Board of
Directors decided, at its meeting on 25 February 2013, to offer
subscription or purchase warrants to employee members of
management;

In compliance with Article L. 225-102-1 of the French Commercial
Code, the following information is disclosed in relation to the
corporate officers of Fleury Michon. Basic and variable compensation
and benefits due during the year to corporate officers of the
Company and its subsidiaries totalled €929 thousand.

●

the Annual General Meeting of 26 June 2018, the Board of
Directors decided, at its meeting on 4 September 2018, to
award free shares to Group executives and members of the
Strategic Planning Committee.

The award plan is described in Section 3.3.4.

The Fleury Michon Group states that corporate officers are not
entitled to any specific severance package should they change or
leave their positions.

SUMMARY OF GROSS COMPENSATION, STOCK OPTIONS AND SHARES AWARDED TO EACH CORPORATE OFFICER
In € thousands

At 31 December 2018

At 31 December 2017

Grégoire Gonnord
Chairman
Compensation due for the period

175.2

174.3

Value of multi-year variable compensation

-

-

Value of options awarded

-

-

Value of free shares awarded

-

-

175.2

174.3

435.4

340.5

Value of multi-year variable compensation

-

-

Value of options awarded

-

-

318.1

1.0

SUB-TOTAL
Régis Lebrun
Chief Executive Officer
Compensation due for the period

Value of free shares awarded

136

SUB-TOTAL

753.5

341.5

TOTAL

928.7

515.8
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SUMMARY OF GROSS COMPENSATION PAID TO EACH CORPORATE OFFICER
31 December 2017

31 December 2018
Amounts due

Amounts paid

Amounts due

Amounts paid

Salary

159.2

159.2

159.2

159.2

Bonus

-

-

-

-

In € thousands
Grégoire Gonnord
Chairman

Exceptional compensation
Attendance fees
Benefits in kind: company car

-

-

-

-

15.1

15.1

15.1

15.0

0.9

0.9

-

-

175.2

175.2

174.3

174.2

273.9

273.9

274.0

274.0

123.3

0.0

58.0

58.0

Exceptional compensation

-

-

-

-

Attendance fees

-

-

-

-

SUB-TOTAL
Régis Lebrun
Chief Executive Officer
Salary
(1)

Bonus

(2)

Fringe benefits

38.2

38.2

8.5

8.5

SUB-TOTAL

435.4

312.1

340.5

340.5

TOTAL

610.6

487.30

514.8

514.7

3

(1) Variable compensation is capped at 50% of gross annual compensation and breaks down as follows:
- 60% achievement of financial results objectives;
- 20% achievement of strategic and business development objectives;
- 20% achievement of CSR objectives.
(2) In kind benefits, company car and supplementary executive insurance.

3.3.2 Attendance fees
The members of the Board of Directors receive fees for attendance at meetings. The amount of these fees is determined each year by the Annual
General Meeting.
Attendance fees received by corporate officers(1)

2018(2) amounts due

2017(2) amounts due

2016(2) amounts due

Grégoire Gonnord

15.1

15.1

15.0

Geneviève Gonnord

15.1

15.1

11.0

Hervé Gonnord

15.1

13.1

13.0

Claire Gonnord

15.1

15.1

10.0

Philippe Magdelénat

15.1

15.1

15.0

Philippe Tharaud

0.0

0.0

3.0

Pierre Jourdain

29.1

27.1

25.0

Nicolas Le Chatelier

29.1

29.1

29.0

Nadine Deswasière

29.1

29.1

29.0

Christine Mondollot

23.1

21.1

25.0

Vincent Roquebert – employee shareholder representative

3.0

2.7

3.0

Olivier Fuzeau – employee shareholder representative

3.0

2.4

3.0

192.0

185.1

181

SUB-TOTAL
(1) No further compensation was paid to corporate officers.
(2) Attendance fees due for the period.
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At the Annual General Meeting, the Board of Directors will ask shareholders to set the total attendance fees payable to members of the Board of
Directors in respect of 2019 at €197,500. This amount is below the statutory ceiling.
The attendance fees are determined on the basis of each member’s status (independent, core family shareholder representative or employee
representative), committee participation and level of responsibility (committee chairs).

3.3.3 Benefits paid to corporate officers

Supplementary
pension plan(2)

Employment
contract(1)
Executive corporate officers

Yes

Compensation or
benefits due or that
may be due on
Compensation relating
termination or change to a non-compete
in position
clause(4)

No

Yes

X

X

X

X

X

No

Yes

No

Yes

No

Grégoire Gonnord
Chairman

X

Start of term(3)
Current term expires on(3)
Régis Lebrun
Chief Executive Officer

X

X

Start of term(3)
Current term expires on(3)
(1) The employment contract pre-dates his appointment as corporate officer and covers a separate position. This contract has been
maintained on account of the corporate officer’s experience and length of service within the Group.
(2) The Group has a supplementary defined-benefit pension plan for management (Article 83 of contract). The contribution paid by the
employer and recognised by the issuer is 2.4% of gross compensation, paid to the corporate officer.
(3) Executive corporate officers are appointed for a three-year period expiring on the date of the Ordinary General Meeting to be called in
2021 to approve the financial statements for the year ending 31 December 2020.
(4) Twelve-month non-compete clause included in the employment contract from the date of termination of the employment contract,
applicable in France and extended to the countries in which Fleury Michon operates, covering its prepared meals business (prepared
meals, charcuterie and prepared seafood). In return, a payment set at 20% of the average gross salary for the past 12 months (excluding
target-based bonuses) will be made.

3.3.4 Award of capital securities and BSAARs
The Board of Directors decided, at its meeting on 4 September 2018,
to award free shares and performance shares to executives and
members of management. The award plans are summarised below in
Sections 2 and 3.
There were no share subscription or purchase option plans for
executives or executive corporate officers in 2018 or previous years
with the exception of the 25 February 2013 issue of BSAARs,
presented below in Section 3.
The various award plans approved on 25 February 2013 have now
ended and are presented as historical information.
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1. DECISION TO AWARD FREE SHARES SUBJECT
TO NO PERFORMANCE CONDITIONS
The Annual General Meeting of 26 June 2018 authorised the Board
of Directors to award free shares in accordance with the terms set
forth in its twenty-sixth resolution. The Board meeting of 4 September
2018 awarded 6,700 free shares to Fleury Michon’s Chief Executive
Officer. This share award will only be available following a two-year
vesting period, ending 4 September 2020, on which date, the shares
will be effectively awarded to the beneficiary. The share award is not
contingent on the beneficiaries’ continued employment at the end of
the vesting period. The Board did not set a lock-up period.
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HISTORY OF FREE SHARE AWARDS
Information on free share awards

Plan No. 1

Plan No. 2

Date of the Annual General Meeting of Plan

11 February 2013

26 June 2018

Date of Board meeting

25 February 2013

4 September 2018

Total number of free shares awarded per beneficiary

30

6,700

€1,006

€318,142

25 February 2017

4 September 2020

-

-

Value of free shares (IFRS 2)
End of vesting period and availability date
Total number of free shares actually awarded to corporate officers in 2018
Total number of free shares awarded and vested

30

-

Régis Lebrun

30

-

Chief Executive Officer

2.

DECISION TO AWARD SHARES SUBJECT
TO PERFORMANCE CONDITIONS

Plan No. 1 to award shares subject to performance conditions ended
in June 2017. Due to the achievement rate of performance
conditions, including a financial criterion (operating margin) and
non-financial criterion (meetings held with employees), only 210 of the
maximum 240 free shares per beneficiary were awarded.
The Annual General Meeting of 26 June 2018 authorised the Board
of Directors to award free shares in accordance with the terms set
forth in its twenty-sixth resolution. Subject to performance conditions,
the Board meeting of 4 September 2018 awarded a maximum
number of 37,500 free shares, including 15,000 to the Chief
Executive Officer and 22,500 to other members of the Fleury Michon
Strategic Planning Committee.
This award is subject to only one performance condition, recurring
operating profit, year-on-year and fully-integrating joint-ventures. The
number of shares awarded is based on different achievement
thresholds, no later than 31 December 2024. If one of the benchmark
results is met, free shares awarded for the year vest regardless of
future changes in the operating profit:

●

first threshold: a total of 25,000 free shares;

●

second threshold: a total of 6,300 additional free shares;

3

● third threshold: a total of 6,200 additional free shares.
The Board of Directors decided that these free shares would only be
available following a two-year vesting period, ending 4 September
2020, on which date, the vesting period will end if all or part of the
performance conditions have been met. The share award is also
contingent on the beneficiaries’ continued employment at the end of
the vesting period or, if the performance conditions are not met, until
the date of the Annual General Meeting that will establish whether a
threshold has been reached or, at the very latest, the Annual General
Meeting called to approve the financial statements for the year ending
31 December 2024.
The Board did not set a lock-up period.
The Board, in compliance with paragraph four of
Article L. 225-197-1-II, specifies that 20% of shares awarded to the
Chief Executive Officer must remain registered in his name until he
steps down.
Tables 6 and 10 below of the AMF recommendation summarise the
compensation awarded to corporate officers.

SUMMARY OF SHARES AWARDED SUBJECT TO PERFORMANCE CONDITIONS
Free performance shares awarded to each corporate officer
Performance shares awarded by
the Annual General Meeting during
No. and
the financial year to each
date of the
corporate officer by the issuer
plan
Régis Lebrun
Chief Executive Officer

No. 2

Number
Value of shares
of shares
according to the
awarded method used for the
during the consolidated financial
period
statements
15,000

€712,200

Vesting date(1)

Availability
date

Performance
conditions

4 September
2020

4 September
2020

(2)

4 September
2018

(1) Effective award date of the performance shares, subject to continued employment and performance conditions. Shares may be awarded up to
31 December 2024.
(2) Performance shares are awarded based on the three recurring operating profit thresholds. Benchmark operating profits are not published for
confidentiality reasons and secrecy of Group objectives.
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HISTORICAL AWARD OF FREE SHARES SUBJECT TO PERFORMANCE CONDITIONS
Information on free share awards

Plan No. 1

Plan No. 2

Date of the Annual General Meeting of Plan

11 February 2013

26 June 2018

Date of Board meeting

25 February 2013

4 September 2018

240

15,000

-

-

Total number of free shares that may be awarded per beneficiary
Number of free shares vested during 2018
Total number of free shares awarded and vested

210

-

Régis Lebrun

210

-

Chief Executive Officer

3.

SHARE AWARD SUMMARY TABLE ISSUE
OF REDEEMABLE SUBSCRIPTION AND/OR
PURCHASE WARRANTS (BSAAR)

The Board of Directors decided at its 25 February 2013 meeting to
issue a maximum of 118,800 BSAARs granting the subscribers
named by the Extraordinary General Meeting of 11 February 2013 the
right to purchase or subscribe Fleury Michon shares. Each beneficiary
may subscribe a minimum of 1,800 BSAARs and a maximum of
10,800 BSAARs. Of the total 118,800, only 61,211 BSAARs were
issued exclusively to certain employees of the Group on 22 March

2013 at the price of €2.82. BSAARs are non-transferable and
non-exercisable for three years. The Board meeting held on 1 April
2016 confirmed the exercise parity of the BSAARs and changed the
listing date. Each BSAAR allows its holder to purchase or subscribe,
at the issuer’s discretion, an existing or new Fleury Michon share at a
price of €47.58, which represents 110% of the average closing price
of the Company’s share over the 20 trading days preceding
22 February 2013. The BSAARs may be exercised from 7 April 2016,
the date they were first listed on the Euronext Paris market, until
22 March 2020.

HISTORY OF AWARDS OF SHARE SUBSCRIPTION AND PURCHASE OPTIONS
Information on redeemable subscription and/or purchase warrants (BSAARs)
Date of Annual General Meeting

11 February 2013

Date of Board meeting

25 February 2013

Total number of shares that may be subscribed or purchased
Date from which options may be exercised
Expiry date
Subscription or purchase price

Exercise terms
Total number of share subscription or purchase options cancelled or declared null and void

118,800
7 April 2016
22 March 2020
€47.58
non-exercisable and
non-transferable from
22 March 2013 until
22 March 2016 (extended
to 7 April 2016)
57,589

Number of subscribed shares at 31 December 2018(1)

37,238

Stock options remaining at the end of the financial year

23,973

of which number subscribed or purchased by
Régis Lebrun
Chief Executive Officer
(1) No share subscriptions were exercised in 2018. Stock options remaining at the end of the financial year amount to
23,973 BSAARs.
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3.3.5 Trading in the Company’s shares by management
In accordance with Article L. 621-18-2 of the French Monetary and
Financial Code (Code monétaire et financier)
r and the General
Regulation of the French Financial Markets Authority (Autorité
(
des
Name
Nicolas Le Chatelier

marchés financiers – AMF), management and similar parties
disclosed the following transactions in 2018.

Type of
transaction

Date

Number of
shares

Amount

Purchase

May 2018

210

€9,597

3

3.3.6 Principles and criteria for senior management and corporate officers’
compensation
Having reviewed the corporate governance report, the Board of
Directors approved the 2018 compensation components and will ask
shareholders at the Annual General Meeting of 28 May 2019 to
approve the principles and criteria for distributing and awarding fixed,
variable and exceptional components making up total compensation

and benefits in kind for the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer
for 2019.
Compensation components and criteria are set out in the table
below:

COMPENSATION FOR GRÉGOIRE GONNORD – CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Proposed
compensation for
2019

Compensation due
for 2018

Salary

€162,035

€159,171

Bonus

N/A

N/A

Deferred variable compensation

N/A

N/A

Multi-year variable compensation

N/A

N/A

€15,080

€15,080

Exceptional compensation

N/A

N/A

Stock options

N/A

N/A

Free performance shares

N/A

N/A

Signing bonus

N/A

N/A

Severance payment

N/A

N/A

Non-compete benefit

N/A

N/A

Supplementary pension plan

N/A

N/A

Collective death/disability insurance, health insurance and defined-contribution pension
plan

N/A

N/A

Compensation components

Attendance fees

Benefits in kind (company car)
TOTAL

€5,392

€899

€182,507

€175,150
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COMPENSATION FOR RÉGIS LEBRUN – CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
Compensation components

Proposed compensation for 2019

Compensation due for 2018

Salary

€278,875

€273,942

Bonus

50% of gross annual compensation
Breaks down as follows:
● 60% achievement of financial results
objectives;
● 20% achievement of strategic and
business development objectives;
● 20% achievement of CSR objectives(1).

50% of gross annual compensation
Breaks down as follows:
● 60% achievement of financial results
objectives;
● 20% achievement of strategic and
business development objectives;
● 20% achievement of CSR objectives.
Amount set at €123,275 subject to the
approval of the Annual General Meeting.

Deferred variable compensation

N/A

N/A

Multi-year variable compensation

N/A

N/A

Attendance fees

N/A

N/A

Exceptional compensation

N/A

N/A

Stock options

N/A

N/A

Free shares with no performance conditions N/A

6,700 free shares vesting on 4 September
2020 worth €318,142 at 4 September
2018

Free shares with performance conditions

N/A

10,000, 12,500 or a maximum of
15,000 free shares based on three
achievement thresholds no later than
31 December 2024, subject to achieving
the recurring operating profit condition,
year-on-year and fully-integrating joint
ventures.

Signing bonus

N/A

N/A

Severance payment

N/A

N/A

Non-compete benefit

N/A

N/A

Supplementary pension plan

N/A

N/A

Collective death/disability insurance, health N/A
insurance and defined-contribution pension
plan

N/A

Benefits in kind:
●

supplementary executive insurance

€28,827

€28,785

●

company car

€9,440

€9,440

(1) Based on occupational accident frequency and severity rates and the percentage of Nutri-Score A and B product classifications.
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3.4 Other information in the report on corporate
governance
3.4.1 Procedures for shareholder participation in General Meetings
The procedures for shareholder participation in General Meetings, as
described in the Articles of Association (Articles 17 and 18), are as
follows:
●

the procedures for calling General Meetings are governed by
French law. General Meetings are held at the registered office or
any other address provided in the notice of meeting;

●

holders of registered shares may attend on presentation of
proof of their identity, provided that their shares have been
entered in the Company’s share register at least three days
prior to the meeting. Holders of bearer shares must present a
certificate from their custodian stating that the shares have been
placed in a blocked account until the close of the General
Meeting.

The bare owner has the right to participate in all Annual General
Meetings.
Nevertheless, double voting rights are granted to all fully paid up
shares that have been registered in the name of the same
holder for at least four years. If capital is increased through the
incorporation of reserves, income or issue premiums, this
double voting right will apply, from the time of issue, to new
registered shares awarded free of charge to shareholders on
the basis of shares already held that bear this entitlement.
II. Each share gives its holder an ownership interest in the
Company’s assets, distributed profits and liquidation dividends,
this interest being proportionate to the percentage of the capital
that the share represents.

The procedures for holding General Meetings are governed
by French law.

In the event of distribution or redemption, each share grants
entitlement to the same net amount. Consequently, all shares
will be aggregated for the purposes of any tax exemptions that
may affect the Company and to which such distribution or
redemption may give rise.

Rights attached to shares are described below in Article 10 of the
Articles of Association.

ARTICLE 10 – RIGHTS ATTACHED WITH SHARES
I.

Each share in the Company entitles the bearer to participate and
vote in Annual General Meetings under the conditions and with
the exceptions set forth by law and regulations.

3

III. Whenever several shares are required to be held for the purpose
of exercising any right, shareholders are personally responsible
for pooling together the required number of shares and do not
hold any right against the Company.
Additional information on the Company and excerpts from the
Articles of Association are presented in Chapter 7 “Information
on the Company and its capital” of the Registration Document.

The voting right attached with a share belongs to the beneficial
owner at both Ordinary and Extraordinary General Meetings.

3.4.2 Items that could have an impact in the event of a public tender offer
The information required by Article L. 225-37-5 of the French
Commercial Code on the shareholder base and items that could have
an impact in the event of a public tender offer is disclosed in
Chapter 7 “Information on the Company and its capital” of the
Registration Document and includes:
●

ownership structure, breakdown of share capital and voting
rights;

●

information on the Company (excerpts from the Articles of
Association);

●

thresholds, shareholder agreements (action in concert);

●

employee share ownership and treasury shares;

●

delegations and authorisations for share buybacks and capital
increases or decreases.

To the best of the Company’s knowledge, there were no material
changes in the list of shareholders with special rights between
31 December 2018 and the date of this document.
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At 31 December 2018
Breakdown of share capital and voting rights
SHCP (Société Holding de Contrôle – Gonnord family)
Shares held by individuals (Chartier – Gonnord families)
SUB-TOTAL CONCERT
Other members of the family group (Magdelenat)
Public
Corporate mutual fund holding shares on behalf of employees
Treasury shares
TOTAL
The Company is controlled as described in the above table and has
taken measures to ensure that this control cannot be abused by:
●

including independent directors on the Board of Directors, the
Audit and Risks Committee and the Compensation and
Appointments Committee;

● separating the functions of Chairman and CEO.
The Gonnord and Chartier families held more than 50% of the
Company’s capital and 68.99% of the voting rights (68.13% of the
theoretical voting rights) directly or indirectly at 31 December 2018.
No special rights are attached to any of the Company’s shares, with
the exception of the double voting rights attached to all fully paid-up
shares that have been registered in the name of the same holder for

Number of shares

% of capital

% of voting rights

2,034,548

46.37%

54.82%

516,448

11.77%

14.17%

2,550,996

58.14%

68.99%

269,257

6.14%

7.10%

1,324,734

30.19%

19.95%

151,565

3.45%

3.96%

91,205

2.08%

-

4,387,757

100.00%

100.00%

at least four years in accordance with Section 1, paragraph 3 of
Article 10 of the Company’s Articles of Association (decision by the
Annual General Meeting of 13 May 2002). This entitlement to double
voting rights expires for any shares converted to bearer status or
transferred, except in cases where the transfer involves a change of
name in the nominal register subsequent to family inheritance or
endowment.
The Articles of Association do not include any clause that restricts the
exercise of voting rights or the transfer of shares, which are freely
tradable. Furthermore, there are no reciprocal agreements or
commitments pertaining to the purchase of shares representing at
least 0.5% of the capital or voting rights of the Company.

3.4.3 Conflicts of interest and related-party agreements
To the best of the Company’s knowledge and as of the date of
publication of this document:
●

no conflicts of interest have been identified between the duties
of the members of Executive Management and of the Board of
Directors and their private interests or other duties;

●

no arrangements or agreements have been made with the main
shareholders, customers or suppliers according to which one of
the members of the Board was selected based on their
membership of the Board;

●
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no restrictions have been accepted by Executive Management
or one of the members of the Board of Directors concerning the
sale of their stake in the Company’s capital.
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At its meeting on 1 April 2016, the Board of Directors authorised the
continuation of a service agreement concerning the provision of
consulting services to Fleury Michon in the areas of strategy and
business development (strategic planning agreement, serving as a
rider to the service agreement, mentioned under related-party
agreements).
SHCP is the Group’s major shareholder and holding company.
As such, SHCP participates in defining the Group’s medium- and
long-term overall strategy and its main business development
focuses. It also helps and advises Fleury Michon Group and provides
it with governance, development, financial strategy, innovation and
communication services.

Corporate governance
OTHER INFORMATION IN THE REPORT ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The service agreement with SHCP SAS, concerning Fleury Michon director Grégoire Gonnord, Chief Executive Officer of SHCP resulted in
expenses of:
For the year ended

Amount (in € thousands)

Compensation criteria

2018

935

0.13% of revenue in Y-1

2017

959

0.13% of revenue in Y-1

2016

985

0.13% of revenue in Y-1

The Statutory Auditors’ special report on related-party agreements and commitments is included in Chapter 6 “Parent company financial
statements” of the Registration Document.

3.4.4 Table summarising delegations of capital
Delegation

3

Maximum nominal amount
Term of
of capital increase authorisation

Annual General
Meeting Resolution

Use of
authorisation

Buyback of the Company’s own shares

10% of share capital

18 months

26 June 2018

No. 18

Not used

Authorisation to reduce the Company’s
capital

10% of share capital

24 months

26 June 2018

No. 30

Not used
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PRESERVATIVES BELONG
IN MUSEUMS.

In 2019, we are removing all
preservatives from our meals.

€

725.3m
Revenue
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€

14.4m
Net proﬁt

2.0%
Net margin
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Management report – 2018 financial review
ECONOMIC ENVIRONMENT AND OPERATING HIGHLIGHTS

The consolidated financial statements of Fleury Michon and its subsidiaries (“the Group”) were approved by the Board of Directors on 2 April 2019
and were prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). Accounting policies, measurement rules and methods
and basis of consolidation are described in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, Chapter 5.
The 2018 consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the 2017 and 2016 consolidated financial statements as set out in
the 2017 Registration Document filed with the French Financial Markets Authority (Autorité
(
des marchés financiers - AMF) on 26 April 2018 under
no. D. 18-0407.
The financial statements of Fleury Michon SA, the parent company, have been prepared in accordance with French generally accepted
accounting principles (GAAP).

4.1 Economic environment and operating highlights
2018 was marked by a return to operating profitability more in line
with expectations and up compared with 2017, with recurring
operating margin increasing from 1.2% in 2017 to 2.8%.
During the year, Fleury Michon cemented its commitment to its
corporate project of “Helping people eat better every day” by
launching new, healthier ranges for consumers, proposing new

categories of ultra-fresh products in French Supermarkets and
confirming its external growth strategy by acquiring new businesses.
Fleury Michon also diversified, finalising the acquisition of all
outstanding shares in Paso, a company specialising in appetizers and
nibbles for supermarkets (see Note 4.9 “Capital expenditure, portfolio
management and business review of subsidiaries”).

4.2 Business review and consolidated results
4.2.1 Consolidated revenue
The Group’s business is organised around three growth areas:
●

French Supermarkets – fresh, self-service, pre-packaged
products;

●

International Operations: frozen products (airline catering) and
fresh, self-service, pre-packaged products outside France;

●

Sales and Services (other): eat-out and travel catering, other
activities.

Revenue (in € millions)
French Supermarkets
International Operations
Other France
TOTAL
Of which changes in Group structure(1)

The Group’s revenue came to €725.3 million in 2018 versus
€716.9 million in 2017, a slight 1.2% increase. Revenue movements
break down among the three major business segments as follows:
●

French Supermarkets: up 2.4%;

●

International Operations: down 10.9% (down 8.2% at constant
exchange rates);

● Sales and Services and other (included in “Other”): up 1.1%.
At constant Group structure, consolidated revenue fell by 1.7% year
on year in 2018.
2017

2018

601.0

615.3

58.8

52.4

57.1

57.6

716.9

725.3
21.4

(1) Consolidation of the Paso business in April 2018 and Good Morning in January 2018, and discontinuation of FM Norge operations in January 2018.

148

2018 REGISTRATION DOCUMENT /

Management report – 2018 financial review
BUSINESS REVIEW AND CONSOLIDATED RESULTS

4.2.1.1

FRENCH SUPERMARKETS

Revenue from the French Supermarkets business segment, which
represents 85% of the Group’s total, amounted to €615.3 million, up
2.4%. Nevertheless, the segment underperformed in its historic
business, with revenue down by 0.6% over the full year, reflecting
disruptions in the fourth quarter due to the 25% salt reduction in
charcuterie ranges and the yellow vests protest movement in France.
The Fleury Michon brand followed this trend, with revenue dropping
0.9% in the historic business.
By market, revenue for Fleury Michon-brand products came in at:
●

€435.6 million (down 0.6%) for Charcuterie ranges (74% of
segment revenue);

●

€108.2 million (up 15.1%, down 4.2% at constant Group
structure) for Prepared Meals ranges (19% of segment
revenue);

●

€43.5 million (up 2.9%) for Surimi ranges (7% of segment
revenue).

The 2018 revenue figures include changes in our environment and in
the Fleury Michon Group, reflecting:
●

the repositioning of our offering by making major changes to the
traditional charcuterie range, which are being transitioned
towards low-salt, organic and “J’aime” label charcuterie ranges
to encourage healthy eating and further our corporate project of
“Helping people eat better every day”;

●

the launch of innovative concepts such as Salad’Jars and
Assiettes Plaisirs;

●

the development of business by acquiring companies such as
Paso and Good Morning;

●

the persistent pressure on prices from supermarkets;

● the reduced promotional pressure for Fleury Michon.
In light of this, 2018 saw Fleury Michon maintain its leadership or
co-leadership among national brands in charcuterie (pork hams,
poultry cuts and ready-to-eat charcuterie), individual prepared meals
and surimi.

4.2.1.2

INTERNATIONAL OPERATIONS

In 2018, International Operations, which represents 7% of the
Group’s revenue, did not maintain the positive momentum observed
in previous years. The 10.9% decrease in revenue (8.2% at constant
exchange rates) was due to the planned discontinuation of

Fleury Michon Norway operations and the poor performance of the
export
business
(i.e.,
shipping
from
France)
and
Fleury Michon Switzerland. In Canada, business was satisfactory
despite revenue dropping 3.6% (3.6% at current exchange rates) due
to the refocus on airline catering and the reduction in self-service
ranges for supermarkets.
The two joint ventures (equity-accounted businesses in Italy and
Spain) continued to progress against different backdrops.
Piatti Freschi Italia (PFI) began growing again after having lost some
of its production capacity (due to a fire at its Marmate site in 2017) by
focusing on its Viva la Mamma brand products to compete with
private label rivals. Revenue increased by 3.9% to €107.2 million,
compared with a 4.6% decrease to €103.2 million in the previous
year. In Spain, Platos Tradicionales continued to grow, with revenue
rising 14.6% to €69.7 million, compared with a 7.1% rise to
€60.8 million in the previous year thanks to the successful launch of
new prepared meal and gratin ranges free from preservatives and
additives.
Non-consolidated revenue from these operations grew rapidly from
€164 million to €177 million in the year to 31 December 2018.

4.2.1.3

SALES AND SERVICES
(INCLUDED IN “OTHER”)

The Sales and Services business segment, which represents 8% of
the Group’s overall business, also includes support and assistance to
subsidiaries (logistics, human resources, IT and finance), as well as
the services activity (travel and traditional catering) of the Group’s
various companies.

4

Fleury Michon continued to develop this business segment in 2018,
adding 1.1% to revenue, by implementing new concepts and
services, which are today mainly represented by meals delivered to
the workplace, airline catering (travel catering) and meal solutions for
healthcare facilities.
Revenue amounted to €57.6 million in 2018, compared with
€57.1 million in 2017. At constant Group structure, revenue from this
segment fell by 4.9%. Within the business segment, revenue from the
delivered meals, receptions and buffets business rose by 10.8%,
versus 5.2% in the prior year, including contributions from
acquisitions. Historic business dropped by a slight 1% due to strong
competition (appeal of food tech) and the delay in the launch of new
products to the start of 2019.
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4.2.2 Consolidated results
In € millions

2016

2017

2018

Revenue

737.8

716.9

725.3

% revenue change

-2.6%

-2.8%

+1.2%

21.6

11.5

18.7

2.9%

1.6%

2.6%

Operating profit
Operating margin
Net profit
Net margin
Net debt
2018 was marked by encouraging results after a sharp slowdown in
2017. The competitiveness plan rolled out in the second half of 2017
paid off in 2018, offsetting the decrease in business in historic
segments and the ongoing pressure on retail prices.
The results improved more noticeably in the International Operations
segment,
thanks
to
the
successful
refocusing
of
Fleury Michon America (formerly Delta Dailyfood) on airline catering,
while maintaining the prepared meals operations under centralised
management at the warehouses, and to the improved contributions
made by PFI and Platos Tradicionales.
The Sales and Services segment was negatively affected by
overheads and launch costs of Esprit Frais’ new concepts.

8.6

14.4

1.2%

2.0%

54.2

40.5

93.0

As a result, recurring operating profit for 2018 came to €20.4 million,
with a recurring operating margin of 2.8%, compared with
€8.5 million and 1.2% in 2017.
In line with the French government’s policy to boost purchasing
power, the Fleury Michon Group also decided to pay its employees
working in the various subsidiaries in France a one-off €500 bonus
based on continued employment throughout the year and at
31 December 2018. The one-off purchasing power bonus came to
€1.6 million. Taking into account other non-recurring items, including
the favourable outcome of a trade dispute for €0.75 million and
acquisition costs for €0.9 million, recurring operating profit increased
by 60% from €11.5 million to €18.7 million. The operating margin
came out at 2.6% in 2018 versus 1.6% in 2017.

Operating profit by business segment (in € millions)

2016

2017

2018

French Supermarkets

22.7

18.7

20.8

International Operations

-2.6

-7.4

-0.1

Other France
TOTAL
Costs and expenses in 2018 were as follows:

150

16.8
2.3%

●

materials cost of sales down by 2.00%;

●

employee benefits expense down by 1.09%; if the one-off
bonus is taken into account, the decline is reduced to 0.16%;

●

external costs and other operating expenses up by 8.7%,
mainly due to greater media support and promotional
campaigns;

●

taxes other than on income up by 1.2%;

●

depreciation and amortisation net of reversals down by 12.5%,
compared with an increase of 8.6% in 2017.
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1.5

0.2

-2.1

21.6

11.5

18.7

Net financial expense totalled €1.2 million versus €0.8 million, an
increase due to the financing of acquisitions and the impairment of
non-consolidated investments.
The share in profits and losses of equity-accounted companies (Italy
and Spain) totalled €0.9 million in 2018, down from €2.6 million in
2017, which included the non-recurring items relating to Piatti Freschi
Italia’s insurance compensation.
Profitability significantly improved in 2018, with a net margin of 2.0%
(consolidated net profit (loss) divided by consolidated revenue),
compared with 1.2% reported in 2017. The Group’s net profit for the
year stood at €14.4 million, compared with €8.6 million in 2017 – an
increase of 68%.

Management report – 2018 financial review
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4.3 Group financial and cash position
Net finance costs were up, at €0.6 million in 2018, compared with
€0.4 million in 2017.
Net debt (long- and short-term borrowings, less cash and cash
equivalents and investments) increased to €93.0 million at end-2018,
compared with €40.5 million at end-2017, and included €42.7 million
for the financing of external growth transactions.
The benchmark interest rate (3-month Euribor) remained negative
throughout the year. The effect on net financial expense was,
however, partially limited by the Group’s interest rate hedging policy
(swaps) and the zero-rate floor banking terms. Average returns on
surplus cash investments (cash equivalents) trended in the opposite
direction and as a result fell during the year.
Net cash and cash equivalents amounted to slightly more than
€136 million at end-2018, compared with €132 million at end-2017.

The trade receivables securitisation programme was stable with
financing of €40.6 million at end-2018, compared with €39.3 million
at end-2017.
The Group’s programme of industrial investments totalled
€34.8 million for the period, compared with €25.4 million for the
previous year. The Group’s current investment amounts to around
€30 million and is aimed at improving productivity and maintaining a
high level of food safety.
Prepayments and assets under construction totalled €12.5 million at
end-2018, versus €11.3 million at end-2017.
At 31 December 2018, equity stood at €236.8 million, up 5.0% from
€225.6 million. Gearing (net debt divided by equity), a reflection of the
Group’s financial autonomy, stood at 39.3% at year-end, compared
with 17.8% at end-2017.

In € millions

2017

2018

Cash flows from operating activities

32.1

44.8

Cash flows used in investing activities

-14.9

-82.0

Cash flows used in financing activities

-18.4

-40.8

Change in cash and cash equivalents

-1.2

-3.7

132.4

136.0

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

4

4.4 Recent events and 2019 outlook
As part of its strategy, the Group will press ahead with the roll-out its
project “Helping people eat better every day” by continuing to
transform its product ranges and launching new products.

2019 will see:
●

a complicated market in which retailers will cut down on their
product assortments;

These innovative initiatives will be implemented in both the French
Supermarkets and Sales and Services business segments, to
develop an ultra-fresh range of convenience foods for city centres.

●

persistent high pressure from retailers to lower prices;

●

uncertainty about prices of raw materials;

●

changes in our competitive environment.
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4.5 Parent company results (Fleury Michon SA)
Fleury Michon SA’s financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with legal and regulatory requirements applicable in
France. The Company applies the rules concerning asset recognition
and measurement in accordance with ANC (French accounting
standard setter) Regulation 2016-07 of 4 November 2016 on the
general chart of accounts.

●

the impairment of its investment in Esprit Frais and the related
receivables for €1,000 thousand and €3,500 thousand,
respectively;

●

the impairment of its investment in Perche Agricole, which
produces and markets organic vegetable juice (under the
By jardin brand), for €332 thousand.

The parent company’s revenue is not representative of the Group’s
business as a whole. Fleury Michon SA’s revenue consists primarily
of management fees received from subsidiaries for administrative,
accounting, financial, IT, human resources and communications
services, and rent from the leasing of manufacturing facilities.

After net additions to provisions for impairment in value of shares in
subsidiaries and affiliates and the cost of net debt, net financial
income came to €14,880 thousand, versus €17,849 thousand in
2017.

In 2018, revenue was down by 15.7%, in line with the requirements
and new organisation of the Group’s subsidiaries. Invoiced services
came to €41,662 thousand in 2018, compared with
€45,543 thousand in 2017. The Group reported operating profit of
€1,557 thousand in 2018, compared with an operating loss of
€79 thousand in 2017.
Financial activities mainly corresponded to dividend income from
subsidiaries, which amounted to €19,120 thousand in 2018,
compared with €20,523 thousand in 2017.

Net non-recurring income for the year amounted to €107 thousand in
2018, compared with €1,068 thousand the previous year, due to the
exercise of redeemable subscription and/or purchase warrants
(BSAARs) in 2017.
Corporate income tax, adjusted for the impact of tax consolidation,
amounted to a benefit of €207 thousand in 2018, versus an expense
of €751 thousand in 2017.
As a result, net profit after tax and employee profit-sharing amounted
to €16,336 thousand for the year, compared with €19,588 thousand
in 2017.

In 2018, the Company recognised:

4.6 Outlook (Fleury Michon SA)
Fleury Michon SA will continue to provide administrative, accounting, IT, human resources and communications services to the Group’s
companies and to lease manufacturing facilities to them.
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4.7 Appropriation of earnings and dividends
(Fleury Michon SA)
The Company’s net profit for 2018 came to €16,335,539. Including
retained earnings of €26,410,595 brought forward from prior years,
total funds available for distribution amounted to €42,746,134.

Dividend payments for the last three years were as follows
(information disclosed in compliance with Article 243 bis of the
French General Tax Code (Code général des impôts)):

At the Annual General Meeting, we will recommend that this amount
be appropriated as follows:

Year

Number of shares

Gross dividend per share

2015

4,387,757

€1.20

Payment of a dividend of €1.20 per share

€5,265,308

2016

4,387,757

€1.10

Appropriation to the optional reserve

€11,000,000

2017

4,387,757

€1.10

Appropriation to retained earnings

€26,480,826

TOTAL

€42,746,134

A gross dividend of €1.20 will be paid in respect of each share. This
dividend will be payable within five trading days of the close of the
Annual General Meeting, i.e., by 4 June 2019.

Since 1 January 2018, revenue distributed as dividends to individuals
who are French tax residents is subject to either (i) a 12.8% flat tax on
income, to which social security contributions of 17.2% are added,
i.e., a total of 30%, or (ii) an annual, overall and express option
exercised in the tax return based on the sliding income tax scale, with
eligibility for a tax deduction of 40% under Article 158-3-2o of the
French General Tax Code.

4

4.8 Supplier payment terms and other information
(Fleury Michon SA)
In accordance with Articles L. 441-6-1 and D. 441-4 of the French Commercial Code (Code de commerce), the table below presents the number
and amount of invoices issued or received and due but not settled at 31 December 2018:
Article D. 441 I.-1°: Invoices received and due but not settled at 31 December 2018
91 days or more

Total (1 day or more)

Number of invoices

0 days (indicative)
38

28

16

10

24

78

Total amount of invoices
(incl. VAT) (in € thousands)

25

356

23

35

5

409

0.0%

0.7%

0.0%

0.1%

0.0%

0.8%

Percentage of total
purchases for the year (incl.
VAT)

1 to 30 days 31 to 60 days 61 to 90 days
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Article D. 441 I.-2°: Invoices issued and due but not settled at 31 December 2018
91 days or more

Total (1 day or more)

Number of invoices

0 days (indicative)
15

1 to 30 days 31 to 60 days 61 to 90 days
2

4

5

27

38

Total amount of invoices
(incl. VAT) (in € thousands)

56

1

25

2

40

67

Percentage of revenue for
the year (incl. VAT)

0.1%

0.0%

0.0%

0.0%

0.1%

0.1%

In accordance with Article 223 quater of the French General Tax Code, please note that no non-deductible expenses were reported for the year.
This information is to be submitted to the Annual General Meeting of 28 May 2019.

4.9 Capital expenditure, portfolio management
and business review of subsidiaries
(Fleury Michon SA)
Capital expenditure on property, plant and equipment and intangible
assets during the period totalled €7,451 thousand, and was financed
by new borrowings of €7,500 thousand and own funds for the
remaining amount. Capital expenditure mainly corresponded to the
renovation of the head office, improvements to the information
system and various investments in production site buildings
(charcuterie, prepared meals and prepared seafood). The Group
self-financed developments and upgrades to the ERP system and
took out finance leases to cover computer and communications
equipment upgrades.

●

capital increase in Piatti Freschi Italia to strengthen equity as
part of the company’s development. The long-standing
joint-venture partner, Salumificio Fratelli Beretta, also took part
in the transaction in proportion to its equity interest, i.e., 50%;

●

creation of Vallégrain Développement, in which Fleury Michon
holds a 50% stake;

●

in addition, Fleury Michon’s stake in Platos Tradicionales
increased from 47.50% to 50% in capital and voting rights
following the company’s buyback of 5% of its own shares from
a minority shareholder;

Prepayments and assets under construction amounted to
€3,469 thousand at year-end, compared with €1,630 thousand at
end-2017.

●

shares in subsidiaries
€1,332 thousand;

●

impairment of all Esprit Frais shares (wholly owned);

●

impairment of two-thirds of the value of Perche Agricole’s
shares (25% of share capital owned).

During the year, the Company carried out a number of transactions
on investments in subsidiaries and affiliates and the related
receivables:

154

●

shares in subsidiaries
€46,940 thousand;

●

acquisition on 3 April 2018 of the Paso Group (Paso SAS, Tom
SAS, SCI Gigaro), specialised in appetizers and nibbles. The
baking and catering know-how round out the Group’s butcher
and prepared meal expertise and is in line with the development
and growth strategy of the French supermarkets segment. The
business, based in Vendée, has two production sites and
employs around 140 people. This acquisition was financed by a
bank loan;
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and

affiliates:

acquisition

for

and

affiliates:

impairment

for

Payables and receivables in subsidiaries’ current accounts amounted
to
€93,390 thousand
at
end-2018,
compared
with
€111,260 thousand at end-2017, with a closing cash position of
€125,028 thousand, versus €125,764 thousand at the prior year-end.
See Section 4.2 “Business review and consolidated results” of this
report, as well as the list of subsidiaries and affiliates, for further
details of significant events during the year concerning the Group’s
main entities.
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4.10 Subsequent events
Overnight between 10 and 11 April 2019, Fleury Michon’s information systems were affected by a computer virus. As a precautionary measure, all
the IT tools were disconnected to avoid the virus spreading. The systems were gradually rebooted, with the logistics platform and main production
units returning to service on Monday, 15 April. The Group also implemented the various business continuity action plans.

4.11 Management report information presented in other
sections of the Registration Document
Information included in the management report is presented in full in
various other sections of this document:

●

information on the capital, share ownership and transactions
involving treasury shares – Chapter 7;

●

research and development – Section 1.4;

●

information on non-deductible expenses – Chapter 8;

●

policy for currency and interest rate risks, financial instruments –
Section 1.5;

●

●

risk factors and uncertainties – Section 1.5;

●

internal control and risk management procedures – Section 1.6;

●

corporate governance information and report – Chapter 3;

●

five-year financial summary – Section 6.7;

pursuant to the order of 19 July 2017 transposing EU
Directive 2014/95/EU regarding the disclosure of non-financial
and diversity information, the Company has replaced CSR
information with the non-financial performance statement –
Chapter 2. The materiality matrix and business model, which are
parts of the non-financial performance statement, are presented
in Section 1.3 with the Group’s key figures and the description of
its activities and companies.
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

5.1 Statement of financial position
ASSETS
In € thousands

Notes

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

31 December 2018

31 December 2017

342,273

278,882

Goodwill

3.2

84,539

51,179

Intangible assets

3.3

13,237

4,518

Property, plant and equipment

3.4

209,114

199,098

Non-current financial assets

3.5

15,905

4,791

Investments in equity-accounted companies

3.6

19,479

19,296

Deferred tax assets

3.12

CURRENT ASSETS

0

0

319,974

315,959

Inventories and work in progress

3.7

66,632

65,342

Trade receivables

3.8

79,227

79,477

Other receivables

3.8

34,454

31,619

Current financial assets

3.5

419

189

Cash and cash equivalents

3.9

139,242

139,332

662,246

594,842

31 December 2018

31 December 2017

236,814

225,589

Share capital

13,383

13,383

Additional paid-in capital

13,590

13,590

195,470

190,026

14,497

8,611

-125

-20

TOTAL ASSETS

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
In € thousands

Notes

CONSOLIDATED EQUITY

Reserves and retained earnings
Profit for the period

3.20

Non-controlling interests
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

183,800

136,613

Long-term provisions

3.10

26,439

28,822

Long-term borrowings

3.11

146,488

98,242

Deferred tax liabilities

3.12

7,066

5,380

Other non-current liabilities

3.13

3,808

4,169

CURRENT LIABILITIES

241,633

232,640

Short-term provisions

3.10

7,816

7,751

Short-term borrowings

3.11

85,765

81,591

Trade payables

3.14

78,434

78,996

Other payables

3.14

69,618

64,302

662,246

594,842

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

158
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5.2 Statements of income and comprehensive income
5.2.1 Income statement
In € thousands

Notes

2018

2017

REVENUE

3.15

725,270

716,946

-368,834

-376,397

-169,098

-170,955

-122,772

-112,922

Taxes other than on income

-14,692

-14,511

Depreciation, amortisation and provisions

-29,440

-33,649

Materials cost of sales
Employee benefits expense

3.16

External costs and other operating income and expenses – net

RECURRING OPERATING PROFIT
Other operating income and expenses – net

3.17

OPERATING PROFIT
Income from cash and cash equivalents
Finance costs – gross

20,435

8,513

-1,745

2,981

18,690

11,494

1,862

2,038

-2,482

-2,491
-453

Finance costs – net

3.18

-620

Other financial income and expenses – net

3.18

-633

-348

Income tax expense

3.19

-3,989

-4,716

946

2,585

CONSOLIDATED NET PROFIT

Share in profits and losses of equity-accounted companies

3.6

14,393

8,562

Net profit attributable to owners of the parent

14,497

8,611

Net loss attributable to non-controlling interests
Earnings per share (in €)
Earnings per share excluding treasury shares (in €)

3.20

-104

-49

3.30

1.96

3.38

2.02
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5.2.2 Statement of comprehensive income
In € thousands
CONSOLIDATED NET PROFIT
+/- Effect of translating foreign operations
+/- Fair value adjustments to cash flow hedges
+/- Fair value adjustments to available-for-sale financial assets
+/- Share of other comprehensive income of equity-accounted
companies
+/- Taxes on other comprehensive income
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) THAT MAY BE
RECLASSIFIED SUBSEQUENTLY TO PROFIT OR LOSS
+/- Actuarial gains and losses on defined benefit pension plans
+/- Share of other comprehensive income (loss) of equity-accounted
companies
+/- Taxes on other comprehensive income
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME THAT MAY NOT BE
RECLASSIFIED SUBSEQUENTLY TO PROFIT OR LOSS
Total other comprehensive income

2018

2017

14,393

8,562

-762

-1,318

589

36

0

0

0

220

258

720

85

-342

3,314

894

0

-15

-1,061

-308

2,253

571

2,339

229

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

16,731

8,791

Attributable to owners of the parent

16,836

8,840

-105

-50

Attributable to non-controlling interests
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5.3 Statement of cash flows
In € thousands

Notes

2018

2017

Consolidated net profit

14,393

8,562

Depreciation, amortisation and provisions

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
30,253

33,609

Other non-cash income and expense items

357

310

Net (gains) losses on disposals of assets

167

-12

Share in profits and losses of equity-accounted companies
CASH FLOW AFTER NET FINANCE COSTS AND INCOME TAX EXPENSE
Finance costs – net

3.18

Income tax expense (including deferred taxes)
CASH FLOW BEFORE NET FINANCE COSTS AND INCOME TAX
EXPENSE

-946

-2,585

44,223

39,883

650

453

3,989

4,716

48,863

45,052

Income tax paid

3.21

-542

159

Change in operating working capital

3.21

-3,511

-13,110

44,809

32,101

-31,821

-21,763

NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Acquisitions of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets

3.21

Proceeds from the disposal of property, plant and equipment and intangible
assets

154

502

Acquisitions of financial assets

-64

-556

Proceeds from the disposal of financial assets

803

317

Dividends from equity-accounted companies

542

950
-3,377

Effect of changes in Group structure

-39,143

+/- Other cash flows from (used in) investing activities(1)

-12,500

9,000

NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES

-82,028

-14,928

105

1,667

-4,721

-4,704

5

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Purchases and sales of treasury shares – net
Dividends paid
Issue of subscription warrants
Proceeds from new borrowings(2)
Repayments of borrowings (including finance leases)
Interest paid – net
Other cash flows from (used in) financing activities

(3)

NET CASH FROM (USED IN) FINANCING ACTIVITIES
+/- Impact of changes in exchange rates
CHANGE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

3.9

0

0

81,565

25,164

-36,730

-34,086

-650

-453

1,259

-6,069

40,828

-18,481

68

64

3,677

-1,245

132,367

133,611

136,043

132,367

(1) €12.5 million loan granted to Piatti Freschi Italia.
(2) Of which €42.7 million for the financing of external growth transactions.
(3) Of which change in the amount financed by the securitisation programme: inflow of €1.3 million in 2018 versus an outflow of €5.8 million in 2017.
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5.4 Statement of changes in equity
In € thousands
AT 1 JANUARY 2017

ADDITIONAL
RESERVES
SHARE
PAID-IN TREASURY AND RETAINED
CAPITAL
CAPITAL
SHARES
EARNINGS
13,383

13,590

-6,849

EQUITY
ATTRIBUTABLE
NONTO OWNERS OF CONTROLLING
THE PARENT
INTERESTS

TOTAL

201,562

221,686

29

221,715

8,611

8,611

-49

8,562

229

229

8,840

8,840

-49

8,791

355

355

355

-2,501

1,441

1,441

Dividends paid during the year

-4,704

-4,704

-4,704

Other movements

-2,008

-2,008

-2,008

201,544

225,609

-20

225,589

14,497

14,497

-104

14,393

2,339

2,339

16,836

16,836

494

494

Consolidated net profit
Other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income

229

Capital transactions
IFRS 2 share-based payments(1)
Purchases and sales of treasury
shares

AT 31 DECEMBER 2017

3,942

13,383

13,590

-2,907

Consolidated net profit
Other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income

2,339
-104

16,731

Capital transactions
IFRS 2 share-based payments(1)
Purchases and sales of treasury
shares

127

Dividends paid during the year
Other movements(2)
AT 31 DECEMBER 2018

13,383

13,590

-2,780

494

-184

-57

-57

-4,721

-4,721

-4,721

-1,222

-1,222

212,747

236,939

-1,222
-125

236,814

(1) Award of free shares and performance shares to Group employees and senior managers.
(2) Movements concerning equity-accounted companies, mainly involving the buyback of a non-controlling interest (5%) in Platos Tradicionales, and the
acquisition of non-controlling interests in Sapori e Gusto Italiani (40%) by Italian subsidiary Piatti Freschi Italia, as well as an adjusting entry to reflect
contributions to retailers’ marketing costs not recognised in the 2017 financial statements.
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Note 1
1.1

Summary of significant accounting policies, measurement rules and
methods and basis of consolidation

ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

Pursuant to Regulation (EC) No. 1606/2002 of 19 July 2002 on the
application of international accounting standards, the 2018
consolidated financial statements of Fleury Michon and its
subsidiaries (“the Group”) have been prepared in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as adopted by the
European Union.
The consolidated financial statements are presented in accordance
with IAS 1 and IAS 7, as well as Recommendation 2009-R.03 issued
by the French National Accounting Board (Conseil national de la
comptabilité – CNC) on profit and loss accounts, cash flow tables
and statements of changes in equity. The income statement is
presented by nature and cash flows are reported using the indirect
method.
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in euros,
rounded to the nearest thousand (unless specified otherwise). The
financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on
2 April 2019 and will be submitted for approval at the Annual General
Meeting to be held on 28 May 2019.

●

IFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers” – this
standard replaces IAS 18 “Revenue” and IAS 11 “Construction
Contracts”;

●

Amendments to IFRS 2 “Classification and Measurement of
Share-Based Payment Transactions”;

●

Annual improvements to IFRS Standards 2014-2016 – IFRS 1
“First-time Adoption of IFRS”, IFRS 12 “Disclosure of Interests in
Other Entities” and IAS 28 “Investments in Associates and Joint
Ventures”;

●

Interpretation of IFRIC 22 “Foreign Currency Transactions and
Advance Consideration”.

These new standards and texts did not have any material impact on
the Group’s results or financial position.
STANDARDS, AMENDMENTS AND INTERPRETATIONS NOT
MANDATORY AS OF 1 JANUARY 2018

The following standards and amendments were adopted by the
European Union and may enter into effect at a later date. These
standards were not early adopted by the Group:
●

1.1.1 Changes in accounting methods
The accounting methods used to prepare the consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2018 comply with the
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) adopted by the
European Union at the same date. This section deals exclusively with
new standards, amendments to existing standards and
interpretations with a material impact and that apply to the Group. To
view all texts adopted by the European Union, see the European
Commission website at:
http://ec.europa.eu/finance/company-reporting/index_en.htm.

The Group has used the following assumptions:

The accounting methods used to prepare the consolidated financial
statements are unchanged from those used for the 2017
consolidated financial statements. The 2018 consolidated financial
statements should be read in conjunction with the 2017 consolidated
financial statements.

Transition measures:

STANDARDS, AMENDMENTS AND INTERPRETATIONS
EFFECTIVE AS OF 1 JANUARY 2018

The standards, amendments to standards and interpretations
published by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB)
and presented below are effective for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2018:
●

164

IFRS 16 “Leases”: enters into effect as of 1 January 2019;

● IFRIC 23 “Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments”.
The work concerning IFRS 16 “Leases”, which replaces IAS 17 and
the related interpretations as of 1 January 2019, is currently being
finalised and reviewed. Long-term lease contracts (over 12 months)
of an identifiable asset (valued over €5,000) are henceforth
recognised as a right-of-use asset representing the lessee’s right to
use the underlying leased asset and a lease liability representing its
obligation to make lease payments. The distinction between
operating and finance leases is eliminated.

IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” – this standard replaces IAS 39
“Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement”;
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●

The simplified retrospective approach will be used with an
impact on equity at the beginning of the period;

●

Lease liabilities will be measured at the present value of
remaining lease payments;

●

Right of use at the transition date will correspond to an amount
equal to the lease liability;

●

The discount rate applied at the transition date will be the
incremental borrowing rate if the interest rate implicit in the
lease cannot be readily determined.

The recognition of lease assets will entail an increase in non-current
assets and debt. The standard will have a limited impact on financial
aggregates, notably operating profit (which will improve), net financial
expense (which will grow) and the net debt/equity ratio (which will
increase). These measurements are currently being completed at the
date of this document.

Consolidated financial statements
NOTES

STANDARDS, AMENDMENTS AND INTERPRETATIONS
OPTIONAL AS OF 1 JANUARY 2018

The following standards and amendments are pending adoption by
the European Union and have not been early adopted by the Group:
●

Amendments to IAS 19 “Plan Amendment, Curtailment or
Settlement”;

●

Amendments to IFRS 9 “Prepayment Features with Negative
Compensation”;

●

Amendments to IAS 28 “Long-term interests in Associates and
Joint Ventures”;

● Annual improvements – 2015-2017 cycle.
The standards, amendments and interpretations that are not yet
applicable and have not been early adopted by the Group are
currently under review.

1.1.2 Change in accounting estimates

“Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures”. Significant influence
is deemed to exist when the Group holds 20% or more of the voting
rights directly or indirectly.
Fleury Michon does not control any special purpose entities, either
directly or indirectly.
Intra-group transactions among fully consolidated companies are
eliminated in consolidation, as are dividends, provisions for
impairment of investments in consolidated companies, provisions for
receivables, capital gains on disposals and other material intra-group
balances, profits and losses.

1.2.2 Translation of the financial statements of
foreign subsidiaries
The assets and liabilities of subsidiaries that use a functional currency
other than the euro are translated into euros at official period-end
exchange rates.

In accordance with IAS 16, the estimated useful lives of property,
plant and equipment are reviewed regularly (see Note 1.2.7). The
impact of changes to useful lives is accounted for on a prospective
basis as a change in an accounting estimate. Excluding the change in
estimate, depreciation would have been greater than
€1,714 thousand in the 2018 consolidated financial statements.

1.2.3 Operating segments

1.1.3 Management estimates and assumptions

The Group’s management reporting system reflects its
decision-making structure, which is organised around strategic
business areas. Results and data used to assess the Company’s
financial position are based on three operating segments: French
Supermarkets, International Operations and Sales and Services
(including eat-out and travel catering). Since the Sales and Services
segment has not yet matured to the point where it meets the criteria
of the standard for separate presentation, it is included in “Other”,
along with subsidiary support functions (holding company). The chief
operating decision maker reviews the segments’ results regularly on
the basis of this internal reporting system, which is the key document
for evaluating performance by strategic business area and for
validating the allocation of budget resources in the short and medium
term. The determining or structuring factors that have permitted the
consistency and compliance of the operating segment breakdown as
monitored by Executive Management, to be validated, are as follows:

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in
accordance with IFRS requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that are reflected in the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities in the balance sheet, assets and liabilities at the date of the
financial statements, as well as revenues and expenses for the
reporting period.
These estimates are based on information available when they are
established. They may be revised if the underlying conditions change.
Actual results could differ. Estimates and assumptions mainly
concern impairment tests, deferred tax assets, employee benefits,
litigation and business commitments. The estimates are based on the
same types of underlying management assumptions as those used at
31 December 2017.

1.2

RULES AND METHODS OF CONSOLIDATION

1.2.1 Method and scope of consolidation
All companies over which the Group exercises control are fully
consolidated. Control is deemed to exist when the Group owns,
directly or indirectly, more than half of the voting rights of an entity.
Jointly controlled entities are accounted for by the equity method, as
are associates in which the Group exercises significant influence in
accordance with IFRS 11 “Joint Arrangements” and IAS 28

An operating segment is a component of an entity (i) that engages in
business activities from which it may earn revenues and incur
expenses, (ii) whose operating results are reviewed regularly by the
entity’s chief operating decision maker, and (iii) for which separate
financial information is available.

●

Economic characteristics and cost price structure;

●

Type of products and services;

●

Type of production processes;

●

Type or category of customer;

●

Product distribution
practices;

●

Regulatory environment.

methods,

logistics

and
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The differentiating factors used by the Group are as follows:
●

French Supermarkets: fresh, self-service, pre-packaged
products sold in the prepared meals and charcuterie sections of
supermarkets under the Fleury Michon brand or private labels;
production and distribution governed by regulations applicable
in France;

●

International Operations: frozen products (airline catering) and
fresh, self-service, pre-packaged products; production and
distribution governed by regulations applicable outside France;

●

Other: sales and services not presented separately (eat-out and
travel catering), and support and assistance operations to
subsidiaries (services including human resources, information
systems, finance and leasing).

Financial information for each of these segments is provided in
Note 3.1, Section 5.5.

1.2.4 Business combinations
Business combinations are accounted for in accordance with revised
IFRS 3 and revised IAS 27. The main accounting policies applied are
as follows:
●

Non-controlling interests may be measured at fair value or at
the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the
acquiree’s identifiable net assets;

●

Acquisition costs directly
combination are expensed;

●

Contingent consideration (e.g., earn-out clauses) must be
measured at fair value at the time of the business combination;

●

For business combinations, changes in a controlling interest
only impact equity (attributable to owners of the parent and
non-controlling interests). Goodwill is measured on the date that
control is obtained;

●

Losses attributable to non-controlling interests must be fully
attributed to those interests, even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

attributable

to

the

business

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the
fair value of the Group’s share of the acquired assets and liabilities.
Goodwill arising on the acquisition of subsidiaries is included in
assets under “Goodwill”, whereas goodwill arising on the acquisition
of equity-accounted companies is recorded under “Investments in
equity-accounted companies”.

1.2.5 Goodwill
Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units (CGUs) that are tested
annually for impairment. An asset is impaired when its carrying
amount exceeds the recoverable amount of all the accounting assets
allocated to the CGU. The recoverable amount is the higher of value
in use (determined using the discounted cash flow method) and fair
value less costs to sell. The assumptions for measurement of value in
use are derived from the medium- and long-term plans used by
Group management. The discount rate used for all CGUs
corresponds to the Group’s weighted average cost of capital. Any
impairment losses are allocated in priority to goodwill, with the
balance deducted from the assets of the CGUs concerned.
The Group comprises three main CGUs, which are linked to distinct
operating segments (see Note 1.2.3), i.e., the Self-Service CGU, the
Canadian Frozen Foods & Airline Catering CGU and the Delivered
Meals CGU.
The assets of Paso (see Note 2 “Scope of Consolidation”) are
included in the Self-Service CGU and round out the existing Prepared
Meals and Charcuterie businesses by an appetisers and nibbles
range (Préfou bread, burgers and other specialities) in supermarkets.
The Canadian Fresh Products CGU, which was initially an
independent unit, is now included in the Canadian Frozen Foods &
Airline Catering CGU, given the lack of goodwill allocated to this CGU
and for simplification purposes, bearing in mind that the business
represents less than 10% of the overall business. The CGU is now
called the FM America CGU.

GOODWILL: ALLOCATION OF GOODWILL TO CGUS
Name of CGU

Goodwill/currency

Description

€67,668 thousand

Segment: French Supermarkets – historic self-service prepared meals, surimi and
charcuterie (ham) business and the new Paso appetisers and nibbles range

CAD 8,020 thousand

Segment: International Operations – historic frozen foods and airline catering
business on the North American continent

Prepared Meals
CGU Norway(2)

€0 thousand

Segment: International Operations – prepared meals for retail in Norway

Delivered Meals
CGU

€11,732 thousand

Other segments – delivered meals in France (included in eat-out, not presented
separately)

Self-Service CGU(1)
FM America CGU

(1) Self-Service CGU, of which: €34,115 thousand covering the historic Charcuterie, Prepared Meals and Proconi businesses combined to reflect the
reorganisation of the Group and the level at which the businesses are managed; and €33,553 thousand in newly allocated goodwill resulting from the
Paso acquisition.
(2) Prepared Meals Norway CGU: initial goodwill of €1,042 thousand fully impaired following the discontinuation of the business in January 2018.
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1.2.6 Intangible assets
Intangible assets are identifiable, non-monetary assets without any
physical substance that are held for use in the production or supply
of goods or services, for rental to others, or for administrative
purposes. Acquired intangible assets are recognised at cost if it is
probable that the expected long-term economic benefits attributable
to the asset will flow to the Group, and if the cost of the asset can be
measured reliably. After initial recognition, intangible assets are
carried at cost and are amortised on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives.
The Paso brand, identified following the acquisition of the company in
2018, is valued according to the royalty relief method, which involves
projecting revenue and the royalty rate observable for a similar
business. The method, which is based on discounted future cash
flows, was chosen to facilitate the measurement of value in use over
time. This non-material asset is tested at each period-end; an
impairment loss is recognised when the value in use, thus
determined, is less than the carrying amount.
Research and development costs, product innovation expenses, and
internally generated trademarks and patents are expensed in the year
in which they are incurred. Development costs that meet the asset
recognition criteria in IAS 38 are recognised in assets, i.e., assets that
are separable, non-recurring and which are expected to generate
significant long-term economic benefits. Development costs are
amortised from the date that the related asset becomes available for
use.

1.2.7 Property, plant and equipment

BORROWING COSTS

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the financing of major
projects and that are incurred during the construction period are
capitalised as part of the cost of the assets concerned.
INVESTMENT GRANTS

In accordance with IAS 20, government grants related to assets are
presented in the balance sheet under “Other non-current liabilities” by
setting up the grant as deferred income. Fair value differences on
initial recognition of interest-free or low interest-rate borrowings
granted by a local authority are recognised as government grants.
FINANCE LEASES

In accordance with IAS 17, finance leases under which substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to the Group
are recognised as both an asset and a related liability in the balance
sheet based on the fair value of the leased item at inception of the
lease. Fleury Michon has not early adopted IFRS 16 Leases, which
will supersede IAS 17.

1.2.8 Financial assets
Financial assets are classified according to IFRS 9, which entered
into effect on 1 January 2018. The Group classifies its financial assets
according to the three categories based on its business model and
the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset, as
follows:

An item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an asset
when it is probable that the future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to the Group, and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably. When significant separate parts of an asset have
different useful lives or generate a different pattern of benefits, each
such part is recognised separately.

●

Financial assets measured at amortised cost: The objective is to
hold financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows
(repayment of principal and interest). In practice, this category
comprises operating receivables, loans and advances to
subsidiaries and affiliates, and certain investments held until
maturity;

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. The cost of an
item of property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price,
including import duties and non-refundable purchase taxes, after
deducting trade discounts and rebates, as well as any costs directly
attributable to bringing the asset to its required working condition.

●

Financial assets measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (OCI): The objective is to hold financial
assets both to collect contractual cash flows and sell financial
assets. In practice, this category comprises financial assets
formerly classified as available-for- sale financial instruments
under IAS 39 and held for trading. Unrealised gains and losses
are recognised directly in equity and subsequently reclassified in
profit or loss at the time of disposal;

●

Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss:
The objective of this business model differs from those
mentioned above. In practice, this default classification includes
investments in non-consolidated subsidiaries and affiliates,
other investments and financial instruments. Investments in
companies whose activity is similar to that of the Group are
recognised at fair value through profit or loss. Changes in fair
value may nonetheless be recorded as other comprehensive
income without subsequently being reclassified to profit or loss
on an instrument-by-instrument basis, by irrevocable election.

Assets are tested for impairment once there is an indicator of
impairment during the period. The estimated useful lives of property,
plant and equipment are reviewed on a regular basis and any
resulting changes in accounting estimates are recognised
prospectively. Property, plant and equipment are depreciated over
the following useful lives:
Type of asset

Useful life

Buildings

20 to 30 years

Fixtures and fittings

10 to 20 years

Machinery and equipment

6 to 15 years

Furniture and office and computer equipment

6 to 10 years
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IFRS 13 also establishes a three-level hierarchy of inputs applicable
to financial instruments measured at fair value:
●

Level 1: quoted prices in active markets;

●

Level 2: observable market inputs;

● Level 3: inputs not based on observable market data.
The Group uses valuation techniques based on observable market
inputs (level 2), particularly interest rate swaps and currency futures
to measure derivative assets and liabilities recognised at fair value.
If there is no active market for the instruments, fair value is estimated.
If the fair value cannot be estimated reliably, financial instruments are
measured at initial fair value, i.e., the acquisition cost plus transaction
costs directly attributable to the asset, less any impairment losses.
These financial assets are classified as current or non-current assets
based on their maturities.
Translation differences arising on loans to and receivables from
investments in consolidated subsidiaries and affiliates in a foreign
currency are recognised directly in equity.
Items recognised as trade and other receivables (see Note 1.2.10)
are current assets and are classified as financial assets measured at
amortised cost.
Instruments recognised as cash and cash equivalents (see
Note 1.2.11) are financial assets held for trading and, as such, are
measured at fair value.
Treasury shares are recorded as a deduction from equity. The impact
of sales and purchases of treasury shares is recognised in equity.

1.2.9 Inventories
Inventories are stated at initial cost, comprising all costs of purchase,
costs of conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the
inventories to their present location and condition. The cost of
inventories is determined using the weighted average cost method.
Non-recoverable inventories, corresponding to inventories that are
damaged or have become obsolete, are written down to net
realisable value. Spare parts inventories that are associated with a
specific asset and which represent a material amount are recorded
under property, plant and equipment.

1.2.10 Receivables
Receivables are initially recognised at fair value, generally
corresponding to the invoiced amount. No discounting is applied as
no exceptional deferred settlement terms apply. In accordance with
IFRS 9, an impairment loss is recorded depended on expected
losses. An historical analysis of recorded losses does not indicate a
material risk of loss requiring an additional impairment to be
recorded.

1.2.11 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash at bank, interest-bearing
accounts and money-market mutual funds, as well as highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash
(maturing in less than three months), as defined by IAS 7. Changes in
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fair value, which by definition are negligible, are recognised through
profit or loss. Bank overdrafts are presented in short-term
borrowings.

1.2.12 Provisions
A provision is booked when the Group has a present obligation as a
result of a past event where it is probable that an outflow of
resources will be required to settle the obligation without any inflow of
economic resources of at least an equivalent value, and where the
amount of the obligation can be reliably estimated.

1.2.13 Employee benefits – Post-employment benefits
The Group’s employee benefit obligations correspond to retirement
bonuses and long-service awards. They are measured using the
projected unit credit method based on actuarial assumptions that are
reviewed yearly. The calculation takes into account:
●

The status, age and seniority of each employee;

●

The expected retirement age (63);

●

The staff turnover rate (low turnover);

●

The employee’s individual monthly average salary, including
bonuses, plus payroll taxes;

●

The expected rate of salary increases (2.5% to 3% depending
on the employee category);

●

The discount rate (benchmark: iBoxx € Corporates AA 10+, i.e.,
1.57%
at
31 December
2018
and
1.30%
at
31 December 2017);

● National mortality tables (based on 2013 INSEE data).
As retirement is deemed to be voluntary, payroll and other taxes are
due on the amounts paid to employees at the retirement date.
All actuarial gains and losses are recognised directly in equity.

1.2.14 Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are initially recognised at the fair value of the
consideration received and are classified as financial liabilities
measured at amortised cost or measured at fair value.
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost mainly comprise bank
borrowings, other borrowings contracted with banks and financial
institutions, finance lease liabilities and short-term bank loans and
overdrafts. Interest on borrowings is recorded as an expense by
reference to the applicable contractual rate which, based on the
terms set by the Group’s banks, corresponds to the effective interest
rate. Long- and short-term financial liabilities may be subject to
acceleration clauses (see Note 1.3 “Financial risks”). A financial
liability is considered non-current if the Group has an unconditional
right to settle it at least 12 months after the closing date. Otherwise, it
is recorded under current liabilities.
Trade and other payables are classified as financial liabilities
measured at amortised cost.
Financial instruments (currency and interest rate derivatives) are
measured at fair value based on the valuation provided by bank
counterparties. The accounting treatment is set out below.
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1.2.15 Derivatives and hedging instruments
The Group uses derivative instruments purchased over the counter
as fair value and cash flow hedges of currency and interest rate risk.
Existing derivative instruments used for hedging purposes are
designated as cash flow hedges and recognised in the balance sheet
at fair value. As these hedges qualify for hedge accounting under
IFRS, the effective portion of changes in the fair value of the derivative
instruments is recognised in equity and the gain or loss relating to the
ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the income statement.
Changes in the fair value of derivative instruments that do not fulfil the
hedge accounting criteria are recognised directly in income for the
period.
Derivative instruments are never used for speculative purposes.

1.2.16 Deferred taxes
Deferred taxes are recognised on temporary differences between the
carrying amount of assets and liabilities and their tax base. The tax
rate used corresponds to the tax rate applicable at 1 January 2019.
The current tax rate in France applying to the parent company is
32.02%. Pursuant to the 2018 Finance Act, the corporate income tax
rate in France will be gradually reduced between 2018 and 2022. For
temporary differences, a tax rate of between 32.02% and 25.83% is
therefore used, depending on the expiry of the temporary differences:
●

Deferred tax assets relating to tax loss carryforwards are
recognised when it is probable that they will be recovered at a
reasonably determinable date, based on available information
and assumptions at the end of each financial year;

●

Deferred tax assets and liabilities for the same consolidated tax
group are presented net in the balance sheet where permitted
by law.

1.2.17 Payables
Payables are initially recognised at fair value, generally corresponding
to the invoiced amount. No discounting is applied as no exceptional
deferred settlement terms apply.

1.2.18 Revenue
The Group’s revenue primarily comprises finished product sales.
Revenue from sales is recognised when the title is transferred.
Revenue is presented net of discounts and rebates granted to
customers, and net of costs stemming from advertising and listing
agreements and one-off promotional campaigns invoiced by retailers.
IFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers”, which replaces
IAS 18 “Revenue”, has been applied from 1 January 2018 and has
had no impact.

1.2.19 Recognition of exchange gains and losses and
the impact of hedging transactions
Currency effects and the impacts of hedging transactions that are
directly related to the Group’s operating activities – notably
purchases of raw materials – are recognised as operating income or
expenses within operating profit.

1.2.20 Other operating income and expenses – net
This line item corresponds to uncommon, non-recurring items that
represent material amounts in relation to the Group’s overall results
for the year. These items are presented separately from recurring
operating profit. They include a limited number of income and
expense items, such as certain disposal gains and losses and
impairment losses on property, plant and equipment or intangible
assets, transaction fees linked to equity investments, as well as
certain restructuring costs or provisions for major claims or litigation.
Operating profit includes all recurring and non-recurring items
described above.

1.2.21 Earnings per share
Earnings per share are calculated as:
●

Net profit attributable to owners of the parent;

●

Divided by the number of outstanding shares during the
financial year, including and excluding treasury shares.

1.3

FINANCIAL RISKS

The Group has a central organisation that manages substantially
most market, liquidity and credit risks related to its operations. The
Finance Department and Corporate Cash Management Department
work closely together in the financial markets to:
●

5

Obtain financing under the best possible terms and support the
development of the Group’s businesses;

● Identify, evaluate and hedge financial risks.
The Group uses derivative financial instruments to hedge its exposure
to certain risks.

1.3.1 Currency risk
The Group prepares its consolidated financial statements in euros
and generates more than 90% of its revenue in euros. Assets,
liabilities, revenue and profit denominated in currencies other than the
euro are therefore not material in relation to the consolidated totals.
Nevertheless, the Group’s international expansion strategy has
created exposure to other currencies, such as the Canadian dollar
(CAD) and US dollar (USD), principally through its Fleury Michon
America subsidiary (formerly Delta Dailyfood).
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The Group uses currency hedges as well as currency futures and options in order to reduce the volatility of future cash flows in US dollars. At
31 December 2018, the Group held the following currency futures and options expiring between January 2019 and October 2019:
2017

2018
(1)

Sales/Purchases of foreign currencies
Currency futures – purchases

USD/EUR

USD/CAD

USD/EUR

USD/CAD

2,000

-

7,700

-

Asymmetric forwards(2)

-

-

2,000

-

Accumulator forwards(3)

-

Currency futures – sales
TOTAL

1,200

-

-

-

2,000

2,000

0

10,900

2,000

(1) Nominal value in thousands.
(2) Ratio 1.5.
(3) Ratio 2.

The accounting treatment of these instruments is described in
Note 1, Section 1.2.15. The effective portion is directly recognised in
equity and the ineffective portion is taken to profit or loss. Gains and
losses arising from remeasurement at fair value of currency
derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting are recognised in
profit or loss. For 2018, the effective portion recognised in equity was
€367 thousand, while the ineffective, or ineligible, portion was a
negative €37 thousand.

1.3.2 Interest rate risk
The Group does not hold significant interest-bearing assets aside
from money-market mutual funds and short-term, highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash,
recognised under “Cash and cash equivalents”. The Group’s
exposure to interest rate risk corresponds to long-term bank loans
net of these interest-bearing assets.
Most of the loans are at floating rates, exposing the Group to
potential cash flow volatility. To reduce its net exposure, the Group
uses instruments negotiated over the counter. The amount hedged
was €44,193 thousand at 31 December 2018, compared with
€36,460 thousand at 31 December 2017. The total debt (fixed and
floating rate) was hedged at 58.4% at the year-end versus 51.0% at
end-2017. The accounting treatment of these instruments is
described in Note 1, Section 1.2.15. The effective portion directly
recognised in equity is €222 thousand, while the ineffective portion
recognised in net financial income is a negative €7 thousand.

1.3.3 Equity risk
Investments in non-consolidated companies and other investment
securities correspond to shares in unlisted companies. If there is no
active market for the shares, fair value is estimated. If the fair value
cannot be estimated reliably, the asset is measured at amortised cost
less any impairment losses.
At 31 December 2018, the Group held 96,840 treasury shares,
directly or through the liquidity contract, for a total value of
€2,780 thousand. As indicated in Note 1, Section 1.2.8, treasury
shares are recorded as a deduction from consolidated equity. Based
on the closing price at 31 December 2018 of €38.60, the market
value of treasury shares held at that date was €3,738 thousand.
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1.3.4 Liquidity risk
The Group’s prudent management strategy ensures it has a sufficient
level of cash and marketable securities to cover its commitments.
The trade receivables securitisation programme providing up to
€50 million in financing has been active since 2016 to diversify and
secure short-term financing. At 31 December 2018, net cash
amounted to €136.0 million (€139.2 million in cash and cash
equivalents less a bank overdraft of €3.2 million), compared with
€132.4 million at 31 December 2017. At the end of the 2018 and
2017 reporting periods, €40.6 million and €39.3 million, respectively,
had been obtained under the securitisation programme. Net debt
amounted to €93.0 million at the year-end, compared with
€40.5 million at 31 December 2017. The Group’s bank loans do not
contain clauses requiring compliance with financial ratios, known as
covenants. In 2018, the Fleury Michon America subsidiary (formerly
Delta Dailyfood) reimbursed €291 thousand in outstanding debt to
Farm Credit Canada for which a waiver letter had been issued for a
12-month period ending on 31 December 2018.
The Group has reviewed its liquidity risk and considers that it can
meet its future maturities (included in Note 3.11, Section 5.5) over the
next 12 months as from the filing of this Registration Document.

1.3.5 Credit risk and risks related to retail
concentration
Although the Group’s end customers are individual consumers, it sells its
products primarily to retail chains. However, the supermarket sector is
becoming increasingly concentrated. Some customers individually
represent more than 20% of consolidated revenue (in conjunction with
retailer market share). The Group reviews its customers’
creditworthiness and closely tracks its receivables. Given the high credit
ratings of its main customers, the Group considers that its exposure to
customer credit risk is not material.
However, the consolidation trend in retail – resulting in fewer
customers – could affect the Group’s operating margin over the
medium term and the Group could become more exposed to
customer payment default risk.

1.3.6 Risks related to climate change
The Group’s business is exposed to environmental risks linked to
climate change through its food product production operations, as is
the rest of the food industry. Increasingly common and unpredictable
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climate events influence agricultural yields and the location of
production (both arable and animal), which leads to price volatility. To
minimise the risk, the Group diversifies its sources of raw materials and
ingredients, primarily focusing on French and nearby European
markets and, to a lesser extent, international markets. Nonetheless, the
effects of climate change are likely to have a negative impact on the
Group’s profitability in terms of sharp increases in purchasing costs
owing to a major rise in the cost of raw materials and ingredients from
the farming industry and also, for example, an increase in energy costs.

1.4

To help reduce climate change, the Group is undertaking a number of
initiatives in its area of influence, guided by a comprehensive
Environmental Management strategy. Since 2008, Fleury Michon has
been investing in a large-scale plan to reduce its goods and energy
consumption as well as its CO2 emissions to improve its environmental

As part of this strategy, the Board of Directors ensures that dividend
payments and funds required for future development are properly
balanced. The Group also carefully monitors debt and gearing
(debt-to-equity ratio), which is currently 39%, compared with 18% in
2017.

Note 2

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group’s strategy is to maintain a capital structure that can
guarantee the Company’s long-term future and preserve investor and
creditor confidence.

Scope of consolidation

The following transactions carried out in 2018 had an impact on the
scope of consolidation:
●

footprint. A more detailed description of the management system,
initiatives and results obtained are available in Chapter 2 along with the
measurement of greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions (Section 2.4).

Acquisition on 3 April 2018 of all outstanding shares in Paso,
which comprised three companies: Paso SAS, Tom SAS
(support services) and SCI Gigaro. Based in Vendée, France,
with two production sites specialising in appetizers and nibbles
(including préfous, a regional speciality), Paso generates annual
revenue of approximately €23 million, chiefly in supermarkets,
and employees around 140 people.
The impact on the consolidated financial statements is
presented under “Changes in Group structure” or is mentioned
in the notes;

●

Creation of Vallégrain Développement, in which Fleury Michon
holds 50% of the capital and voting rights, for an amount of
€1,000 thousand;

●

Change in the percentage interest in the Platos Tradicionales
subsidiary, with Fleury Michon’s interest and voting rights
increasing from 47.5% to 50%, following the Spanish
company’s buyback of 5% of its own shares from a minority
shareholder.

The list of companies in the scope of consolidation is provided in
Note 3.27, Section 5.5.
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Note 3
3.1

Notes to the balance sheet and the income statement

OPERATING SEGMENTS

SEGMENT INFORMATION FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018
French
Supermarkets
31 Dec.
2018

International
Operations

Intra-group
ELIMINATIONS

Other

TOTAL

31 Dec.
2017

31 Dec.
2018

31 Dec.
2017

31 Dec.
2018

31 Dec.
2017

31 Dec.
2018

REVENUE

615,251 601,005

52,375

58,887

57,645

57,055

-

SEGMENT THRESHOLD
REVENUE

619,873 606,947

55,213

61,247

93,967 100,456 -43,782 -51,704 725,270 716,946

Sales to external customers

615,251 601,005

52,375

58,887

57,645

57,055

2,838

2,361

36,323

43,401 -43,782 -51,704

-7,359

-2,075

In € thousands

Fleury Michon inter-segment
sales
OPERATING PROFIT (LOSS)

4,622

5,942

20,840

-41

31 Dec.
2017

31 Dec.
2018

31 Dec.
2017

- 725,270 716,946

725,270 716,946

18,690

11,494

18,697

-75

565,263 515,880

61,909

62,845 121,273 101,991 -235,337 -233,903
513,108 446,813

Non-current assets(1)

245,792 198,515

46,652

49,343

97,462

72,798 -47,634 -41,775 342,273 278,882

Current assets(2)

319,471 317,364

15,256

13,501

23,811

29,193 -187,703 -192,128
170,835 167,930

SEGMENT LIABILITIES

247,198 254,840

15,624

15,572 111,192 106,204 -187,899 -192,576
186,114 184,040

30,459

32,105

427

432

3,369

4,036

Trade payables

75,687

78,464

3,607

3,924

5,732

8,301

141,053 144,272

11,590

(2)

Other liabilities

11,216 102,090

196

-

SEGMENT ASSETS

Provisions for contingencies and
losses

-

-

34,255

36,572

-6,592 -11,693

78,434

78,996

93,867 -181,308 -180,883
-

73,425

68,471

INVESTMENTS

24,726

17,988

2,364

3,472

7,674

3,977

-

-

34,765

25,436

DEPRECIATION,
AMORTISATION AND
PROVISIONS

22,741

25,424

3,266

4,561

4,246

6,836

-

-3,211

30,253

33,609

(1) Fleury Michon SA’s activity – notably financial – is included in “Other”, in an amount of €71,679 thousand in current or non-current assets at
31 December 2018, compared with €54,911 thousand at 31 December 2017.
(2) Excluding deferred taxes and corporate income tax.

The Group operates in the following segments:
●

French Supermarkets: fresh, self-service, pre-packaged
products sold in the prepared meals and charcuterie sections of
supermarkets under the Fleury Michon and Paso brands or
private labels; production and distribution governed by
regulations applicable in France;

3.2

International Operations: frozen products (airline catering) and
fresh, self-service, pre-packaged products; production and
distribution governed by regulations applicable outside France;

●

Other: sales and services not presented separately (eat-out and
travel catering), and support and assistance operations to
subsidiaries (services including human resources, information
systems, finance and leasing).

GOODWILL

31 December 2018
French Supermarkets – Self-Service CGU
International Operations – Frozen Foods & Catering CGU
(Canada)
International Operations – FM Norge CGU

172

●

Goodwill, gross

Goodwill, net
67,668

5,140

5,140

1,042

Other – Service – Delivered Meals CGU

11,732

TOTAL

85,580
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Impairment losses

67,668

1,042

0
11,732

1,042

84,539

Consolidated financial statements
NOTES

Change in goodwill

31 December 2017

French Supermarkets – Self-Service CGU
International Operations – Frozen Foods & Catering CGU (Canada)

34,114

33,553

67,668

5,333

-193

5,140

0

0

International Operations – FM Norge CGU
Other – Service – Delivered Meals CGU

11,732

GOODWILL, NET

51,179

The assets of Paso are included in the Self-Service CGU and round
out the existing Prepared Meals and Charcuterie businesses.
Goodwill generated by the acquisition is €33,553 thousand and is
determined on a temporary basis, and an in-depth analysis of
tangible and intangible assets will be finalised in 2019.
The year-on-year change in goodwill of a negative €193 thousand
relating to the Group’s Canadian business reflects the translation of
foreign currency amounts for the goodwill (i.e., CAD 8 million) at the
year-end exchange rate.
Goodwill is tested annually for impairment using the discounted cash
flow method. The current value is determined using the same method
with a terminal value, based on forecasts approved by management.
The main assumptions that form the basis of the calculation are as
follows:
●

Discount rate of 6% in France, Slovenia and Norway, and 6.8%
in Canada;

●

Perpetual growth rate of 2%;

●

Cash flow projections over a period of five years.

Year-on-year
change 31 December 2018

0
11,732

33,360

84,539

catering. In 2018, the Group reported an operating loss of
CAD 0.4 million, close to breakeven.
Discounted cash flows were calculated based on a five-year business
plan, which forecasts positive cash flow in 2019, with the
reinstatement of gross margin, an expected reduction in structural
costs and an increase in market share in subsequent years. More
generally, the business plan targets operating income of about 7.0%
of revenue (up from 6.5% in 2017). The assumption of a discount rate
of 6.8% was unchanged from 2017. The impairment test
consequently revealed that the recoverable amount of the assets was
higher than their carrying amount.
The sensitivity of the value in use of the CGU was comparable to that
of the previous year. The analysis carried out on the key assumptions
showed that:
●

If the discount rate were to be increased by 2.18% (i.e., 9.0%),
the recoverable amount would be identical to the carrying
amount. In 2017, with a change of 1.6% in the discount rate,
the recoverable amount was slightly lower than the carrying
amount;

Self-Service and Delivered Meals CGUs

●

If the perpetual growth rate were 1%, the recoverable amount
would be higher than the carrying amount, as in the prior year;

A sensitivity analysis was carried out at 31 December 2018 on the
goodwill from the Group’s major CGUs, namely Self-Service and
Delivered Meals, and showed that the recoverable amounts would be
considerably higher than the carrying amounts. Management
considers that no reasonably possible change to the key calculation
assumptions would result in the carrying amounts of these CGUs
being significantly higher than their recoverable amounts.

●

If cash flows reached 72% of the projected amounts (compared
with 75% in 2017), the recoverable amount would be equal to
the carrying amount.

Canadian Frozen Foods & Catering CGU

5

Group management also analysed the recoverable amount of the
Company’s assets. These assets, which mainly comprise property,
plant and equipment (buildings and industrial equipment), were
appraised to assess their market value. Based on this approach,
there is no need to recognise an impairment loss over the period,
since the appraisal value is higher than the asset value.

Group management tested the recoverable amount of the Canadian
Frozen Foods & Catering business using the discounted cash flow
method. It allocated goodwill of CAD 8 million to the historic
Canadian Frozen Foods & Airline Catering CGU, acquired in 2006
and which is now called the FM America CGU.

The decrease of €193 thousand in the goodwill of the Canadian
business following a decrease of €320 thousand in 2017 reflects the
translation of foreign currency amounts at the year-end exchange
rate.

The business grew by 9.5% relative to the 2017 performance, and
the Group reported revenue of €51.4 million (for total revenue
recorded by the subsidiary of CAD 56.4 million), compared with the
CAD 46.9 million recorded in 2017, which slightly underperformed
the business plan drawn up the previous year. In terms of cash flow
generation, the performance was in line with Company forecasts
following management’s decision to refocus production on airline

FM Norge CGU
The sales agreements that would have enabled the business to
meets its objectives were not confirmed. The goodwill of
€1,042 thousand allocated to the FM Norge CGU was consequently
written down in full in 2017. As a result, management took the
decision to terminate the business in January 2018.
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3.3

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

31 December 2018
Set-up costs
Development costs
Licences and trademarks(1)
Leasehold rights and goodwill
Software
Assets under construction
Prepayments
TOTAL

Gross

Amortisation

Net

13

6

7

159

159

0

8,340

894

7,446

642

642

11,804

8,329

1,667

3,475
1,667

0

0

22,625

9,388

13,237

Movements in intangible assets

2018

2017

At beginning of year

4,518

4,034

(1) Of which €7,000 thousand for the Paso brand.

Amortisation

-890

-672

2,352

1,128

7,256

28

13,237

4,518

Property, plant and
equipment, gross

Depreciation

Property, plant and
equipment, net

Land

4,348

516

3,832

Land under finance leases

1,740

371

1,369

255,121

152,137

102,984

23,555

8,844

14,711

277,257

205,239

72,017

Acquisitions/Increases
Disposals/Decreases

0

Changes in Group structure
AT END OF YEAR
No research and development costs were capitalised during the year.

3.4

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

31 December 2018

Buildings
Buildings under finance leases
Machinery and equipment
Machinery and equipment under finance leases

2,148

675

1,473

Other

6,572

4,719

1,854

Assets under construction

4,432

Prepayments

6,442

TOTAL

581,615

4,432
6,442
372,501

Movements in property, plant and equipment

2018

2017

At beginning of year

199,098

206,914

Depreciation

-29,188

-30,222

31,347

23,766

-310

-524

8,815

249

Acquisitions/Increases
Disposals/Decreases
Changes in Group structure
Translation adjustment
AT END OF YEAR

-647

-1,087

209,114

199,098

Borrowing costs were not material in 2018 and were therefore not included in the acquisition cost of buildings.

174
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3.5

CURRENT AND NON-CURRENT FINANCIAL ASSETS
Financial assets,
gross

Impairment losses

Financial assets,
net

16,368

464

15,905

Shares in non-consolidated companies

617

411

Advances to subsidiaries and affiliates(1)

13,926

31 December 2018
Non-current financial assets

206
13,926

Non-current asset investments

114

Deposits and guarantees

807

52

807

61

Other investments

905

905

Current financial assets

669

250

419

669

250

419

17,037

714

16,324

Derivative financial instruments

0

Other investments
TOTAL
(1) Of which €13,425 thousand corresponding to receivables to the subsidiary PFI.

Types of financial assets

31 December 2018

Financial
assets
measured at
amortised cost

Assets at fair
value

15,638

267

Non-current financial assets
Shares in non-consolidated companies
Advances to subsidiaries and affiliates

Total
15,905

206
13,926

Non-current asset investments

206

61

61

807

807

Other investments

905

905

Current financial assets

419

Other investments
TOTAL

0

419

0

0

267

16,324

419
16,057

II

13,926

Deposits and guarantees

Derivative financial instruments

Hierarchical
level(1)

II

5

II

419
0

(1) In accordance with IFRS 7 “Financial instruments: Disclosures”, the hierarchical measurement levels presented in the table above are determined as
follows:
• Level I: level 1 data refer to quoted prices (not restated) to which the entity has access on the measurement date, in active markets for identical
assets or liabilities;
• Level II: level 2 data refer to directly or indirectly observable asset or liability data other than quoted prices that fall under level 1;
• Level III: level 3 data refers to inputs not based on observable market data.

3.6

INVESTMENTS IN EQUITY-ACCOUNTED COMPANIES

Investments in equity-accounted companies

% interest

31 December 2018

Piatti Freschi Italia

50.00%

6,207

7,353

Platos Tradicionales

50.00%

12,159

11,943

Vallégrain Développement

50.00%

TOTAL

31 December 2017

1,113

-

19,479

19,296

2018 REGISTRATION DOCUMENT /

175

5

Consolidated financial statements
NOTES

Equity at 31 December 2017
Net profit (loss) for the year

Piatti
Freschi Italia

Platos
Tradicionales

14,707

25,142

-318

2,017

Vallégrain
Développement
226

Gains/losses recognised directly in equity
Dividend distribution

-1,084

Capital increase

2,000

Other movements in equity

-1,974

-1,758

Equity at 31 December 2018

12,415

24,317

2,226

50.00%

50.00%

50.00%

6,207

12,159

1,113

-159

992

113

% interest
TOTAL
Share in profits and losses of equity-accounted companies
Other movements in equity for Platos Tradicionales and PFI were as
follows:
●

Purchase of 5% of its own shares (acquisition of non-controlling
interests), thereby increasing the interest to 50%;

●

Exercise of a put option on non-controlling interests in Sapori e
Gusto Italiani (40%) by the Italian subsidiary Piatti Freschi Italia,

Other information (IFRS)

as well as the adjustment of sales cooperation movements not
booked in the 2017 financial statements
The aggregates (presented above) of equity-accounted companies
have been prepared in accordance with IFRS. They have been
restated for harmonisation purposes, where necessary, for the
consolidated financial statements.
31 December 2018

31 December 2017

Assets

143,887

109,061

Liabilities

131,472

94,354

Revenue

107,240

103,201

Assets

85,758

55,101

Liabilities

61,441

29,959

Revenue

69,729

60,842

Assets

4,764

-

Liabilities

2,538

-

Revenue

287

-

Piatti Freschi Italia

Platos Tradicionales

Vallégrain Développement

3.7

INVENTORIES

31 December 2018
Raw materials
Work in progress
Semi-finished and finished products
Goods purchased for resale
TOTAL
Movements in inventories

Impairment
losses

Net

48,853

1,092

47,761

174

12,429

1,266

66,632

6,297
12,602

6,297

146
67,898

146

2018

2017

At beginning of year

65,342

65,203

Change in inventories

-1,906

491

Changes in Group structure
Impairment losses
Reversals of impairment losses
AT END OF YEAR

176

Gross
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2,256

25

-1,266

-2,206

2,206

1,829

66,632

65,342
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3.8

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Current assets – Receivables
Trade receivables

31 December 2018

31 December 2017

77,399

80,518

-554

-1,503

Provisions for doubtful accounts
Changes in Group structure
TOTAL TRADE RECEIVABLES

2,383

462

79,227

79,477

Pre-paid and recoverable payroll costs
Pre-paid and recoverable taxes (incl. VAT)

1,305

1,681

12,781

11,831

Short-term advances

112

12

Current tax assets

9,611

8,665

Other receivables

8,378

8,149

Prepaid expenses

1,143

1,209

Changes in Group structure

1,123

73

TOTAL OTHER RECEIVABLES
TOTAL

34,454

31,619

113,681

111,096

Trade, other receivables and short-term advances are classified as financial assets measured at amortised cost.

3.9

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash
Marketable securities
Changes in Group structure
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Bank overdrafts
Changes in Group structure
NET CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents includes liquid assets available in bank
accounts. Cash equivalents amounted to €105,500 thousand and
consisted of mutual fund shares (OPCVM), negotiable deposit
certificates and time deposit accounts with withdrawal options that

3.10

31 December 2018

31 December 2017

31,128

33,758

105,500

105,500

2,614

74

139,242

139,332

3,198

6,966

0

0

136,043

132,367

may be exercised at any time or, at most, every three months without
any material risk of fluctuation in value (IAS 7).
Cash and cash equivalents are classified as financial assets
measured at amortised cost.

PROVISIONS

Provisions
Employee benefits – post-employment benefits
Provisions for tax and employee-related disputes
Investments in equity-accounted companies

31 December 2018

31 December 2017

26,575

28,948

7,680

7,625

0

0

TOTAL PROVISIONS

34,255

36,572

Long-term provisions

26,439

28,822

Short-term provisions
TOTAL

5

7,816

7,751

34,255

36,572
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The Group has reviewed the main risks in relation to legal and
administrative proceedings. The probable expenses relating to
current or past events are recognised as provisions, insofar as the
amount can be measured reliably and for which the outflow of
resources is likely or highly likely. The aggregate amount of provisions
was generally stable, rising from €7,625 million at 31 December 2017
to €7,680 million at 31 December 2018. The provisions mainly
comprise upward adjustments notified by French social security
body, URSSAF (2009-2011 and 2013-2015), which the Group has
contested. No administrative decision was handed down in 2018 that
would change this assessment. In addition, in March 2018,
Fleury Michon and its main subsidiaries received a tax inspection

notice for 2015 and 2016, as part of standard practice under French
law. At the completion of the inspection, no provision for risk was
recorded as management and their advisors do not consider the
grounds of the French tax office’s arguments to be valid.
On 19 February 2018, Fleury Michon and certain of its subsidiaries
received a notification of grievance from the French Competition
Authorities with respect to a horizontal agreement allegedly in place
from January 2011 to April 2013. Fleury Michon has decided to
contest this notification and the Company is therefore unable to
predict the outcome of the proceedings or the possible
consequences at this stage. Consequently, no provision was
recorded at 31 December 2018.

Movements in provisions

2018

2017

At beginning of year

36,572

35,832

Charges to provisions

2,092

3,459

-102

-184

Reversals (used provisions)
Reversals (surplus provisions)

-147

-542

Other movements

-4,162

-1,992

AT END OF YEAR

34,255

36,572

Changes in employee benefit obligations broke down as follows:
Employee benefits – post-employment benefits
At beginning of year
Service cost

2018

2017

28,948

29,031

1,449

1,516

Past service cost

0

Interest cost

355

358

Benefits paid

-862

-1,062

942

811

Net expense for the year
(1)

Actuarial gains and losses

-3,314

-894

AT END OF YEAR

26,575

28,948

(1) The discount rate used each year is the IBoxx € Corporates AA 10+; this was 1.57% at 31 December 2018 and 1.30% at 31 December 2017.
Actuarial gains and losses recognised directly in equity amounted to a net negative €3,314 thousand.

The Group’s total retirement bonus obligation of €26,575 thousand,
calculated in accordance with the new regulations, can be broken
down as follows:

178
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●

Provision for long-service awards: €1,055 thousand;

●

Provision for post-employment benefit obligation (retirement
bonuses): €25,520 thousand.
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NOTES

3.11

BORROWINGS

Borrowings

31 December 2018

31 December 2017

169,668

111,185

Bank borrowings
Employee profit-sharing

1,728

2,325

Obligations under finance leases

15,580

18,437

Derivative financial instruments(1)

494

1,076

Other borrowings
Other financing activities(2)
Short-term bank loans and overdrafts

984

504

40,600

39,341

3,198

6,966

TOTAL BORROWINGS

232,252

179,833

Long-term borrowings

146,488

98,242

Short-term borrowings
TOTAL

85,765

81,591

232,252

179,833

(1) These financial instruments consist of fixed-rate swap contracts measured at fair value (partial hedging of the floating-rate debt) in an amount of
€491 thousand and futures contracts in an amount of €3 thousand at 31 December 2018.
(2) Other financing activities relates to the financing received under the trade receivables securitisation programme, i.e., €40,600 thousand at end-2018
and €39,341 at end-2017.

Movements in borrowings
At beginning of year
Additions to bank borrowings(1)

2018

2017

179,833

204,889

81,136

25,000

-32,251

-30,188

Increase in employee profit-sharing reserve

214

276

Decrease in employee profit-sharing reserve

-810

-573

0

18

-3,042

-2,957

Repayments of bank borrowings

Increase in finance leases
Decrease in finance leases
Increase in other borrowings

264

166

Decrease in other borrowings

-681

-986

Movements in derivative financial instruments
Movements in other financing activities
Movements in short-term bank loans and overdrafts
Changes in Group structure
AT END OF YEAR

-582

-464

1,259

-5,775

-3,767

-9,754

10,680

182

232,252

179,833

5

(1) Of which €38,390 million for the financing of capital expenditure and investments and €42,746 thousand for the financing of external growth
transactions.

Borrowings by maturity
Bank borrowings
Employee profit-sharing
Obligations under finance leases

Due within one
year

Due in one to five
years

Due beyond five
years

37,816

105,229

26,623

538

1,191

2,963

10,677

Derivative financial instruments

232

262

Other borrowings

418

331

236

117,689

28,799

Other financing activities
Short-term bank loans and overdrafts
TOTAL
The bulk of Group debt is at floating rates. Each year the Group
enters into interest rate derivative and fixed-rate agreements to
reduce its exposure to interest rate risk. The total debt (fixed and

1,940

40,600
3,198
85,765

floating rate) was hedged at 58.4% at the year-end versus 51.0% at
end-2017.
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Regarding exposure to interest rate risk, the scope used in the
sensitivity analysis includes euro-denominated bank loans, leases and
derivative hedging instruments. Sensitivity of euro-denominated debt

3.12

to a fluctuation of +/-25 basis points (based on the interest rates at
31 December 2018) is equivalent to +/-€214 thousand.

DEFERRED TAXES

Deferred taxes by type

31 December 2018

31 December 2017

0

0

Deferred tax liabilities

7,066

5,380

Deferred taxes, net

7,066

5,380

Non-current assets

13,016

13,645

Provision for post-employment benefits

-6,645

-7,240

694

-1,025

7,066

5,380

Deferred tax assets

Other
Deferred taxes, net
The tax rate used to calculate deferred taxes was 32.02% in 2018.
Pursuant to France’s 2018 Finance Act, the corporate income tax
rate in France will be gradually reduced between 2018 and 2022. For
temporary differences, a tax rate of between 32.02% and 25.83% is
therefore used, depending on the expiry of the temporary differences.

3.13

Deferred tax assets arising from tax loss carryforwards are only
recognised to the extent that they are considered recoverable at a
reasonably determinable date, based on earnings forecasts.
Unrecognised tax loss carryforwards totalled €13,610 thousand at
31 December 2018, compared with €13,577 thousand at the
previous year-end.

OTHER NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Other non-current liabilities correspond to government grants recognised in the balance sheet in accordance with IAS 20 (see Note 1.2.7 “Rules
and methods of consolidation”).
Subsidies

31 December 2018

31 December 2017

Agricultural grants

996

1,305

European funds (EAGGF, FIFG, EAFRD)

246

330

Quebec public fund

503

600

Other (energy certificates)

2,063

1,933

TOTAL

3,808

4,169

31 December 2018

31 December 2017

76,146

78,656

3.14

PAYABLES

Current liabilities – Payables
Trade payables
Changes in Group structure

2,288

340

TOTAL TRADE PAYABLES

78,434

78,996

Accrued payroll costs

55,582

53,021

Accrued taxes

1,340

1,924

Amounts due to suppliers of non-current assets

9,954

8,055

Current accounts

121

77

Subsidies

684

682

42

0

398

317

Current tax liabilities
Sundry payables
Changes in Group structure

1,496

226

TOTAL OTHER PAYABLES

69,618

64,302

148,052

143,298

TOTAL
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3.15

REVENUE

Revenue

2018

% change

2017

615,251

2.4%

601,005

International Operations

52,375

-11.1%

58,887

Other

57,645

1,0%

57,055

725,270

1,2%

716,946

French Supermarkets

TOTAL

3.16

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE

Employee benefits expense
Employee compensation
Payroll taxes
Employee profit-sharing and incentive schemes
TOTAL
The French competitiveness and employment tax credit (CICE) for the
year was recognised as a deduction from employee benefits expense
(payroll taxes). The Group qualified for a CICE of €4,673 thousand in

3.17

2018

2017

119,107

122,205

47,002

47,037

2,990

1,713

169,098

170,955

2018 (compared with €5,909 thousand in 2017), which it used to
fund business investments, in accordance with the statutory purpose
of the tax credit.

OTHER OPERATING INCOME AND EXPENSES – NET

This item includes the impact of significant, uncommon events occurring during the year that represent material amounts.
Other operating income and expenses – net

2018

2017

753

4,923

Provisions for legal proceedings and accrued URSSAF expenses

-899

Other trade income
Impairment of FM Norge CGU goodwill

-1,042

One-off bonus paid to all France-based employees to boost purchasing power

-1,576

Acquisition costs linked to equity investments

-923

TOTAL

-1,745

At 31 December 2018, the Group allocated €1,576 thousand in
respect of the French government’s measure to award a bonus to
France-based employees to boost their purchasing power. This €500

3.18

5

2,982

individual bonus was paid in February 2019 to the various beneficiary
employees of Fleury Michon subsidiaries based in France.

FINANCE COSTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL INCOME AND EXPENSES – NET

Finance costs – net

2018

2017

Interest income

1,862

2,038

Interest expense

-2,482

-2,491

TOTAL

-620

-453

Other financial income and expenses – net

2018

2017

Fair value gains/(losses) on derivative financial instruments

-31

45

Foreign exchange gains/(losses)

106

-220

Gains/(losses) on other financial assets and liabilities(1)

-708

-173

TOTAL

-633

-348

(1) Of which a €583 thousand impairment loss relating to investments in subsidiaries and affiliates and related receivables.
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INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Income tax expense

2018

2017

Current income taxes

4,590

3,766

Deferred income taxes

-601

950

TOTAL

3,989

4,716

Tax proof

2018

2017

Pre-tax profit
Applicable tax rate
Theoretical tax charge

17,437

10,692

34.43%

34.43%

6,003

3,681

-568

-1,494

-1,731

-2,226

-468

579

319

852

434

1,900

0

1,424

3,989

4,716

Impact of permanent differences
Tax credits and adjustments relating to prior years
Impact of research tax credit and CICE (reclassified as operating profit)
Effect of differences in tax rates
Permanent differences
Unrecognised deferred taxes for the year
Reversal of deferred tax assets recognised in the previous year
TOTAL

3.20

EARNINGS PER SHARE

Net profit attributable to owners of the parent (in € thousands)
Number of shares
Earnings per share (in €)
Average number of shares outstanding, excluding treasury shares
Earnings per share (in €)

2018

2017

14,497

8,611

4,387,757

4,387,757

3.30

1.96

4,291,642

4,260,301

3.38

2.02

Factoring in the 23,973 unexercised redeemable subscription and/or purchase warrants (BSAARs), diluted earnings per share stood at €3.36, as
the Group had not issued any other dilutive instruments at 31 December 2018.

3.21

NOTES TO THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

A – Change in operating working capital
Change in operating working capital

2018

2017

Change in inventories

1,290

139

-250

-3,226

562

-1,373

1,909

17,570

3,511

13,110

Change in trade receivables
Change in trade payables
Change in other operating receivables and payables

(1)

TOTAL
(1) Excluding corporate income tax receivables and payables.
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B – Income tax paid
A total of €4,590 thousand is due in income tax for the year, of which
€6,771 thousand has been paid. Given the corporate income tax
refund of €6,229 thousand in respect of the previous year, the net
amount paid was €542 thousand.

C – Investing activities
The €31,821 thousand recorded under “Acquisitions of property,
plant and equipment and intangible assets” in 2018 breaks down as
follows:
●

Acquisitions of intangible assets: €2,354 thousand;

●

Acquisitions
of
€31,347 thousand;

●

Changes in amounts due to suppliers of non-current assets:
negative €1,880 thousand.

property,

plant

and

equipment:

D – Cash and cash equivalents

●

€23,348 thousand in guarantees for bank loans granted to Piatti
Freschi Italia;

●

€2,400 thousand in guarantees for bank loans granted to
Vallégrain Développement;

● €10 thousand in guarantees for bank loans granted to Proconi.
Fleury Michon has received a commitment in the form of a
€5,126 thousand bank bond (CAD 8,000 thousand) as security for a
loan granted to Fleury Michon America (formerly Delta Dailyfood).
Trade receivables securitisation programme:

The securitisation programme has been extended until 31 January
2021. The Company acts as a centralising entity, junior depositor and
guarantor, as follows:
●

It centralises the transactions related to the securitisation
programme on behalf of Fleury Michon LS (formerly
Fleury Michon Traiteur);

●

It has agreed to provide a subordinated deposit of a maximum
of €70 million, maturing by the end of the term of the trade
receivable securitisation agreement. The subordinated deposit
amounted to €42,667 thousand at the end of the reporting
period;

●

It has given a joint and several guarantee to Ester Finance
Titrisation in the maximum amount of €51 million. The senior
deposit guaranteed at the end of the reporting period amounted
to €40,600 thousand, representing a commitment granted of
€41,412 thousand.

A breakdown of cash and cash equivalents is presented in Note 3.9.

3.22

OFF-BALANCE SHEET COMMITMENTS

Commitments given by Fleury Michon at 31 December 2018 totalled
€34,977 thousand and break down as follows:
●

€9,218 thousand in guarantees for bank loans granted to Platos
Tradicionales in Spain;

3.23

5

EMPLOYEES

Employees by socio-professional category (full-time equivalent)
Managers
Technicians – supervisors

31 December 2018

31 December 2017

383

384

823

835

Office staff – manual workers

2,534

2,489

TOTAL

3,740

3,708

31 December 2018

31 December 2017

3,028

2,952

420

464

Employees by business segment (full-time equivalent)
French Supermarkets(1)
International Operations
Other
TOTAL

292

292

3,740

3,708

(1) Changes in Group structure = 155 FTEs.
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3.24

RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Fleury Michon’s main related parties are associates and senior
managers. Associates are companies over which the Group
exercises significant influence and which are accounted for by the
equity method. Transactions with these companies are not material.

Total compensation granted to the Group’s senior managers
amounted to €1,106 thousand. This breaks down as follows:

Compensation of senior managers

2018

2017

Wages and other short-term benefits

788

685

Share-based payments

318

1

1,106

686

TOTAL

The service agreement with SHCP SAS, by which the director concerned is Grégoire Gonnord, resulted in an expense of €935 thousand for
2018.

3.25

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Overnight between 10 and 11 April 2019, Fleury Michon’s information systems were affected by a computer virus. As a precautionary measure, all
the IT tools were disconnected to avoid the virus spreading. The systems were gradually rebooted, with the logistics platform and main production
units returning to service on Monday, 15 April. The Group also implemented the various business continuity action plans.

3.26

FEES PAID TO THE STATUTORY AUDITORS AND MEMBERS OF THEIR NETWORKS

The following table sets out the fees paid to the Statutory Auditors for work performed in 2018:
Ernst & Young et Autres
Amount (excl. VAT)
In € thousands

RSM Ouest

%

Amount (excl. VAT)

%

2018

2017

2018

2017

2018

2017

2018

2017

89.8

87.2

40%

32%

79.7

77.2

45%

40%

125.8

139.1

55%

51%

96.0

101.1

55%

54%

0.5

25.0

0%

9%

-

-

-

-

Audit services
Statutory and contractual audit services
●

Issuer

●

Fully consolidated subsidiaries

Non-audit services
●

Issuer

●

Fully consolidated subsidiaries

SUB-TOTAL

11.5

23.5

5%

9%

-

14.5

-

6%

227.6

274.8

100%

100%

175.7

192.8

100%

100%

0.0

0.0

0%

0%

227.6

274.8

100%

100%

175.7

192.8

100%

100%

Other services provided to subsidiaries
●

Tax and legal advice

●

Other

TOTAL
Average CAD exchange rate in 2018 = 0.653596.
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3.27

CONSOLIDATED COMPANIES

Company

Registered office

Siren number

31 December 2018
% interest Accounting
and control
method

Fleury Michon

La Gare
85700 Pouzauges (France)

572 058 329

Parent

Fleury Michon LS

La Gare
85700 Pouzauges (France)

340 545 441

100%

FC

100%

FC

Charcuteries Cuisinées de
Plélan (CCP)

Rue de la Pointe
35380 Plélan Le Grand (France)

444 525 240

100%

FC

100%

FC

Société d’Innovation
Culinaire (SIC)

Zone Actipôle
261 avenue J. Jacques Segard
59554 Tilloy lez Cambrai (France)

489 625 111

100%

FC

100%

FC

Paso

1 rue des Frères Lumière
ZA des Fruchardières
85340 Olonne sur Mer (France)

449 419 951

100%

FC

-

-

TOM

1 rue des Frères Lumière
ZA des Fruchardières
85340 Olonne sur Mer (France)

801 617 051

100%

FC

-

-

Société Civile Immobilière
Gigaro

1 rue des Frères Lumière
ZA des Fruchardières
85340 Olonne sur Mer (France)

497 580 001

100%

FC

-

-

Room Saveurs

64-68 rue du Dessous des Berges
75013 Paris (France)

479 292 047

100%

FC

100%

FC

Good Morning

4 Square Jouvenet
75016 Paris (France)

520 286 386

100%

FC

100%

FC

Jargus

La Gare
85700 Pouzauges (France)

832 705 206

50%

FC

50%

FC

Très Bien Merci

64-68 rue du Dessous des Berges
75013 Paris (France)

801 617 291

100%

FC

100%

FC

L’Esprit Frais

64-68 rue du Dessous des Berges
75013 Paris (France)

824 066 757

100%

FC

100%

FC

Vallégrain Développement

ZA du Moulin de la Bourdinière
28330 Codray-au-Perche (France)

835 034 224

50%

EM

-

-

La Gare
Société Immobilière et
Financière d’Investissement 85700 Pouzauges (France)

612 036 657

100%

FC

100%

FC

Société Civile Immobilière
des Saveurs

La Gare
85700 Pouzauges (France)

811 012 368

100%

FC

100%

FC

Fleury Michon Suisse

1226 Plans Les Ouates
(Switzerland)

51%

FC

51%

FC

Piatti Freschi Italia (PFI)

Via Bergamo 35 Merate (Italy)

50%

EM

50%

EM

Platos Tradicionales

Buñol (Valencia) (Spain)

50%

EM

47.50%

EM

Fleury Michon Canada
(FMCI)

Montreal - Quebec (Canada)

100%

FC

100%

FC

Fleury Michon America Inc.
(new corporate name
of Delta Dailyfood Canada 26 rue Seguin Rigaud
since 1 September 2018) J0P1P0 Quebec (Canada)

31 December 2017
% interest Accounting
and control
method
Parent

100%

FC

100%

FC

Proconi

Industrijska ulica 6a, 9000 Murska
Sobota (Slovenia)

100%

FC

100%

FC

Fleury Michon Norge

Thomas Heftyes gate 52 0267
Oslo (Norway)

100%

FC

100%

FC

Fleury Michon Inc.

C/O Pramex Int. Corp. 1251
Avenue of the Americas New York
NY 10020 (USA)

100%

FC

100%

FC

5

French companies that are over 95%-owned are included in the Fleury Michon tax group.
FC: fully consolidated.
EM: companies accounted for by the equity method.
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5.6 Statutory Auditors’ report on the consolidated
financial statements
Year ended 31 December 2018
This is a free translation into English of the Statutory Auditors’ report issued in French and is provided solely for the convenience of English
speaking readers. This report includes information specifically required by European regulations or French law, such as information about the
appointment of Statutory Auditors. This report should be read in conjunction with, and construed in accordance with, French law and
professional auditing standards applicable in France.
To the Shareholders of Fleury Michon,

OPINION
In compliance with the engagement entrusted to us by your Annual General Meeting, we have audited the accompanying consolidated financial
statements of Fleury Michon for the year ended 31 December 2018.
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the assets and liabilities and of the financial position of the Group
at 31 December 2018 and of the results of its operations for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
as adopted by the European Union.
The audit opinion expressed above is consistent with our report to the Audit Committee.

BASIS FOR OPINION
Audit framework
We conducted our audit in accordance with professional standards applicable in France. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
Our responsibilities under these standards are further described in the “Responsibilities of the Statutory Auditors relating to the audit of the
consolidated financial statements” section of our report.

Independence
We conducted our audit engagement in compliance with the independence rules applicable to us, for the period from 1 January 2018 to the date
of our report and, in particular, we did not provide any non-audit services prohibited by Article 5(1) of Regulation (EU) No. 537/2014 or the French
Code of Ethics (Code de déontologie) for Statutory Auditors.

JUSTIFICATION OF OUR ASSESSMENTS – KEY AUDIT MATTERS
In accordance with the requirements of Articles L. 823-9 and R. 823-7 of the French Commercial Code (Code de commerce) relating to the
justification of our assessments, we inform you of the key audit matters relating to the risks of material misstatement that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements, as well as how we addressed those risks.
These matters were addressed as part of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and therefore contributed to the opinion
we formed as expressed above. We do not provide a separate opinion on specific items of the consolidated financial statements.

Measurement of the recoverable amount of goodwill
DESCRIPTION OF RISK

At 31 December 2018, goodwill totalled €84.5 million.
As stated in Note 1.2.5 to the consolidated financial statements, goodwill is tested annually for impairment to compare the carrying amount
allocated to cash-generating units (CGU) with its recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount of each of the accounting assets allocated to each of the CGUs defined by the Group is the higher of the value in use
determined using the discounted cash flow method and the fair value.
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We deemed the measurement of the recoverable amount of goodwill to be a key audit matter given the materiality of goodwill in the consolidated
financial statements and management’s use of assumptions and estimates in the measurement thereof. If the assumptions or estimates contained
errors, the measurement of the recoverable amount of goodwill would be inaccurate.
HOW OUR AUDIT ADDRESSED THIS RISK

We examined the key data and assumptions used to determine the recoverable amount of goodwill. Our work consisted primarily in:
●

obtaining an understanding of the procedures and controls implemented by Group management to determine the recoverable amount of
goodwill and in particular to analyse the cash flows used in the calculation of the recoverable amount;

●

analysing the operational assumptions used to establish cash flow projections, primarily by comparing them to past performances and
market outlook;

●

testing the mathematical reliability of the models and recalculated the amounts;

●

assisted by financial appraisal experts, examining the methodologies for determining the discount rate and the perpetual growth rate,
comparing these rates with market data or external sources and recalculating them using our own data sources.

● verifying the analysis conducted by management of the sensitivity of the value in use to changes in the main assumptions used.
In addition, we verified the appropriateness of the disclosures provided in Notes 1.2.5 and 3.2 to the consolidated financial statements.

Revenue recognition
DESCRIPTION OF RISK

As stated in Note 1.2.18 to the consolidated financial statements, revenue primarily comprises finished product sales and is recognised when
transfer of ownership occurs. Revenue is presented net of discounts and rebates granted to customers and net of costs stemming from
advertising and listing agreements and from one-off promotional campaigns invoiced by retailers.
Agreements with retailers include clauses based on qualitative and quantitative data. If agreements were incorrectly assessed or contractual
clauses were incorrectly applied, the business commitments would be inaccurately assessed.
We deemed the measurement of revenue and particularly the assessment of business commitments to be a key audit matter given their
significance in the consolidated financial statements, as revenue measurement and particularly the assessment of business commitments may
require management to use assumptions and estimations at the year-end.
HOW OUR AUDIT ADDRESSED THIS RISK

5

Our work consisted primarily in:
●

examining the compliance with IFRS of the accounting methods used by the Group to recognise revenue;

●

given the volume of sales transactions, examining the internal control procedures relating to revenue recognition and subsequently
performing tests on the key controls implemented in the main operational entities of the Group;

●

assessing the methods for identifying and assessing business commitments;

●

based on a sample, examining the data used to assess the business commitments recognised over the year (revenue data relating to
business commitments and contractual rates applied with respect to these commitments);

●

examining the key assumptions used by management to determine liabilities for business commitments at the year-end.

Assessment of risks in relation to legal and administrative proceedings
DESCRIPTION OF RISK

In the ordinary course of its business, Fleury Michon may be involved in a certain number of legal and administrative proceedings.
As stated in Note 3.10 to the consolidated financial statements, at 31 December 2018 the Group recognised €7.7 million in provisions for
litigation, following an assessment of the risks by management.
We deemed the measurement of risk for legal and administrative disputes to be a key audit matter in view of the high degree of estimates and
judgements made by management and consequently of the potential materiality of their impact on consolidated profit and equity if the estimates
were to change.
HOW OUR AUDIT ADDRESSED THIS RISK

Our work consisted primarily in:
●

examining the procedures implemented by management to identify and categorise legal and tax-related disputes;

●

obtaining an understanding of the risk analysis carried out by management and the related documentation and, where appropriate,
external advisers’ written opinions;

●

analysing, with the help of our employment-law experts where appropriate, the main risks identified and the assumptions used by
management to estimate the amount of the provisions.
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In addition, we verified the appropriateness of the disclosures provided in Note 3.10 to the consolidated financial statements with respect to the
risks.

Accounting treatment of the Paso acquisition
DESCRIPTION OF RISK

As indicated in Note 2, on 3 April 2018, Fleury Michon announced the acquisition of all outstanding shares in Paso, which comprised three
companies, i.e., Paso SAS, Tom SAS (support services) and SCI Gigaro. Accordingly, the Group proceeded with the first-time consolidation of the
company on the date of the transfer of control, whereupon provisional goodwill was recognised in the amount of €33.6 million and the Paso brand
was recognised in the amount of €7 million as described in Notes 3.2 and 3.3 to the consolidated financial statements.
We deemed the recognition and presentation of this transaction to be a key audit matter given the materiality of the assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed, as well as the level of judgement required to identify and measure these assets and liabilities under IFRS 3, in particular when
estimating the fair value of intangibles and measuring potential liabilities.
HOW OUR AUDIT ADDRESSED THIS RISK

Our work consisted primarily in:
●

examining the calculation of the acquisition price;

●

examining (i) the opening balance of Paso’s financial statements at 3 April 2018, which had previously been audited by Paso’s Statutory
Auditor at the closing date of the company’s financial statements, i.e., 31 March 2018, and (ii) the impact of the change from French
generally accepted accounting principles to IFRS standards, as adopted by the European Union;

●

examining, with the assistance of financial appraisal experts in the audit team and using the independent expert’s report, the
methodologies and main assumptions used by management to recognise the fair value of acquired intangible assets, in particular, the
business plans, discount rate, long-term growth rate and payment rate used by management;

●

examining information pertaining to the acquisition appearing in the notes to the consolidation financial statements.

SPECIFIC VERIFICATIONS
As required by legal and regulatory provisions and in accordance with professional standards applicable in France, we have also verified the
information pertaining to the Group presented in the Board of Directors’ management report.
We have no matters to report as to its fair presentation and its consistency with the consolidated financial statements.
We attest that the Board of Directors’ management report includes the consolidated non-financial information statement required under
Article L. 225-102-1 of the French Commercial Code. However, in accordance with Article L. 823-10 of the French Commercial Code, we have
not verified the fair presentation and consistency with the consolidated financial statements of the information given in that statement, which will
be the subject of a report by an independent third party.

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS
Appointment of the Statutory Auditors
We were appointed Statutory Auditors of Fleury Michon by the Annual General Meetings held on 9 June 2011 for RSM Ouest and on
28 May 2015 for Ernst & Young et Autres.
At 31 December 2018, RSM Ouest and Ernst & Young et Autres were in the eighth and the fourth consecutive year of their engagement,
respectively.
Exco Atlantique (acquired by Ernst & Young Audit and renamed Ernst & Young Atlantique in 2008) was previously Statutory Auditor.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF MANAGEMENT AND THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Management is responsible for preparing consolidated financial statements presenting a true and fair view in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union and for implementing the internal control procedures it deems necessary for the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free of material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the company’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern, and using the going concern basis of accounting, unless it expects to
liquidate the company or to cease operations.
The Audit Committee is responsible for monitoring the financial reporting process and the effectiveness of internal control and risk management
systems, as well as, where applicable, any internal audit systems, relating to accounting and financial reporting procedures.
These consolidated financial statements have been approved by the Board of Directors.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE STATUTORY AUDITORS RELATING TO THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Objective and audit approach
Our role is to issue a report on the consolidated financial statements. Our objective is to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free of material misstatement. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with professional standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
As specified in Article L. 823-10-1 of the French Commercial Code, our audit does not include assurance on the viability or quality of management
of the company.
As part of an audit conducted in accordance with professional standards applicable in France, the Statutory Auditors exercise professional
judgement throughout the audit. They also:
●

identify and assess the risks of material misstatement in the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and
perform audit procedures in response to those risks, and obtain audit evidence considered to be sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for their opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control;

●

obtain an understanding of the internal control procedures relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the internal control;

●

evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management and the
related disclosures in the notes to the consolidated financial statements;

●

assess the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the company’s ability to continue as
a going concern. This assessment is based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of the audit report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the company to cease to continue as a going concern. If the Statutory Auditors conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, they are required to draw attention in the audit report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are not provided or are inadequate, to issue a qualified opinion or a disclaimer of opinion;

●

evaluate the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements and assess whether these statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation;

●

obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. The Statutory Auditors are responsible for the management, supervision and
performance of the audit of the consolidated financial statements and for the opinion expressed thereon.

5

Report to the Audit Committee
●

We submit a report to the Audit Committee which includes, in particular, a description of the scope of the audit and the audit programme
implemented, as well as the results of our audit. We also report any significant deficiencies in internal control that we have identified
regarding the accounting and financial reporting procedures.

●

Our report to the Audit Committee includes the risks of material misstatement that, in our professional judgement, were the most significant
for the audit of the consolidated financial statements and which constitute the key audit matters that we are required to describe in this
report.

We also provide the Audit Committee with the declaration provided for in Article 6 of Regulation (EU) No. 537/2014, confirming our independence
within the meaning of the rules applicable in France, as defined in particular in Articles L. 822-10 to L. 822-14 of the French Commercial Code
and in the French Code of Ethics for Statutory Auditors. Where appropriate, we discuss any risks to our independence and the related safeguard
measures with the Audit Committee.
Orvault and Nantes, 26 April 2019
The Statutory Auditors
RSM Ouest

Ernst & Young et Autres

Nicolas Perenchio

Luc Derrien
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6.1 Statement of financial position
Assets
31 December 2018

In € thousands
NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Notes

Gross

Depreciation,
amortisation
and provisions

3-4

31 December 2017

Net

Net

307,152

82,103

225,049

175,216

Intangible assets

23,104

5,804

17,300

15,756

Patents, licences and trademarks

13,870

0

13,870

13,870

Other intangible assets

7,567

5,804

1,763

1,187

Assets under construction

1,667

0

1,667

698

74,927

37,672

37,255

34,192

1,867

264

1,603

1,390

68,714

36,406

32,308

31,669

Property, plant and equipment
Land
Buildings
Machinery and equipment

909

363

546

74

Other property, plant and equipment

1,635

639

996

127

Assets under construction

1,739

0

1,739

804

Prepayments to suppliers of non-current
assets
Long-term investments

3-5-6

Shares in subsidiaries and affiliates

63

0

63

129

209,121

38,627

170,494

125,268

205,143

38,575

166,568

120,961

0

0

0

52

59

85

Advances to subsidiaries and affiliates
Other long-term investments

112

Loans relating to other long-term
investments
CURRENT ASSETS

3,866

0

3,866

4,222

265,085

6,012

259,073

255,811

138,967

6,012

132,955

129,159

27

0

27

9

Inventories and work in progress
Receivables

5-6

Prepayments
Trade receivables

6,702

0

6,702

11,246

Other receivables

132,238

6,012

126,226

117,904

Other current assets

125,113

0

125,113

125,767

105,500

0

105,500

105,500

19,613

0

19,613

20,267
877

Marketable securities

8

Cash
Prepaid expenses

192

784

0

784

Translation losses

220

0

220

7

TOTAL ASSETS

572,237

88,115

484,122

431,027
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Equity and liabilities
In € thousands

Notes

31 December 2018

31 December 2017

9

234,664

223,363

Share capital

13,383

13,383

Share premiums

61,343

61,343

1,554

1,554

EQUITY

Legal reserve
Untaxed reserves

0

0

108,979

98,979

Retained earnings

26,411

21,543

Net profit for the year

16,336

19,588

978

1,199
5,772

Other reserves

Investment grants
Untaxed provisions

5

5,680

PROVISIONS FOR CONTINGENCIES AND LOSSES

5

1,055

722

PAYABLES

6

248,403

205,759

Bank borrowings

63,094

19,939

Other borrowings

172,886

172,667

Trade payables

2,541

4,159

Accrued taxes and payroll costs

7,713

7,716

Amounts due to suppliers of non-current assets

1,942

1,030

Other payables

227

248

ACCRUAL ACCOUNTS

0

1,184

Deferred income

0

0

Translation gains
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

0

1,184

484,122

431,027
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6.2 Income statement
In € thousands

Notes

31 December 2017

Operating income

41,662

46,437

Revenue

38,385

45,543

4

7

Reversals of depreciation, amortisation and provisions, expense
transfers

2,151

326

Other income

1,122

562

40,105

46,516

Operating grants

Operating expenses
Purchases of raw materials and other supplies
Other purchases and external charges
Taxes other than on income

0

2

19,687

23,803

2,035

2,064

10,371

11,921

Payroll taxes

4,518

5,660

Depreciation, amortisation and provisions

2,855

2,625

638

441

Wages and salaries

Other expenses
OPERATING PROFIT (LOSS)

1,557

-79

23,441

24,652

8,561

6,803

14,880

17,849

16,436

17,770

Non-recurring income

777

5,528

Non-recurring expenses

670

4,461

Financial income
Financial expenses
NET FINANCIAL INCOME

11

PROFIT BEFORE TAX AND NON-RECURRING ITEMS

NET NON-RECURRING INCOME

12

107

1,068

Corporate income tax

13

207

-751

0

0

16,336

19,588

Employee profit-sharing
NET PROFIT

194

31 December 2018
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6.3 Statement of cash flows
In € thousands

31 December 2018

31 December 2017

16,336

19,588

5,210

6,448

Cash flows from operating activities
Net profit
Depreciation, amortisation and provisions
Reversals of depreciation, amortisation and provisions
Gains and losses on disposals of assets
Portion of grants

-805

-3,484

11

-1,830

-221

-221

Cash flow

20,530

20,502

Change in trade and other receivables(1)

14,467

-8,452

Change in trade payables and other liabilities

-1,637

196

Change in operating working capital

12,830

-8,256

NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

33,361

12,246

-7,451

-3,483

-44,952

-1,937

267

1,990

-21,266

-21,361

Cash flows from investing activities
Acquisitions of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets
Acquisitions of long-term investments
Disposals of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets
Disposals of long-term investments or loan repayments
Change in advances made to subsidiaries(1)

102

Grants received during the year
Change in operating working capital related to non-current assets
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES

912

458

-72,489

-24,231

Cash flows from financing activities
Capital increase

-

Issue of share subscription warrants

-

Dividends paid during the year
Disposals of treasury shares

-4,721

-4,704

127

3,942

Proceeds from new borrowings

50,399

4,310

Repayments of borrowings

-7,412

-7,279

38,393

-3,728

Change in accrued interest not yet due
NET CASH FROM (USED IN) FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Change in cash and cash equivalents

6

3
-735

-15,713

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

125,764

141,477

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year(1)

125,028

125,764

(1) In 2016, Fleury Michon implemented a trade receivables securitisation programme for its Fleury Michon LS subsidiary. Fleury Michon acts as
centralising entity, junior depositor and guarantor. At year-end 2018, the Company obtained €40,600 thousand in financing through the programme.
At 31 December 2018, the subordinated deposit amounted to €42,667 thousand and advances made to subsidiaries in consideration for the
programme totalled €83,267 thousand.
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6.4 Statement of changes in equity
In € thousands

Share
capital

Additional
paid-in
capital

Reserves

AT 1 JANUARY 2017

13,383

61,343

85,534

20,877

20,370

15,000

666

-15,666

Retained
earnings Net profit

Grants

Untaxed
provisions

Total

1,420

5,815

208,742

Capital transactions
Appropriation of net profit
Dividends paid during the
year
Net profit for the year

-4,704

-4,704

-19,588

-19,588

Portion of grants
recognised as earnings

-221

-221

New grants received during
the year
Provisions/reversals of
untaxed provisions
AT 31 DECEMBER 2017

13,383

61,343

100,534

21,543

19,588

10,000

4,867

-14,867

1,199

-43

-43

5,772

223,363

Capital transactions
Appropriation of net profit
Dividends paid during the
year

-4,721

-4,721

Net profit for the year

16,336

16,336

Portion of grants
recognised as earnings

-221

-221

New grants received during
the year
Provisions/reversals of
untaxed provisions
AT 31 DECEMBER 2018
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13,383

61,343

110,534

26,411

16,336

978

-92

-92

5,680

234,664
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Note 1

Significant events

During the year, the Company carried out a number of transactions
on investments in subsidiaries and affiliates and the related
receivables:
Shares
in
subsidiaries
€46,940 thousand:
●

●

and

affiliates:

acquisition

capital increase at Piatti Freschi Italia to strengthen equity as
part of the company’s development. The long-standing joint

creation of Vallégrain Développement, in which Fleury Michon
holds a 50% stake.

In addition, Fleury Michon’s stake in Platos Tradicionales increased
from 47.50% to 50% in capital and voting rights following the
company’s buyback of 5% of its own shares from a minority
shareholder.
In 2018, the Company recognised:
●

the impairment of its investment in Esprit Frais and the related
receivables for €1,000 thousand and €3,500 thousand,
respectively;

●

the impairment of its investments in Perche Agricole, which
produces and markets organic vegetable juice (under the
By jardin brand), for €332 thousand.

Summary of significant accounting policies

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
French generally accepted accounting principles, including the
principles of prudence, consistency and reliability, to give a true and
fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and results of the
Company:

provisions for contingencies and retirement bonus obligations
reported in off-balance sheet commitments.

●

principle of going concern;

2.3

●

use of consistent accounting policies from one year to the next;

● segregation of accounting periods.
The financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018 are
presented in accordance with legal and regulatory requirements
applicable in France, including ANC (French accounting standard
setter) Regulation No. 2016-07 (approved by the order of
26 December 2016) amending ANC Regulation No. 2014-03.

2.1

COMPARABILITY WITH PRIOR-YEAR
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The estimates are based on the same types of underlying
management assumptions as those used at 31 December 2017.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Trademarks are valued at their contributed value, as determined at
the time of the 1998 merger. The valuation was based on two years’
advertising and promotional spend, corresponding to the method
generally applied in the food retailing sector. Trademarks are not
amortised, as it is not possible to determine the period over which
the expected future economic benefits of these assets will be
consumed. An impairment test is performed on an annual basis. An
impairment loss is recognised if the present value of the asset is
lower than its carrying amount.

There were no changes in the accounting policies or methods used
by Fleury Michon in 2018 compared with those applied in 2017.

Other intangible assets are stated at cost and amortised on a
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives (software: three to
ten years).

2.2

2.4

MANAGEMENT ESTIMATES AND
ASSUMPTIONS

The financial statements were prepared in accordance with French
generally accepted accounting standards, and certain reported
amounts are based on management estimates and assumptions.
These estimates are based on information available when they are
established. They may be revised if the underlying conditions change.
Actual results could differ. The main estimates and assumptions
concern the value in use of shares in subsidiaries and affiliates,

198

●

for

acquisition on 3 April 2018 of the Paso Group (Paso SAS,
Tom SAS, SCI Gigaro), specialised in appetizers and nibbles.
The baking and catering know-how rounds out the Group’s
butcher and prepared meal expertise and is in line with the
development and growth strategy of the French supermarkets
segment. The business, based in Vendée, has two production
sites and employs around 140 people. This acquisition was
financed by a bank loan;

Note 2

venture partner, Salumificio Fratelli Beretta, also took part in the
transaction in proportion to its equity interest, i.e., 50%;
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Property, plant and equipment acquired in connection with the 1998
merger is valued at contributed value, as determined at the time.
Assets acquired since the merger are stated at cost.
The Company has not elected to capitalise related borrowing costs.
When the components of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, they are recognised and depreciated
separately.

Parent company financial statements
NOTES

Depreciation schedule

Period

Buildings

20 to 30 years

Fixtures and fittings

10 to 15 years

Machinery and equipment

6 to 15 years

Office and computer equipment

5 to 10 years

2.5

LONG-TERM INVESTMENTS (SHARES IN
SUBSIDIARIES AND AFFILIATES AND OTHER
LONG-TERM INVESTMENTS)

Shares in subsidiaries and affiliates and other investments are stated
at cost. An impairment loss is recognised if the recoverable amount
of the shares is lower than their carrying amount.
Transaction costs are included in the cost of the shares in
accordance with Article 9 of the 2007 Finance Act, with the exception
of Proconi, for which transaction costs were expensed.
Treasury shares are classified under “Other long-term investments”
and stated at cost. An impairment loss is recognised when the
average share price for the last month of the year is lower than the
average acquisition cost, with the exception of shares bought back
for cancellation or to reduce the Company’s capital.

2.6

RECEIVABLES

Receivables are stated at nominal value. Receivables are determined
on a case-by-case basis, taking into account any related disputes,
and more specifically, the risk of non-recovery resulting from
excessively late payments. An impairment loss is recognised when
their probable realisable value is less than the carrying amount.
Receivables in foreign currencies are converted and recognised in
euros based on the latest exchange rates. When the application of
the conversion rate at the year-end date has the effect of altering the
amounts previously recorded in euros, translation differences are
recognised in balance sheet assets representing the differences
corresponding to an unrealised loss or in liabilities for differences
corresponding to unrealised gains. A contingency provision may be
established based on the amount of unrealised foreign exchange
losses.

2.7

MARKETABLE SECURITIES

These consist of short-term cash investments, mainly negotiable
certificates of deposit or time deposit accounts. An impairment loss is
recognised when their market value at year-end is less than the
acquisition cost.

2.8

PROVISIONS FOR CONTINGENCIES AND
LOSSES

A provision is booked when the Company has a present obligation
towards a third party where it is probable or certain that an outflow of
resources will be required to settle the obligation without any inflow of
economic resources of at least an equivalent value, and where the
due date and amount of the obligation are not precisely known.

2.9

ACCELERATED CAPITAL ALLOWANCES

As period of use takes precedence for tax purposes, a non-recurring
allowance is booked for the difference compared to book
depreciation and reducing balance depreciation recorded for tax
purposes.

2.10

CORPORATE INCOME TAX

Fleury Michon SA is the parent company of the tax group set up
under the Group relief regime provided for by Article 223 A of the
French General Tax Code (Code général des impôts). The tax
expense is calculated as if the Company were taxed on a stand-alone
basis and tax savings arising from the utilisation of tax losses are
reallocated immediately to loss-making subsidiaries.

6

In accordance with the guidance issued by the ANC on
28 February 2013, the competitiveness and employment tax credit
(crédit d’impôt pour la compétitivité et l’emploi – CICE) was deducted
from employee benefits expense.

2.11

LONG-SERVICE AWARDS

The provision for long-service awards is adjusted annually, taking into
account the length of service required for the award, staff turnover,
life expectancy and a discount rate.
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Note 3

Non-current assets

Non-current assets (In € thousands)
Patents, licences and trademarks
Other intangible assets
Assets under construction
TOTAL INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Land
Buildings

Acquisitions

Decreases

Gross at
31 December
2018

13,870

0

0

13,870
7,567

6,512

1,055

0

698

1,559

590

1,667

21,080

2,614

590

23,104

1,629

238

0

1,867

65,889

2,825

0

68,714

Machinery and equipment

392

517

0

909

Other property, plant and equipment

658

977

0

1,635

Assets under construction

804

1,714

779

1,739

Prepayments

129

63

129

63

69,500

6,334

907

74,927

158,204

46,940

0

205,143

148

0

37

112

4,222

55

410

3,866

TOTAL LONG-TERM INVESTMENTS

162,574

46,994

447

209,121

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS

253,154

55,942

1,944

307,152

TOTAL PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Shares in subsidiaries and affiliates
Other long-term investments
Loans relating to other long-term investments

In 2018, Fleury Michon acquired all outstanding shares of the Paso
Group, comprising three companies: Paso SAS, Tom SAS and
SCI Gigaro. Fleury Michon also participated in the capital increase of

Note 4

Piatti Freschi Italia and created Vallégrain Développement (interest
limited to 50% of the capital).

Depreciation and amortisation
Depr./amort. at
1 January 2018

Increases

Other intangible assets

5,325

479

0

5,804

AMORTISATION OF INTANGIBLE ASSETS

5,325

479

0

5,804

239

25

0

264

Depreciation and amortisation (in € thousands)

Land
Buildings

200

Gross at
1 January 2018

Depr./amort. at
Decreases 31 December 2018

34,220

2,186

0

36,406

Machinery and equipment

318

45

0

363

Other

531

108

0

639

DEPRECIATION OF PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

35,308

2,364

0

37,672

TOTAL AMORTISATION AND DEPRECIATION

40,632

2,843

0

43,476
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Note 5

Provisions
Amount at
1 January 2018

Additions

Reversals

Amount at
31 December
2018

Accelerated capital allowances

5,772

421

514

5,680

TOTAL UNTAXED PROVISIONS

5,772

421

514

5,680

7

216

4

220

64

0

13

52

Other

650

397

264

783

TOTAL PROVISIONS FOR CONTINGENCIES AND LOSSES(1)

722

613

281

1,055

37,306

1,332

11

38,627

0

0

0

0

1,066

0

1,066

0

Type of provision (in € thousands)

Provisions for foreign exchange losses
Provisions for post-employment benefits

Long-term investments
Inventories and work in progress
Trade receivables
Other

2,512

3,500

0

6,012

TOTAL PROVISIONS FOR IMPAIRMENT(2)

40,884

4,832

1,077

44,639

TOTAL PROVISIONS

47,378

5,867

1,871

51,374

(1) Of which the amount of reversals of provisions used €281 thousand.
(2) Of which the amount of reversals of provisions used €1,077 thousand.

The main changes in 2018 concern:
●

impairment of all Esprit Frais shares (wholly owned) and
impairment of related receivables;

●

impairment of two-thirds of the value of Perche Agricole’s
shares (25% of share capital owned);

●

reversals of provisions for impairment of trade receivables
following the favourable resolution of a trade dispute.
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Note 6

Maturities of assets and liabilities

Type of asset (in € thousands)

Gross

Due within
one year

Due beyond
one year

Other long-term investments

3,866

0

3,866

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS

3,866

0

3,866

Trade receivables

6,702

6,702

0

86

86

0

Prepaid personnel costs
Prepaid and recoverable taxes and payroll costs

9,963

9,963

0

Group and associates

79,301

79,301

0

Other receivables(1)

42,888

42,888

0

138,940

138,940

0

784

784

0

143,591

139,725

3,866

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS
Prepaid expenses
TOTAL RECEIVABLES

Gross

Due within
one year

Due beyond
one year and
within five years

Due beyond
five years

Bank borrowings

62,960

11,415

37,448

14,097

Other borrowings

195

54

142

0

Bank loans and overdrafts

133

133

0

0

Trade payables

2,541

2,541

0

0

Accrued personnel costs

4,876

4,876

0

0

Accrued taxes and payroll costs

2,837

2,837

0

0

1,942

1,942

0

0

172,691

172,691

0

0

Type of liability (in € thousands)

Amounts due to suppliers of fixed assets
Group and associates(1)
Other liabilities
TOTAL PAYABLES

227

227

0

0

248,403

196,717

37,590

14,097

(1) Fleury Michon implemented a trade receivables securitisation programme for its Fleury Michon LS subsidiary. The Company acts as a centralising
entity, junior depositor and guarantor (contract ending on 31 January 2021). The Company obtained €40,600 thousand in financing through the
programme, compared with €39,341 thousand in 2017. At 31 December 2018, the subordinated deposit amounted to €42,667 thousand and
advances made to subsidiaries in consideration for the programme totalled €84,052 thousand.

Note 7

202

Commercial paper

Trade receivables

-

Trade payables

-

Amounts due to suppliers of fixed assets

-
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Note 8

Marketable securities

Marketable securities had a carrying amount of €105,500 thousand, remaining unchanged compared with 31 December 2017, and consisted
mainly of negotiable deposit certificates and time deposit accounts.

Note 9

Equity

In € thousands

31 December 2017

Appropriation
of 2017 net profit

Change

31 December 2018

Share capital

13,383

0

13,383

Additional paid-in capital

61,343

0

61,343

0

0

Revaluation reserves
Legal reserve

1,554

Untaxed reserves

0

0
1,554

0

0

0

Other reserves

98,979

10,000

108,979

Retained earnings

21,543

4,867

26,411

Net profit for 2017

19,588

-19,588

Net profit for 2018
Government grants and untaxed provisions
EQUITY

16,336
6,972
223,363

-4,721

16,336

-313

6,658

16,022

234,664

At 31 December 2018, the Company’s share capital was made up of 4,387,757 ordinary shares with a par value of €3.05. A dividend of
€4,721 thousand was paid during the year.
In a press release dated 22 March 2013, the Company announced
that it was issuing 61,211 redeemable subscription and/or purchase
warrants (BSAARs). BSAARs are non-transferable and
non-exercisable for three years. Each BSAAR allows its holder to
purchase or subscribe, at the issuer’s discretion, an existing or new

Fleury Michon share at a price of €47.58, parity having been
confirmed by the Board on 1 April 2016. The BSAARs may be
exercised from the date of their first listing on the Euronext Paris
market, i.e., from 7 April 2016, until 22 March 2020.

6

During the year, no BSAARs were exercised.

Information on BSAARs at 31 December 2018
Total number of warrants that may be subscribed

118,800

Total number of warrants issued

61,211

Total number of warrants exercised

37,238

Total number of remaining unexercised warrants

23,973

Furthermore, at 31 December 2018, the Company held
91,205 shares in treasury, versus 96,965 the previous year, following
the grant of free shares. The remaining treasury shares are

recognised at a net carrying amount of €2,687 thousand,
representing an average price of €29.47 per share.
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Note 10 Accrued expenses, accrued income and prepaid expenses
31 December 2018

31 December 2017

181

128

Accrued expenses
Bank borrowings
Other borrowings

1

2

Trade payables

1,192

2,141

Accrued taxes and payroll costs

4,554

4,305

703

750

0

3

Amounts due to suppliers of fixed assets
Accrued credit notes
Other payables
TOTAL ACCRUED EXPENSES

225

242

6,856

7,571

1,260

2,076

33

2

Accrued income
Trade receivables
Prepaid and recoverable taxes and payroll costs
Other receivables

13

13

Cash

3,208

2,264

TOTAL ACCRUED INCOME

4,515

4,356

748

835

Prepaid expenses
Operating expenses
Financial expenses
TOTAL PREPAID EXPENSES

36

42

784

877

31 December 2018

31 December 2017

19,120

20,523

3,861

4,093

460

30

Note 11 Net financial income
Net financial income for the year stood at €14,880 thousand, breaking down as follows:
Financial income
Dividend income from subsidiaries and affiliates
Other interest income
Provision reversals and expense transfers
Exchange gains

0

6

23,441

24,652

31 December 2018

31 December 2017

Depreciation, amortisation and provisions

5,434

3,592

Interest expense

3,127

3,211

TOTAL

Financial expenses

TOTAL
NET FINANCIAL LOSS

8,561

6,803

14,880

17,849

In 2018, financial provisions mainly consisted of the impairment of shares in Esprit Frais and of the current account granted to this subsidiary, for
an amount of €4,500 thousand.
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Note 12 Non-recurring income and expenses
Non-recurring income for the year amounted to €107 thousand compared with €1,068 thousand in 2017.
In 2017, the line item included the award of vested free shares, representing a non-recurring expense of €2,927 thousand, which was offset by a
provision reversal in an amount of €2,933 thousand and net income from BSAARs of €702 thousand.
Non-recurring income

31 December 2018

31 December 2017

1

1

On capital transactions

247

2,066

Reversals of accelerated capital allowances

514

529

0

0

On management transactions

Provision reversals (price increases)
Provision reversals

15

2,933

777

5,528

31 December 2018

31 December 2017

TOTAL

Non-recurring expenses
On management transactions

42

0

On capital transactions

207

3,975

Charges to accelerated capital allowances

421

486

TOTAL

670

4,461

NET NON-RECURRING INCOME

107

1,068

6

Note 13 Corporate income tax
Profit from ordinary activities (after employee profit-sharing)
Non-recurring items
TOTAL

Before tax

Tax

Net

16,436

176

16,260

107

32

75

16,543

207

16,336

The Company has opted for the group relief regime as provided for by Article 223 A of the French General Tax Code. The French tax group is
headed by Fleury Michon.
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Note 14 Items recognised solely for tax purposes
Net profit for the year

16,336

Untaxed provisions

421

Reversals of untaxed provisions

-514

Corresponding tax reduction

-145

Corresponding tax increase

177

PROFIT BEFORE ITEMS RECOGNISED SOLELY FOR TAX PURPOSES

16,275

Note 15 Off-balance sheet financial commitments
Guarantees granted(1)

34,966

Guarantees received(2)

5,126

End-of-service benefits at 31 December 2018(3)

2,771

(1) Including as collateral for bank loans and/or to guarantee finance leases granted:
• to the subsidiary Platos Tradicionales: €9,218 thousand;
• to the subsidiary Piatti Freschi Italia: €23,348 thousand;
• to the subsidiary Vallégrain Développement: €2,400 thousand.
(2) Including CAD 8 million in guarantees received, equating to €5,126 thousand at 31 December 2018.
(3) Post-employment benefit obligations are calculated on the basis of gross salaries, including payroll taxes, taking into account a discount rate of 1.57%,
length of service, employee turnover rates, life expectancies (based on 2013 INSEE data), future salary and payroll tax levels, and an expected average
retirement age of 63.
In compliance with the national collective bargaining agreement for the charcuterie industry, total end-of-service benefits calculated in accordance with
these provisions, amounted to €2,771 thousand.

At year-end, the remaining notional amount of interest rate swaps stood at €44,194 thousand, to which was added €21,000 thousand in interest
rate options (interest rate caps); the total mark-to-market valuation was a negative €484 thousand.

Trade receivables securitisation programme

●

it has agreed to provide a subordinated deposit of a maximum
of €70 million, maturing by the end of the term of the trade
receivable securitisation agreement, i.e., 31 January 2021. The
subordinated deposit amounted to €42,667 thousand at the
end of the reporting period;

●

it has given a joint and several guarantee to Ester Finance
Titrisation in the maximum amount of €51 million. The senior
deposit guaranteed at the end of the reporting period amounted
to €40,600 thousand, representing a commitment granted of
€41,412 thousand.

Fleury Michon has implemented a trade receivables securitisation
programme for its Fleury Michon LS subsidiary. The Company acts
as a centralising entity, junior depositor and guarantor, as follows:
●

206

it centralises the transactions related to the securitisation
programme on behalf of Fleury Michon LS (formerly
Fleury Michon Traiteur);
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Note 16 Lease commitments
Depreciation and amortisation
Assets held under finance leases (in € thousands)

Capitalised cost

Intangible assets (software)

3,827

Land

24,208

Machinery and equipment

383

2,125

1,702

1,321

8,198

16,010

28,923

Payments made

Net

1,704

10,323

18,600

888

0

TOTAL

Intangible assets (software)

Accumulated

888

Buildings

Lease commitments (in € thousands)

2018

0

Payments due
Due within
one to five
years

Due
beyond
five years

Total

Residual
purchase
price

2018

Accumulated

Due within
one year

648

3,646

416

262

0

678

4

2,217

13,590

2,255

9,408

1,836

13,499

109

2,865

17,236

2,671

9,670

1,836

14,177

113

Land
Buildings
Machinery and equipment
TOTAL

Note 17 Average headcount (full-time equivalent)
31 December 2018

31 December 2017

Managers

79

82

Supervisors, Technicians

93

112

Manual workers – Office staff

23

28

195

222

TOTAL

6

The CICE tax credit for the year was deducted from employee benefits expense (payroll taxes). The Company qualified for a CICE of
€237 thousand in respect of 2018, which it used in accordance with the statutory purpose of the tax credit.
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Note 18 Unrecognised deferred tax assets and liabilities
Unrecognised deferred tax liabilities (in € thousands)
Provisions for price increases
Accelerated capital allowances

0
5,680

Other untaxed provisions
Investment grants

0
978

TOTAL

6,658

CORRESPONDING TAX (34.43%)

2,292

Unrecognised deferred tax assets (in € thousands)
Expenses deductible in the following year

38

TOTAL

38

CORRESPONDING TAX (34.43%)

13

Note 19 Compensation paid to members of the Board of Directors and Executive
Management
Board of Directors
Executive Management
TOTAL

192
81
273

Detailed information on the compensation paid to corporate officers is provided in Chapter 3 “Corporate governance”, Section 3.3
“Compensation” of the Registration Document.
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Note 20 Related-party disclosures
The service agreement with SHCP SAS, concerning director Grégoire Gonnord, resulted in an expense of €935 thousand for 2018.

Note 21 Events after the reporting period
Overnight between 10 and 11 April 2019, Fleury Michon’s information systems were affected by a computer virus. As a precautionary measure, all
the IT tools were disconnected to avoid the virus spreading. The systems were gradually rebooted, with the logistics platform and main production
units returning to service on Monday, 15 April. The Group also implemented the various business continuity action plans.

6
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6.6 Subsidiaries and affiliates
Share capital of
the Company

Reserves

% interest

Gross carrying
amount

46,578,708

118,200,227

100.00%

80,624,431

1) Subsidiaries
●

Fleury Michon LS (formerly Fleury Michon Traiteur)

●

Fleury Michon Traiteur de la Mer

●

Société d’Innovation Culinaire

●

Société Immobilière Financière d’Investissement

●

Room Saveurs

●

PASO

●

TOM

●

SCI Gigaro

●

Jargus

●

Très Bien Merci

●

L’Esprit Frais

●

Fleury Michon Canada Inc.(1)

●

Proconi (Slovenia)

●

Fleury Michon Suisse(2)

●

Fleury Michon Inc.

●

Fleury Michon Norge(4)

(3)

37,000

-

100.00%

37,000

6,237,000

1,111,812

100.00%

6,237,000

143,055

1,592,003

100.00%

470,249

7,800,000

3,427,468

100.00%

7,800,000

220,650

5,358,238

100.00%

43,919,887

10,000

45,866

20.00%

20,000

1,000

96,374

80.00%

0

1,000

-223,078

50.00%

500

40,000

-2,380,791

100.00%

40,000

1,000,000

-3,928,208

100.00%

1,000,000

23,518,094

-23,146,238

100.00%

24,254,200

3,373,471

-7,169,006

100.00%

13,460,000

88,739

-116,997

51.00%

34,753

8,734

-46,602

100.00%

9,147

185,707

-445,863

100.00%

3,177,317

2) Affiliates
Piatti Freschi Italia

16,000,000

-3,585,245

50.00%

15,118,008

●

Platos Tradicionales

15,500,000

9,378,011

50.00%

7,362,500

2,000,000

225,847

50.00%

1,000,000

329,264

NA

12.97%

77,975

10,000

-153,425

1.00%

100

688,700

NA

25.00%

500,241

●

Vallégrain Développement

●

L’Assiette Bleue

●

SCI immobilière des saveurs

●

Le Perche Agricole

●

Other affiliates

TOTAL

100
205,143,408

(1) Calculated using the year-end CAD exchange rate for share capital (0.64082) and the yearly average exchange rate for net profit (0.653596).
(2) Calculated using the year-end CHF exchange rate for share capital (0.88739) and the yearly average exchange rate for net profit (0.870973).
(3) Calculated using the year-end USD exchange rate for share capital (0.873362) and the yearly average exchange rate for net profit (0.853591).
(4) Calculated using the year-end NOK exchange rate for share capital (0.10052) and the yearly average exchange rate for net profit (0.101072).
NA: Information not available.
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Net carrying amount

Loans and advances
granted

80,624,431

Pre-tax revenue for
the year

Net profit/(loss) for
the year

Dividends received
during the year

Date of financial
information

704,928,139

14,661,683

16,439,544

31/12/2018

37,000

-

-

not trading

6,237,000

61,572,614

357,581

31/12/2018

1,373,064

40,764

20,637

31/12/2018

7,800,000

80,459

27,599,520

1,445,925

1,638,000

31/12/2018

43,919,887

500,000

19,740,324

812,842

500,000

31/12/2018

470,249

20,000

416,914

8,634

31/12/2018

0

390,996

96,306

31/12/2018

148,400

-223,078

31/12/2018

500

199,152

100

2,339,291

0

-31,992

31/12/2018

1,000

3,502,172

469,434

-2,352,967

31/12/2018

200

47,632,760

-

121,687

31/12/2018

3,800,000

9,180,000

8,534,866

-736,346

31/12/2018

1,653,216

14,588

31/12/2018

753
9,147

80,524

-

-4,897

not trading

317

442,661

63,740

-189,619

31/12/2018

15,118,008

13,425,647

107,239,545

-258,678

69,728,877

1,995,240

7,362,500

31/12/2018
542,110

31/12/2018

1,000,000

97,700

287,331

225,847

31/12/2018

75

10,510

NA

NA

31/12/2018

100

161,111

-55,232

31/12/2018

167,000

NA

NA

31/12/2018

6

100
166,568,367

78,863,940

19,119,654
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6.7 Five-year financial summary
Nature of the data (in euros)

2014

2015

2016

2017

2018

13,382,659

13,382,659

13,382,659

13,382,659

13,382,659

4,387,757

4,387,757

4,387,757

4,387,757

4,387,757

a) Revenue excl. tax

36,535,077

39,632,425

41,947,923

45,542,553

38,385,246

b) Earnings before tax, depreciation,
amortisation, provisions and employee
profit-sharing

31,367,083

27,286,287

26,513,435

22,055,676

23,381,662

1,967,644

-451,551

972,225

-750,793

207,357

0

0

11,060

0

0

24,322,057

26,817,385

20,370,045

19,588,251

16,335,539

5,265,308

5,265,308

4,826,533

4,826,533

5,265,308(1)

a) Earnings after tax and employee
profit-sharing, before depreciation,
amortisation and provisions

6.70

6.32

5.82

5.20

5.28

b) Earnings after tax, depreciation,
amortisation and provisions and employee
profit-sharing

5.54

6.11

4.64

4.46

3.72

c) Dividend per share

1.20

1.20

1.10

1.10

1.20(1)

1. Financial position at year-end
a) Share capital
b) Number of shares outstanding
c) Number of convertible bonds
2. Results of operations

c) Corporate income tax
d) Increase in employee profit-sharing reserve
e) Earnings after tax, depreciation,
amortisation, provisions and employee
profit-sharing
f) Dividends paid
3. Per share data

4. Employee data
a) Average headcount

160

170

181

222

195

b) Total payroll

8,531,945

9,311,778

9,944,518

11,921,259

10,371,222

c) Total benefits

4,440,813

4,808,121

5,016,356

5,660,235

4,517,915

(1) Subject to approval by the Annual General Meeting.
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6.8 Statutory auditors’ report on the financial
statements
This is a free translation into English of the Statutory Auditors’ report issued in French and is provided solely for the convenience of English
speaking readers. This report includes information specifically required by European regulations or French law, such as information about the
appointment of Statutory Auditors. This report should be read in conjunction with, and construed in accordance with, French law and professional
auditing standards applicable in France.
Year ended 31 December 2018
To the Shareholders of Fleury Michon,

OPINION
In compliance with the engagement entrusted to us by your Annual General Meeting, we have audited the accompanying financial statements of
Fleury Michon for the year ended 31 December 2018.
In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the assets and liabilities and of the financial position of the Company at
31 December 2018 and of the results of its operations for the year then ended in accordance with French accounting principles.
The audit opinion expressed above is consistent with our report to the Audit Committee.

BASIS FOR OPINION
Audit framework
We conducted our audit in accordance with professional standards applicable in France. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
Our responsibilities under these standards are further described in the “Responsibilities of the Statutory Auditors relating to the audit of the
financial statements” section of our report.

Independence
We conducted our audit engagement in compliance with the independence rules applicable to us, for the period from 1 January 2018 to the date
of our report, and, in particular, we did not provide any non-audit services prohibited by Article 5(1) of Regulation (EU) No. 537/2014 or the French
Code of Ethics (Code de déontologie) for Statutory Auditors.

6

JUSTIFICATION OF ASSESSMENTS – KEY AUDIT MATTERS
In accordance with the requirements of Articles L. 823-9 and R. 823-7 of the French Commercial Code (Code de commerce) relating to the
justification of our assessments, we inform you of the key audit matters relating to the risks of material misstatement that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the financial statements, as well as how we addressed those risks.
These matters were addressed as part of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and therefore contributed to the opinion we formed as
expressed above. We do not provide a separate opinion on specific items of the financial statements.

Measurement of the recoverable amount of shares in subsidiaries and affiliates
DESCRIPTION OF RISK

At 31 December 2018, shares in subsidiaries and affiliates had a value of €205,143 thousand (gross) and €166,568 thousand (net).
As indicated in Note 2.5 to the financial statements, a provision for impairment is recorded if the recoverable amount of the shares is lower than
their carrying amount.
Given the materiality of shares in subsidiaries and affiliates in the financial statements and insofar as estimating provisions for impairment requires
the use of assumptions and estimates by Group management, we deemed the measurement of shares in subsidiaries and affiliates to be a key
audit matter.
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HOW OUR AUDIT ADDRESSED THIS RISK

Our work consisted primarily in:
●

familiarising ourselves with the processes carried out by management, the methods used and underlying assumptions;

●

assessing the operational assumptions made by management to prepare business outlook and earnings projections for subsidiaries by
comparing them to past performances and market outlook;

●

reviewing the consistency of recoverable amounts, as determined, and the recoverable amounts used in the context of goodwill
impairment tests performed when preparing the Group’s consolidated financial statements;

●

verifying the accuracy of the calculation of recoverable amounts used by the Company.

SPECIFIC VERIFICATIONS
In accordance with professional standards applicable in France, we have also performed the specific verifications required by French legal and
regulatory provisions.

Information given in the management report and in the other documents provided to the shareholders with respect
to the Company’s financial position and the financial statements
We have no matters to report as to the fair presentation and the consistency with the financial statements of the information given in the
management report of the Board of Directors, and in the other documents provided to the shareholders with respect to the Company’s financial
position and the financial statements.
We hereby attest to the fair presentation and the consistency with the financial statements of the information relating to payment deadlines
mentioned in Article D. 441 4 of the French Commercial Code.

Report on corporate governance
We attest that the Board of Directors’ report on corporate governance sets out the information required by Articles L. 225-37-3 and L. 225-37-4
of the French Commercial Code.
Concerning the information given in accordance with the requirements of article L. 225-37-3 of the French Commercial Code relating to
remuneration and benefits received by corporate officers and any other commitments made in their favour, we have verified its consistency with
the financial statements or with the underlying information used to prepare these financial statements, and, where applicable, with the information
obtained by your Company from companies controlling it or controlled by it. Based on this work, we attest to the accuracy and fair presentation of
this information.
Concerning the information given in accordance with the requirements of article L. 225-37-5 of the French Commercial Code relating to those
items your Company has deemed liable to have an impact in the event of a takeover bid or exchange offer, we have verified its consistency with
the underlying documents that were disclosed to us. Based on this work, we have no matters to report with regard to this information.

Other information
In accordance with French law, we have verified that the required information concerning the acquisition of investments and controlling interests
and the identity of shareholders and holders of the voting rights has been properly disclosed in the management report.

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS
Appointment of the Statutory Auditors
We were appointed Statutory Auditors of Fleury Michon by the Annual General Meetings held on 9 June 2011 for RSM Ouest and on
28 May 2015 for Ernst & Young et Autres.
At 31 December 2018, RSM Ouest and Ernst & Young et Autres were in the eighth and fourth consecutive year of their engagement, respectively.
Exco Atlantique (acquired by Ernst & Young Audit and renamed Ernst & Young Atlantique in 2008) were previously Statutory Auditors.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF MANAGEMENT AND THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
Management is responsible for preparing financial statements giving a true and fair view in accordance with French accounting principles, and for
implementing the internal control procedures it deems necessary for the preparation of financial statements free of material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing,
as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting, unless it expects to liquidate the Company or to
cease operations.
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The Audit Committee is responsible for monitoring the financial reporting process and the effectiveness of internal control and risk management
systems, as well as, where applicable, any internal audit systems, relating to accounting and financial reporting procedures.
The financial statements have been approved by the Board of Directors.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE STATUTORY AUDITORS RELATING TO THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
Objective and audit approach
Our role is to issue a report on the financial statements. Our objective is to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as
a whole are free of material misstatement. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with professional standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these financial statements.
As specified in Article L. 823-10-1 of the French Commercial Code, our audit does not include assurance on the viability or quality of management
of the company.
As part of an audit conducted in accordance with professional standards applicable in France, the Statutory Auditors exercise professional
judgement throughout the audit. They also:
●

identify and assess the risks of material misstatement in the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit
procedures in response to those risks, and obtain audit evidence considered to be sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for their
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control;

●

obtain an understanding of the internal control procedures relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the internal control;

●

evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management and the
related disclosures in the notes to the financial statements;

●

assess the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as
a going concern. This assessment is based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of the audit report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern. If the Statutory Auditors conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, they are required to draw attention in the audit report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are
not provided or are inadequate, to issue a qualified opinion or a disclaimer of opinion;

●

evaluate the overall presentation of the financial statements and assess whether these statements represent the underlying transactions
and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
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Report to the Audit Committee
We submit a report to the Audit Committee which includes in particular a description of the scope of the audit and the audit programme
implemented, as well as the results of our audit. We also report any significant deficiencies in internal control that we have identified regarding the
accounting and financial reporting procedures.
Our report to the Audit Committee includes the risks of material misstatements that, in our professional judgement, were the most significant for
the audit of the financial statements and which constitute the key audit matters, that we described in this report.
We also provide the Audit Committee with the declaration provided for in Article 6 of Regulation (EU) No. 537/2014, confirming our independence
within the meaning of the rules applicable in France, as defined in particular in Articles L. 822-10 to L. 822-14 of the French Commercial Code
and in the French Code of Ethics for Statutory Auditors. Where appropriate, we discuss any risks to our independence and the related safeguard
measures with the Audit Committee.
Orvault and Nantes, 26 April 2019
The Statutory Auditors
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6.9 Statutory auditors’ special report on related party
agreements and commitments
This is a free translation into English of the Statutory Auditors’ special report on related-party agreements and commitments issued in French and
is provided solely for the convenience of English speaking readers. This report should be read in conjunction with, and construed in accordance
with, French law and professional auditing standards applicable in France.
Year ended 31 December 2018
To the Shareholders of Fleury Michon,
In our capacity as Statutory Auditors of Fleury Michon, we hereby report to you on related party agreements and commitments.
It is our responsibility to report to shareholders, based on the information provided to us, on the main terms and conditions of agreements and
commitments that have been disclosed to us or that we may have identified as part of our engagement, as well as the reasons given as to why
they are beneficial for the Company, without commenting on their relevance or substance or identifying any undisclosed agreements or
commitments. Under the provisions of Article R. 225-31 of the French Commercial Code (Code de commerce), it is the responsibility of the
shareholders to determine whether the agreements and commitments are appropriate and should be approved.
Where applicable, it is also our responsibility to provide shareholders with the information required by Article R. 225-31 of the French Commercial
Code in relation to the implementation during the year of agreements and commitments already approved by the Annual General Meeting.
We performed the procedures that we deemed necessary in accordance with professional standards applicable in France to such engagements.
These procedures consisted in verifying that the information given to us is consistent with the underlying documents.

AGREEMENTS AND COMMITMENTS TO BE SUBMITTED FOR THE APPROVAL OF THE ANNUAL GENERAL
MEETING
In accordance with Article L. 225-40 of the French Commercial Code, we were informed of the following agreements and commitments
authorised by the Board of Directors.
1. AGREEMENT WITH PIATTI FRESCHI ITALIA (PFI)

6

Person concerned
Régis Lebrun, Chief Executive Officer of Fleury Michon and director of PFI.
a/ Type and purpose of agreement
On 4 September 2018, the Board of Directors gave a principal guarantee of €4,000,000 on behalf of the Company, as well as a
counter-guarantee for a maximum of €4,000,000, as additional and collateral security for the guarantee of the same amount that will be given by
Beretta to the bank granting the loan to Piatti Freschi Italia.
Amount involved
At 31 December 2018, the principal outstanding on the loan taken out by PFI to which these guarantees relate was €2,048,654.
Reasons why the agreement is in the Company’s interest
The Board of Directors gave the following reasons for the agreement: the agreement enables Fleury Michon’s Italian subsidiary, PFI, to increase its
production capacity to meet demand.
b/ Type and purpose of agreement
On 4 September 2018, the Board of Directors gave a principal guarantee of €4,110,643 on behalf of the Company, as well as a
counter-guarantee for a maximum of €4,110,643, as additional and collateral security for the guarantee of the same amount that will be given by
Beretta to the bank granting the loan to Piatti Freschi Italia.
Amount involved
At 31 December 2018, the principal outstanding on the loan taken out by PFI to which these guarantees relate was €2,055,321.
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Reasons why the agreement is in the Company’s interest
The Board of Directors gave the following reasons for the agreement: the agreement enables Fleury Michon’s Italian subsidiary, PFI, to fund the
construction of a new plant at Caresanablot.
c/ Type and purpose of agreement
On 4 September 2018, the Board of Directors gave a principal guarantee of USD 1,925,000 on behalf of the Company, as well as a
counter-guarantee for a maximum of USD 1,925,000, as additional and collateral security for the guarantee of the same amount that will be given
by Beretta to the bank granting the loan to Piatti Freschi Italia.
Amount involved
At 31 December 2018, the principal outstanding on the loan taken out by PFI to which this guarantee relates was USD 962,500.
Reasons why the agreement is in the Company’s interest
The Board of Directors gave the following reasons for the agreement: the agreement enables Fleury Michon’s Italian subsidiary, PFI, to fund a new
plant in the USA.
d/ Type and purpose of agreement
On 4 September 2018, the Board of Directors gave a principal guarantee of €7,500,000 on behalf of the Company, as well as a
counter-guarantee for a maximum of €7,500,000, as additional and collateral security for the guarantee of the same amount that will be given by
Beretta to the bank granting the loan to Piatti Freschi Italia.
Amount involved
At 31 December 2018, the principal outstanding on the loan taken out by PFI to which these guarantees relate was €3,500,000.
Reasons why the agreement is in the Company’s interest
The Board of Directors gave the following reasons for the agreement: the agreement enables Fleury Michon’s Italian subsidiary, PFI, to fund a new
plant in Italy.

2. AGREEMENT WITH PLATOS TRADICIONALES

Person concerned
Régis Lebrun, Chief Executive Officer of Fleury Michon and director of Platos Tradicionales.
Type and purpose of agreement
On 15 May 2018, the Board of Directors gave a principal guarantee of €4,000,000 on behalf of the Company, as well as a counter-guarantee for a
maximum of €4,000,000, as additional and collateral security for the guarantee of the same amount that will be given by Torrent Fimer to the bank
granting the loan to Platos Tradicionales.
Amount involved
At 31 December 2018, the principal outstanding on the loan taken out by Platos Tradicionales to which this guarantee relates was €4,000,000.
Reasons why the agreement is in the Company’s interest
The Board of Directors gave the following reasons for the agreement: the agreement enables Fleury Michon’s Spanish subsidiary, Platos
Tradicionales, to fund the construction of a new asset.

3. AGREEMENT WITH JARGUS

Person concerned
Régis Lebrun, Chief Executive Officer of Fleury Michon and General Manager of Jargus.
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Type and purpose of agreement
On 4 September 2018, the Board of Directors gave all guarantees on behalf of the Company as security for repayment of a €260,000 loan to the
bank granting it to Jargus.
Amount involved
At 31 December 2018, there is no principal outstanding on the Jargus loan to which this guarantee relates.
Reasons why the agreement is in the Company’s interest
The Board of Directors gave the following reasons for the agreement: the agreement enables Fleury Michon’s subsidiary to acquire a fast-food
business in Nantes (Loire-Atlantique) to pursue its development.

AGREEMENTS AND COMMITMENTS ALREADY APPROVED BY THE ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
In accordance with Article R. 225-30 of the French Commercial Code, we were informed that the following agreements and commitments,
approved by the Annual General Meeting in previous years, remained in force during 2018.
1. WITH PIATTI FRESCHI ITALIA (PFI)

Person concerned
Régis Lebrun, Chief Executive Officer of Fleury Michon and director of PFI.
a) Type and purpose of agreement
On 28 June 2017, the Board of Directors gave a principal guarantee of €3,250,000 on behalf of the Company, as well as a counter-guarantee for
a maximum of €3,250,000, as additional and collateral security for the guarantee of the same amount that will be given by Beretta to the bank
granting the loan to Piatti Freschi Italia.
Amount involved
At 31 December 2018, there is no principal outstanding on the PFI loan to which this guarantee relates.
b) Type and purpose of agreement
On 1 April 2016, the Board of Directors approved the signing of a guarantee agreement to secure the payment, by PFI, of the amount of the
receivables that it is selling, under a factoring operation, to the finance company, Ifitalia.

6

Amount involved
This guarantee is for a maximum of €2,500,000.
c) Type and purpose of agreement
On 15 December 2016, the Board of Directors gave a principal guarantee of €686,013 on behalf of the Company, as well as a counter-guarantee
for a maximum of €686,013, as additional and collateral security for the guarantee of the same amount that will be given by Beretta to the bank
granting the loan to Piatti Freschi Italia.
Amount involved
At 31 December 2018, the principal outstanding on the Piatti Freschi Italia loan to which these guarantees relate was €384,452.
d) Type and purpose of agreement
On 17 December 2015, the Board of Directors gave a principal guarantee of €998,843 on behalf of the Company, as well as a counter-guarantee
for a maximum of €998,843, as additional and collateral security for the guarantee of the same amount that will be given by Beretta to the bank
granting the loan to Piatti Freschi Italia.
Amount involved
At 31 December 2018, the principal outstanding on the Piatti Freschi Italia loan to which these guarantees relate was €266,166.
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e) Type and purpose of agreement
On 26 June 2014 and 29 August 2014, the Board of Directors gave all guarantees on behalf of the Company as security for repayment of the loan
taken out by PFI, subject to a maximum total amount of €1,600,000.
Amount involved
At 31 December 2018, the principal outstanding on the Piatti Freschi Italia loan to which these guarantees relate was €79,054.
2. AGREEMENT WITH PLATOS TRADICIONALES

Person concerned
Régis Lebrun, Chief Executive Officer of Fleury Michon and director of Platos Tradicionales.
a) Type and purpose of agreement
On 20 December 2017, the Board of Directors gave a principal guarantee of €1,100,000 on behalf of the Company, as well as a
counter-guarantee for a maximum of €1,100,000, as additional and collateral security for the guarantee of the same amount that will be given by
Torrent Fimer to the bank granting the loan to Platos Tradicionales.
Amount involved
At 31 December 2018, there is no principal outstanding on the Platos Tradicionales loan to which this guarantee relates.
b) Type and purpose of agreement
On 21 December 2006, the Supervisory Board authorised the Management Board to issue a guarantee on behalf of the Company for loans taken
out by Platos Tradicionales, with a ceiling of €30,000,000.
Amount involved
At 31 December 2018, the principal outstanding on the loans taken out by Platos Tradicionales to which these guarantees relate was €5,084,030.

3. AGREEMENT WITH VALLEGRAIN DEVELOPPEMENT

Person concerned
Régis Lebrun, Chief Executive Officer of Fleury Michon and Managing Director of Vallégrain Développement.
Type and purpose of agreement
On 20 December 2017, the Board of Directors gave all guarantees on behalf of the Company as security for repayment of a €2,400,000 loan to
the bank granting it to Vallégrain Développement.
Amount involved
At 31 December 2018, the principal outstanding on the loan taken out by Vallégrain Développement to which these guarantees relate was
€2,400,000.
4. AGREEMENT WITH FLEURY MICHON AMERICA (FORMERLY DELTA DAILYFOOD INC. - CANADA)

Person concerned
Régis Lebrun, Chief Executive Officer of Fleury Michon and Chairman of Fleury Michon America.
Type and purpose of agreement
On 26 June 2007, the Supervisory Board authorised the Management Board to issue a CAD 35,000,000 guarantee on behalf of the Company
concerning a loan taken out by Delta Dailyfood Canada.
Amount involved
At 31 December 2018, there is no principal outstanding on the Fleury Michon America loan to which this guarantee relates.
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5. AGREEMENT WITH TRÈS BIEN MERCI !

Person concerned
Régis Lebrun, Chief Executive Officer of Fleury Michon and Chairman of Très Bien Merci !
Type and purpose of agreement
On 11 April 2014, the Board of Directors authorised a partner current account agreement with Très Bien Merci ! The agreement relates to the
expenditure by the Company during the three years prior to its registration.
Amount involved
The amounts registered against the current account of Très Bien Merci ! earn annual interest at the three-month Euribor plus 1.25%. The amount
of interest expensed in 2018 by Très Bien Merci ! on that basis totalled €29,604.
6. AGREEMENT WITH SOCIÉTÉ HOLDING DE CONTRÔLE ET DE PARTICIPATION (SHCP) SHCP SAS

Person concerned
Grégoire Gonnord, Chairman of the Board of Directors of Fleury Michon and Chief Executive Officer of SHCP.
Type and purpose of agreement
On 1 April 2016, the Board of Directors authorised the second rider to the service agreement entered into in September 2007 for the purpose of
defining the scope of the roles and responsibilities entrusted to SHCP within the context of the implementation of the service agreement and the
first rider thereto entered into in December 2009.
Amount involved
The Company covered the amount of €934,650 for the financial year ended 31 December 2018.
Orvault and Nantes, 26 April 2019
The Statutory Auditors
RSM OUEST

ERNST & YOUNG et Autres

Nicolas Perenchio

Luc Derrien
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7.1 Information on the Company
CORPORATE NAME
Fleury Michon

REGISTERED OFFICE
La Gare, 85700 Pouzauges, France

DISCLOSURE THRESHOLDS (ARTICLE 20 OF THE
ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION)
Without prejudice to the provisions of Article L. 233-7 of the French
Commercial Code.
I.

Telephone: +33 (0)2 51 66 32 32
Email: info.finances@fleurymichon.fr

LEGAL FORM
French société anonyme (joint stock company) administered by a
Board of Directors, governed primarily by the French Commercial
Code (Code de commerce).

DATE OF INCORPORATION AND TERM
Origin of the funds or business: acquisition by merger on
7 November 1998
with
Fleury Michon,
RCS (Business Registry) No. 552 016 875
(food
manufacturing
began on 1 April 1921).
Term: 99 years, to expire on 6 November 2097, unless this term is
extended or the Company is dissolved before this date.

Any person who holds, either directly or indirectly as defined
under the abovementioned law, at least 2% of the total voting
rights attached to shares or of the Company’s share capital and
who either exceeds or falls below the 2% threshold of voting
rights or capital, or any multiple of this percentage, is required to
inform the Company of the total number of voting rights or capital
that he or she holds by registered letter with acknowledgement
of receipt sent to the registered office within a period of fifteen
days from the date the shares are registered.

II. In the event of failure to make such declaration under the terms
and conditions mentioned above, any shares exceeding the
percentage that should have been declared will be stripped of
their voting rights pursuant to Article L. 233-14 of the
abovementioned code, at the request, recorded in the minutes of
the Annual General Meeting, of one or more shareholders holding
at least 2% of the voting rights associated with the shares issued
by the Company.

RIGHTS ATTACHED TO SHARES (ARTICLE 10 OF
THE ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION)

REGISTRATION NUMBER
I.
572 058 329 RCS La Roche-sur-Yon

FINANCIAL YEAR
1 January to 31 December

CORPORATE PURPOSE (ARTICLE 2 OF THE
ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION)
The Company’s activities are as follows:
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●

Manufacture and sale of all food products, including those
containing meat, fish, cured meats, vegetables, fruits, etc.;

●

Purchase, management and potential resale of all shareholdings
in French or non-French companies;

●

Performance of all types of commercial, financial, administrative
or other services, as well as the execution of all types of
financial, real estate or commercial transactions for the benefit
of companies in which it holds a stake or for third parties;

●

In general, execution of any commercial, financial, stock market
or real estate transactions directly or indirectly related, in whole
or in part, to the stated corporate purpose or likely to facilitate
the fulfilment, expansion or development thereof.
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Each share in the Company entitles the bearer to participate and
vote in Annual General Meetings under the conditions and
subject to the exceptions set forth by laws and regulations.
The voting right associated with a share belongs to the
beneficial owner at both Ordinary and Extraordinary General
Meetings. The bare owner has the right to participate in all
General Meetings.
Nevertheless, double voting rights are granted to all fully
paid-up shares that have been registered in the name of the
same holder for at least four years. If capital is increased
through the incorporation of reserves, income or issue
premiums, this double voting right will apply, from the time of
issue, to new registered shares awarded free of charge to
shareholders on the basis of shares already held that bear this
entitlement.

II. Each share gives its holder an ownership interest in the
Company’s assets, distributed profits and liquidation dividends,
this interest being proportionate to the percentage of the capital
that the share represents.
In the event of distribution or redemption, each share grants
entitlement to the same net amount. Consequently, all shares
will be aggregated for the purposes of any tax exemptions that
may affect the Company and to which such distribution or
redemption may give rise.

Information on the company and its capital
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III. Whenever several shares are required to be held for the purpose
of exercising any right, shareholders are personally responsible
for pooling together the required number of shares and do not
hold any right against the Company.

BUYBACK OF THE COMPANY’S OWN SHARES
(ARTICLE 19 OF THE ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION)
The Company may purchase its own shares on the market, under the
conditions set forth by Article L. 225-209 of the French Commercial
Code.

SHAREHOLDER IDENTIFICATION (ARTICLE 7 OF
THE ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION)
Shares may take the form of registered shares or bearer shares, at
the shareholder’s discretion.
They will be recorded in the books kept by the Company or by an
authorised intermediary, in accordance with the terms set forth by the
laws and regulations in force.
In order to identify the bearer shares that it has issued, the Company
reserves the right to avail itself of the provisions set forth in
Article L. 228-2 of the French Commercial Code.

ALLOCATION OF PROFITS (ARTICLE 23 OF THE
ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION)
Five percent of the profit for the financial year, less any losses carried
forward, will be set aside to form the legal reserve. This deduction is
no longer required once the legal reserve has reached one-tenth of
the share capital. It applies again when, for any reason, the reserve
falls below said one-tenth. The balance of said profit, plus any
retained earnings, forms the distributable earnings.
However, the Ordinary General Meeting has the power to deduct any
amounts that it deems necessary from this profit, before any
dividends are paid out, so that these amounts may be carried
forward to the next financial year or applied to one or more general or
special reserves for which it shall freely determine the purpose or
allocation.
The General Meeting may also decide to distribute funds drawn from
its available reserves in accordance with the law. In this case, the
decision will expressly state the reserve accounts from which the
amount will be deducted. However, apart from reductions in capital,
no profits may be distributed to shareholders if equity is, or would be
thereafter, less than the amount of capital plus reserves that may not
be distributed in accordance with the law or the Articles of
Association.
When paying dividends, the General Meeting has the right to grant
each shareholder the option of receiving the dividend either in cash or
shares, under the conditions set forth by law.
If shareholders wish to receive their dividend in the form of shares,
they must make a request to this effect by the deadline set by the
General Meeting, which may not be longer than three months from
the date of such meeting. The request period may be suspended for
up to three months by the Board of Directors in the event of an
increase in capital.

GENERAL MEETINGS (ARTICLES 17–18 OF THE
ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION)
The procedures for calling General Meetings are governed by French
laws and regulations. General Meetings are held at the head office or
any other address provided in the notice of meeting.
Holders of registered shares may attend on presentation of proof of
their identity, provided that their shares have been entered in the
Company’s share register at least three days prior to the meeting.
Holders of bearer shares must present a certificate from their
custodian stating that the shares have been placed in a blocked
account until the date of the General Meeting.
If the Chairman of the Board of Directors is absent, the meeting will
be chaired by a member of the Board of Directors appointed for this
purpose.
The procedures for holding General Meetings are governed by
French laws and regulations.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (ARTICLE 11 OF THE
ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION)
I.

The Board of Directors must consist of at least three members
and no more than eighteen members. Company employees may
only be elected as members of the Board of Directors if their
employment contract corresponds to an actual job. Furthermore,
members of the Board of Directors may never sign an
employment contract with the Company. The number of
directors connected with the Company through an employment
contract may not exceed one-third of the sitting directors.
Notwithstanding
the
provisions
of
paragraph 2
of
Article L. 225-19 of the French Commercial Code, the number
of members of the Board of Directors over the age of seventy
may not exceed one-half of directors in office.
Notwithstanding
the
provisions
of
paragraph 4
of
Article L. 225-19 of the French Commercial Code, if the
statutory limit is exceeded, the oldest member will be
considered to have automatically resigned, such resignation not
taking effect, regardless of the date on which said age limit is
reached, until the date of the next Annual General Meeting
called to approve the financial statements for the previous year.

II. One or two employee shareholders will be appointed by the
General Meeting to represent employee shareholders as
member(s) of the Board of Directors. Candidates for these
appointments are designated by the members of the Supervisory
Board of the Fleury Michon corporate mutual fund that holds
shares on behalf of employees.

7

Furthermore, when the number of directors appointed pursuant
to I. above and calculated in accordance with
Article L. 225-27-1 II of the French Commercial Code is less
than or equal to 12, the Board of Directors will include a director
representing employees. When the number of directors
appointed pursuant to I. above and calculated in accordance
with French law is greater than 12 and, provided that this
criterion is still met on the day of his or her appointment, a
second director representing employees will be appointed. If the
number of directors falls to 12 or less, the second director
representing employees will continue to carry out his or her
duties until the end of his or her term of office. Directors
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representing employees are appointed by the Company’s
Works Council.
Directors representing employees are not taken into account
when calculating the minimum and maximum numbers of
directors or when applying the requirements set out in
paragraph 1 of Article 225-18-1 of the French Commercial
Code.
III. The members of the Board of Directors are elected by the
General Meeting for a period of three years, regardless of the
election process or legal basis for their appointment.

II. The Board of Directors appoints and dismisses the Chief
Executive Officer and any Chief Operating Officers, where
applicable.
III. The Chief Executive Officer must request authorisation from the
Board of Directors before selling property that belongs to the
Company, selling all or part of the shareholdings that belong to
the Company or granting security interests on the obligations
undertaken by the Company.
Nevertheless, the Board of Directors may give the Chief
Executive Officer prior authorisation to carry out such
operations, not to exceed a certain maximum for each
operation. Such authorisation may be valid for up to 12 months
and may be automatically extended, if necessary, for up to eight
weeks prior to an upcoming Board of Directors’ meeting.

Members of the Board of Directors may be re-elected. Their
term expires at the end of the Ordinary General Meeting called
to approve the financial statements for the previous year and
held the third year following their election.
To ensure that all directors’ terms do not end during the same
year, one-third of the terms of the directors will expire each year
(with the proviso that this rule does not apply to the Board
members representing employee shareholders).

POWERS OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
(ARTICLE 13 OF THE ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION)
I.

The Board of Directors determines the focuses of the Company’s
activities and oversees the implementation thereof. Subject to
those powers expressly granted to General Meetings and within
the limits of the Company’s corporate purpose, the Board of
Directors concerns itself with all issues affecting the Company’s
operations and addresses issues concerning the Company at its
meetings.
The Board of Directors carries out the checks and audits that it
deems appropriate. The Chief Executive Officer of the Company
is required to provide each director with all documents and
information necessary to carry out his or her duties.
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CHAIRMANSHIP OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
(ARTICLE 14 OF THE ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION)
I.

The Board of Directors shall elect one of its members as
Chairman. For the appointment to be valid, the Chairman must
be a natural person.
The Board of Directors shall determine the Chairman’s
compensation.

II. The Chairman shall be appointed for a term which may not
exceed his or her term of office as director. If the Chairman’s
term of office as director is renewed on expiry by shareholders at
the General Meeting, the Chairman’s term of office will be
automatically extended until the next meeting of the Board of
Directors. If the Chairman’s term of office as director is not
renewed, the Board will convene at the end of the General
Meeting to elect a new Chairman.
The Chairman of the Board of Directors may be re-elected.
The Chairman may be dismissed by the Board at any time,
without compensation.

Information on the company and its capital
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EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT (ARTICLE 16 OF THE
ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION)
I.

In accordance with the provisions of Article L. 225-51-1 of the
French Commercial Code, either the Chairman of the Board of
Directors or another individual appointed by the Board of
Directors to serve as Chief Executive Officer is responsible for the
executive management of the Company.
The choice between these two management options is made
by the Board of Directors when appointing its Chairman.
Shareholders and third parties must be informed of this decision
in accordance with regulations.
The Board of Directors’ decision regarding the choice of
executive management structure is made by majority vote
among the Directors present or represented.
The option selected by the Board of Directors is not subject to
change except upon the renewal or replacement of the
Chairman of the Board of Directors or upon the expiration of the
Chief Executive Officer’s term.

II. Depending on the choice made by the Board of Directors in
accordance with the provisions above, either the Chairman or an
individual appointed by the Board of Directors to serve as Chief
Executive Officer will be responsible for executive management.
The Chief Executive Officer’s term lasts three years.
If the Board of Directors decides to separate the positions of
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, it must appoint a Chief
Executive Officer, determine his or her compensation and,
where applicable, the limits on his or her powers.
The Board of Directors may dismiss the Chief Executive Officer
at any time. If the Chief Executive Officer does not also serve as
Chairman of the Board of Directors, his or her dismissal may be
grounds for compensation, if he or she is dismissed without just
cause.

The Chief Executive Officer is given the broadest possible
powers to act in all circumstances on behalf of the Company.
The Chief Executive Officer will exercise said powers within the
limit of the corporate purpose and subject to the powers
expressly attributed by law to General Meetings and to the
Board of Directors.
The Chief Executive Officer represents the Company in its
relations with third parties. The Company is bound by the acts
of the Chief Executive Officer that do not fall under the scope of
the corporate purpose, unless it can prove that the third party
knew that the act fell outside the scope of this purpose or that it
could not have been unaware considering the circumstances;
mere publication of the Articles of Association is not sufficient to
constitute such proof.
III. At the proposal of the Chief Executive Officer, regardless of
whether this function is performed by the Chairman of the Board
of Directors or by another person, the Board of Directors may
appoint one or more individuals as Chief Operating Officers to
assist the Chief Executive Officer.
The maximum number of Chief Operating Officers is five.
The compensation provided to Chief Operating Officers is
determined by the Board of Directors.
The Board of Directors determines the scope and duration of
the powers granted to the Chief Operating Officers with the
Chief Executive Officer’s agreement. The Chief Operating
Officers assist the Chief Executive Officer as regards the internal
operations of the Company but are granted the same powers
as the Chief Executive Officer with regard to third parties.

CHANGES TO SHAREHOLDERS RIGHTS
Shareholders’ rights may be modified under the conditions set forth
by the regulations in force.

7
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7.2 Information on capital
7.2.1 Share capital
The Company’s share capital is made up of 4,387,757 fully paid-up
shares with a par value of €3.05.

purchase or subscribe, at the issuer’s discretion, an existing or new
Fleury Michon share at a price of €47.58, parity having been
confirmed by the Board on 1 April 2016. The BSAARs may be
exercised from the date of their first listing on the Euronext Paris
market, i.e., from 7 April 2016, until 22 March 2020.

In a press release dated 22 March 2013, the Company announced
that it was issuing 61,211 redeemable subscription and/or purchase
warrants (BSAARs). BSAARs are non-transferable and nonexercisable for three years. Each BSAAR allows its holder to

No BSAARs were exercised during the period.

Information on subscription warrants (BSAAR) at 31 December 2018
Total number of warrants that may be subscribed

118,800

Total number of warrants issued

61,211

Total number of warrants exercised

37,238

Total number of unexercised warrants remaining

23,973

The Company has not issued any other dilutive instruments as of the
date of this document.

Neither the issuer’s shares nor the shares of the issuer’s subsidiaries
have been pledged in any way.

7.2.2 Share capital history
Year

Capital transaction

1999

Position at 1 January 1999

2000

Initial public offering, share issue

2001

Incorporation into capital, conversion in euros

2002

Increase in capital, convertible bond issue

2009
2011

Par value

Capital amount

-

4,487,724

3.04898(1)

13,682,982.27

511,000

4,998,724

3.04898(1)

15,241,011.22

-

4,998,724

3.05

15,246,108.20

97,200

5,095,924

3.05

15,542,568.20

Reduction in capital, cancellation of treasury shares

-500,167

4,595,757

3.05

14,017,058.85

Reduction in capital, cancellation of treasury shares

-208,000

4,387,757

3.05

13,382,658.85

-

4,387,757

3.05

13,382,658.85

Position at 31 December 2018
(1) Par value of 20 French francs (€3.04898).

No events resulted in a change to the share capital during the year.
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7.3 Share ownership
7.3.1 Breakdown of share capital and voting rights
At 31 December 2018

At 31 December 2017

% of
voting
rights

Breakdown of share capital
and voting rights

Number of
shares

% of
capital

SHCP (Société Holding de
Contrôle – Gonnord family)

2,034,548

46.37%

54.82% 2,021,303

46.07%

54.48% 2,021,303

46.07%

58.39%

516,448

11.77%

14.17%

529,663

12.07%

14.54% 529,663

12.07%

10.13%

2,550,996

58.14%

68.99% 2,550,966

58.14%

69.02% 2,550,966

58.14%

68.52%

269,257

6.14%

269,257

6.14%

7.10% 269,257

6.14%

7.73%

1,324,734

30.19%

19.95% 1,317,794

30.03%

19.90% 1,167,568

26.61%

19.29%

151,565

3.45%

3.96%

152,745

3.48%

3.98% 161,473

3.68%

4.46%

91,205

2.08%

-

96,965

2.21%

- 238,493

5.44%

-

100.00% 4,387,757 100.00%

100.00%

Shares held by individuals
(Chartier – Gonnord families)
SUB-TOTAL CONCERT
Other members of the family
group (Magdelénat)
Public
Corporate mutual fund
holding shares on behalf of
employees
Treasury shares
TOTAL

4,387,757 100.00%

7.10%

% of % of voting Number
capital
rights of shares

100.00% 4,387,757 100.00%

To the best of the Company’s knowledge, there were no material
changes in this breakdown between 31 December 2018 and the date
of this document.
The Company is controlled as described above and has taken
measures to ensure that this control cannot be abused by:
●

Number of
shares

At 31 December 2016

Having independent directors on the Board of Directors, the
Audit and Risks Committee and the Compensation and
Appointments Committee;

● Separating the functions of Chairman and CEO.
The Gonnord and Chartier families held more than 50% of the
Company’s capital and 68.99% of the voting rights (68.13% of the
theoretical voting rights) directly or indirectly at 31 December 2018.
No special rights are attached to any of the Company’s shares, with
the exception of the double voting rights attached to all fully paid-up

% of % of voting
capital
rights

shares that have been registered in the name of the same holder for
at least four years in accordance with Section 1, paragraph 3 of
Article 10 of the Company’s Articles of Association (decision by the
Annual General Meeting of 13 May 2002). This entitlement to double
voting rights expires for any shares converted to bearer status or
transferred, except in cases where the transfer involves a change of
name in the nominal register subsequent to family inheritance or
endowment.
The Articles of Association do not include any clause that restricts the
exercise of voting rights or the transfer of shares, which are freely
tradable. Furthermore, there are no reciprocal agreements or
commitments pertaining to the purchase of shares representing at
least 0.5% of the capital or voting rights of the Company.

7

7.3.2 Shareholding thresholds crossed during the last 12 months
The Company was informed that the following thresholds were
crossed during the last 12 months:
●

AXA Investment Managers, acting on behalf of FCPE
Egépargne Croissance, which it manages, reported exceeding
the 2% share capital threshold of Fleury Michon on
31 May 2018. At this date, FCPE Egépargne Croissance held

90,000 Company shares and voting rights, on that date,
representing 2.05% of the share capital and 1.22% of the voting
rights of said company.
This resulted from the acquisition of Fleury Michon shares on the
market.
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7.3.3 Agreements between shareholders of which the Company is aware and that
could restrict share transfers
In a letter dated 10 June 2002, Société Holding de Contrôle et de
Participations (SHCP, into which FHC Holding was merged on
30 December 2011) and the members of the Gonnord family, namely
Yves Gonnord, Geneviève Gonnord, and François Chartier, as well as
Grégoire Gonnord, Claire Gonnord, Marie Gonnord, Pierre Gonnord

and Hervé Gonnord, informed the Company that as from
3 September 2002 they would act in concert in relation to exercising
their voting rights in Fleury Michon SA.
There are no shareholder agreements in place.

7.3.4 Employee share ownership
At the time of the Company’s IPO, employees purchased
150,000 shares through the Fleury Michon Actionnariat corporate
mutual fund, representing 3% of the share capital. At year-end,
employees held 151,565 shares via the corporate mutual fund, a
decrease of 1,180 shares compared with 2017. The percentage of
the share capital held by employees under the Company savings plan
stands at 3.45%, versus 3.48% in the prior year. In accordance with
paragraph 4 of Article 11-I of the Company’s Articles of Association,
the General Meeting has appointed two employee shareholders to
the Board of Directors. Candidates for these appointments are
designated by the members of the Supervisory Board of the
Fleury Michon corporate mutual fund that holds shares on behalf of
employees.
During the previous year, 91,650 free shares were granted to
employees working for Group companies whose registered offices
are located in France (30 shares per beneficiary), subject to seniority.
As the Board of Directors did not set a lock-up period, the shares
were available immediately. Performance shares were also granted to
the eligible employees, in the amount of 210 shares per employee for
a total of 13,440 shares.

The two main free share award plans, decided in February 2013,
allowed the employees to become direct shareholders in the
Company, with 2.40% of the share capital in addition to their holdings
through the Fleury Michon Actionnariat corporate mutual fund. These
Company shares held by individual employees no longer qualify as
available treasury shares and are not included in employee
shareholding.
Every year since the initial programme in 2013, using powers granted
to it by the Annual General Meeting, the Board of Directors renews its
decision to award 30 free shares to each new employee at certain
parent company subsidiaries whose registered offices are located in
France. Beneficiaries will become shareholders only after the vesting
period or at the end of the lock-up period, subject to seniority and
continued employment conditions on the effective award date of the
free shares.
During the year, 192 employees (or beneficiaries) were granted
30 Fleury Michon shares each, for a total of 5,760 shares.

7.3.5 Treasury shares
Recent material transactions include:
●

●
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The sale of 95,000 treasury shares in July 2014 (representing
2.1% of the capital) and the simultaneous sale of
60,238 additional shares by Société Holding de Contrôle et de
Participations (SHCP) on the same terms as the principal
transaction, the free float was increased to 26% of the share
capital;
The effective award of free shares in 2017, both those reserved
for Group employees and the performance shares reserved for
management committee members and senior managers. These
programmes resulted in the award of 91,650 and
13,440 shares, respectively.
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In addition, a total of 37,238 treasury shares was also sold, mainly in
2017, following the exercise of BSAARs. The BSAAR exercise period
began on 7 April 2016 and will end on 22 March 2020. At year-end,
23,973 BSAARs remained, allowing the purchase of an equal number
of shares.
The Company did not purchase or sell any treasury shares during the
year.
In its eighteenth resolution, the Annual General Meeting of
26 June 2018 authorised the Company to buy back its own shares
for a further 18-month period, subject to a limit of 10% of the
Company’s capital, in accordance with Article L. 225-209 of the
French Commercial Code, European Regulation (EC) No. 2273/2003
implementing the Directive on insider trading and market
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manipulation, and Articles 241-1 to 241-7 of the AMF General
Regulation.
At 31 December 2018, the Company therefore held 91,205 treasury
shares, compared to 96,965 treasury shares following free share
Description of the share buyback programme
Treasury shares at 1 January 2017

awards as part of additional plans for new employees. The remaining
treasury shares are recognised at a net carrying amount of
€2,687 thousand, representing an average price of €29.47 per share.

Number of shares

Sale price per share
(in €)

Value
(in € thousands)

238,493

28.58

6,816

-141,528

27.97

-3,959

96,965

29.47

2,857

-5,760

29.47

-170

91,205

29.47

2,687

Treasury shares acquired during the year
Treasury shares sold during the year
Treasury shares cancelled
TOTAL TREASURY SHARES AT 31 DECEMBER 2017
Treasury shares acquired during the year
Treasury shares sold during the year
Treasury shares cancelled
TOTAL TREASURY SHARES AT 31 DECEMBER 2018
Including the 2,395 Fleury Michon shares held under the liquidity
contract (26,587 shares purchased, 25,256 shares sold during 2018,
0.05% of capital, with the aim of increasing the liquidity of the share),

the Company held 2.13% of its own capital at 31 December 2018
compared with 2.23% at 31 December 2017. The annual cost of the
liquidity contract was €22,868.

Transactions involving treasury shares in the past two years are presented in the following table, broken down by objective:

In number of shares
Acquisition

Position at
31 Dec. 2016

Bought
back/sold

124,387

Position at
31 Dec. 2017

% of capital

-124,387

0

0.00%

96,965

2.21%

Reallocated

Cancelled

Hedging of share equivalents
Employee stock option and/or share
award plans

114,106

-141,528

124,387

238,493

-141,528

0

0

96,965

2.21%

Position at
31 Dec. 2017

Bought
back/sold

Reallocated

Cancelled

Position at
31 Dec. 2018

% of capital

0

0.00%

91,205

2.08%

91,205

2.08%

Cancellation of shares
TOTAL TREASURY SHARES

In number of shares
Acquisition
Hedging of share equivalents
Employee stock option and/or share
award plans

96,965

-5,760

96,965

-5,760

7

Cancellation of shares
TOTAL TREASURY SHARES

0

0
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7.3.6 Powers and authorisations
7.3.6.1

SHARE BUYBACK PROGRAMME –
POWERS OF THE BOARD CONCERNING
SHARE BUYBACKS

Each year, the shareholders authorise the Board of Directors to carry
out, in accordance with Article 225-209 of the French Commercial
Code,
European
Regulation
(EC)
No. 2273/2003
of
22 December 2003 implementing Directive 2003/6/EC of 28 January
2003 on insider trading and market manipulation, and Articles 241-1
to 241-6 of the AMF General Regulation, a share buyback
programme representing up to 10% of the Company’s capital. The
purpose of this authorisation is to:
●

Stabilise the Fleury Michon share price through a liquidity
contract, in accordance with a code of ethics approved by the
AMF;

●

Hold and subsequently remit shares in payment or exchange for
securities of another company, in connection with an
acquisition;

●

Allocate shares on exercise of stock options;

●

Award shares to employees or executives of the Group;

●

Cancel shares as part of a capital reduction up to a ceiling of
10% of the Company’s issued capital, in accordance with the
24-month authorisation granted by shareholders.

The current share buyback programme, renewed for a further
18-month period, was approved by the General Meeting of
26 June 2018.
Under the share buyback programme:
●

The maximum net purchase price, excluding expenses, is set at
€85 per share;

●

The minimum net sale price, excluding expenses, is set at €25
per share;

●

The maximum amount that may be invested under the
programme is €15,000,000.

7.3.6.2

AUTHORISATIONS TO REDUCE
THE COMPANY’S CAPITAL

In the thirtieth resolution of the Combined Ordinary and Extraordinary
General Meeting held on 26 June 2018, the shareholders granted the
Board of Directors a 24-month authorisation to reduce the
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Company’s capital by cancelling shares acquired pursuant to the
authorisation to buy back Company shares representing up to 10%
of the issued share capital, in accordance with Article L. 225-209 of
the French Commercial Code and in application of
Directive 2003/6/EC of 28 January 2003 on insider trading and
market manipulation.
Fleury Michon has not used this authorisation to reduce the
Company’s share capital by cancelling treasury shares.

7.3.6.3

POWERS GRANTED TO THE BOARD
OF DIRECTORS TO INCREASE
THE COMPANY’S CAPITAL

The Extraordinary General Meeting (EGM) of 11 February 2013
authorised the Board of Directors to issue redeemable subscription
and/or purchase warrants on one or more occasions at its sole
discretion. This authorisation was valid for a period of 18 months
from the date of the EGM. The Board of Directors was thus
authorised to increase the Company’s capital by a maximum
aggregate par value of €503,250, equivalent to the issue of
165,000 shares at a maximum par value of €3.05, and to set the
issue price of the shares, including the share premium. The Board did
not conduct a capital increase under the conditions described above.
No such powers have currently been granted to the Board of
Directors.

7.3.6.4

CURRENT POWERS GRANTED
TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
TO AWARD FREE SHARES

The Extraordinary General Meeting (EGM) of 26 June 2018 granted
all powers to the Board of Directors to implement the authorisation to
proceed with one or more free share awards. This authorisation is
valid for a period of 18 months from the date of the EGM.
The Board of Directors’ meetings of 17 December 2015,
20 December 2017, 4 September 2018 and 19 December 2018
decided to award free shares under the powers granted to it at
previous Annual General Meetings.
The maximum number of awardable shares at 31 December 2018
was 58,810.

Information on the company and its capital
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7.4 Stock exchange information
The Company’s shares are listed on Euronext Paris.
Category: Eurolist Compartment B
ISIN code: FR 0000074759 FLE

HISTORICAL AVERAGE PRICE

31.77

30.53

34.58

32.15

33.19

42.73

54.55
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59.54

53.28

48.32
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Share data

2016

2017

2018

Highest closing price (in €)

64.60

65.20

55.60

Lowest closing price (in €)

55.30

42.83

37.60

Last closing price of the year (in €)

64.40

46.96

38.60

Average daily trading volume

1,328

1,893

1,138

346,500

482,767

290,089

Total trading volume
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CHANGE IN THE COMPANY’S SHARE PRICE VERSUS CAC 40 INDEX (100 – 1 JANUARY 2017)
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8.1 Draft resolutions
Resolutions to be submitted to the Combined Ordinary and Extraordinary General Meeting of 28 May 2019.

8.1.1 Ordinary General Meeting
FIRST RESOLUTION

SECOND RESOLUTION

The Annual General Meeting, having reviewed the Board of Directors’
management report, the Statutory Auditors’ report, the Board of
Directors’ corporate governance report and the accompanying
Statutory Auditors’ special report, approves the Company’s financial
statements and balance sheet for the year ended 31 December
2018, as presented.

The Annual General Meeting, having reviewed the Board of Directors’
Group management report and the Statutory Auditors’ report on the
consolidated financial statements, approves the Group’s
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2018, as presented.

In accordance with Article 223 quater of the French General Tax
Code (Code général des impôts), the Annual General Meeting notes
that no non-deductible expenses are reported for the year ended
31 December 2018.

THIRD RESOLUTION
The Annual General Meeting approves the recommendation made by
the Board of Directors and resolves to appropriate profit available for
distribution as follows:

Profit for 2018

€16,335,539

Plus retained earnings carried forward from prior years

€26,410,595

Profit available for distribution

€42,746,134

Recommended appropriation:
●

Payment of a dividend of €1.20 per share x 4,387,757 shares, or

●

Appropriation to the optional reserve

€11,000,000

●

Appropriation to retained earnings

€26,480,826

TOTAL
A dividend of €1.20 will be paid in respect of each share. This
dividend will be paid within five trading days, or no later than
4 June 2019.
Social security contributions representing a total of 17.2% of the
gross dividend paid to individual shareholders will be withheld
directly by the bank, so that the dividends received by shareholders
are net of social security contributions in accordance with the
provisions of French Act No. 2007-1822 of 24 December 2007.
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€5,265,308

€42,746,134
These contributions include CSG (9.9%), CRDS (0.5%) and the 4.5%
social security charge, additional contribution (0.3%) and RSA (2%).
Furthermore, since 1 January 2018, revenue distributed as dividends
to individuals who are French tax residents is subject to either (i) a
12.8% flat tax on income (PFU) or (ii) an annual, overall and express
option exercised in the tax return based on the sliding income tax
scale, with eligibility for a tax deduction of 40% under Article
158-3-2° of the French General Tax Code.

Annual General Meetings
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Consequently, since 1 January 2018, any bank paying dividends to
individuals who are French tax residents has been required to apply a
12.8% non-definitive withholding tax. This withholding represents an
advance on income tax, which may be offset against the tax due for
the year during which the dividend was paid. If the tax due at the end
of the year is less than the 12.8% withheld, the difference will be
refunded.

As an exception, people who belong to a tax household whose
income for tax purposes from the previous year was less than
€50,000 for single, divorced or widowed taxpayers or €75,000 for
couples, may apply to be exempt from the 12.8% withholding tax.
The exemption application must be made to the Company or the
paying bank by the taxpayer before 30 November in the year
preceding the payment.

In total, the bank will deduct 12.8% from the amount of the dividend,
in addition to the social security contributions mentioned above
(17.2%), for a total deduction of 30% applied before the dividend is
paid to the shareholder, such that the net dividend paid to
shareholders will be €0.84.

Dividend payments for the last three years were as follows
(information disclosed in compliance with Article 243 bis of the
French General Tax Code):

Year

Number of
existing shares

Gross dividend
per share

2015

4,387,757

€1.20

2016

4,387,757

€1.10

2017

4,387,757

€1.10

The Annual General Meeting also noted that, pursuant to
Article 243 bis of the French General Tax Code, individual
shareholders resident in France may be entitled to 40% tax relief on
the full amount of the dividend approved by the Combined Ordinary
and Extraordinary General Meeting of 26 June 2018 (representing
€1.10 per share and a total of €4,826,533).

SEVENTH RESOLUTION

FOURTH RESOLUTION

The Annual General Meeting, having heard the Statutory Auditors’
special report on transactions governed by Article L. 225-38 of the
French Commercial Code, approves the signing of a guarantee
agreement for Jargus as security for the total amount of a €260,000
loan taken out to finance the acquisition of a fast-food business in
Nantes; said agreement having been authorised by the Board of
Directors at its meeting on 4 September 2018.

The Annual General Meeting gives discharge to the Board of
Directors for the year ended 31 December 2018.

EIGHTH RESOLUTION

FIFTH RESOLUTION
The Annual General Meeting, having heard the Statutory Auditors’
special report on transactions governed by Article L. 225-38 of the
French Commercial Code (Code de commerce), approves the signing
of a guarantee agreement for the Spanish subsidiary,
Platos Tradicionales, to guarantee 50% of an €8,000,000 loan taken
out by the latter to finance an investment, i.e., €4,000,000; said
agreement having been authorised by the Board of Directors at its
meeting on 15 May 2018.

SIXTH RESOLUTION
The Annual General Meeting, having heard the Statutory Auditors’
special report on transactions governed by Article L. 225-38 of the
French Commercial Code, approves the signing of a guarantee
agreement for the Italian subsidiary, PFI (Piatti Freschi Italia), which
comprises a guarantee of 50% of a €8,000,000 finance lease taken
out by the latter, i.e., €4,000,000, and a counter-guarantee of the
guarantee for the same amount granted by Beretta with respect to
the other half of the finance lease; said agreement having been
authorised by the Board of Directors at its meeting on
4 September 2018.

The Annual General Meeting, having heard the Statutory Auditors’
special report on transactions governed by Article L. 225-38 of the
French Commercial Code, approves the signing of a guarantee
agreement for the Italian subsidiary, PFI, which comprises a
guarantee of 50% of an €8,221,285.80 (plus VAT) finance lease taken
out by the latter, i.e., a principal guarantee of €4,110,642.90 (plus
TVA), as well as an additional related counter-guarantee for the same
amount and the other half of the finance lease, said finance lease
being intended to finance the construction of a new facility in
Caresanablot; said agreement having been authorised by the Board
of Directors at its meeting on 4 September 2018.

NINTH RESOLUTION
The Annual General Meeting, having heard the Statutory Auditors’
special report on transactions governed by Article L. 225-38 of the
French Commercial Code, approves the signing of a guarantee
agreement for the Italian subsidiary, PFI, which comprises a
guarantee of 50% of a loan taken out for a maximum of
USD 3,500,0000, i.e., a principal guarantee of USD 1,925,000, as
well as an additional related counter-guarantee for the same amount
and the other half of the loan, by means of a counter-guarantee of
the principal guarantee granted by our joint-shareholder, Beretta, said
loan being intended to finance the construction of a new facility in the
United States; said agreement having been authorised by the Board
of Directors at its meeting on 4 September 2018.
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TENTH RESOLUTION
The Annual General Meeting, having heard the Statutory Auditors’
special report on transactions governed by Article L. 225-38 of the
French Commercial Code, approves the signing of a guarantee
agreement for the Italian subsidiary, PFI, to guarantee 50% of a
€15,000,000 loan taken out by the latter, i.e., a principal guarantee of
€7,500,000, as well as an additional commitment and a
counter-guarantee for the same amount and the other half of the
loan, by means of a counter-guarantee of the guarantee granted by
our joint-shareholder, Beretta, said loan being intended to finance the
construction of a new facility in Italy; said agreement having been
authorised by the Board of Directors at its meeting on 4 September
2018.

holds 50% of Vallégrain Développement’s capital, was not sufficient;
said agreement having been authorised by the Board of Directors at
its meeting on 20 December 2017.

FOURTEENTH RESOLUTION
The Annual General Meeting, having heard the Statutory Auditors’
special report on transactions governed by Article L. 225-38 of the
French Commercial Code, approves the continuation of a guarantee
agreement to secure the payment, by PFI, of the amount of its
receivables that it is selling under a factoring operation to the finance
company, Ifitalia, for a total of €5,000,000, 50% of which is
guaranteed by the Company, i.e., €2,500,000; said agreement
having been authorised by the Board of Directors at its meeting on
1 April 2016.

ELEVENTH RESOLUTION
The Annual General Meeting, having heard the Statutory Auditors’
special report on transactions governed by Article L. 225-38 of the
French Commercial Code, approves the continuation of a guarantee
agreement for the Italian subsidiary, PFI, which comprises a
guarantee of 50% of a €5,000,000 loan taken out by the latter (plus a
30% safety margin), i.e., €3,250,000, and a counter-guarantee for the
same amount granted by Beretta with respect to the other half of the
loan, said loan being intended to finance an investment; said
agreement having been authorised by the Board of Directors at its
meeting on 28 June 2017.

TWELFTH RESOLUTION
The Annual General Meeting, having heard the Statutory Auditors’
special report on transactions governed by Article L. 225-38 of the
French Commercial Code, approves the continuation of a guarantee
agreement for the Spanish subsidiary, Platos Tradicionales, to
guarantee 50% of a €2,200,000 loan taken out by the latter,
i.e., €1,100,000, and, the other half of the loan, i.e., €1,100,000, by
means of a counter-guarantee of the guarantee granted by Torrent
Fimer, said loan being intended to finance an investment; said
agreement having been authorised by the Board of Directors at its
meeting on 20 December 2017.

THIRTEENTH RESOLUTION
The Annual General Meeting, having heard the Statutory Auditors’
special report on transactions governed by Article L. 225-38 of the
French Commercial Code, approves the continuation of a guarantee
agreement for Vallégrain Développement, to guarantee a €2,400,000
loan granted to the latter by Vallégrain Distribution, said loan being
mainly intended to finance the purchase of assets such as brands
and specifications; the lending bank required Fleury Michon to
guarantee the full amount of the loan as it considered that the credit
rating of our co-shareholder, Leveau SAS, which like Fleury Michon
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FIFTEENTH RESOLUTION
The Annual General Meeting, having heard the Statutory Auditors’
special report on transactions governed by Article L. 225-38 of the
French Commercial Code, approves the continuation of a strategic
planning agreement serving as a rider to the services agreement with
Société Holding de Contrôle et de Participations – SHCP, and
consequently the continuation of the amended services agreement;
said strategic planning agreement having been authorised by the
Board of Directors at its meeting on 1 April 2016.

SIXTEENTH RESOLUTION
The Annual General Meeting, having heard the Statutory Auditors’
special report on transactions governed by Article L. 225-38 of the
French Commercial Code, approves the continuation of a guarantee
agreement for the Italian subsidiary, PFI, to guarantee 50% of a
€1,372,026.50 loan taken out by the latter, i.e., €686,013.25, and,
the other half of the loan, i.e., €686,013.25, by means of a
counter-guarantee of the guarantee granted by Beretta, said loan
being intended to finance an investment; said agreement having been
authorised by the Board of Directors at its meeting on 15 December
2016.

SEVENTEENTH RESOLUTION
The Annual General Meeting, having heard the Statutory Auditors’
special report on transactions governed by Article L. 225-38 of the
French Commercial Code, approves the continuation of a guarantee
agreement for the Italian subsidiary, PFI, to guarantee 50% of a
€1,997,685 loan taken out by the latter, i.e., €998,842.50, and, the
other half of the loan, i.e., €998,842.50, by means of a
counter-guarantee of the guarantee granted by Beretta, said loan
being intended to finance an investment; said agreement having been
authorised by the Board of Directors at its meeting on 17 December
2015.
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EIGHTEENTH RESOLUTION

TWENTY-FOURTH RESOLUTION

The Annual General Meeting, having heard the Statutory Auditors’
special report on transactions governed by Article L. 225-38 of the
French Commercial Code, approves the continuation of a guarantee
agreement for a loan taken out by PFI for a maximum of €800,000;
said agreement having been authorised by the Board of Directors at
its meeting on 26 June 2014.

The Annual General Meeting, having reviewed the Board of Directors’
report and the description of the share buyback programme,
authorises the Board of Directors, for a further 18-month period, with
the option of sub-delegating authority to the Chief Executive Officer,
to carry out a share buyback programme, in accordance with
Article L. 225-209 of the French Commercial Code, European
Commission Regulation (EC) No. 2273/2003 of 22 December 2003
implementing Directive 2003/6/EC of 28 January 2003 on insider
dealing and market manipulation, and Articles 241-1 to 241-7 of the
AMF’s General Regulation. The number of shares acquired under this
programme may not exceed 10% of the Company’s share capital.
The purposes of this authorisation are to:

NINETEENTH RESOLUTION
The Annual General Meeting, having heard the Statutory Auditors’
special report on transactions governed by Article L. 225-38 of the
French Commercial Code, approves the continuation of a
counter-guarantee agreement as security for a loan taken out by PFI
for a maximum of €800,000; said agreement having been authorised
by the Board of Directors at its meeting on 29 August 2014.

TWENTIETH RESOLUTION
The Annual General Meeting, having heard the Statutory Auditors’
special report on transactions governed by Article L. 225-38 of the
French Commercial Code, approves the continuation of a €30 million
guarantee, authorised by the Supervisory Board and granted by the
Company to Platos Tradicionales to secure the repayment of loans
granted to the latter, given that, to date, the remainder of the
guarantee incumbent upon the Company and corresponding to the
outstanding loan amount is €5,823,211; said agreement having been
authorised by the Supervisory Board at its meeting on 21 December
2006.

TWENTY-FIRST RESOLUTION
The Annual General Meeting, having heard the Statutory Auditors’
special report on transactions governed by Article L. 225-38 of the
French Commercial Code, approves the continuation of a guarantee
for a maximum of CAD 35,000,000 granted to our subsidiary
Fleury Michon America (formerly Delta Dailyfood Inc. - Canada); said
agreement having been authorised by the Supervisory Board at its
meeting on 27 June 2007.

TWENTY-SECOND RESOLUTION
The Annual General Meeting, having heard the Statutory Auditors’
special report on transactions governed by Article L. 225-38 of the
French Commercial Code, approves the continuation of a
shareholder current account agreement with the simplified joint stock
company Très Bien Merci ! for €450,000; said agreement having
been authorised by the Board of Directors at its meeting on 11 April
2014.

TWENTY-THIRD RESOLUTION
In accordance with Article 225-45 of the French Commercial Code,
the Annual General Meeting resolves to allocate to members of the
Board of Directors an aggregate amount of €197,500 in attendance
fees for 2019. This amount is below the ceiling set by law.

●

stabilise the Fleury Michon share price through a liquidity
contract with an investment firm, in accordance with the code
of ethics approved by the AMF;

●

purchase shares to be held for subsequent tendering in
payment or exchange in connection with an acquisition;

●

purchase shares to be allocated to covering the exercise of
conversion or exchange options or any other securities
mechanism giving entitlement to the attribution of shares;

●

purchase shares for allocation to Fleury Michon Group senior
managers or other employees, either through stock option
plans, or more generally through any legally recognised
programme to sell and/or grant shares to employees;

●

purchase shares for the purpose of cancellation as part of a
capital reduction to increase earnings per share, in accordance
with the 24-month authorisation granted by the Annual General
Meeting of 26 June 2018. The number of shares thus cancelled
is subject to a ceiling of 10% of the Company’s share capital.

It is specified in this regard that the number of shares that could be
purchased by the Company with a view to being held and
subsequently remitted in payment or exchange for securities of
another company, in connection with a merger, de-merger or asset
transfer, may not exceed 5% of the Company’s share capital.
The maximum net purchase price, excluding expenses, is set at €85
per share.
The minimum net sale price, excluding expenses, is set at €25 per
share.
The maximum amount that may be invested under the programme is
€15,000,000.
The shares may be bought back in one or several transactions, by
any appropriate method, including through block purchases or
off-market transactions, at any time, including while a public tender
offer is in progress.
This authorisation replaces the unused portion of the authorisation
given by the Annual General Meeting of 26 June 2018.

8

Should the shares acquired under this buyback programmed be
cancelled, thereby reducing the share capital, the percent interest
held by the Gonnord-Chartier families acting in concert would
increase. Currently, the families hold 58.14% of the shares in issue
and 68.14% of the voting rights.
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Full powers are given to the Board of Directors to use this
authorisation, with the option of sub-delegating authority to the Chief
Executive Officer, and to:

represents 25% of his total compensation and breaks down as
follows:
●

60% achievement of financial results objectives;

●

place any and all buy and sell orders and enter into any and all
agreements, including for the keeping of a register of share
purchases and sales;

●

20% achievement of strategic and business development
objectives;

●

carry out any and all formalities and generally do whatever is
necessary to execute the transactions.

● 20% achievement of CSR objectives.
At its 18 December 2018 meeting, the Compensation and
Appointments Committee, chaired by Nicolas Le Chatelier, estimated
that the achievement rate of each of the objectives set is as follows:

TWENTY-FIFTH RESOLUTION

●

80.83% achievement of financial objectives;

The Annual General Meeting re-elects Claire Gonnord, residing at
18, rue de la Capitale, 13007 Marseille, France, to the Board of
Directors for a three-year term to expire on the date of the 2022
Annual General Meeting to be called to approve the financial
statements for the year ending 31 December 2021.

●

100% achievement of strategic and business development
objectives;

TWENTY-SIXTH RESOLUTION
The Annual General Meeting re-elects Nicolas Le Chatelier, residing
at 2, avenue Napoléon, 60000 Compiègne, France, to the Board of
Directors for a three-year term to expire on the date of the 2022
Annual General Meeting called to approve the financial statements for
the year ending 31 December 2021.

TWENTY-SEVENTH RESOLUTION
The Ordinary General Meeting is reminded that the variable portion of
the compensation of Régis Lebrun, Chief Executive Officer,

● 75% achievement of CSR objectives.
Given the weighting assigned to each objective, the overall
achievement rate is deemed to be 83.5%. The Compensation and
Appointments Committee decided to increase the achievement rate
to 90% in light of the positive momentum within the Group. The
Ordinary General Meeting approves the variable portion of
compensation due to Régis Lebrun for 2018, in an amount of
€123,275.

TWENTY-EIGHTH RESOLUTION
The Ordinary General Meeting, having reviewed the Board of
Directors’ corporate governance report, approves the principles and
criteria for distributing and awarding fixed components making up
total compensation, attendance fees and benefits in kind for Grégoire
Gonnord, Chairman of the Board of Directors, for 2019, as set out in
the corporate governance report and reproduced below:
Proposed
compensation
for 2019

Compensation
due for 2018

Salary

€162,035

€159,171

Bonus

N/A

N/A

Deferred variable compensation

N/A

N/A

Multi-year variable compensation

N/A

N/A

€15,080

€15,080

Exceptional compensation

N/A

N/A

Stock options

N/A

N/A

Free performance shares

N/A

N/A

Signing bonus

N/A

N/A

Severance payment

N/A

N/A

Non-compete benefit

N/A

N/A

Supplementary pension plan

N/A

N/A

Collective death/disability insurance, health insurance and defined-contribution pension plan

N/A

N/A

Compensation components

Attendance fees

Benefits in kind (unemployment insurance, company car, etc.)
TOTAL
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€5,392

€899

€182,507

€175,150
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TWENTY-NINTH RESOLUTION
The Ordinary General Meeting, having reviewed the Board of
Directors’ corporate governance report, approves the principles and

criteria for distributing and awarding fixed and variable components
making up total compensation and benefits in kind for Régis Lebrun,
Chief Executive Officer, for 2019, as set out in the corporate
governance report and reproduced below:

Compensation components

Proposed compensation for 2019

Compensation due for 2018

Salary

€278,875

€273,942

Bonus

50% of gross annual compensation
25% of gross annual compensation
Breaks down as follows:
Breaks down as follows:
● 60% achievement of financial results ● 60% achievement of financial results
objectives;
objectives;
● 20% achievement of strategic and ● 20% achievement of strategic and
business development objectives;
business development objectives;
● 20% achievement of CSR objectives. ● 20% achievement of CSR objectives.
Amount set at €123,275 subject to the
approval of the Annual General Meeting.

Deferred variable compensation

N/A

N/A

Multi-year variable compensation

N/A

N/A

Attendance fees

N/A

N/A

Exceptional compensation

N/A

N/A

Stock options

N/A

N/A

Free shares with no performance conditions

N/A

6,700 free shares vesting on
4 September 2020 worth €318,142 at
4 September 2018.

Free shares with performance conditions

N/A

10,000, 12,500 or a maximum of
15,000 free shares based on
three achievement thresholds no later
than 31 December 2024, subject to
achieving the recurring operating profit
condition, year-on-year and
fully-integrating joint-ventures.

Signing bonus

N/A

N/A

Severance payment

N/A

N/A

Non-compete benefit

N/A

N/A

Supplementary pension plan

N/A

N/A

Collective death/disability insurance, health insurance N/A
and defined-contribution pension plan

N/A

Benefits in kind:
●

unemployment insurance

€28,827

€28,785

●

company car

€9,440

€9,440

8

2018 REGISTRATION DOCUMENT /

241

8

Annual General Meetings
DRAFT RESOLUTIONS

8.1.2 Extraordinary General Meeting
THIRTIETH RESOLUTION
The Extraordinary General Meeting, having reviewed the Board of
Directors’ report, approves the amendment to Article 18 of the
Company’s Articles of Association to authorise remote voting via
electronic ballot, as Articles R. 225-75 and R. 225-61 of the French
Commercial Code require that Articles of Association expressly
approve the use of electronic solutions for remote voting.
In its report, the Board of Directors suggests that remote voting
should be available at all General Meetings, not just the Annual
General Meeting.
Article 18 of the Company’s Articles of Association will read as
follows:
““ARTICLE 18 - ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
The procedures for holding General Meetings are governed by
French law and regulations.
Remote voting via electronic ballot is expressly authorised and may
be used for any General Meeting, regardless of purpose.”

THIRTY-FIRST RESOLUTION
The Extraordinary General Meeting, having reviewed the Board of
Directors’ report and the Statutory Auditors’ special report, in
accordance with Articles L. 225-197-1 et seq. of the French
Commercial Code:
1. Authorises the Board of Directors to award free shares, on one or
more occasions, to categories of beneficiaries to be designated
from among the employees of the Company or certain
companies or groups affiliated with the Company under the
conditions set forth by Article L. 225-197-2 of the French
Commercial Code, or to corporate officers of the Company as
defined in Article L. 225-197-1 II of the French Commercial Code
or certain companies affiliated with the Company within the
meaning of Article L. 225-197-2 of the French Commercial Code;
2. Decides that the Board of Directors will determine the number of
free shares eligible to be awarded to each beneficiary;
3. Decides that the total number of free shares awarded may not
exceed 1% of the Company’s current share capital, subject to
any potential adjustments made to maintain holders’ rights, and
that the shares awarded may not exceed the overall ceiling of
10% of the Company’s current share capital;
4. Decides that the shares awarded will be subject to a vesting
period of at least two (2) years, the Board of Directors having the
option of prolonging this period and of imposing a lock-in period
beyond this vesting period;
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5. Decides that the free shares awarded pursuant to this decision at
the end of the vesting period will be existing shares held in
treasury by the Company, allocated or eligible to be allocated for
this purpose. The Annual General Meeting, acting in accordance
with the quorum and majority requirements applicable to
Extraordinary General Meetings, having reviewed the Board of
Directors’ report and the Statutory Auditors’ special report, in
accordance with Articles L. 225-197-1 et seq. of the French
Commercial Code.

THIRTY-SECOND RESOLUTION
The Extraordinary General Meeting, having reviewed the Board of
Directors’ report and the Statutory Auditors’ special report, in
accordance with Articles L. 225-197-1 et seq. of the French
Commercial Code:
1. Delegates full authority to the Board of Directors, with the option
of sub-delegating this authority under the conditions set forth by
law, to implement the authorisation granted under the above
resolution, and to:
●

determine the beneficiaries,

●

determine the exact duration of the vesting period,

●

decide whether or not to impose a lock-in period and, if so,
determine the duration thereof,

●

determine the number of shares to be awarded to each
beneficiary,

●

determine the overall ceiling on free shares that may be
awarded to eligible employees and corporate officers,

●

determine the date on which the free shares will be
awarded,

●

determine all other characteristics of the operation not set
by the Annual General Meeting,

●

generally speaking, take any steps and make all decisions
necessary for the purpose of this operation, especially as
regards measures to protect the beneficiaries’ rights by
adjusting the number of free shares awarded depending on
any potential capital transactions carried out by the
Company during the vesting period;

2. States that this authorisation will be valid for a period of
18 months from the date of this Meeting.

THIRTY-THIRD RESOLUTION
Full powers are granted by the Annual General Meeting to the bearer
of an original, extract or copy of the minutes of this Meeting to
perform all filing and other formalities required by law.

Annual General Meetings
DRAFT RESOLUTIONS
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Additional information
INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE

9.1 Incorporation by reference
Pursuant to Article 28 of Commission Regulation (EC) No. 809/2004,
the following information is incorporated by reference into this
Registration Document:
●

Fleury Michon’s consolidated financial statements (IFRS) for the
year ended 31 December 2017, as well as the corresponding
Statutory Auditors’ reports, can be found in Chapter 5 of
Registration Document No. D.18-0407, filed with the French
financial markets authority (Autorité
(
des marchés financiers –
AMF) on 26 April 2018.

Available
online
at
http://www.fleurymichon.fr
●

Fleury Michon’s

website:

Fleury Michon’s consolidated financial statements (IFRS) for the
year ended 31 December 2016, as well as the corresponding
Statutory Auditors’ reports, can be found in Chapter 5 of
Registration Document No. D.17-0433, filed with the French
financial markets authority (Autorité
(
des marchés financiers –
AMF) on 26 April 2017.
Available
online
at
http://www.fleurymichon.fr.

Fleury Michon’s

website:

9.2 Person responsible for the Registration Document
Person responsible for the Registration Document
Régis Lebrun
Chief Executive Officer
Fleury Michon

Declaration by the person responsible for the Registration Document
I hereby declare that, having taken all reasonable care to ensure that such is the case, the information contained in this Registration Document is,
to the best of my knowledge, consistent with the facts and contains no omission likely to affect its import.
I hereby declare that, to the best of my knowledge, the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the applicable accounting
standards and give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and results of the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries; and
that the management report included in this Registration Document, the various sections of which are listed in the cross-reference table in
Section 9.8, provides a fair review of the business development, results of operations and financial position of the Company and its consolidated
subsidiaries, as well as a description of the principal risks and uncertainties to which the Company and its subsidiaries are exposed.
I obtained a statement from the Statutory Auditors at the end of their engagement affirming that they have read the entire document and verified
the information regarding the financial position and the financial statements contained in this document.
Pouzauges, 26 April 2019
Régis Lebrun
Chief Executive Officer
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9.3 Documents on display
Information on the Group
http://www.fleurymichon.fr.

is

available

on

the

website:

Corporate Social Responsibility Information, and other corporate
documents may be consulted at the Company’s head office.

Requests for additional financial information can be sent to:
infos.finances@fleurymichon.fr.

The Company’s historical information (parent company and
consolidated financial statements) is available online at:
http://www.fleurymichon.fr.

The Articles of Association, the minutes of General Meetings, the
Statutory Auditors’ reports, the Independent Third Party Report on

9.4 Financial reporting
PRESS RELEASES PUBLISHED IN 2018
30/01/2018

Revenue at 31 December 2017

03/04/2018

2017 financial results and acquisition of Paso

10/04/2018

Revenue at 31 March 2018

26/04/2018

2017 Registration Document

19/07/2018

Revenue at 30 June 2018

04/09/2018

First-half 2018 results

25/10/2018

Revenue at 30 September 2018

PRESS RELEASES PUBLISHED IN 2019 AND 2019 FINANCIAL CALENDAR
23/01/2019

One-off purchasing power bonus

30/01/2019

Revenue at 31 December 2018

02/04/2019

2018 financial results

18/04/2019

Revenue at 31 March 2019

26/04/2019

2018 Registration Document

18/07/2019

Revenue at 30 June 2019

10/09/2019

First-half 2019 results

25/10/2019

Revenue at 30 September 2019

Company financial information and press releases are available at Fleury Michon’s website: http://www.fleurymichon.fr.

9

Contacts
Financial community contact:

Phone: +33 (0)2 51 66 30 20 – Email: infos.finances@fleurymichon.fr

Jean-Louis Roy, Senior Vice President, Administration and Finance
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STATUTORY AUDITORS OF THE ISSUER

9.5 Statutory Auditors of the issuer
9.5.1 Statutory Auditors of the issuer
PRIMARY STATUTORY AUDITORS
ERNST & YOUNG et Autres
3, rue Émile-Masson
44019 Nantes, France

RSM Ouest
L’Arpège 213, route de Rennes
BP 60277
44702 Orvault Cedex, France

Member of the Versailles Regional Association
Represented by Luc Derrien

Member of the Rennes Regional Association
Represented by Nicolas Perenchio

ALTERNATE STATUTORY AUDITORS
Auditex
1-2, Place des Saisons
92037 Paris La Défense Cedex, France

None

START OF TERM
28 May 2015

23 May 2017

END OF TERM
Annual General Meeting to be called to approve the financial
statements for the year ending 31 December 2020

Annual General Meeting to be called to approve the financial
statements for the year ending 31 December 2022

9.5.2 Statutory Auditors of the information incorporated by reference
PRIMARY STATUTORY AUDITORS

248

ERNST & YOUNG et Autres
3, rue Émile-Masson
44019 Nantes, France

RSM Ouest
L’Arpège 213, route de Rennes
BP 60277
44702 Orvault Cedex, France

Member of the Versailles Regional Association
Represented by François Macé

Member of the Rennes Regional Association
Represented by Jean-Michel Picaud
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ALTERNATE STATUTORY AUDITORS
Auditex
1-2, Place des Saisons
92037 Paris La Défense Cedex, France

Jean-Michel Grimonprez
L’Arpège 213, route de Rennes
44702 Orvault Cedex, France

START OF TERM
28 May 2015

9 June 2011

END OF TERM
Annual General Meeting to be called to approve the financial
statements for the year ending 31 December 2020

Annual General Meeting called to approve the financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2016

9.6 Independent third party auditing corporate social
responsibility information
FINEXFI
96, boulevard Marius Vivier Merle
69003 Lyon 9, France
Represented by Isabelle Lhoste
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9.7 Management report cross-reference table
The information contained in the management report is reproduced in full in the various sections of the Registration Document.
Reference texts

Section

Company activities in the financial year

French Commercial Code

L. 225-100, L. 225-100-2, Objective and exhaustive analysis of developments in the
L. 232-1, L. 233-6 and
Company’s and the Group’s business, performance and
L. 233-26
financial position

French Commercial Code

L. 225-100 and
L. 225-100-2

Key financial performance indicators

French Commercial Code

L. 225-100 and
L. 225-100-2

Key non-financial performance indicators relevant to the
Company’s specific business activity

French Commercial Code

L. 233-6

Significant stakes acquired during the financial year in
companies headquartered in France

French Commercial Code

Significant events that occurred between the financial
L. 232-1 and L. 233-26 year-end and the date on which the document was drawn up

French Commercial Code

Foreseeable developments regarding the position of the
L. 232-1 and L. 233-26 Company and the Group

4.2, 4.3 and 4.5
1.1
2
4.9
4.10
4.4 and 4.6

French General Tax Code

Art. 243 bis

Dividends distributed over the three preceding financial years
and amount of income distributed for these years eligible for
the 40% tax deduction

French General Tax Code

Art. 223 quater

Information on non-deductible expenses

French Commercial Code

L. 441-6-1 and D. 441-4 Information on payment deadlines

4.8

French Commercial Code

L. 232-1 and L. 233-26 Research and development activities

1.4

French Commercial Code

L. 225-100 and
L. 225-100-2

Description of the main risks and uncertainties faced by the
Company

1.5

French Commercial Code

L. 225-100 and
L. 225-100-2

The Company’s use of financial instruments: objectives and
policy in relation to financial risk management

French Commercial Code

L. 225-100 and
L. 225-100-2

Company’s exposure to price, credit, liquidity or cash flow
risks

4.7
4.8

1.5.4
1.5.4.4 and
1.5.4.5

Non-financial performance statement
French Commercial Code

L. 225-102-1 and
R. 225-105

Company methods for taking into account the social and
environmental consequences of its operations

French Commercial Code

L. 225-102-1 and
R. 225-105

Business model and materiality matrix

L. 225-37

Board of Directors’ report on corporate governance

French Commercial Code

L. 225-102-1

List of all offices and positions held in any company by each of
the corporate officers during the financial year

3.2

French Commercial Code

L. 225-102-1

Total compensation and benefits of any kind paid to each
corporate officer during the financial year

3.3

L. 225-102-1

Commitments of any nature made by the Company for the
benefit of its corporate officers, such as compensation,
indemnities or benefits due or susceptible to become due
when, or after, such persons assume, cease or change
positions

3.3.3

L. 225-184

Stock options granted, subscribed or purchased during the
financial year by the corporate officers and the ten
highest-earning non-executive employees of the Company,
and stock options granted to all eligible employees, by
category

3.3.4

L. 225-185

Conditions for the exercise and retention of stock options by
corporate officers

3.3.4

L. 225-197-1

Conditions for the retention of free shares awarded to
corporate officers

3.3.4

2
1.3

Corporate governance
French Commercial Code

French Commercial Code

French Commercial Code
French Commercial Code
French Commercial Code
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Reference texts
French Monetary and
Financial Code

Section
L. 621-18-2

Transactions by senior managers and associated persons
involving the Company’s shares

3.3.5

Information on the Company and its capital

L. 225-37-5

Rules applicable to the appointment and replacement of
members of the Board of Directors or Management Board, as
well as to changes in the Company’s Articles of Association

L. 225-37-5

Powers of the Board of Directors or Management Board, in
particular concerning the issue or buyback of shares

7.1 and 7.3.6

French Commercial Code

L. 225-211

Purchases and sales of treasury shares during the financial
year

7.3.5

French Commercial Code

R. 228-90

Adjustments for share equivalents in the event of share
buybacks or financial transactions

French Commercial Code

L. 225-100

Table summarising the outstanding delegations granted by the
General Meeting to the Board of Directors or Management
Board in relation to capital increases

French Commercial Code

L. 225-37-5 and
L. 233-13

Structure and changes to the Company’s share capital

L. 225-37-5

Statutory limitations on the exercise of voting rights and
transfer of shares or clauses in agreements brought to the
attention of the Company

L. 225-100-3

Direct or indirect shareholdings in the Company, of which the
Company is aware

7.3.1

L. 225-102

Employee shareholding in the Company’s capital on the last
day of the financial year and portion of the share capital
represented by the shares held by employees under the
employee share ownership plan and by the employees and
former employees under employee mutual investment funds

7.3.4

L. 225-37-5

Holders of any securities conferring special control rights and
a description of those rights

N/A

L. 225-37-5

Control mechanisms within any employee shareholding
system, where control rights are not exercised by the
employees

N/A

L. 225-37-5

Agreements between shareholders of which the Company is
aware and which may give rise to restrictions on share
transfers and voting rights

7.3.3

L. 225-37-5

Agreements entered into by the Company that are amended
or terminated in the event of a change in control, with the
exception of those agreements whose disclosure could
seriously harm its interests (except in the event of a legal
obligation to disclose)

N/A

L. 225-37-5

Agreements providing for indemnities payable to employees or
members of the Board of Directors or Management Board in
the event that they resign or are dismissed without real or
serious cause or if their employment contract is terminated as
a result of a public tender offer
3.3.1 and 3.3.3

French Commercial Code
French Commercial Code

French Commercial Code
French Commercial Code

French Commercial Code
French Commercial Code

French Commercial Code

French Commercial Code

French Commercial Code

French Commercial Code

French Commercial Code

7.1

N/A

7.3.6
7.2 and 7.3.1

7.3.1 and 7.3.3

1.5.3
and 5.5 –
Note 3.10

L. 464-2

Injunctions or fines as a result of anti-competitive practices

French Commercial Code

L. 225-100-1

Main characteristics of the internal control and risk
management procedures implemented by the Company and
the Group relating to the preparation and processing of
financial and accounting information

1.6

French Commercial Code

L. 232-6

Changes in the presentation of the financial statements or in
the valuation methods used

5.5 – Note 1

French Commercial Code

R. 225-102

Fleury Michon five-year financial summary

Financial statements
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9.8 Registration Document cross-reference table
In accordance with Annex I of Commission Regulation (EC) No. 809/2004.
To enhance the readability of the document filed as a Registration Document, the following cross-reference table is provided to identify the main
sections required by Commission Regulation (EC) No. 809/2004 of 29 April 2004.

Key information

Section

Page

1. PERSONS RESPONSIBLE
1.1. Name and title of the person responsible for the document

9.2

246

1.2. Statement by the person responsible

9.2

246

2.1. Name and address of the issuer’s Statutory Auditors

9.5.1

248

2.2. Statutory Auditors of the information incorporated by reference

9.5.2

248

3.1. Historical financial information

1.1

6

3.2. Information for interim periods

N/A

-

1.5.3

25

2.4

73

1.5.4.5

27

1.5.1 and 1.5.2

24

1.5.4.4

26

4.6.1. Interest rate risk

1.5.4.2

26

4.6.2. Currency risk

1.5.4.1

26

4.6.3. Risk related to shares and other financial instruments

1.5.4.3

26

1.5.2

24

5.1.1. Legal and commercial name of the issuer

7.1

224

5.1.2. Place of registration and registration number of the issuer

7.1

224

5.1.3. Date of incorporation and term of the issuer

7.1

224

2. STATUTORY AUDITORS

3. SELECTED FINANCIAL INFORMATION

4. RISK FACTORS
4.1. Legal risks
4.2. Industrial and environmental risks
4.3. Credit and/or counterparty risk
4.4 Operational risks
4.5. Liquidity risks
4.6. Market risks

4.6.4. Raw materials risk
5. INFORMATION ABOUT THE ISSUER
5.1. History and development of the Company

5.1.4. Registered office and legal form of the issuer, governing law, country of
origin, address and telephone number
5.1.5. Important events in the development of the issuer’s business

7.1

224

1.2 and 4.4

8 and 151

1.3.6, 4.9 and 6.5 –
Note 1

22, 154 and 198

4.9 and 6.5
– Notes 3 and 16

154, 200 and 207

N/A

-

5.2. Investments
5.2.1. Principal investments made by the issuer
5.2.2. Principal investments by the issuer in progress
5.2.3. Principal future investments by the issuer
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Key information

Section

Page

6.1. Principal activities

1.1.2 and 1.3

6 and 11

6.2. Principal markets

1.3.3

18

N/A

-

6. BUSINESS OVERVIEW

6.3. Exceptional factors that have influenced information provided under items 6.1
and 6.2.
6.4. Extent to which the issuer is dependent on patents or licences, industrial,
commercial or financial contracts or new manufacturing processes
6.5. Competitive position

N/A

-

1.3.3

18

1.3

11

5.5 – Notes 3.27 and
6.6

185 and 210

1.3.6 and 5.5 –
Notes 3.3 and 3.4

22 and 174

2.4

73

4.2 and 4.3

148 and 151

7. ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE
7.1. Description of the Group and the issuer’s position within the Group
7.2. List of significant subsidiaries of the issuer
8. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
8.1. Significant existing or planned property, plant and equipment
8.2. Environmental issues that may affect the issuer’s utilisation of the property, plant
and equipment
9. OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW
9.1. Financial position
9.2. Operating profit
9.2.1. Significant factors
9.2.2. Changes in revenue and explanation for such changes
9.2.3. Governmental, economic, budgetary, monetary or political strategies or
factors that could materially affect the issuer’s operations

4.2.2

150

4.1 and 4.2

148 and 148

4.2.1

148

1.5

28

10. CAPITAL RESOURCES
10.1. Information concerning the issuer’s capital resources (both short and long
term)

5.4, 6.4 and 7.2

166, 196 and 228

5.3, 6.3 and 5.5 –
Note 3.21

161, 195 and 182

5.5 – Notes 1.3, 3.9
and 3.11

169, 177 and 179

7.3.1

229

1.3.6 and 5.5
– Note 3.11

22 and 179

1.4

23

12.1. Major trends since the end of the previous year

4.4

151

12.2. Events that are reasonably likely to influence the outlook

4.4

151

N/A

-

10.2. Source and amounts of the issuer’s cash flows
10.3. Information on borrowing requirements and the funding structure of the issuer
10.4. Restrictions on the use of capital resources
10.5. Sources of funds
11. RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT, PATENTS AND LICENCES
12. INFORMATION ON TRENDS

13. PROFIT FORECASTS OR ESTIMATES

14. ADMINISTRATIVE, MANAGEMENT AND SUPERVISORY BODIES AND EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT
14.1. Administrative and management bodies
14.2. Conflicts of interest within administrative, management and supervisory bodies
and executive management

3.1

124

3.4.3

144

3.3.1, 3.3.2 and
3.3.3

136, 137 and 138

3.3.3

138

15. COMPENSATION AND BENEFITS FOR PERSONS REFERRED TO UNDER ITEM 14.1
15.1. Total compensation paid and benefits in kind granted by the issuer and its
subsidiaries
15.2. Total amounts set aside or accrued by the issuer or its subsidiaries in order to
provide pension, retirement or similar benefits
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Key information

Section

Page

16.1. End of term

3.2.2

134

16. PRACTICES OF ADMINISTRATIVE AND MANAGEMENT BODIES
16.2. Service contracts

3.4.3

144

16.3. Audit Committee and Compensation Committee

3.1.2

125

16.4. Issuer’s compliance (or non-compliance) with corporate governance principles

3.1.4

129

2.5.3 and 5.5 –
Note 3.23

89 and 183

17.2. Employee profit-sharing and stock options

3.3.4

138

17.3. Arrangement for involving employees in the capital of the issuer

7.2.1

228

18.1. Name of any person other than a member of the administrative, management
or supervisory bodies who, directly or indirectly, holds a percentage of the share
capital or voting rights requiring disclosure pursuant to French law

7.3.1 and 7.3.2

229

18.2. Differences between the voting rights of the major shareholders

7.3.1 and 7.3.2

229

18.3. Control of the issuer

7.3.1

229

18.4. Arrangements, the operation of which may result in a change in control of the
Company

7.3.3

230

5.5 – NOTE 3.24

183

17. EMPLOYEES
17.1. Number of employees at the end of the period covered by the historical
financial information or average number during each year within this period and
breakdown of employees

18. MAJOR SHAREHOLDERS

19. RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS

20. FINANCIAL INFORMATION CONCERNING THE ISSUER’S ASSETS AND LIABILITIES,
FINANCIAL POSITION AND PROFITS AND LOSSES
20.1. Historical financial information
20.2. Pro forma financial information
20.3. Consolidated annual financial statements
20.4. Auditing of annual historical financial information
20.5. Date of latest audited financial information
20.6. Interim and other financial information
20.7. Dividend distribution policy
20.8. Legal and arbitration procedures
20.9. Significant change in the financial or commercial position since the end of the
last financial year
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6 and 9.1

192 and 246

N/A

-

5

157

5.6, 6.8 and 9.5

186, 213 and 248

5.5 – Note 1

164

N/A

-

4.7 and 7.1

153 and 225

1.5.3

25

4.4 and 4.10

151 and 155
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7.2.1

228

N/A

-

21.1.3. Shares held by the issuer

7.3.5

230

21.1.4. Convertible or exchangeable securities

7.2.1

228

21.1.5. Information on conditions governing any right of acquisition or any
company seeking to increase capital

7.3.6

232

21. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION
21.1. Share capital
21.1.1. Total subscribed capital
21.1.2. Other shares not representing capital

21.1.6. Conditional or unconditional option or agreement
21.1.7. Share capital history

N/A

-

7.2.2

228

21.2. Memorandum and Articles of Association
21.2.1. Corporate purpose of the issuer

7.1

224

21.2.2. Provisions and rules relating to administrative and management bodies

7.1

225

21.2.3. Rights associated with shares

7.1

224

21.2.4. Changes to shareholders’ rights

7.1

227

21.2.5. Convening of General Meetings and conditions for admission

7.1

225

21.2.6. Information on changes of control

N/A

-

21.2.7. Shareholding threshold disclosures

7.3.2

229

N/A

-

N/A

-

23. THIRD PARTY INFORMATION, STATEMENTS BY EXPERTS AND
DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

9.6

249

24. DOCUMENTS AVAILABLE TO THE PUBLIC

9.3

247

6.6 AND 5.5 –
NOTE 3.27

210 AND 185

21.2.8. Conditions governing changes to the Articles of Association
22. MATERIAL CONTRACTS

25. INFORMATION ON HOLDINGS
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GLOSSARY

9.9 Glossary
BSAAR

IFRS

Redeemable subscription and/or purchase warrants
(Bons de Souscription et/ou d’Acquisition d’Actions Remboursables)

International Financial Reporting Standards

Catering
Rail and airline catering

Long- and short-term borrowings (including swap instruments) less
cash and cash equivalents and investments

CGU

Organic growth

Cash-generating unit

Growth of Company businesses, excluding changes in scope. Also
known as internal growth (as opposed to external growth)

CICE
French competitiveness and employment tax credit (Crédit d’Impôt
pour la Compétitivité et l’Emploi)i

PFI

Covenant

PNSS

Stipulation requiring maintenance and respect of financial ratios

French national health and nutrition programme

CSR

Scope effect

Corporate social responsibility

The scope effect is calculated by excluding the revenue and/or the
earnings from companies acquired during the current period, and
excluding the revenue and/or the earnings from companies sold
during the previous period

Currency effect
The effect of changes in exchange rates between the CAD and the
euro (consolidation currency). Currency effect is calculated by
applying the exchange rate for the current period to revenue for the
previous period

256

Net debt

Piatti Freschi Italia

Securitisation

ERP

Process by which receivables (for example trade receivables) are
converted into marketable securities

Enterprise Resource Planning

SHCP

Free cash flow

Société Holding de Contrôle et de Participations (a holding company)

Available cash flow generated from operations and available after
investments net of investment spending

Swap

Gearing

UCITS

Net debt divided by equity

Undertakings for Collective Investment in Transferable Securities
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Agreement between two parties to exchange assets

P. Zamora, V. Picon, Photothèque Fleury Michon, D.R.

Fondée en 1905, notre entreprise
de taille intermédiaire est présente à l’international.
Familiale et indépendante, nous sommes
une des plus grandes marques alimentaires françaises.

Nous préparons des produits frais,

cuisinés pour le quotidien, répondant aux attentes
de ceux qui veulent une alimentation saine
et pratique et qui ne transigent pas sur le plaisir.

Notre projet,

“Aider les Hommes à manger mieux chaque jour”
exprime notre vision du futur.
Celle d’une marque entreprise, ouverte et proche,
qui valorise les femmes et les hommes
et privilégie la collaboration avec ses parties prenantes.
Celle d’une marque innovante et responsable qui veut

contribuer au Manger Mieux de demain.

Fleury Michon - BP 1 - 85707 Pouzauges Cedex - France
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